
 
 

LICENSING COMMITTEE 
Regulatory Committee 
Agenda 
 

Date Tuesday 3 November 2020 
 

Time 9.30 am 
 

Venue Virtual Meeting 
https://www.oldham.gov.uk/info/200608/meetings/1940/live_council_meetings_online 
 

Notes 
 

1. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST- If a Member requires any advice on any item 
involving a possible declaration of interest which could affect his/her ability to speak 
and/or vote he/she is advised to contact Paul Entwistle or  in advance of the 
meeting. 
 
2. CONTACT OFFICER for this Agenda is Kaidy McCann email 
Constitutional.Services@oldham.gov.uk 
 
3. PUBLIC QUESTIONS – Any member of the public wishing to ask a question at the 
above meeting can do so only if a written copy of the question is submitted to the 
Contact officer by 12 Noon on Thursday, 29 October 2020. 
 
4.  FILMING – This meeting will be recorded for live and/or subsequent broadcast on 
the Council’s website.  The whole of the meeting will be recorded, except where 
there are confidential or exempt items and the footage will be on our website. This 
activity promotes democratic engagement in accordance with section 100A(9) of the 
Local Government Act 1972. The cameras will focus on the proceedings of the 
meeting. Disruptive and anti social behaviour will always be filmed. 
 
Recording and reporting the Council’s meetings is subject to the law including the 
law of defamation, the Human Rights Act, the Data Protection Act and the law on 
public order offences. 
 

 MEMBERSHIP OF THE LICENSING COMMITTEE IS AS FOLLOWS: 
 Councillors M Bashforth, Briggs (Chair), Cosgrove, Davis, Garry, C. Gloster, 

Harrison, Hewitt, A Hussain, Malik, McLaren, Price, Sheldon and Shuttleworth 
 

 

Item No  

1   Apologies For Absence  

2   Urgent Business  

 Urgent business, if any, introduced by the Chair 

3   Declarations of Interest  

Public Document Pack

https://www.oldham.gov.uk/info/200608/meetings/1940/live_council_meetings_online
mailto:Constitutional.Services@oldham.gov.uk


 
 

 To Receive Declarations of Interest in any Contract or matter to be discussed at 
the meeting. 

4   Public Question Time  

 To receive Questions from the Public, in accordance with the Council’s 
Constitution. 

5   Minutes of Previous Meeting (Pages 1 - 6) 

 The Minutes of the Licensing Committee held on 2nd June 2020 are attached for 
approval. 

6   Licensing Activity Update (To Follow) 

 To update members on the activities of the licensing team its response to 
COVID-19 

7   GM Minimum Licensing Standards and Clean Air Consultations (Pages 7 - 128) 

 To advise Members of the consultations and their content 

8   Statutory Taxi and Private Hire Vehicle Standards (Pages 129 - 172) 

 Following consultation, the Government have recently issued new statutory taxi 
and private hire vehicle standards which the Department for Transport expects to 
be implemented by Licensing Authorities unless there is a compelling reason not 
to. 

9   Disclosure & Baring Service Checks (Pages 173 - 180) 

 Recently issued Government statutory guidance requires Licensing Authorities to 
conduct a Disclosure and Baring Service criminal records check every six 
months on licensed drivers. A new procedure has therefore been developed to 
facilitate this process. 

10   Licensed Driver Medicals (Pages 181 - 184) 

 This report requests that Members approve an amendment to the Council’s taxi 
and private hire licensing policy relating to driver medicals.  
 

11   Licensing Act 2003 Policy Review (Pages 185 - 236) 

 The purpose of this report is to ask Members to consider the revised statement 
of licensing policy attached at Appendix I, and whether it should replace the 
Council’s existing licensing policy. 

12   Amendment to Animal Welfare Licensing Policy (Pages 237 - 242) 

 This report requests that Members approve an amendment to the Council’s 



 
 

animal welfare licensing policy in terms of application procedures. 

13   Composition of Panels 2020 2021 (Pages 243 - 244) 

 



This page is intentionally left blank



 

LICENSING COMMITTEE 
02/06/2020 at 9.30 am 

 
 

Present: Councillor Briggs (Chair)  
Councillors Garry, C. Gloster, Harrison, Malik, McLaren, Price, 
Sheldon and Shuttleworth 
 

 Also in Attendance: 
 Alan Evans Group Solicitor - Environment 
 John Garforth Trading Standards and Licensing 

Manager 
 Mark Hardman Constitutional Services Officer 
 Lori Hughes Constitutional Services 
 Nicola Lord Principal Licensing Officer 
 Sumayya Rawat Solicitor 

 

 

1   APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE   

Apologies for absence were received from Councillor Moores 
and Councillor Cosgrove. 

2   URGENT BUSINESS   

There were no items of urgent business received. 

3   DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST   

There were no declarations of interest received. 

4   PUBLIC QUESTION TIME   

Two public questions had been received from Mr. A. Khayal: 

Question 1 –  “We have major problems to obtain medical 
certificates from practising doctors surgeries in Oldham because 
many surgeries don’t carry out such tests, they recommend 
some surgeries in Middleton and in Manchester.  Taxi drivers 
have to take medical records.  Copies from his own doctor to 
them, sometimes they do it straight away, sometimes they don’t.  
Why not licensing provide the list of surgeries who carried out 
such medical reports to taxi drivers with minimum cost in 
Oldham area.  Then taxi driver provides his medical reports from 
his own doctor and they check it, then examined the taxi drivers 
condition which meeting the licensing requirement.” 

The Chair provided the following response:   

“Changes have already been made to the Council’s use of the 
Group 2 medical standard by allowing for another Doctor, other 
than the drivers own GP, who has full access to the medical 
history of the individual to undertake an examination and 
complete a report.  It is not the Council’s intention to source 
doctors who can do this.” 

Page 1

Agenda Item 5



 

Question 2 – “I was looking for the records of the Council’s 
Moorhey Street MOT test failure classified as follows Rear 
Lamps fire extinguisher.  These are two minor faults inspectors 
should tell the driver do it and bring back for rechecks without 
any cost to drivers.  June 2019 failure figures were 36% which is 
high.  As Bolton Council ignored at least 16 minor. As you know 
minor faults cost driver £20 which is not fair as the same 
licensing office worker time is wasted too.  Please help the 
situation thanks”. 

The Chair read the following response: 
 
“The Council needs to recover its costs from undertaking any 
additional checks on vehicles, this includes the tester inspecting 
the vehicle, to inputting the subsequent pass on the database 
and issuing a pass certificate to the admin team recording the 
pass on the licensing database.  Whenever a review next takes 
place your comments will be taken into account.”  
 
Members commented on minor faults and MOTs being used as 
a means of servicing vehicles. Drivers should be expected to 
keep vehicles in a roadworthy condition.  Fire extinguishers was 
not a minor fault.   
 
Members asked about the next review and the possibility of 
meeting with the trade.  Members were informed that the next 
meeting with the trade had been delayed but were still being 
contacted via email and phone.  Licensing policies were still 
moving forward at Greater Manchester level but had been 
delayed.   The Trading Standards and Licensing Manager would 
discuss issues with the trade and report back. 
 
RESOLVED that the public questions and responses provided 
be noted. 
 
NOTE:  The meeting was adjourned from 9.35 am to 9.45 am 
due to live streaming issues. 
 

5   MINUTES OF PREVIOUS MEETING   

RESOLVED that the minutes of the Licensing Committee held 
on 5th November 2019 be approved as a correct record. 
 

6   LICENSING ANNUAL REPORT   

The Committee gave consideration to a report of the Trading 
Standards and Licensing Manager which provided information 
on the activities undertaken to discharge the Council’s Licensing 
function during the period 1st April 2019 to 31st March 2020. 
 
There were two strategic objectives that related to Licensing 

which were: 
 
1. To work with businesses to ensure they were licensed 

and compliant. 
 Page 2



 

2. To ensure safe passenger journeys, in safe licensed 
vehicles with safe licensed drivers. 

 
The Licensing Act 2003 was governed by four licensing 
objectives: 

 Prevention of crime and disorder 

 Prevention of public nuisance 

 Public Safety 

 Protection of Children from Harm 
 
Members were informed about the number of licensed premises 
under the Act, the number of applications considered by the 
Licensing Premises Panel and the number of complaints related 
to licensed premises.  Members were also informed about the 
number of permissions under the Gambling Act 200 and an 
update on age restricted sales. 
 
Members were informed that officers continued to work with the 
private hire and hackney trade to ensure effective 
communication and consultation took place.  The Committee 
were provided an update on the details of applicants and drivers 
brought before the Licensing Drivers Panel over the last twelve 
months.  It as noted that as the Licensing Office had closed in 
March 2020 due to the COVID-19 outbreak, decisions on 
applicants and reviews had been dealt with by the Trading 
Standards and Licensing Manager under delegated powers.  
Members were also provided vehicle testing data. 
 
The Star Rating Scheme was currently under review in line with 
proposals to be issued related to the Greater Manchester 
Minimum Standards Project.  The Committee will be updated at 
a future meeting. 
 
The Committee were providing information on the implications of 
COVID-19.  The pandemic had hit all sectors of trade and 
business.  The Council has continued to support businesses in 
different ways.  Some work had been delayed due to the current 
situation.  The current projects underway or due to start 
included: 

 Refreshing the Licensing Act policy for alcohol, 
entertainment and late night refreshment; 

 Updating the Street Trading Policy; 

 Reviewing the Star Rating Scheme for Taxi/Private hire 
Licensing; 

 Undertaking an unmet demand survey for hackney 
carriages; and 

 Consultation on the Greater Manchester Minimum 
Licensing Standards alongside the Clean Air Plan. 

 
Members were asked to note that a number of taxi companies 
had merged, the star rating under review; the GM proposal 
related to the age of vehicles; and top 3 noted failures.  The 
vehicle testing pass rate was highlighted to members as an area 
of concern. 
 Page 3



 

Members were informed about the impact of the pandemic on 
the service.  The service has agreed delayed payments and 
instalment plans.  There were delays in MOT testing but it was 
planned to open one bay week commencing 8 June 2020 and 
then others would be phased in.  The service was making use of 
technology to support applicants and enquiries. 
 
Members asked about the present situation with the Null and 
Void Bar and the safety of the premises.  Members were 
informed that Null and Void were no longer occupying the 
premises and that the premises was currently vacant. 
 
Members asked about the opening of the testing bay at Moorhey 
Street and it was confirmed that one bay would be open from 
Monday, 8 June 2020 on a priority basis.  Other bays would be 
phased in thereafter.  The trade would be notified via email later 
in the week. 
 
Members asked about bars serving alcoholic refreshments with 
lids on and asked what the general rule at the current time.  
Members were informed that bars and clubs have an off-licence 
which permits sales for items to taken away.  Bars were closed 
for consuming products on the premises which included beer 
gardens, but it did not preclude the sale off sales.  Pubs and 
bars have been trying to gain income from other angles of work 
which included food and alcohol with the off sales element of 
their business.  Pubs and bars could legally sell alcohol for off 
sales, not to be consumed on the premises but could be taken 
off site.  Licensing officers were recommending how sales could 
be maintained in a safe manner in terms of social distancing, 
responsible retail and licensing objectives. 
 
Members sought clarification on vehicle testing and how long it 
would be for the GM Policy to take effect.  Members raised 
concerns about the conditions of some vehicles and highlighted 
suspension problems which should be looked at seriously.  
Members asked if Licensing officers could engage with the trade 
to address the issue as the situation was unacceptable and to 
either reduce the age of the vehicle, deal with the drivers or get 
the vehicles off the road.  Members were reminded that the 
vehicle age was agreed from 10 to 12 years with the trade as 
reassurances had been given.  However, the pass rate was now 
59% where it had been in the high 60’s.  Proposals in the GM 
consultation reduces the age back to 10 years.  It was hoped 
that following consultation the decision would be made early 
next year.  If members wanted to proceed to do something 
differently, officers would address the issue.  A Greater 
Manchester Police initiative which would have provided another 
indication on maintenance of vehicles had had to be delayed 
due to the pandemic.  Members requested that the extension to 
12 year old vehicles be reviewed and if there was no 
improvement the policy revert back to what had been done 
previously 
 
Members asked if there were figures on vehicles on the older 
vehicles and the frequency of the testing.  Members were Page 4



 

informed that vehicles between 8 and 12 years old have three 
tests per year and vehicles between 3 and 8 years had 2 tests 
per year.  There was no database related to age of vehicle and 
testing but this could be investigated. 
 
Members asked if Licensing Officers had been engaged with the 
Government related to the opening of pubs and bars and the 
policy of maintaining social distancing.  Members were informed 
that national working groups had been established which 
included the Local Government Association (LGA). The Institute 
of Licensing sat on a Task and Finish Group with various 
regulators to look at the guidelines on how premises would be 
reopened.  A draft had not been seen yet.  GM were also 
looking at the approach but there had not been anything definite 
yet. 
 
Members asked if there was information related to retesting 
rates and were informed that there were no separate figures but 
that not many vehicles that returned for a retest failed. 
 
Members asked the progress on the implementation for drivers 
to bring a certificate whereby the vehicle had been serviced by 
an independent garage and faults dealt with and it was 
confirmed that this was happening.  Drivers must bring the 
service sheet and, on most occasions, this resulted in the car 
passing. 
 
Members highlighted areas of discussion with the trade which 
include age failure rates and that these be reported back to a 
future committee. 
 
Members asked if data was available related to the vehicle 
service history for each driver.  Members were informed that this 
was not and this type of extract from the system would need to 
be discussed with IT.  Members raised concern that if a driver 
constantly presented failed vehicles, was that driver a fit and 
proper person and be presented in front of the Licensing Driver 
Panel.  Members were asked to note that some vehicles have 
more than one driver and it was the vehicle owner who had 
responsibility. 
 
Members sought clarification that before proceeding with some 
of the work agreed, that it would not be superseded by GM 
Policy after a short period of time.  Members were informed that 
the data extraction would not be affected by the GM 
developments and that the only potential change in the short 
term would be the age of vehicle and further testing. 
 
 
RESOLVED that: 
1. The Licensing Annual Report be noted. 
2. A report which outlines issues raised be brought back to 

the next Licensing Committee. 
 

7   COMPOSITION OF PANELS 2020 2021   Page 5



 

The Committee were informed about the composition of 
Licensing Driver Panel and the Licensing Panels scheduled 
throughout the 2020/2021 Municipal Year. 
 
RESOLVED that the composition of Panels for the 2020/2021 
Municipal year be agreed and the dates of future meetings be 
noted. 
 

The meeting started at 9.30 am and ended at 10.51 am 
 

Page 6



 
 

 
 
 

 

 

Licensing Committee 

GM Minimum Licensing Standards and Clean 
Air Plan Consultations 

Report of Executive Member for Neighbourhoods & Culture 

 

Officer contact:  John Garforth – Trading Standards & Licensing Manager 

Ext. 5026 

 

3rd November 2020   

 
Executive Summary 
The ten Greater Manchester Councils have recently launched consultations on their 
clean air proposals and minimum licensing standards. This report advises Members 
on their content.  
 
Recommendations 
That Members: 

1) Note the report; and 

2) Make any comments or ask questions of Officers  

Page 7

Agenda Item 7



Page 2 of 5 Licensing Committee [3rd November 2020] 

Licensing Committee  3rd November 2020 
 
GM Minimum Licensing Standards and Clean Air Plan Consultations 

 

 
1. Purpose of the report 

1.1 The purpose of this report is to inform Members of the commencement of 
consultation of Greater Manchester’s Minimum Licensing Standards and Clean 
Air Plan. Consultation closes on the 3rd December 2020.  

2. Introduction 

2.1 Officers from the ten Councils in Greater Manchester (GM) supported by 
colleagues at Transport for Greater Manchester (TfGM) have been developing 
proposals for consultation on a Clean Air Plan for GM. This report explains how 
it impacts on taxi licensing and the potential funding streams available.  

3. Minimum Licensing Standards  

3.1 The GM Licensing Network, made up of the ten Licensing Managers have, over 
the last two years, been putting together a set of minimum licensing standards 
that will be the base policy for GM. Working in tandem with the proposed Clean 
Air Plan work has ensured that they compliment each other. 

3.2 There are currently different licensing standards for taxis and private hire 
services across GM. It is being proposed that minimum licensing standards are 
introduced in key areas, while allowing individual local authorities to exceed 
these where they consider it appropriate. This will help deliver services that are 
safer and more customer focused with high accessibility and environmental 
standards. It will give customers the confidence to choose GM licensed vehicles 
as opposed to out of town licensed vehicles over which we have no regulatory 
control and for which we cannot vouch for the standards of the vehicle or its 
driver.  

3.3 The proposed minimum licensing standards cover four main areas: 

Drivers: Common standards of DBS checks, medicals, local knowledge, 
English language proficiency, driver training and dress code. 

Vehicles: Vehicle emission standards of Euro IV for petrol engines and Euro VI 
for diesel from 2021 with an ambition to zero emission capable vehicles by 2029. 
Age policy of under five at first licensing and licensed until ten years old. All 
hackney carriages to be black and private hire vehicles white. Hackney 
carriages to be all wheelchair accessible. Common livery, CCTV in vehicles and 
other design and licensing requirements. 

Operators: Private hire operators and base staff to have basic DBS checks. 
Updated conditions and record keeping requirements.  

Page 8



Page 3 of 5 Licensing Committee [3rd November 2020] 

Local authorities: Common timescales for submitting applications and 
receiving granted ones. A common enforcement approach and a framework to 
which fees will be set.  

Roadmap to zero emission capable vehicles (ZEC): GM is also proposing a 
road map to reducing harmful vehicles emissions with the aim of a entirely Zero 
emission capable fleet by 2029. This will support the city regions Clean Air Plan 
to reduce harmful nitrogen dioxide emissions. The Government has announced 
plans to ban the sale of petrol and diesel vehicles from as early as 2032. The 
proposed timetable to move to a ZEC fleet is as follows: 

2025 – All new to licence vehicles need to be ZEC 

2028 – All licensed vehicles need to be ZEC 

2029 – an entirely ZEC Taxi/PHV fleet across GM   

 
3.4 A summary of the MLS proposals can be found at Appendix 1 with the full 

consultation document at Appendix 2.  

 

4. Clean Air Plan 
 
4.1 Greater Manchester (GM) needs to take action to improve air quality, now and 

for future generations. Air pollution is linked to a range of very serious health 
conditions. It contributes to the equivalent of around 1,200 early deaths in GM 
every year, harming our health. 

 
4.2 Government has directed GM to introduce a Category C Clean Air Zone across 

the region, to bring nitrogen dioxide (NO2) levels on local roads within legal limits 
in “the shortest time possible” and by 2024 at the latest. As air pollution does not 
respect geographic boundaries, all 10 local authority areas have worked 
together to develop a joint Clean Air Plan to improve air quality. 

 
4.3 GM is now consulting on the key elements of the proposals, including proposed 

daily Clean Air Zone charges, discounts and exemptions, and the proposals for 
a multi-million pound funding package to support local businesses to upgrade to 
cleaner vehicles. There is now a requirement under the Transport Act 2000 to 
consult “such local persons as [the GM authorities] consider appropriate about 
the charging scheme”. 

 
4.4 Funding is being sourced from Government for hackney and private hire vehicles 

that would have to be changed if the proposed licensing standards are 
introduced from next year. This includes: 

 

 Hackney carriages – up to £17,500 to upgrade to a ZEC wheelchair 
accessible vehicle 

 

Page 9



Page 4 of 5 Licensing Committee [3rd November 2020] 

 Private Hire Vehicles - £1000 grant or finance contribution for a 
replacement petrol or diesel vehicle, £2000 grant or finance contribution 
towards a replacement hybrid vehicle, £2500 grant to replace with a ZEC 
vehicle or £5000 towards a replacement of a minibus or wheelchair 
accessible vehicle. 

 
 
4.5 A summary of the clean air proposals can be found at Appendix 3 with the full 

consultation document at Appendix 4.  
 

5  Legal Services Comments 

5.1  Under section 47(1) of the Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 
1976, the Council may attach such conditions to the grant of a hackney carriage 
vehicle licence as the Council considers to be reasonably necessary. Under 
section 48(2) of the Act, the Council may attach such conditions to the grant of 
a private hire vehicle licence as they may consider reasonably necessary. Case 
law has confirmed that it is not unlawful to have a vehicle age policy, provided 
that the Council continues to consider each application on its individual merits 
and does not fetter its discretion. Any person aggrieved by any conditions 
attached to a hackney carriage or private hire vehicle licence may appeal to the 
magistrates’ court.  

5.2 Under section 51 of the Act, the Council may attach such conditions to the grant 
of a private hire vehicle driver’s licence as the Council considers to be reasonably 
necessary.  Under section 55 of the Act, the Council may attach such conditions 
to the grant of a private hire operator’s licence as the Council considers to be 
reasonably necessary.  Any person aggrieved by any conditions attached to a 
private hire vehicle driver’s licence may appeal to the magistrates’ court.  

5.3  Under section 57 of the Act, the Council can require an applicant for a licence 
under the Town Police Clauses Act 1847 (in respect of hackney carriages) or the 
Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976 (in respect of private 
hire vehicles and private hire operators) to submit such information as they may 
reasonably consider necessary to enable them to determine whether the licence 
should be granted or whether conditions should be attached to any such licence.  
Any person aggrieved by the refusal to grant him a licence may appeal to the 
magistrates’ court.  (A. Evans) 

6  Co-operative Agenda 

6.1 The licensing process is in place not only to protect the public but also to support 
 and where necessary regulate businesses within the Borough. 

7  Environmental and Health & Safety Implications 

7.1  None 

8  Equality, community cohesion and crime implications 

8.1  None 

Page 10



Page 5 of 5 Licensing Committee [3rd November 2020] 

9  Equality Impact Assessment Completed? 

9.1  No  

10  Key Decision 

10.1 No  

11  Key Decision Reference 

11.1 N/A 

12  Background Papers - None 

12.1  Appendices  

 Appendix 1 – Summary of the Minimum Licensing Standards 

 Appendix 2 -  Consultation document – Minimum Licensing Standards  

 Appendix 3 -  Summary of GM Clean Air Plan proposals  

 Appendix 4 -  Consultation document  GM Clean Air Plan proposals 

Page 11



This page is intentionally left blank



Information for taxi and private hire services
October 2020

Introduction 
Taxis and private hire vehicles (PHV) play a crucial role  
in keeping Greater Manchester (GM) moving, making millions  
of journeys every year. It is vital that they can consistently  
deliver safe and high-quality services for the public.

GM is holding two consultations between 8 October and  
3 December 2020 that affect hackney carriage and private  
hire services licensed in one of the ten local authorities.

We are asking for views on the proposed:

l GM Minimum Licensing Standards 

l GM Clean Air Plan 

GREATER MANCHESTER 
MINIMUM LICENSING 
STANDARDS AND  
CLEAN AIR PLAN

Page 13



Greater Manchester Minimum 
Licensing Standards (MLS)
There are currently different licensing standards 
for taxis and PHV services across the ten Greater 
Manchester (GM) local authorities. We’re proposing 
minimum standards in key areas, while allowing 
individual local authorities’ standards to exceed 
these where they consider this to be appropriate. 

This will help deliver services that are safer and 
more customer-focused, with high environmental 
and accessibility standards. It will give customers 
the confidence to choose GM-licensed services 
over out of town services, and help secure the 
long-term future of the trade. 

The proposed MLS focus on four areas:

1) Drivers: Common standards on criminal record 
checks; medical examinations; local knowledge 
test; English language proficiency; driver 
training; driving proficiency; and dress code. 

2) Vehicles: Vehicle emissions (diesel Euro VI 
and above, petrol Euro IV and above with an 
ambition for a zero-emission – capable (ZEC)
fleet); vehicle ages (under five years at first 
licensing, no older than 10 years); vehicle 
colour (black for taxi/hackney, white for  
PHV); vehicle livery (common GM design  
with council logo incorporated); accessibility 
(all taxis to be wheelchair accessible); vehicle 
testing; CCTV; executive hire; vehicle design 
and licensing requirements. 

 3) Operators: Private hire operators/staff will 
require basic criminal record check; more 
stringent requirements in relation to booking 
records; operators to take more responsibility 
for the behaviour of their drivers. 

4) Local authorities: Applications may be 
submitted up to eight weeks in advance of 
licence expiry; once determined, licence issued 
within five working days; agree to develop 
common enforcement approach and framework 
to which licensing fees are set; training for 
councillors reviewing licence applications.

The road map to zero emission 
capable vehicles
GM is also proposing a road map to reducing 
harmful vehicle emissions, with the aim of an 
entirely zero-emission – capable (ZEC)* taxi and 
private hire fleet across GM by 2029. This will 
support the city-region’s current Clean Air Plan  
to reduced harmful nitrogen dioxide emissions.  
It will also help meet GM’s aim to be carbon-
neutral by 2038. In addition, the Government  
has announced plans to ban the sale of petrol  
and diesel vehicles from as early as 2032.

GM is therefore including the transition to 
ZEC vehicles in its timetable as part of this 
consultation, with the following proposed timeline:

l 2025: All new to licence vehicles need to  
be ZEC. 

l 2028 All vehicles need to be ZEC.

l 2029: An entirely ZEC taxi/ PHV fleet across 
GM by 2029. 

To give taxi and private hire owners the confidence 
to make this investment, we are working with 
Government to provide supporting funding and 
electric vehicle charging infrastructure.

Licensed by

APPROVED 
DRIVER AND 
VEHICLE

GREATER  MANCHESTER 
PRIVATE HIRE VEHICLE STANDARDS

Licensed by

APPROVED 
DRIVER AND 
VEHICLE

GREATER  MANCHESTER 
TAXI VEHICLE STANDARDS

*  Vehicles which are eligible / supported by the Office for Low Emission Vehicles (OLEV) plug-in grant 
gov.uk/plug-in-car-van-grants Page 14

https://www.gov.uk/plug-in-car-van-grants


BLACKBURN
WITH

DARWEN

MERSEYSIDE

WARRINGTON

CHESHIRE EAST

DERBYSHIRE

WEST
YORKSHIRE

LANCASHIRE

LANCASHIRE

CHESHIRE WEST
AND CHESTER

WIGAN

BOLTON
BURY

ROCHDALE

OLDHAM

TAMESIDE

STOCKPORT

TRAFFORD

SALFORD

M
AN

CH
ES

TE
R

Greater Manchester/
proposed Clean Air 
Zone boundary

Contains OS data © Crown copyright and database right 2018

Greater Manchester Clean Air Plan 
Government has directed Greater Manchester 
(GM) to introduce a Category C Clean Air Zone 
across the region in spring 2022. Under the plans, 
non-compliant taxis and PHVs would pay a daily 
charge of £7.50 to drive in GM. 

Recognising that some owners of PHVs also use 
their vehicle for private, domestic use – and that 
cars are not included in the proposed Clean Air 
Zone – GM is proposing a discounted weekly charge 
(5/7th of the weekly total). Owner drivers of GM-
licensed PHVs (and PHVs leased full-time by one 
person), would be eligible to apply for this discount.  

Funding support
GM is requesting a package of over £20m in 
funding from Government to help local, GM-
licensed taxi and PHV owners upgrade to cleaner 
vehicles or ZEC vehicles. The proposals include the 
option of either a lump sum grant or a monetary 
contribution towards vehicle finance. The 
proposals are in addition to the grants currently 
available from the UK Government, for buying  
ZEC vehicles. The following funding is proposed:  

GM-licensed private hire wheelchair-accessible 
vehicles (WAVs) or minibuses

There are two options:

l A grant of £5,000 for a compliant 6+ seater 
vehicle.

l Access to vehicle finance, offering an average 
subsidy of £5,000, with the subsidy per 
vehicle capped at £7,000.

GM-licensed non-wheelchair accessible PHVs 

There are three options:

l A grant of £1,000 for replacement with a 
compliant internal combustion engine vehicle 
OR access to vehicle finance, offering an 
average subsidy of £1,000, with the subsidy 
per vehicle capped at £2,000. 

l A grant of £2,000 for replacement with a 
compliant hybrid or plug-in hybrid OR access 
to vehicle finance, offering an average subsidy 
of £2,000, with the subsidy per vehicle 
capped at £3,000. 

l A grant of £2,500 towards the running costs 
of a ZEC vehicle.

GM-licensed hackney carriages

There are two options: 

l A one-off grant of £10,000 towards the running 
costs of a ZEC vehicle or access to vehicle 
finance, offering an average subsidy of £10,000 
with the total subsidy capped at £14,000. 

l A grant of £5,000 towards the LPG retrofit of  
a Euro 5 vehicle less than ten years old.

Temporary discounts and exemptions

Wheelchair accessible hackney carriages and 
PHVs which are licensed to one of the ten Greater 
Manchester local authorities, will be eligible for a 
temporary exemption until 31 December 2022. 

There is also a proposal for a Hardship Fund to 
support individuals, companies and organisations 
who are assessed to be most economically 
vulnerable to the Clean Air Zone daily charges. 
The scope and scale of support required will be 
considered in light of the impact of the COVID-19 
and the responses to the consultation. 

Page 15



‘Try Before You Buy’ and  
electric vehicle charging 
points
To encourage GM-licensed hackney 
carriage drivers to make the move to 
electric vehicles,  we’re proposing a ‘Try 
Before You Buy’ initiative. The opportunity 
to hire and assess the vehicle before 
making an investment should help to 
address uncertainties about operating 
costs, range anxiety and availability of 
charging infrastructure.

GM is proposing the installation of 30  
rapid electric vehicle charging points 
across the city-region, which would be  
for use by taxi and PHV drivers only. 

The locations will be chosen following 
engagement with the taxi and PHV trade 
visit gmtaxistandards.com for more. 

Give your views during consultation
Consultation runs between 8 October and 
3 December 2020. The findings from the 
consultations will be used to inform the final plans. 

You can have your say on the proposals by 
completing the questionnaires available at:

l Minimum Licensing Standards:  
gmtaxistandards.com

l Clean Air Plan: cleanairgm.com 

For more information about your current  
licensing standards visit your local authority’s  
website and search for licensing. 

For support to respond to these consultations  
or to request copies of the summary  
documents and questionnaires please contact  
info@gmtaxistandards.com or 0161 244 1100.  
Support for non-English speakers is available  
on 0161 244 1100

Proposed timeline
Here is an indicative timeline, showing how the GM Clean 
Air Plan and GM MLS may affect you.

 
 
 
“Prosimy o kontakt przez email info@cleanairgm.com lub telefonicznie pod 
numerem 0161 244 1100 po pomoc w odpowiedzi na tą konsultację lub aby móc 
otrzymać egzemplarze dokumentacji z podsumowaniem wraz z ankietą.  
 
 
Wsparcie dla osób nie mówiących po angielsku można otrzymać pod numerem 
0161 244 1100.” 

 
 
 
 
 
 

“Prosimy o kontakt przez email info@gmtaxistandards.com lub telefonicznie pod 
numerem 0161 244 1100 po pomoc w odpowiedzi na tą konsultację lub aby móc 
otrzymać egzemplarze dokumentacji z podsumowaniem wraz z ankietą.  
 
Wsparcie dla osób nie mówiących po angielsku można otrzymać pod numerem 
0161 244 1100.” 

 

 
Message 1 

 

 

“  સરશં અ  કો મળ મ અથ આ રમશો બ આ મ 
મ મળ  કર info@cleanairgm.com ર ઇમઇ ર સંક કરો 

 અથ મ 0161 244 1100 ર ો કર શકો છો.  

 

 ોકો  થ બો, ઓ મ મળ,  0161 244 1100 ર ો કર શક છ." 

 

 

 

Message 2 

 

 

 

 

“  સરશં અ  કો મળ મ અથ આ રમશો બ આ મ 
મ મળ  કર info@gmtaxistandards.com ર ઇમઇ ર સંક કરો  

અથ મ 0161 244 1100 ર ો કર શકો છો. 

 

  ોકો  થ બો, ઓ મ મળ,  0161 244 1100 ર ો કર શક છ." 

 

 
 
 
 
 

 
Message 1 

 

 

“  સરશં અ  કો મળ મ અથ આ રમશો બ આ મ 
મ મળ  કર info@cleanairgm.com ર ઇમઇ ર સંક કરો 

 અથ મ 0161 244 1100 ર ો કર શકો છો.  

 

 ોકો  થ બો, ઓ મ મળ,  0161 244 1100 ર ો કર શક છ." 

 

 

 

Message 2 

 

 

 

 

“  સરશં અ  કો મળ મ અથ આ રમશો બ આ મ 
મ મળ  કર info@gmtaxistandards.com ર ઇમઇ ર સંક કરો  

અથ મ 0161 244 1100 ર ો કર શકો છો. 

 

  ોકો  થ બો, ઓ મ મળ,  0161 244 1100 ર ો કર શક છ." 

 

 
 
 
 
 

info@cleanairgm.com

0161 244 1100  

0161 244 1100  

info@gmtaxistandards.com 

0161 244 1100  

0161 244 1100  

 
 

 

"For support to respond to this consultation or to request copies of the summary document and

questionnaire please contact info@cleanairgm.com or 0161 244 1100.

Support for non-English speakers is available on 0161 244 1100.

�cmā)q™'!
6 0161 244 1100 cinfo@cleanairgm.com

6™ 0161 244 1100 �m

For support to respond to this consultation or to request copies of the summary document and

questionnaire please contact info@gmtaxistandards.com or 0161 244 1100.

Support for non-English speakers is available on 0161 244 1100.

�cmā)q™'!
6 0161 244 1100 6c info@gmtaxisstandards.com

6™ 0161 244 1100 �m!�

“For support to respond to this consultation or to request copies of the summary 
document and questionnaire please contact info@cleanairgm.com or 0161 244 
1100. Support for non-English speakers is available on 0161 244 1100.” 

 
 
 
 

  

  

  

"    
   

 info@cleanairgm.com  1100 244 0161 .  

  

 1100 244 0161". 

 
 
 
 
 

“For support to respond to this consultation or to request copies of the summary 
document and questionnaire please contact info@gmtaxistandards.com or 0161 
244 1100. Support for non-English speakers is available on 0161 244 1100.” 

 
 
 
 
 

"    
  info@gmtaxistandards.com   

   1100 244 0161 .  

  

  1100 244 0161". 

“For support to respond to this consultation or to request copies of the summary 
document and questionnaire please contact info@cleanairgm.com or 0161 244 
1100. Support for non-English speakers is available on 0161 244 1100.” 

 
 
 
 

  

  

  

"    
   

 info@cleanairgm.com  1100 244 0161 .  

  

 1100 244 0161". 

 
 
 
 
 

“For support to respond to this consultation or to request copies of the summary 
document and questionnaire please contact info@gmtaxistandards.com or 0161 
244 1100. Support for non-English speakers is available on 0161 244 1100.” 

 
 
 
 
 

"    
  info@gmtaxistandards.com   

   1100 244 0161 .  

  

  1100 244 0161". 

From 
April 
2021

GM wide 
Clean 

Air Zone 
(CAZ)

Clean 
Taxi  

Fund

Minimum 
Licensing 
Standards 

(MLS)

From 
April 
2022

From 
April 
2023

From 
April 
2024

From 
April 
2025

From 
April 
2026

From 
April 
2027

From 
April 
2028

From 
April 
2029

Commences for all vehicles that do not comply with 
emissions policy.  
CAZ charge is £7.50 per day (Views on this are sought through 
the consultation on the proposed Clean Air Plan)

WAV exemption until end of 2022

Funding available from GM 
Clean Taxi fund to assist with 
replacement

MLS for 
new-to-
licence 
vehicles

Transition 
period for 
locally licensed 
vehicles to MLS

All 
new-to-
licence 
vehicles 
to be 
ZEC

All 
licensed 
Vehicles 
to be 
ZEC

The impacts of COVID-19 on GM Clean Air Plan and the GM Minimum Licensing Standards 
The Government has asked GM to continue to progress the 
Clean Air Plan, and to undertake the consultation, based 
on proposals developed before the COVID-19 pandemic. 

At the same time, the ten GM local authorities are asking 
for views on the proposed on the GM Minimum Licensing 
Standards. This will allow everyone with an interest to have 

a complete view of all the proposed changes to vehicles, 
and the potential support available for vehicle upgrades.

GM is using the consultations to better understand the 
impact of COVID-19 on impacted groups. This information 
will inform future decisions on each aspect of the final plan.

Page 16

https://www.gmtaxistandards.com
https://www.gmtaxistandards.com
https://cleanairgm.com
mailto:info@gmtaxistandards.com


GREATER MANCHESTER 
TAXI AND PRIVATE HIRE 
MINIMUM LICENSING 
STANDARDS 

Consultation Document
Consultation runs from 8 October to 3 December 2020

Find out more
gmtaxistandards.com

Page 17

https://www.gmtaxistandards.com


Contents
1. Foreword by Sara Todd  ...............................3

2. Introduction  ....................................................4

3. Vision  .................................................................6

4. The Minimum Standards ............................7

5. Licensed Drivers ............................................8

6. Licensed Vehicles ..........................................12

7. Licensed Operators ......................................16

8. Local Authority Standards .........................17

9. Timetable ..........................................................18

10. Impact and Overall Opinion .......................20

11. Equalities ..........................................................22

12. How to Respond .............................................23

Consultation Questionnaire ...............................25

Appendices ..............................................................27

Appendix 1: Design Options ...............................28

Appendix 2: Findings from the Public Taxi  
and PHV Conversation .........................................31

Appendix 3: Proposed Private Hire Driver 
Conditions ................................................................32

Appendix 4: Proposed Private Hire Vehicle 
Conditions ................................................................38

Appendix 5: Proposed Hackney Carriage 
Vehicle Conditions .................................................43

Appendix 6: Proposed Private Hire Operator 
Conditions ................................................................49

Appendix 7: Licensed Drivers’ Dress Code ...57

Appendix 8: Current Licensing Standards: 
Driver ...........................................................................58

Appendix 8: Current Licensing Standards: 
Vehicles .....................................................................59

Appendix 8: Current Licensing Standards: 
Vehicles .....................................................................60

Appendix 8: Current Licensing Standards: 
Operators ..................................................................61

Appendix 9: ...............................................................62

This document sets out the proposals for the  
GM Minimum Licensing Standards, which are 
being consulted on between 8 October and  
3 December 2020.

It presents the policies that have been  
developed by the 10 Local Authorities of  
Greater Manchester. At the end of each section, 
you’ll find the questions relevant to that section, 
that are asked in the consultation.

Throughout this document, when Greater 
Manchester or GM is used to describe the 
decision-making body for the proposals, it refers 
to the 10 Local Authorities of Greater Manchester.

2 Greater Manchester Taxi and Private Hire Vehicle Minimum Licensing Standards – Consultation DocumentPage 18



1. Foreword by Sara Todd 
Chief Executive, 
Trafford MBC 
and GM Lead for 
Minimum Licensing 
Standards

Taxis and private 
hire vehicles play a 
vital role in keeping 
Greater Manchester 
moving, enabling 

people to make tens of millions of journeys 
every year. The 10 Greater Manchester 
licensing authorities are committed to 
supporting the taxi and private hire sector, 
to make sure it continues to fulfil that crucial 
role into the future and achieve the vision 
of a stronger and healthier sector, providing 
consistently safe and high quality services  
to residents and visitors across the whole  
of Greater Manchester. 

Currently the picture is mixed and there are 
differing standards for taxi and private hire 
services across the ten Greater Manchester 
local licensing authorities. We have worked 
together and – in conversation with the  
trade – developed a proposed set of 
minimum licensing standards for all  
services licensed locally. 

We think these common standards will put local 
services one step ahead of the competition 
and help give the public peace of mind on 
every single journey. And now we are asking  
for your views, whether you’re a driver, operator 
or customer – to make sure we get it right.

The proposals include standards for drivers 
and vehicles, as well as operators, and the 
10 Greater Manchester licensing authorities. 
They include a range of checks to ensure  
that drivers and operators meet high 
standards, and a single vehicle livery  
so that customers can easily identify  
Greater Manchester-licensed services.

We also want to make sure licensed vehicles 
play a part in reducing harmful emissions. 
That’s why we are proposing a step-by-step 
pathway to reaching an entirely zero-emission 
hackney carriage and private hire vehicle  
fleet across Greater Manchester by 2029.  
This is driven by Greater Manchester’s Five-
Year Environment Plan, through which Greater 
Manchester aims to be carbon neutral by 2038.

Work to develop the proposed licensing 
standards has taken place alongside the 
Greater Manchester Clean Air Plan which 
will help tackle poor roadside air quality 
and which also affects taxis and private 
hire vehicles. Greater Manchester is asking 
for views on its Clean Air Plan during a 
consultation running at the same time,  
to give a complete view of all the proposed 
changes to vehicles, and the potential 
funding support available for upgrades.

Your knowledge and views will be essential  
to help us get it right. I encourage you to find 
out more about both consultations  
and complete the questionnaire  
by Thursday 3 December. 
 
 
 

Sara Todd

3Page 19



2. Introduction 
This document outlines a set of proposed minimum licensing standards 
for hackney carriages and private hire services for adoption by Greater 
Manchester’s 10 Local Authorities (Bolton, Bury, Oldham, Manchester, 
Rochdale, Salford, Stockport, Tameside, Trafford and Wigan). This consultation 
seeks views on these standards from a wide range of individuals and groups to 
make sure the standards are useful and effective. 

To help protect the public, taxis, private hire vehicles and their drivers must 
be licensed. The proposed minimum licensing standards are based on the 
principles that anyone using a licensed vehicle must:

l be able to trust its driver

l be assured the vehicle is safe

l trust any operator or driver to keep their information safe

l understand the vehicle is not contributing to emissions that could harm 
drivers, passengers and residents of Greater Manchester (GM)

These proposed minimum licensing standards are intended to form the 
cornerstone of the licensing framework used by all 10 GM Local Authorities to 
help deliver a shared vision for taxi and private hire services. 

What is the difference between a hackney carriage 
and a private hire vehicle? 
There are two types of vehicles that the general public call ‘taxis’

Hackney carriages are licensed to pick up people who 
wave for the vehicle to pull over and stop at the roadside or 
from an authorised taxi rank. Hackney carriages are often 
purpose built ‘black cabs’ but don’t have to be (depending 
on local policy) and they may also do pre-booked work.

 
A private hire vehicle is only permitted to pick  
people up via a pre-arranged booking. This might  
be over the phone or using an app based booking system.

 
The use of the word ‘taxi’ in this document refers to hackney carriages.

4 Greater Manchester Taxi and Private Hire Vehicle Minimum Licensing Standards – Consultation DocumentPage 20



They have been developed using the insight and experience of GM’s 10 
Local Authorities’ licensing authorities supported by Transport for Greater 
Manchester (TfGM). Development of the standards so far has been informed 
by a public engagement exercise called the ‘conversation’ in the summer of 
2018 and ongoing engagement with the taxi and private hire trade, Elected 
Members and other interested parties. Findings of the 2018 conversation are 
summarised in Appendix 2.

The standards set out in this document also incorporate the Department 
for Transport’s recently published Statutory Taxi and Private Hire Vehicle 
Standards. The Department for Transport’s standards can be found at  
gov.uk/government/publications/statutory-taxi-and-private-hire-vehicle-
standards. The Local Authorities acknowledge these standards and aim 
to build on them. The 10 GM Local Authorities believe hackney carriage and 
private hire vehicle drivers should be licensed by the local authority where 
they operate in order to ensure the high standards expected in GM. GM will 
continue to emphasise the importance of local governance and safety in their 
discussions with Government.

This public consultation on the minimum licensing standards is a joint 
exercise, coordinated by TfGM on behalf of the 10 GM Local Authorities, to 
give the public, the trade and any other interested parties the opportunity to 
consider, comment on and contribute to the proposals and the lead-in times 
for implementation. 

The effects of the COVID-19 pandemic have impacted the trade. A key part 
of the overall consultation process will be to help the 10 GM Local Authorities 
more fully understand how the trade has been affected by the pandemic, and 
any consequences this might have on the trade’s ability to comply with the 
proposed minimum licensing standards. 

The minimum licensing standards have also been designed to support and 
help deliver the GM Clean Air Plan. Respondents to this consultation are 
also actively encouraged to consider and contribute to the parallel public 
consultation at cleanairgm.com. Some of the standards will have significant 
financial implications for many drivers, proprietors and operators particularly 
those that will require a vehicle upgrade to comply with the government-
directed Clean Air Zone across Greater Manchester. As part of the work around 
implementing the proposed Clean Air Plan, GM has secured funding that will 
help some locally licensed owners renew or upgrade their vehicles. 

 

5Page 21

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/statutory-taxi-and-private-hire-vehicle-standards
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/statutory-taxi-and-private-hire-vehicle-standards
https://cleanairgm.com


3. Vision 
The GM Strategy sets out a clear and 
ambitious vision for our city region: to make 
it one of the best places in the world to grow 
up, get on and grow old. When it comes to 
transport, the GM Transport Strategy 2040 
outlines what we are focused on achieving: 
world class connections that support 
sustainable economic growth and access  
to opportunity for all. 

In practice, this means working together to 
create ‘Our Network’: an integrated, transport 
network where residents, workers and visitors 
benefit from seamless connections, simplified 
ticketing and affordable fares when traveling 
within GM. To achieve this we need all forms 
of transport - taxis and private hire vehicles, 
Metrolink, trains, buses, walking and cycling - 
to play their part. 

Tens of millions of trips are made in taxis and 
private hire vehicles in GM each year. Around 
2,000 taxis and approximately 14,000 private 
hire vehicles are currently licensed by one of 
GM’s Local Authorities. Taxis and private hire 
services play a vital role in GM. They help fill 
the gaps in our transport system, particularly 
for those without access to a car, enabling 
people to make the first or last leg of their 
journey if they live or work in a location that is 
remote from the mainstream public transport 
network. They are often essential for people 
with mobility impairments who cannot easily 
use conventional public transport. They can 
be relied on by early morning or late-night 
travellers; provide vital backup in the event of 
other transport modes’ travel disruption and 
play a vital role in supporting GM’s visitor and 
night-time economy. 

The proposed standards are based on the 
principle that GM deserves taxi and private 
hire services that deliver safer and high-
quality services for the public, using vehicles 
that meet high environmental standards. 

The proposed minimum standards have been 
developed to assure:

Safety – By setting high standards in vehicle 
conditions, robust licensing and checking 
processes, the consistent application of 
stringent suitability and conviction policies, 
and a common approach to compliance, to 
ensure that people are safer, and feel safer, 
when they use clearly liveried taxi and private 
hire services throughout GM. 

Customer focus – Well trained, reliable 
and knowledgeable drivers, giving people 
the confidence that they will arrive at their 
destinations on time. 

Environmental responsibility – By transition 
to a cleaner, greener fleet of vehicles, 
supporting the pledge made by the Mayor 
of Greater Manchester to make GM carbon 
neutral by 2038. 

Accessibility - Taxi and private hire services 
must be as accessible as possible to 
everyone, regardless of their age and personal 
mobility. Services should be better integrated 
with the wider public transport network 
to minimise any time, cost and mobility 
difficulties associated with changing between 
different forms of transport.

Wider benefits to drivers and the trade – 
Strengthening public confidence in a well-
regulated and locally licensed sector will help 
grow the market for, trust in and respect for 
GM’s licensed taxi and private hire services. 
The 10 licensing authorities have agreed 
commitments to provide high standards 
of service to the drivers, proprietors and 
operators that they licence, and together with 
TfGM, to more actively promote GM-licensed 
taxi and private hire trade, for example 
through travel advice.

6 Greater Manchester Taxi and Private Hire Vehicle Minimum Licensing Standards – Consultation DocumentPage 22



4. The Minimum Standards
The minimum standards being 
consulted on fall into four distinct 
areas. These are standards affecting:

l Licensed drivers (see pages 8 to 11)

l Licensed vehicles (pages 12 to 15)

l Licensed private hire operators 
(page 16)

l Local authority standards (page 17)

The following sections explain in more 
detail the minimum standards agreed 
in principle for public consultation by 
the GM Local Authorities. 

It should be emphasised that these are 
minimum standards the 10 GM Local 
Authorities can work to. Some Local 
Authorities may already be working to  
higher standards or may plan to do so,  
this consultation will not affect that work.

7Page 23



5. Licensed Drivers
A public engagement exercise was held in 2018 and is summarised in 
Appendix 2. At that time, respondents told us:

l They weren’t confident about drivers’ knowledge of their local area. 

l There were relatively high levels of dissatisfaction with language and 
communication.

l There was a lack of confidence in driver standards, with only half of the 
respondents stating they felt safe in licensed vehicles. 

These proposals aim to address these concerns and improve public 
confidence in both the taxi and private hire trades throughout GM. 

Minimum Standards 
The proposed standards for licensed drivers cover the following areas:

l Criminal records checks l Medical examinations

l Knowledge test l English language

l Driver training l Driving proficiency

l Dress code l Drug & alcohol testing of drivers

Criminal Records Checks
A criminal record check on a driver is an important safety measure. Checks 
are made with the applicant authority’s local police force to ensure checks are 
conducted on local intelligence systems as well as national systems. Different 
levels of clearance for Disclosure and Barring Service (DBS) certificates, 
needed for different types of taxi and private hire work, are checked against 
different lists.

Furthermore, as drivers’ licences can be issued for up to three years, 
arrangements must be in place to ensure that the licensing authority is aware 
of any new, relevant information that has not been disclosed voluntarily by the 
driver or operator. The proposed minimum standards for these checks are:

l All drivers will be required to undertake an Enhanced DBS. The check will 
include the Barred Lists such as details of unprotected spent convictions 
and police cautions. Checks will be at the driver’s expense.

l All drivers must register for the DBS update service and maintain that 
registration to enable the licensing authority to routinely check for new 
information every six months. 

l If a licence has not been granted within six months of the date of issue of 
the DBS, then a further enhanced DBS will be required unless the applicant 
is registered with the DBS Update Service. 

8 Greater Manchester Taxi and Private Hire Vehicle Minimum Licensing Standards – Consultation DocumentPage 24



Under the proposed minimum standards the licensing authority will need to 
ensure that sufficient background checks are conducted on applicants who 
have, from the age of 18 years, spent three continuous months or more living 
outside the United Kingdom (UK). For European Union (EU) nationals (including 
UK citizens) suitable checks should be available (to be confirmed). For those 
countries for which checks are not available, the licensing authority will require 
a certificate of good conduct authenticated by the relevant embassy.

Medical Examinations
Medical examinations which are the same as those applied by the Driver  
and Vehicle Standards Agency (DVSA) to the licensing of lorry and bus  
drivers (Group 2 standards of medical fitness) are currently considered  
the appropriate standard for licensed taxi and private hire drivers. Drivers  
are required to submit a medical certificate along with their application.  
The proposed minimum standards are:

l The medical certificate a driver presents as part of their application must 
be no more than four months old on the date a licence is granted.

l Medical examinations must be undertaken by a GP who has reviewed the 
applicant and had access to their full medical history. 

l All licensed drivers will be required to notify the licensing authority in 
writing immediately (or in any case within 48 hours) of a change to their 
health that might affect their driving capabilities.

l A satisfactory medical certificate must be submitted on first application 
and then again when the applicant reaches 45 years of age, and then every 
fifth year until the driver reaches the age of 65, when it will be required 
annually. This frequency will apply (as a minimum) unless otherwise 
directed by a medical professional.

Where there is any doubt as to the applicant’s medical fitness, they may 
be required to undergo, and pay for, a further examination undertaken by a 
medical specialist. No licence will be issued until sufficient medical clearance 
has been established.

Knowledge Test
In order to assist the licensing authority in determining the fitness of an 
applicant to hold a taxi or private hire driver’s licence, it is proposed that 
applicants undertake a knowledge test. The test may include some or all of the 
following:

l Local area knowledge

l Local conditions

l Licensing law

l Road safety/Highway Code/cycle awareness

l Numeracy

l Reading and writing

l Safeguarding

9Page 25



Where drivers are required by condition/policy to undertake training or  
produce documents or certificates to comply with the licensing authorities’ 
policy, that cost must be paid by the driver and will not be paid for by the 
licensing authority.

English Language
Licensing authorities require that all new drivers are able to communicate in 
English both verbally and in writing to a standard that is required to fulfil their 
duties, including in emergency and challenging situations. This should include:

l Talking to passengers to find out where they want to travel to, an 
estimation of the time taken to get there and acknowledgement of other 
common passenger requests.

l Being able to communicate with the customer in order to provide them 
with correct change from a note or notes of higher value than the given 
fare, and doing so with relative simplicity; and

l Providing a legibly written receipt upon request. 

It is proposed that applicants undertake an assessment that meets the above 
criteria. This assessment could also be used following a licence review and 
could, as a result, require an element of training as part of the decision.

Driving Proficiency
Under the proposed minimum standards all new drivers will be required to 
pass a taxi/private hire on-road assessment with a GM approved supplier 
(each local authority has an approved list of suppliers) and must submit 
evidence of that pass as part of their application process.

Where an existing licensed driver’s driving proficiency is called into question, 
a licensing hearing may require the driver to undertake a relevant skills 
assessment, which may include a classroom-based theory session.

Driver Training
Under the proposed minimum licensing standards, licensing authorities 
require all drivers to undertake training in safeguarding and awareness of child 
sexual exploitation and human trafficking - including the positive role that 
taxi / private hire vehicle drivers can play in identifying and reporting signs of 
abuse and neglect of vulnerable people. Drivers must also undergo disability 
and dementia awareness training. The training also includes licensing law and 
county lines awareness.

Dress Code Policy
It is proposed a dress code is introduced to promote a positive image of the 
licensed taxi and private hire trade in GM. All clothing worn must be in good 
condition and the driver must keep good standards of personal hygiene. 
Further details are provided in Appendix 7 of the consultation document.

10 Greater Manchester Taxi and Private Hire Vehicle Minimum Licensing Standards – Consultation DocumentPage 26



Drug & Alcohol Testing of Drivers
Driving under the influence of drugs and / or alcohol poses a risk to the public 
and other road users as well as bringing the trade into disrepute. GM local 
authorities are considering developing a policy so that drivers can be required 
to undertake a drug/alcohol test following complaints or information received.

Private Hire Driver Conditions
The private hire driver conditions are set out in detail in Appendix 3 of the 
consultation document and include matters such as driver conduct, fares, 
convictions, assistance dogs and lost property.

Q1: To what extent do you agree or disagree with the proposals 
for minimum licensing standards for licensed drivers in Greater 
Manchester?

Q1a: Do you have any comments relating to the proposals for 
minimum licensing standards for licensed drivers in Greater 
Manchester?

11Page 27



6. Licensed Vehicles
Respondents in the 2018 ‘conversation’ provided feedback about the age, 
accessibility and condition of vehicles being important to them. GM have set 
out the following proposals in areas relating to vehicles.

Minimum Standards
l Vehicle emissions l Vehicle age

l Vehicle colour l Vehicle livery

l Vehicle testing l CCTV

l Executive hire l  Vehicle design and licensing requirements

To support the city-region’s taxi and private hire vehicle (PHV) trade, 
GM has put together a significant package of support, including 
£20m of government funding to directly help the sector in upgrading 
their vehicles and assisting the move to a zero-emission fleet as 
part of the GM Clean Air Plan proposals. The GM Clean Air Plan also 
proposes a temporary exemption for wheelchair-accessible taxi and 
PHVs as well as a ‘Try Before You Buy’ scheme for hackney drivers 
to test drive electric taxis, and will work with the trade to develop a 
network of taxi and PHV-only electric vehicle charge points.

In addition, GM will continue to lobby government to change the law 
to prevent out of area operation, so only those who are licensed within 
the city-region, and meet GM’s high standards, can drive or operate in 
the area.

Vehicle Emissions
The licensed vehicle trade has a vital part to play in the ambition for all licensed 
vehicles to become emission free in support of the vision of the Greater 
Manchester Combined Authority (GMCA) Environment Plan1 which states:  
“We want Greater Manchester to be a clean, carbon neutral, climate resilient city 
region with a thriving natural environment and circular, zero-waste economy”. 

It is proposed that all licensed vehicles must comply with the vehicle emission 
Euro standards in the Government’s Clean Air Zone Framework when they 
are first licensed. The current Euro standard is Petrol: Euro IV (2005 onwards 
manufacture) and Diesel: Euro VI (2015 onwards manufacture). Hybrid vehicles 
are generally compliant with these standards. Liquid Petroleum Gas (LPG) 
vehicles are also compliant. 

Note that this will mean that taxi / private hire vehicles of the standards set 
out above will be compliant with the GM Clean Air Zone as detailed in the 
consultation on the proposed GM Clean Air Plan and therefore will not be 
subject to the charges.

1  GMCA Environment Plan Summary document 
greatermanchesterca.gov.uk/media/1975/5_year_plan_exec_summ_digital.pdf

12 Greater Manchester Taxi and Private Hire Vehicle Minimum Licensing Standards – Consultation DocumentPage 28

http://greatermanchesterca.gov.uk/media/1975/5_year_plan_exec_summ_digital.pdf


The GM Five-Year Environment Plan sets out the ambition to make Greater 
Manchester carbon neutral by 2038. To achieve this, sectors including transport 
need to take significant action now to reduce their carbon emissions, including 
a shift to vehicles that are not powered by fossil fuels. For taxis and private hire 
vehicles this means a switch to zero-emission capable (ZEC) vehicles2. 

In addition, the Government has announced plans to ban the sale of petrol and 
diesel vehicles from as early as 2032. GM is therefore including the transition to 
ZEC vehicles in its timetable as part of this consultation.

Vehicle Age
It is proposed that all licensed vehicles are under 5 years old at first licensing 
and no more than 10 years old. This proposal aims to promote a strong image 
of quality, safe and modern vehicles. There may be some local transition 
periods in relation to this proposal.

GM are considering whether there should be a different age policy in relation to 
electric vehicles and to wheelchair accessible purpose-built vehicles so that 
they can be licensed for more than 10 years.

Vehicle Colour 
It is proposed that all PHVs should be white in colour. Exceptions will be 
considered for vehicles used exclusively for executive hire work.

It is also proposed all taxis (hackney carriages) will be black in colour with the 
exception of London style taxis which may be of the manufacturer’s colour. 
Advertising wraps (used for marketing) on London style taxis will be allowed 
but not on any other vehicle. Colour wraps will not be allowed on any vehicle.

A ‘single colour’ policy aims to create a uniform fleet across GM which will 
be easily identifiable by, the public. This uniform brand will assist in safety 
messaging to the public as they are encouraged to use GM-licensed and 
approved vehicles. 

In order to reassure licence holders, it is not intended that vehicles which meet 
the proposed emission standards and wider licensing requirements but do not 
meet the colour requirement need updating straight away. If a colour policy is 
introduced Local Authorities will determine the relevant transition to fit in with 
local policy.

Wheelchair Accessible Taxis (Hackney Carriages)
Currently not all GM authorities have a wheelchair accessible purpose-built 
hackney carriage policy. Passengers with additional mobility needs should not 
have to wait for long periods at a taxi rank for a suitable accessible vehicle. 
Licensing authorities need to ensure their policies are non-discriminatory  
and inclusive. 

It is proposed to introduce a standard that all taxis are wheelchair accessible, 
to ensure that there is sufficient availability and a consistent standard of 
vehicle across GM and that they cater for the needs of all passengers.  

2  Vehicles which are eligible / supported by the Office for Low Emission Vehicles (OLEV) plug-in grant 
gov.uk/plug-in-car-van-grants

13Page 29

https://www.gov.uk/plug-in-car-van-grants


As a minimum it is proposed the following vehicles will be licensed: LTIs, 
Mercedes Vito Taxis, Peugeot E7 Taxis, and Ford Procab.

A policy as to whether purpose-built vehicles should be side and/or rear 
loading without the need for swivel seats is also being considered.

Vehicle Livery
It is proposed all vehicles will display licence plates on the front and back of 
the vehicle. These will be permanently affixed and must not be magnetic, to 
safeguard against unlicensed vehicles posing as licensed vehicles. 

It is proposed that all vehicles display a ‘GM Approved’ sticker on their bonnet. 

It is proposed that PHVs display stickers on both rear side doors which will 
include the operator name, the wording ‘advance bookings only’ and  
the wording ‘not insured unless pre-booked’. No magnetic signage will be allowed. 
The operator name will be displayed in the back window on a strip sticker.

It is proposed that all stickers will be provided by the licensing authority at a cost 
to the trade. Some examples of proposed livery can be found at Appendix 1. 

It is proposed that there will be no advertising other than Local Authority 
issued signage on private hire vehicles.

Vehicle Testing
It is proposed that all vehicles more than three years old will be tested at least 
twice a year.

All vehicles will be tested against the standard DVSA MOT Standard as a 
minimum. This will be at the cost of the owner / driver of the vehicle.

CCTV Cameras
It is proposed that all licensed vehicles will be 
fitted with mandatory CCTV (Taxi Cameras) to 
a standard yet to be determined. Cameras can 
act as a deterrent to the occurrence of a crime 
and can protect both drivers and passengers.

It is also proposed, if a CCTV policy is agreed, 
that there is audio as well as visual recording. 
If audio were to be introduced it would likely be 
triggered via a panic button system, operated 
by either the driver or passenger.

Executive Hire
The following standards are proposed for executive hire vehicles:

l Bookings to be confirmed by written contract.

l Payments to be made in advance of the journey or by invoice afterwards.

l The types of vehicle to be licensed.

l Dress code. 

This vehicle is
equipped with

CCTV

14 Greater Manchester Taxi and Private Hire Vehicle Minimum Licensing Standards – Consultation DocumentPage 30



l Business plan shared with licensing authority.

l Vehicles not to be fitted with operator radios, dataheads, meters. 

l Exemptions from plates and door signs.

l Must be used exclusively for executive hire work.

Vehicle Design 
The following standards for vehicle design are proposed:

l All vehicles must conform to M1 vehicle standard (DVLA vehicle 
classification) either via manufacture or if converted must be inspected to 
attain M1. Any modified vehicle at M2 standard must have the appropriate 
test to ensure conformity with single vehicle type approval.

l No retrofitting of engines into older vehicles. LPG conversions will be 
accepted. 

l Where retrofit emissions technology is installed in a vehicle, the 
technology must have been approved as part of the Clean Vehicle Retrofit 
Accreditation Scheme (CVRAS).

l Manufacturer window tint is allowed if it follows the specification outlined 
below. Only tinted windows at the point of manufacture will be allowed.

 There must be a clear view of the interior and passengers from outside.  
The light transmission must meet the following criteria:

 a) Front windscreen – minimum 75% light transmission.

 b) Front side door glass – minimum 70% light transmission.

 c) Remaining glass (exc. rear window) minimum 70% light transmission.

l No vehicle first being licensed will have been written off in any category 
and will not be renewed (if previously written off) after the 1st April 2022. 

l No roof signs permitted on PHVs.

l No advertising other than Local Authority issued signage on private  
hire vehicle. 

Vehicle Conditions
Details of proposed GM private hire and taxi vehicle conditions can be found 
at Appendices 4 and 5 respectively and include matters such as identification 
plates, accidents, meters, fare tables and CCTV.

Q2: To what extent do you agree or disagree with the proposals 
for minimum licensing standards for licensed vehicles in Greater 
Manchester?

Q2a: Do you have any comments relating to the proposals for 
minimum licensing standards for licensed vehicles in Greater 
Manchester?

15Page 31



7. Licensed Operators
Minimum Standards 
Private hire operators play an important part in the private hire system and  
are an integral link between driver, vehicle owners and the Local Authority.  
They must comply with the conditions attached to their licence and are 
expected to work to high standards of integrity. 

Full details of the proposed GM private hire operator conditions can be found 
at Appendix 6. 

It is proposed that: 

l Common conditions be attached to each private hire operator licence 
setting out their responsibilities and how records should be kept with regards 
to bookings, vehicles and drivers working from and for their company.

l A condition on each private hire operator licence requiring operators and 
their staff (paid or unpaid) to be DBS checked every year to ensure that only 
safe and suitable people have access to operator records. The cost of this 
will not be paid for by the licensing authority.

l Vehicle owners who are not licensed drivers, including Directors of 
companies or partners, are to have a basic DBS check as a part of their 
application process.

Q3: To what extent do you agree or disagree with the proposals for 
minimum licensing standards for licensed operators in Greater 
Manchester?

Q3a: Do you have any comments relating to the proposals for 
minimum licensing standards for licensed operators in Greater 
Manchester?

16 Greater Manchester Taxi and Private Hire Vehicle Minimum Licensing Standards – Consultation DocumentPage 32



8. Local Authority 
Standards

It is proposed that Local Authorities will also have to adhere to minimum 
standards of their own.

These are:

l Applications may be submitted up to eight weeks in advance of licence expiry.

l Once an application has been determined, a driver/vehicle or operator 
licence will be issued within five working days.

l An agreed common enforcement approach across GM including cross 
border authorisations will be developed (Currently, if a defect is found on 
a vehicle by another GM licensing authority other than the authority in 
which the vehicle is licensed, the matter is referred back to the authority 
the vehicle is licensed with (so a Trafford licensed vehicle found to be 
non-compliant in Manchester would have to be dealt with by Trafford not 
Manchester), under these proposals GM authorities would jointly authorise 
each other so that (for e.g.) Manchester officers can take direct action 
against any driver / vehicle licensed in GM).

l The framework governing levels of licensing fees (including enforcement 
and compliance costs) will be agreed.

l Councillors within the 10 Local Authorities will receive annual training 
pertinent to their role before they hear licensing applications. New 
Councillors will not be able to sit on licensing hearings until trained.

l Appropriate delegated powers will be in place for Licensing Managers and 
Heads of Service to suspend or revoke licences on the grounds of public 
safety when an urgent need arises. 

It is also proposed that drivers and operators who provide excellent service, 
support others and work to the principles of public safety will be recognised 
and rewarded. A scheme is being considered where members of the public 
can nominate drivers and companies for an ‘Excellence in Licensing Award’.

Q4: To what extent do you agree or disagree with the proposals 
for minimum licensing standards for Local Authorities in Greater 
Manchester?

Q4a: Do you have any comments relating to the proposals for 
minimum licensing standards for Local Authorities in Greater 
Manchester? 

17Page 33



9. Timetable
It is acknowledged that there will have to be a period of transition for licensing 
authorities to implement any proposals agreed following this consultation. 
This will also allow the trade to consider their options for vehicles and drivers.

 
It is proposed that all new vehicles being licensed from April 1, 2021 will be 
required to meet the standards that are approved following this consultation. 
It is also anticipated that most of the other policy areas that are approved 
will start to come into force from April 2021, for example relating to driver and 
operator standards.

From April 1, 2022 it is proposed that all existing licensed vehicles will 
commence transitioning to meet the standards that are approved following 
this consultation. This will include the stated emissions requirements and age 
of vehicles. 

The transition period will be determined by each individual licensing authority 
having considered current and revised policies and the likely effect on the 
trade, but it is expected that all vehicles would have to be compliant with the 
proposed emissions standards by April 1, 20243. This will mean that from April 
2023, hackney and private hire vehicles will need to meet MLS standards to 
secure a vehicle licence. 

From 
April 
2021

GM wide 
Clean 

Air Zone 
(CAZ)

Clean 
Taxi  

Fund

Minimum 
Licensing 
Standards 

(MLS)

From 
April 
2022

From 
April 
2023

From 
April 
2024

From 
April 
2025

From 
April 
2026

From 
April 
2027

From 
April 
2028

From 
April 
2029

Commences for all vehicles that do not comply with 
emissions policy.  
CAZ charge is £7.50 per day (Views on this are sought through 
the consultation on the proposed Clean Air Plan)

Wheelchair Accessible Vehicles exemption until end of 2022

Funding available from GM 
Clean Taxi fund to assist with 
replacement until

MLS for 
new-to-
licence 
vehicles

Transition 
period for 
locally licensed 
vehicle to MLS

All 
new-to-
licence 
vehicles 
to be 
ZEC

All 
licensed 
Vehicles 
to be 
ZEC

3  Vehicles that are non-compliant with the vehicle emission Euro standards in the Government’s Clean Air 
Zone Framework would still be subject for daily charges for driving inside the proposed category C Greater 
Manchester Clean Air Zone before 2024. For more information on the Greater Manchester Clean Air Plan 
proposals, visit cleanairgm.com

18 Greater Manchester Taxi and Private Hire Vehicle Minimum Licensing Standards – Consultation DocumentPage 34

https://cleanairgm.com


For vehicles that are emissions compliant, but not colour compliant, on April 
1, 2024 it is envisaged that the change of colour would not be mandated until 
the vehicle is next being changed in line with the policy at the time. 

In relation to zero emission capable (ZEC) vehicles it is proposed that:

l From 2025 all new-to-licence vehicles would need to be ZEC.

l From 2028, all vehicles would need to be ZEC, meaning an entirely zero 
emission Taxi/PHV fleet across GM by 2029.

Q5: Do you have any comments relating to the proposed timetable? 

To support GM licensed taxi and PHVs owners to upgrade, the GM 
Clean Air Plan proposals include a ‘Clean Taxi Fund’ and a series  
of other measures. For more information, and to have your say,  
please go to cleanairgm.com 

19Page 35

https://cleanairgm.com


10. Impact and  
Overall Opinion

When considering the impacts the proposed minimum licensing standards 
may have on you or your business, you may also want to review current licence 
standards within the Local Authority in which you are currently licensed.  
A link to these can be found on gmtaxistandards.com or you can contact 
each Local Authority Licensing Department directly. A summary table showing 
current licensing standards is provided at Appendix 8.

Typical examples of how proposals within both the GM Clean Air Plan and  
GM Minimum Licensing Standards may affect vehicle owners can be found  
at Appendix 9.

Q6a: Having read through the proposals for minimum licensing 
standards in Greater Manchester, please describe how you / your 
business will be affected by these proposals (if at all) if they are 
approved and implemented?

Impact of COVID-19
Local Authorities are aware that businesses have been and continue to 
be impacted by the COVID-19 pandemic. Therefore, the consultation is 
asking about the impact of COVID-19 to inform decisions on the nature and 
requirements for additional support for those most vulnerable to the proposals.

The consultation will adhere to the Government guidance around social 
distancing whilst ensuring sufficient engagement activity to enable residents, 
businesses and visitors to engage with the consultation materials and 
respond in a meaningful way. In light of the current restrictions much of the 
activity will have to be conducted in a virtual way, using digital tools such as 
attendance at virtual meetings, virtual exhibitions, social media and webinars. 
However, telephone and postal correspondence will allow those who may 
not have digital access to engage in the consultation and will build on the 
connections made during the Taxi/PHV ‘conversation’ held in 2018.

Q6b: Which of the following best reflects your trading status as a 
result of the COVID-19 pandemic?: 
 l Have continued trading throughout 
 l Currently trading, having temporarily paused - but have 
  resumed trading during the pandemic 
 l Paused trading 
 l Permanently ceased trading 
 l Other, please state

20 Greater Manchester Taxi and Private Hire Vehicle Minimum Licensing Standards – Consultation DocumentPage 36

https://www.gmtaxistandards.com


Q6c: Have you or your business received any of the following as a 
result of the COVID-19 pandemic? 
 l Coronavirus job retention scheme (aka Furlough) 
 l Government-backed accredited loans or finance agreements 
  (aka CBIL / BBLS) 
 l Business grants funded by the UK and devolved governments 
 l Self-employment income support scheme 
 l Other government support 
 l Other loans / grants (please specify)…  
 l Not applied for any of these schemes

Q6d: To what extent has the COVID-19 pandemic affected the 
following aspects of your business? 
 l Level of debt 
 l Reserves / Savings 
 l Turnover 
 l Profitability

Q6e: Please tell us how the COVID-19 pandemic has affected your 
ability to meet the proposed GM Minimum Licensing Standards?

Overall opinion
Having read through the proposals for minimum licensing standards in GM, 
please answer the following questions:

Q7a: Overall, to what extent do you agree or disagree with the proposed 
Greater Manchester minimum licensing standards for hackney 
carriages and private hire vehicles?

Q7b: Please explain your answer?

Q7c: Are there any changes that you think would improve the 
proposed minimum licensing standards? 
 
 Q7d: if yes - please provide further details as to the changes you 
 think would improve the proposed standards. (open text box) 
 
 Q7e: If you disagreed with the proposals, how likely would you be 
 to agree with them if the changes you suggested in answer to the 
 previous question were made?

21Page 37



11. Equalities
Under equality legislation, there is a requirement to have due regard for the 
need to:

l Eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment and victimisation. 

l Advance equality of opportunity between persons who share a relevant 
protected characteristic, and persons who do not share it.

l Foster good relations between those who have a relevant protected 
characteristic and those who don’t. 

’Relevant protected characteristics’ are age; disability; gender reassignment; 
pregnancy and maternity; race; religion or belief; sex and sexual orientation.

A draft Equality Impact Assessment has been produced by GM to identify the 
potential impacts of the proposed minimum licensing standards on persons 
with protected characteristics. The draft Equality Impact Assessment can be 
found at gmtaxistandards.com

Q8: Do you have any comments on the draft Equality Impact 
Assessment?

22 Greater Manchester Taxi and Private Hire Vehicle Minimum Licensing Standards – Consultation DocumentPage 38

https://www.gmtaxistandards.com


12. How to Respond
Who can take part?
Everyone who is interested or affected by the proposals should get involved  
to share their views. We are particularly interested in hearing from:

l Licensed drivers l Disability groups

l Vehicle owners l Vehicle manufacturers

l Private hire operators l Members of the public

l Trade Associations l Other interested parties

Where can I get more information?
The questionnaire is available on gmtaxistandards.com where you can  
also find supporting documents to give you more detailed information on  
the proposals.

How do I respond?
You can have your say on the proposals by going to gmtaxistandards.com  
to answer the questions in the online questionnaire.

Alternatively you can email your feedback to gmtaxistandards@aecom.com.

Give your feedback via telephone on 0161 244 1100 (you will be forwarded through 
to our independent research organisation AECOM to submit your response).

Or write/send a completed questionnaire to  
Freepost RUBS-XRAT-GLBK,  
AECOM, 1 New York Street,  
MANCHESTER, M1 4HD.

All responses will go to AECOM – the independent agency who are managing 
and analysing the responses.

For further information or to request paper copies of the consultation 
document and questionnaire please ring 0161 244 1100 or email  
info@gmtaxistandards.com. A pre-paid envelope will be provided along  
with the paper version of the questionnaire so that you are able to return  
your completed form to AECOM free of charge. 

The consultation is open from Thursday 8 October to 23:59 on Thursday 3 
December 2020.

Access to all
If you need to respond to the consultation in a different way, or require  
the consultation materials in a different format, please contact  
info@gmtaxistandards.com or call 0161 244 1100 to discuss how we  
can help you. Support for non-English speakers is available on 0161 244 1100.

23Page 39

https://www.gmtaxistandards.com
https://www.gmtaxistandards.com
mailto:gmtaxistandards@aecom.com
mailto:info@gmtaxistandards.com
mailto:info@gmtaxistandards.com


Greater Manchester Clean Air Plan proposals
Government has instructed GM to introduce a region-wide Clean Air Zone from 
spring 2022 as part of its Clean Air Plan. Under the plans, higher emission 
non-compliant taxis and private hire vehicles would pay a daily charge of £7.50 
to drive in GM. The consultation on minimum licensing standards is running in 
parallel with the consultation on the Clean Air Plan to ensure that respondents 
affected by the proposals are clear about their combined effects and respond 
accordingly. 

Taxi / PHVs which meet the proposed standards in terms of emissions set out 
in this document will be compliant within the GM Clean Air Plan and therefore 
will not be subject to the charges. To have your say on the GM Clean Air Plan 
proposals go to cleanairgm.com

24 Greater Manchester Taxi and Private Hire Vehicle Minimum Licensing Standards – Consultation DocumentPage 40

https://cleanairgm.com


Consultation Questionnaire
These are the questions included in the consultation questionnaire. They are set 
out throughout this document at the appropriate points within each section.

Q1:  To what extent do you agree or disagree with the proposals for minimum 
licensing standards for licensed drivers in Greater Manchester?

Q1a: Do you have any comments relating to the proposals for minimum licensing 
standards for licensed drivers in Greater Manchester?

Q2:  To what extent do you agree or disagree with the proposals for minimum 
licensing standards for licensed vehicles in Greater Manchester?

Q2a: Do you have any comments relating to the proposals for minimum licensing 
standards for licensed vehicles in Greater Manchester?

Q3:  To what extent do you agree or disagree with the proposals for minimum 
licensing standards for licensed operators in Greater Manchester?

Q3a: Do you have any comments relating to the proposals for minimum licensing 
standards for licensed operators in Greater Manchester?

Q4:  To what extent do you agree or disagree with the proposals for minimum 
licensing standards for Local Authorities in Greater Manchester?

Q4a: Do you have any comments relating to the proposals for minimum licensing 
standards for Local Authorities in Greater Manchester?

Q5:  Do you have any comments relating to the proposed timetable? 

Q6a:  Having read through the proposals for minimum licensing standards 
in Greater Manchester, please describe how you / your business will 
be affected by these proposals (if at all) if they are approved and 
implemented?

Q6b:  Which of the following best reflects your trading status as a result of the 
COVID-19 pandemic?: 
l  Have continued trading throughout 
l Currently trading, having temporarily paused - but have resumed  
 trading during the pandemic 
l Paused trading 
l Permanently ceased trading 
l Other, please state

Q6c:  Have you or your business received any of the following as a result of the 
COVID-19 pandemic? 
l Coronavirus job retention scheme (aka Furlough) 
l Government-backed accredited loans or finance agreements 
 (aka CBIL / BBLS) 
l Business grants funded by the UK and devolved governments 
l Self-employment income support scheme 
l Other government support 
l Other loans / grants (please specify)…  
l Not applied for any of these schemes

25Page 41



Q6d:  To what extent has the COVID-19 pandemic affected the following aspects 
of your business? 
l Level of debt 
l Reserves / Savings 
l Turnover 
l Profitability

Q6e:  Please tell us how the COVID-19 pandemic has affected your ability to meet 
the proposed GM Minimum Licensing Standards?

Q7a:  Overall, to what extent do you agree or disagree with the proposed Greater 
Manchester minimum licensing standards for hackney carriages and 
private hire vehicles?

Q7b:  Please explain your answer?

Q7c:  Are there any changes that you think would improve the proposed 
minimum licensing standards? 
 
Q7d: if yes - please provide further details as to the changes you think 
would improve the proposed standards. (open text box) 
 
Q7e: If you disagreed with the proposals, how likely would you be to agree 
with them if the changes you suggested in answer to the previous question 
were made?

Q8:  Do you have any comments on the draft Equality Impact Assessment?

26 Greater Manchester Taxi and Private Hire Vehicle Minimum Licensing Standards – Consultation DocumentPage 42



Appendices

27Page 43



Appendix 1: Design Options
Below are some design considerations for common vehicle livery.

28 Greater Manchester Taxi and Private Hire Vehicle Minimum Licensing Standards – Consultation DocumentPage 44



29Page 45



Licensed by

APPROVED 
DRIVER AND 
VEHICLE

GREATER  MANCHESTER 
PRIVATE HIRE VEHICLE STANDARDS

Licensed by

APPROVED 
DRIVER AND 
VEHICLE

GREATER  MANCHESTER 
TAXI VEHICLE STANDARDS

Private Hire Bonnet

Private Hire Door Sign

Hackney Carriage Bonnet 

OPERATOR NAME
0161 123 4567

ADVANCE 
BOOKINGS ONLY
Not insured unless booked

30 Greater Manchester Taxi and Private Hire Vehicle Minimum Licensing Standards – Consultation DocumentPage 46



Appendix 2: Findings from 
the Public Taxi and PHV 
Conversation
During the summer of 2018 a public engagement exercise called the ‘conversation’ was held 
with members of the public to gather information on their use of taxis and PHVs in GM and their 
perceptions and experience of both the vehicles and the drivers. 

2,003 responses were received.

The findings included:

l 85% of those who expressed an opinion agreed or strongly agreed that a consistent 
standard of the appearance of PHVs would help people recognise them.

l 78% of those who expressed an opinion felt comfortable or very comfortable with the idea 
of CCTV in taxis or PHVs.

l 76% of those whose who expressed an opinion thought that the age and condition of the 
licensed vehicles was important to them.

l 54% of private hire passengers and 48% of taxi passengers who answered stated that they 
were concerned or very concerned about the emissions from such vehicles.

l 38% of those who replied stated that it was easy/very easy to see driver ID.

l 29% of those who responded stated it was easy /very easy to get an accessible vehicle.

l 55% of PHV passengers and 34% of taxi passengers stated that they had confidence that 
drivers were fully licensed and trained.

l 17% of respondents said that they were not confident that drivers had knowledge of routes.

l 41% of respondents said they were not satisfied with drivers’ language and communication.

l 50% of those who replied stated that they felt safe or very safe in licensed vehicles.

31Page 47



Appendix 3: Proposed Private 
Hire Driver Conditions
The licensee shall at all times comply with the provisions of Part II of the Local Government 
(Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976 and the conditions hereinafter provided.

Definitions
In this licence:

“the Act” means the Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976.

“the Council” means xxxx Council

“the Operator” means a person holding a licence to operate private hire vehicles issued 
pursuant to Section 55 of the Act.

“private hire vehicle” has the same meaning as in Section 80 of the Act.

“the proprietor” has the same meaning as in Section 80 of the Act.

“the meter” means any device for calculating the fare to be charged in respect of any journey 
in a private hire vehicle by reference to the distance travelled or time elapsed since the start of 
the journey or a combination of both. 

“authorised officer” has the same meaning as in section 80 of the Act.

“licensee” means the person who holds the private hire drivers’ licence.

‘”hirer” means the customer that has made the booking, who could also be the passenger

“passenger” means the person(s) travelling in the booked vehicle. For the avoidance of doubt, 
all children (including babies) count as individual passengers.

‘Sexual Activity’ includes but not limited to touching, kissing, inappropriate comments or 
conversation or propositioning.

“Owner” means a person to whom any lost property belongs to

“Drivers badge” has the same meaning as in Section 80 of the Act.

Words importing the masculine gender such as “he” and “him” shall include the feminine 
gender and be construed accordingly.

Where any condition below requires the Licencee to communicate with the Council,  
all communication must be to the Council’s Licensing Department unless otherwise  
stated. Reference to the Council’s email address means the email address of the  
Council’s Licensing Department.

32 Greater Manchester Taxi and Private Hire Vehicle Minimum Licensing Standards – Consultation DocumentPage 48



1. Licence Administration
1.1 The licensee shall notify the Council in writing of any change of their address and contact 

details during the period of the licence within 7 days of such change taking place.

1.2 The licensee shall notify the Council in writing within 7 days of commencing work with a 
private hire operator.

1.3 The licensee shall notify the Council in writing within 7 days of any subsequent change  
of operator.

1.4 The licensee shall provide a copy of his private hire driver’s licence with the Operator 
through which the Private Hire Vehicle is being used.

1.5 The licensee shall ensure that relevant documentation (including DBS certificate/status, 
Medical Certificate, and right to work documentation) required by the Council to assess 
their fit and proper status, is kept up to date and remains ‘valid’ in line with the Council’s 
policies.

1.6 For the duration of the licence, the licensee shall attend (as required) and pay the 
reasonable administration charge or fee attached to any requirement for training or to 
produce a relevant certificate (i.e. new medical certificate), assessment, validation check 
or other administration process.

1.7 The licensee will register and remain registered with the DBS Update Service to enable 
the Council to undertake regular checks of the DBS certificate status as necessary.

2.  Convictions and Suitability Matters
2.1 The licensee shall notify the Council immediately in writing (or in any case within 24 

hours) if they are subject to any of the following:

• arrest or criminal investigation,

• summons, 

• charge, 

• conviction,   

• formal/simple caution, 

• fixed penalty or speed awareness course, 

• criminal court order, 

• criminal behaviour order or anti-social behaviour injunction, 

• domestic violence related order, 

• warning or bind over 

• any matter of restorative justice  

 and shall provide such further information about the circumstances as the Council  
may require.

33Page 49



3.  Notifications of Medical Conditions
3.1 The licensee shall notify the Council of any newly diagnosed or change to a current 

medical condition which may restrict their entitlement to a driver’s licence requiring 
a DVSA Group 2 medical standard (the same standard as applied by the DVSA to the 
licensing of lorry and bus drivers). Notification must be sent to the Council’s email 
address immediately (or in any case within 48 hours) of the relevant diagnosis or change 
to medical condition. 

3.2 The licensee shall at any time (or at such intervals as the Council may reasonably require) 
produce a certificate in the form prescribed by the Council signed by an appropriate 
Doctor/Consultant who has access to the driver’s full medical records to the effect that 
he/she is or continues to be fit to be a driver of a private hire vehicle.

4. Driver Badge
4.1 The licensee shall at all times when driving a private hire vehicle wear the driver’s badge 

issued to them by the Council so that it is plainly and distinctly visible and show it to any 
passenger(s) if requested. 

4.2 The badge shall be returned to the Council immediately upon request by an Authorised 
Officer (i.e. the licence is suspended, revoked or becomes invalid for any reason).

4.3 The licensee must wear any lanyard, clip or holder issued to them by the Council. 

5.  Driver Conduct and Dealing with Passengers
5.1 The licensee shall behave and drive in a civil, professional and responsible manner 

to passengers, other road users, members of the public Council officers and other 
agencies.

5.2 The licensee shall comply with any reasonable request made by an Authorised Officer, 
Testing Mechanic or Police Officer. The licensee will also comply with any reasonable 
request  of the passenger regarding their comfort during the journey (e.g. heating/
ventilation).

5.3 The licensee shall, unless delayed or prevented by some sufficient cause, punctually 
attend with the private hire vehicle at the appointed time and place as required by the 
operator booking or as instructed by an Authorised Officer. 

5.4 The licensee shall stop or park the private hire vehicle considerately and legally (not in 
contravention of any road traffic orders) and shall switch off the engine if required to wait 
(no idling).

5.5 The licensee shall not use the vehicle’s horn to attract customer attention. The horn must 
only be used in an emergency.

5.6 The licensee shall comply with the Council’s Licensed Drivers Dress Code. 

5.7 The licensee shall provide reasonable assistance to passengers as required by the hirer 
(e.g. mobility assistance and loading/unloading luggage). The licensee shall not provide 
mobility assistance to passengers by physically touching without consent to do so.

5.8 The licensee shall ensure that luggage (including shopping and other large objects) are 
safely and properly secured in the vehicle.

34 Greater Manchester Taxi and Private Hire Vehicle Minimum Licensing Standards – Consultation DocumentPage 50



5.9 The licensee and passengers are not permitted to smoke in the vehicle. The licensee also 
must not:

a) vape or use an e-cigarette in the vehicle

b) drink or eat whilst driving

c) use any hand-held device whilst driving or allow themselves to be distracted in any 
other way

d) display any moving images or have any form of visual display screen fitted to the  
licensed vehicle other than satellite navigation

e) conduct lengthy telephone conversations whilst driving passengers

f) play a radio or sound reproducing instrument or equipment in the vehicle (other 
than for communicating with the operator) without the express permission of the 
passenger(s)

g) cause or permit the noise emitted from any radio or sound reproducing instrument or 
equipment in the private hire vehicle to cause nuisance or annoyance to any person.

5.10 The licensee when hired shall, (subject to any directions given by the passenger), take the 
shortest route bearing in mind likely traffic problems and known diversions and explain 
to the passenger any diversion from the most direct route. Alternative routes must be 
discussed with the passengers before being taken. 

5.11 The licensee shall at all times when a vehicle is hired take all reasonable steps to ensure 
the safety of the passengers within, entering or alighting from the vehicle.

5.12 The licensee shall report immediately to the operator any incident of concern including 
accidents where hurt or distress has been caused, customer disputes or passenger 
conduct concerns. 

5.13 The licensee shall be vigilant regarding vulnerable passengers and safeguarding 
concerns when carrying out his duties and shall report any concerns immediately or in 
any event within 24 hours in accordance with Council guidance. 

5.14 The licensee shall report (on the conclusion of the booking) to the operator any 
complaints a passenger/member of the public has made to the licensee regarding their 
conduct or the conduct of other personnel/drivers.

5.15 The licensee shall not engage in any sexual related activity in a licensed vehicle, even if 
consensual. 

5.16 The licensee shall not, except with the express consent of the hirer/passenger or 
approved ride share journey, carry any person (other than the hirer/passenger) in the 
private hire vehicle.

5.17 The licensee shall not carry a greater number of passengers than is prescribed on the 
vehicle licence and shall not allow any unaccompanied child to be carried in the front 
seat of the vehicle. 

5.18 The licensee will ensure that the vehicle is clean for passengers and the plate clearly 
visible at all times he is on control of the vehicle. 

5.19 The licensee will ensure that he is aware of all the workings and mechanics of the 
vehicles before undertaking bookings. 

35Page 51



5.20 The licensee shall report any accidents involving a licensed vehicle they are driving within 
72 hours to the Licensing Department and must comply with any requests thereafter by 
an Authorised Officer. 

5.21 The licensee shall ensure that a daily vehicle check log has been completed (either by 
himself or the vehicle proprietor) at the beginning of each shift. The checks to be carried 
out are as follows:

• lights and indicators

• tyre condition, pressures and tread

• Wipers, washers and washer fluid levels

• Cleanliness inside and out

• Bodywork – no dents or sharp edges

• Licence plates present and fixed in accordance with these conditions

• Any internal discs on display and facing inwards so customers can see

• Door and bonnet stickers on display

• Tariff sheet on display (this could potentially be electronic on a driver / customer app)

• Horn in working order

 The licensee shall ensure a record of the above information is kept in the vehicle at all 
times and will ensure the information is available to an Authorised Officer upon request. 

6. Assistance Dogs
6.1 The Licensee shall carry a disabled passenger’s assistance dog with the passenger. The 

licensee will follow the advice of the passenger as to the exact position and location for 
the assistance dog to travel, to best suit their needs.

6.2 Where the licensee has been granted a medical exemption so as to exempt them from 
any requirement under the Equality Act 2010; the notice of exemption must be displayed 
in the vehicle so that it is visible by fixing it in an easily accessible place (for example on 
the dashboard) or as prescribed by the Council.  

6.3 The licensee must notify their operator of any medical exemption they hold in relation to 
the requirements under the Equality Act 2010. 

7. Fares
7.1 If the vehicle is fitted with a meter the licensee shall ensure it is always visible.  

The licensee shall ensure it is not cancelled or concealed until the passenger has paid 
the fare. 

7.2 The licensee shall ensure a copy of the current fare table is always displayed and  
visible in the vehicle (this could potentially be electronic on a driver / customer app) 

7.3 The licensee shall not demand from any passenger a fare in excess of that previously 
agreed or if the vehicle is fitted with a meter the fare shown on the face of the taximeter.

7.4 The licensee shall, if requested by the passenger, provide a written receipt for the  
fare paid.

36 Greater Manchester Taxi and Private Hire Vehicle Minimum Licensing Standards – Consultation DocumentPage 52



8. Conduct relating to illegally plying or standing for hire 
8.1 The licensee shall ensure that the passenger(s) entering the vehicle is/are the correct 

person(s) for whom the vehicle has been pre-booked.  

8.2 The licensee must take precautions against behaviour that may be deemed to be 
standing or plying for hire, by not plotting or waiting without a booking:

a) in high footfall /high visible locations

b) outside busy venues/businesses or in close proximity to events

c) at the front or back of designated hackney ranks

d) in groups or lines that present as a ‘rank’

e) in contravention of road traffic orders

8.3 The licensee shall not while driving or in charge of a private hire vehicle:

(a) Tout or solicit any person to hire or be carried for hire in any private hire vehicle.

(b) Cause or allow any other person to tout or solicit any person to hire or be carried for 
hire in any private hire vehicle.

(c) Offer any Private Hire vehicle for immediate public hire (whether the journey was 
undertaken or not)

(d) Accept, or consider accepting, an offer for the immediate hire of that vehicle, 
including any such hire that is then communicated to the Operator to be recorded 
on the Operator’s booking system. For the avoidance of doubt, bookings can only be 
undertaken when first communicated to the licensee by the operator. 

9.  Responsibility for lost property
9.1  The driver must immediately after the end of every hiring or as soon as is practical 

thereafter, search the vehicle for any property which may have been accidentally  
left there.

9.2  If any property accidentally left in a private hire vehicle is found by or handed to the 
licensee then all reasonable steps must be taken to return the property to its rightful 
owner. If the property cannot be returned to the owner, then the property should be 
reported to the Operator through whom the passenger booked the vehicle at the earliest 
opportunity and handed to the Operator as soon as is practical and in any case within 24 
hours of the property being found. 

37Page 53



Appendix 4: Proposed Private 
Hire Vehicle Conditions
The licensee shall at all times comply with the provisions of Part II of the Local Government 
(Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976 and the conditions hereinafter provided. 

1. Definitions
For a legal definition of the following terms, see the Local Government (Miscellaneous 
Provisions) Act 1976.

“Appointed Test Station” a garage approved by the Council for the purposes of carrying out a 
Vehicle Test

“Authorised Officer” any Officer of the Council authorised in writing by the Council for the 
purposes of the Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976

“The Council” ………………… Council

“Identification Plates” means the plates issued by the Council for the purpose of identifying 
the vehicle as a private hire vehicle

“The Licensee” means the holder of a private hire vehicle licence.

“The Operator” / “PHO” a person who makes provisions for the invitation and acceptance of 
booking / hiring for a Private Hire Vehicle. 

“The Private Hire Vehicle” a motor vehicle constructed to seat fewer than nine passengers, 
other than a hackney carriage or public service vehicle which is provided for hire with the 
services of a driver for the purpose of carrying passengers

“The Proprietor” means the person(s) who owns, or part owns the private hire person who is in 
possession of the vehicle if subject to a hiring or hire purchase agreement.

“The Meter” means any device for calculating the fare to be charged in respect of any journey 
in a private hire vehicle by reference to the distance travelled or time elapsed since the start of 
the journey or a combination of both

“Test” a compliance test of the vehicle undertaken at an Appointed Test Station

Words importing the masculine gender such as “he” and “him” shall include the feminine 
gender and be construed accordingly.

Where any condition below requires the Licensee to communicate with the Council, unless 
otherwise stipulated, all communication must be to the Council’s Licensing Department. 

2. Identification Plates
2.1 The vehicle front and rear licence identification plates must be displayed in the 

authorised plate holder, obtained from the Licensing Department; and the plate must  
be fixed in the plate holder using the clips provided, so as to allow them to be easily 
removed by an authorised officer. The plate holder should be securely fixed to the vehicle 
in such a way that neither it, nor the number plate are obscured; and that both are 100% 
visible. Cable ties are not an acceptable means of fixing plates to a vehicle or indeed to 
the plate holder. 

38 Greater Manchester Taxi and Private Hire Vehicle Minimum Licensing Standards – Consultation DocumentPage 54



2.2 The Licensee shall ensure that the ‘Identification Plates’ are maintained and kept in  
such condition that the information contained on the plate is clearly visible to public  
view at all times.

2.3 The Council has specified that the vehicle licence number, make, model and licence  
expiry date together with the number of passengers it is licensed to carry shall be  
placed on the identification plate attached to the vehicle. This plate must not be 
tampered with or amended by anybody other than an Authorised Officer.

3. Condition of Vehicle 
3.1 The Licensee shall ensure that the private hire vehicle shall be maintained in good  

mechanical and structural condition at all times and be capable of satisfying the 
Council’s mechanical and structural inspection at any time during the period the vehicle 
is licensed.

3.2 The interior and exterior of the Private Hire Vehicle shall be kept in a clean and safe  
condition by the Proprietor.

3.3 The Licensee shall not allow the mechanical and structural specification of the Private 
Hire Vehicle to be varied without the written consent of the Council.

3.4 The Licensee of the Private Hire Vehicle shall: - 

• provide sufficient means by which any person in the Private Hire Vehicle may 
communicate with the driver during the course of the hiring;

• ensure the interior of the vehicle is kept wind and water tight and adequately 
ventilated;

• ensure the seats in the passenger compartment are properly cushioned and covered;

• ensure the floor in the passenger compartment has a proper carpet, mat or other 
suitable covering;

• ensure fittings and furniture of the Private Hire Vehicle are kept in a clean condition 
and well maintained and in every way fit and safe for public use;

• provide facilities for the carriage of luggage safely and protected from damaging 
weather conditions.

3.5 All vehicles must undertake and pass any further Test at the Appointed Test Station 
in accordance with Council policy (Arrangements for vehicle testing are entirely the 
responsibility of the Licensee).

3.6 A daily vehicle check log must be completed by the driver of the vehicle at the beginning 
of each shift. The checks to be carried out are as follows:

• Lights and indicators

• Tyre condition, pressures and tread

• Wipers, washers and washer fluid levels

• Cleanliness inside and out

• Bodywork – no dents or sharp edges

• Licence plates present and fixed in accordance with these conditions

• Any internal discs on display and facing inwards so customers can see.

39Page 55



• Door and bonnet stickers on display

• Tariff sheet in display

• Horn in working order

 The Licensee shall record the above information and keep it in the vehicle at all times and  
make it available to an authorised officer upon request. 

4. Accidents
4.1 The Licensee shall report to the Council, in writing, as soon as is reasonably practicable 

and in any case within 72 hours any accident causing damage materially affecting the 
safety, performance or appearance of the vehicle or the comfort or convenience of 
passengers. The report should contain full details of the accident damage including 
photos. 

5. Vehicle signage
5.1 No sign, notice, flag or emblem or advertisement shall be displayed in or on any Private 

Hire Vehicle without the express permission of the Council. 

5.2 The Licensee shall ensure that the Council issued mandatory bonnet and rear door and 
rear window signs are affixed permanently to the vehicle and are not removed whilst the 
vehicle is licensed. 

6. Assistance Dogs
6.1 The Licensee shall permit any assistance dog to ride in the vehicle (in the control and 

custody of the passenger) and allow it to be carried in the front passenger seat footwell 
of the vehicles if required. 

6.2 The location of the assistance dog must be agreed with the passenger at all times.

6.3 The Licensee will ensure that any certificates exempting drivers of the vehicle from 
duties to carry assistance dogs are displayed visibly and prominently as prescribed by 
the Council.

7. Other Animals
7.1 Any other animal may be carried in the vehicle at the discretion of the driver and must be 

carried in the rear of the vehicle in the custody and control of the passenger. 

8. Meters
8.1 If the vehicle is fitted with a meter:

• The licensee shall ensure the meter is of a type approved by the Council and 
maintained in a sound mechanical condition at all times

• The licensee shall ensure the meter is set to display any fare table which may be 
adopted by the private hire operator

• The Council may ensure calibrate and seal, at the expense of the licensee, any meter 
which is to be used in the licensed vehicle

• The licensee shall ensure the meter is illuminated and is located in a position where 
any hirer can see the fare easily

40 Greater Manchester Taxi and Private Hire Vehicle Minimum Licensing Standards – Consultation DocumentPage 56



• The licensee shall ensure that the words ‘FARE’ shall be printed on the face of the 
meter in clear letters so as to apply to the fare recorded thereon

• The licensee shall ensure that the meter and any connected equipment is fitted 
securely without the risk of impairing the driver’s ability to control the vehicle or be a 
risk to any person in the vehicle

• No meter shall be replaced without the consent of an authorised officer of the 
council. 

9. Fare Tables
9.1 The Licensee shall ensure that a copy of the current fare table is available, when 

not working for an ‘app only’ based operator, at all times, so it can be easily read by 
passengers.

9.2 The Licensee shall ensure that the fare table is not concealed from view or rendered  
illegible whilst the vehicle is being used for hire.

10. Licence 
10.1 The Licensee shall retain a copy of the original private hire vehicle drivers’ licences of all  

drivers driving the private hire vehicle and produce the same to an Authorised Officer or  
Police Constable on request.

11. Convictions and Suitability Matters
11.1 The licensee shall notify the Council if they are subject to any:

• arrest or criminal investigation,

• summons,

• charge,

• conviction,

• formal/simple caution,

• fixed penalty or speed awareness course,

• criminal court order,

• criminal behaviour order or anti-social behaviour injunction,

• domestic violence related order,

• warning or bind over

• or any matter of restorative justice 

 against them immediately in writing (or in any case within 24 hours) and shall provide 
such further information about the circumstances as the Council may require.

12. Notifications and Licence Administration 
12.1 For the duration of the licence, the licensee shall pay the reasonable administration 

charge or fee attached to any requirement to attend training, or produce a relevant 
certificate, assessment, validation check or other administration or notification process.

12.2 The Licensee shall notify the Council in writing within 14 days of any transfer of ownership of 
the vehicle. The notice will include the name, address and contact details of the new owner.

41Page 57



12.3 The Licensee shall give notice in writing to the Council of any change of his address or 
contact details (including email address) during the period of the licence within 7 days of 
such change taking place.

12.4 If requested by an Authorised Officer the Licensee must provide, in the timescale 
requested, in writing, to Council the following information: -

• The name of the driver and their badge number;

• The address of the driver;

• The company for whom the driver works for;

• The date and time you hired / lent / leased / rented your vehicle to the driver;

• Whose insurance the driver will be using the vehicle under;

• Whether the driver will have sole use of the vehicle; if not sole use whom else will have 
access to the vehicle; 

• The expected duration the vehicle will be hired / lent / leased / rented to the driver

13. CCTV
13.1 The licensee shall ensure that, in accordance with any Council policy, that CCTV  

cameras are fitted and in good working order. 

 NB: This proposed condition is subject to change and further consideration if CCTV is 
mandated either by GM or the Government. At this stage further conversations will take 
place with the trade, Surveillance Commissioner and other relevant parties. 

14. Local Additional Conditions
14.1 Any localised specific conditions may be inserted below:

42 Greater Manchester Taxi and Private Hire Vehicle Minimum Licensing Standards – Consultation DocumentPage 58



Appendix 5: Proposed Hackney 
Carriage Vehicle Conditions
This Licence is issued subject to compliance with the Council’s current Hackney Carriage 
byelaws and the relevant provisions of the Town Police Clauses Act 1847 and the Local 
Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976.

1. Definitions 
“Appointed Test Station” a garage approved by the Council for the purposes of carrying out a 
Test 

“Authorised Officer” any Officer of the Council authorised in writing by the Council for the 
purposes of the Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976

“The Council” means ……………… Council 

“Hackney Carriage” has the same meaning as in the Town Police Clauses Act 1847

“The Identification Plates” the plates issued by the Council for the purpose of identifying the 
vehicle as a hackney carriage

The “Licensee” is the person who holds the Hackney Carriage Vehicle Licence

“The Proprietor” means the person(s) who owns or part owns the private hire person who is  
in possession of the vehicle if subject to a hiring or hire purchase agreement.

“Taximeter” any device for calculating the fare to be charged in respect of any journey in a 
hackney carriage or private hire vehicle by reference to the distance travelled or time elapsed 
since the start of the journey, or combination of both

“Test” a compliance test of the vehicle undertaken at an Appointed Test Station 

“Vehicle” the vehicle licensed as a Hackney Carriage

Words importing the masculine gender such as “he” or “him” shall include the feminine gender 
and be construed accordingly.

Where any condition below requires the Licensee to communicate with the Council unless 
otherwise stipulated, all communication must be with the Council’s Licensing Department.

2. Identification Plates
2.1 The front and rear vehicle identification plates must be displayed in the authorised plate 

holder, obtained from the Licensing Department; and that the plate must be fixed in 
the plate holder using the clips provided so as to allow them to be easily removed by 
an authorised officer. The plate holder should be fixed to the vehicle in such a way that 
neither it nor the number plate are obscured; and that both are 100% visible. Cable ties 
are not an acceptable means of fixing plates to a vehicle or indeed to the plate holder. 

2.2 The Licensee of the vehicle shall ensure that the ‘Identification Plates’ are maintained 
and kept in such condition that the information on the plate is clearly visible to public 
view at all times.

2.3 The Council has specified that the vehicle licence number, make, model and licence  
expiry date together with the number of passengers it is licensed to carry shall be  

43Page 59



placed on the identification plate attached to the vehicle. This plate must not be 
tampered with  or amended by anybody other than an Authorised Officer.

3. Condition of Vehicle 
3.1 The Licensee shall ensure that the vehicle is always maintained in a good mechanical 

and structural condition and be capable of satisfying the Council’s mechanical and  
structural inspection at any time during the period of the licence.

3.2 The interior and exterior of the Hackney Carriage shall be kept in a clean condition by the  
Proprietor.

3.3 The Licensee shall not allow the mechanical and structural specification of the vehicle to 
be varied without the consent of the Council.

3.4 The Licensee of the vehicle shall: - 

• provide sufficient means by which any person in the vehicle may communicate with 
the driver during the course of the hiring;

• ensure the interior of the vehicle to be kept wind and water tight and adequately 
ventilated;

• ensure the seats in the passenger compartment are properly cushioned and covered;

• cause the floor in the passenger compartment to be provided with a proper carpet, 
mat or other suitable covering;

• ensure fittings and furniture of the vehicle are kept in a clean condition and well 
maintained and in every way fit and safe for public use;

• provide facilities for the carriage of luggage safely and protected from damaging 
weather conditions.

3.5 All vehicles must undertake and pass any further Test at the Appointed Test Station 
in  accordance with Council policy (Arrangements for vehicle testing are entirely the  
responsibility of the Proprietor).

3.6 The Licensee must ensure that a daily vehicle check log must be completed by the 
licensee or driver(s) of the vehicle at the beginning of each shift. The checks to be carried 
out are as follows:

• Lights and indicators

• Tyre condition, pressures and tread

• Wipers, washers and washer fluid levels

• Cleanliness inside and out

• Bodywork – no dents or sharp edges

• Licence plates present and fixed in accordance with these conditions

• Any internal discs on display and facing inwards so customers can see.

• Door and bonnet stickers on display

• Tariff sheet in display

• Horn in working order

44 Greater Manchester Taxi and Private Hire Vehicle Minimum Licensing Standards – Consultation DocumentPage 60



3.7  The Licensee shall ensure that he or the driver shall record the above information and 
keep it in the vehicle at all times and make it available to an authorised officer upon 
request. 

4. Accidents
4.1 The Licensee shall report to the Council, in writing, as soon as is reasonably practicable 

and in any case within 72 hours any accident causing damage materially affecting the 
safety, performance or appearance of the vehicle or the comfort or convenience of 
passengers. The report should contain full details of the accident damage including 
photos. 

5. Advertisements
5.1 The Licensee may only display advertisements on the outside of a London Style Hackney 

Carriage which must comply with the Council’s policy and for which consent has been 
provided by an Authorised Officer.

6. Vehicle Signage 
6.1 The Licensee will not allow any sign, notice flag, emblem or advertisement to be 

displayed in or from any Hackney Carriage Vehicle without the express permission of the 
Council

6.2 The Licensee will ensure that any mandatory signs be affixed permanently to the vehicle 
as  directed by the Council and are not removed whilst the vehicle is licensed. 

7. Assistance Dogs
7.1 The Licensee shall permit any assistance dog to ride in the vehicle (in the control and 

custody  of the passenger) and allow it to be carried in the front passenger seat footwell 
where the seat is licensed for passenger use. 

7.2 The location of the assistance dog must be agreed with the passenger at all times.

7.3 The Licensee will ensure that any certificates exempting drivers of the vehicle from 
duties to carry assistance dogs, are displayed visibly and prominently as prescribed by 
the Council.

8. Other Animals
8.1 Any other animal may be carried in the vehicle at the discretion of the driver and must be 

carried in the rear of the vehicle in the custody and control of the passenger. 

9. Taximeters
9.1 The Licensee shall ensure the vehicle is fitted with a Council approved, tested and sealed  

Taximeter before plying or standing for hire and shall use the approved meter only.

9.2 The Licensee shall ensure that the Taximeter is located within the vehicle in accordance 
with the reasonable instruction of an Authorised Officer, and sufficiently illuminated that 
when it is in use, it is visible to all passengers. 

9.3 The Licensee shall ensure that the authorised Taximeter is maintained in a sound 
mechanical/electrical condition at all times and programmed to calculate the fare in 
accordance with the current fares tariffs fixed by the Council. 

45Page 61



9.4 The Licensee shall ensure that the ‘for hire’ sign is extinguished when the fare 
commences, and the taximeter is brought into operation. 

9.5 The Licensee shall ensure that the ‘for hire’ sign is not illuminated when the vehicle is 
outside  of its licensing district. 

10. Tampering with Taximeters
10.1 Taximeters must not be tampered with by anybody other than an Authorised Officer or an  

approved contractor approved by the Council. 

11. Fare Table 
11.1 The Licensee shall ensure that a copy of the current fare table supplied by the Council is  

displayed and visible at all times so that it can be easily read by passengers.

12. Drivers Licence 
12.1 The Licensee shall retain copies of the hackney carriage drivers’ licence of each driver of 

his vehicle and produce the same to an Authorised Officer or Police Officer on request. 

13. Communication Equipment
13.1 The Licensee shall ensure that any communication equipment, used to communicate 

with passengers, fitted to his Hackney Carriage is at all times kept in a safe and sound 
condition and maintained in proper working order.

14. Convictions and Suitability Matters 
14.1 The licensee shall notify the Council if they are subject to any:

• arrest or criminal investigation,

• summons,

• charge,

• conviction,

• formal/simple caution,

• fixed penalty or speed awareness course,

• criminal court order,

• criminal behaviour order or anti-social behaviour injunction,

• domestic violence related order,

• warning or bind over

• or any matter of restorative justice 

 against them immediately in writing (or in any case within 24 hours) and shall provide 
such further information about the circumstances as the Council may require.

15. Notifications and Licence Administration
15.1 For the duration of the licence, the Licensee shall pay the reasonable administration 

charge or fee attached to any requirement to attend training, or produce a relevant 
certificate, assessment, validation check or other administration or notification process.

46 Greater Manchester Taxi and Private Hire Vehicle Minimum Licensing Standards – Consultation DocumentPage 62



15.2 The Licensee shall notify the Council in writing within 14 days of any transfer of ownership  
of the vehicle. The notice will include the name, address and contact details of the new 
owner.

15.3 The Licensee shall give notice in writing to the Council of any change of his address or 
contact details (including email address) during the period of the licence within 7 days of 
such change taking place.

15.4 If requested by an Authorised Officer the Licensee must provide, in the timescale 
requested, in writing, to Council the following information: -

• The name of the driver and their badge number;

• The address of the driver;

• The company for whom the driver works for;

• The date and time the Licensee hired / lent / leased / rented your vehicle to the driver;

• Whose insurance the driver will be using the vehicle under;

• Whether the driver will have sole use of the vehicle; if not sole use whom else will have 
access to the vehicle; 

• The expected duration the vehicle will be hired / lent / leased / rented to the driver

16. Intended Use 
16.1 The Licensee of the Hackney Carriage vehicle licence shall ensure that an accurate and 

contemporaneous record is made and maintained either by himself or the driver of the 
vehicle, of all uses of the vehicle when being used to fulfil pre-booked hirings on behalf of 
a private hire operator licensed by another Local Authority; 

16.2 The accurate and complete record should include, as a minimum, the following 
information, and be recorded in a stitch or heat / glue bound book so as to provide a 
continuous record without breaks between rows: -

• date;

• time of first pick up;

• first ‘pick up’ point by location / name / address including house number;

• destination point by location / name / address including house number;

• the name and address of the operator on behalf of which the journey was being 
undertaken.

16.3 Each book shall legibly and clearly display the details of the vehicle to which it relates, 
including the make, model, registration number and vehicle licence number;

16.4 The record of journeys shall be available for inspection at any time by a Police Officer or 
PCSO; and an Authorised Officer of any Local Authority who through the course of their 
normal duties are authorised to inspect the licensed vehicle; 

16.5 Each book, when full, shall be delivered to the Council’s Licensing Department;

16.6 Where the Licensee wishes to maintain a record of use in any other format than set out 
above, prior approval must be obtained from an Authorised Officer.

47Page 63



17. CCTV
17.1 The licensee shall ensure that, in accordance with any Council policy, that CCTV cameras 

are fitted and in good working order. 

 NB: This proposed condition is subject to change and further consultation if CCTV is 
mandated either by GM or the Government. At this stage further consultation will take 
place with the trade, Surveillance Commissioner and other relevant parties. 

48 Greater Manchester Taxi and Private Hire Vehicle Minimum Licensing Standards – Consultation DocumentPage 64



Appendix 6: Proposed Private 
Hire Operator Conditions
The Operator shall at all times comply with the provisions of Part II of the Local Government 
(Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976 and the conditions hereinafter provided. 

1. Definitions
For a legal definition of these terms, see the Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 
1976. You can get a copy online.

“Authorised Officer” any Officer of the Council authorised in writing for the purposes of the 
Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976

“The Council” means (insert name of Council)

“The Operator / PHO” a person who makes provisions for the invitation and acceptance of 
bookings/hiring for a Private Hire Vehicle.

“The Private Hire Vehicle” a motor vehicle constructed to seat fewer than nine passengers, 
other than a hackney carriage or public service vehicle which is provided for hire with the 
services of a driver for the purpose of carrying passengers

“District” means the area within the Licensing Authority boundary

Words importing the masculine or feminine gender such as ‘his’ and ‘her’ shall include a 
company and be construed accordingly.

Reference to the Council’s email address means the email address for the Council’s Licensing 
Department.

Where any condition below requires the Licensee to communicate with the Council, unless 
otherwise stipulated, all communication must be to the Council’s Licensing Department.

2. Premises & Equipment
2.1 The Operator shall obtain any necessary planning permission required for his/her 

premises and shall comply with any conditions imposed.

2.2 The Operator shall provide adequate communication facilities and staff to provide an 
efficient service to the public using the operator’s facilities.

2.3 The Operator’s premises shall be kept clean and tidy, and adequately heated, ventilated 
and lit.

2.4 The Operator shall ensure that any waiting area for the use of prospective hirers shall be 
provided with adequate and comfortable seating.

2.5 The Operator’s radio/electrical equipment where installed shall be regularly maintained in 
good working condition and any defects shall be repaired promptly.

2.6 The Operator shall at no time cause or permit any audio equipment to be a source of 
nuisance, annoyance or interference to any other person. In addition, all reasonable 
precautions are to be taken to ensure that activities within the Operator’s office and from 
licensed vehicles do not create a nuisance to others.

49Page 65



2.7 The Operator shall obtain and maintain in force at all times a public liability insurance 
policy in respect of his/her premises and produce the same to an Authorised Officer or 
Constable on request. 

2.8 The Operator must display the following at their premises at all times: 

a) A copy of the current Operator licence

b) A schedule of fares

c) A notice which provides information on how to complain to the Licensing Authority 
including email and phone number

d) A copy of the public liability insurance policy certificate

 The above shall be displayed in a prominent position, where the public have access and, 
where it can be easily read.

2.9  If the Operator has a website and/or uses Application based technology to attract 
bookings, the notices listed at 2.8 above must also be available to view on the relevant 
web pages or application menu. 

2.10 The Operator shall now allow their Licensed Operator Premises to be used to conduct 
business relating to another non (insert name of Council) Licensed Operator.

3. Booking Fares
3.1 When accepting the hiring, the Operator shall, unless prevented by some sufficient 

cause, ensure that a licensed private hire vehicle attends at the appointed time and 
place.

3.2 When accepting the hiring, the Operator shall, if requested by the person making the 
booking, specify the fare or the rate of the fare for the journey to be undertaken and, in 
every case, the Operator shall immediately enter all the details of the hiring legibly as 
required, by Condition 3.3.

3.3 The records of hiring accepted by the Operator as required under Section 56 of the Local 
Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976, shall contain the following detail:

• Time and date booking received (using 24-hour clock)

• Name and contact details (phone number or address) of person making the booking

• How the booking was made e.g. Telephone/Online etc

• Time and detailed pick up location

• Specific destination (the use of the term ‘as directed’ or similar term should only be 
used exceptionally).

• ID of dispatched driver (i.e. name and call sign)

• ID of dispatched vehicle (Licence/fleet number)

• ID of person taking booking (excludes electronic bookings) 

• Any special requirements e.g. wheelchair accessible or disability assistance

• Details of any subcontracting to or from another PHO (Inc. any other Operator owned 
by the Operator subject to these conditions)

• Any fare quoted at time of booking, if requested by the person making the booking.

50 Greater Manchester Taxi and Private Hire Vehicle Minimum Licensing Standards – Consultation DocumentPage 66



3.4 The Operator shall not allow drivers to pass a booking on to the Operator on the 
passenger’s behalf and will take all reasonable steps to ensure their drivers are aware 
that such practice is illegal.

3.5 Where a booking is sub-contracted the customer must be so advised and informed as to 
the sub-contracted Operator who will be undertaking the booking.

3.6 If a non - (insert name of Council) licensed driver and vehicle are being dispatched to 
fulfil the booking, the Operator must communicate to the person making the booking 
(whether via telephone, automated booking or booking App) the following message: 
 
The driver and vehicle you are about to book are not licensed by (insert name of Council) 
to (insert name of Council) standards and (insert name of Council) Council are not 
empowered to take licensing action in the event of a complaint. Your driver and vehicles 
are licensed by {insert name of Council} and customers will have to deal with that 
authority in the event of a complaint.

3.7 The despatch, by an Operator, of a passenger carrying vehicles (PCV) licensed drivers 
and the use of a public service vehicle (PSV), such as a minibus, is not permitted routinely 
without the express consent of the hirer. 

3.8 Where the hirer is being given the option of one of the above mentioned vehicles being 
despatched, they should be notified that the driver is subject to different checks than a 
private hire driver and are not required to have an enhanced DBS check. 

3.9 The booking system used by the operator must be demonstrated to and approved by an 
authorised officer, and the approved booking system, whether that be an electronic or 
manual system, can only be used to record journeys taken for and carried out by vehicles 
licensed by (insert name of Council) (or a Public Services Vehicle, operating under a 
licence from the Vehicle and Operator Services Agency).

3.10 No change in the approved booking system can be made unless that change has been 
approved by an authorised officer.

4. Record Keeping & Responsibility 
4.1 The Operator must keep detailed, up to date, records of every driver and vehicle operated 

by him (whether licensed as private hire or hackney carriage) and no matter which 
Council licensed the driver/vehicle. The records must include:

a) Name and home address of the driver 

b) The dates the driver commenced fulfilling bookings from the PHO and the date the 
driver ceased taking bookings from the PHO (where applicable). 

c) A copy of the driver’s current private hire or hackney carriage driver licence including 
the expiry date of that licence and that Licensing Authority that issued it. 

d) Name and home address of the proprietor of every vehicle

e) A copy of the current vehicle licence including expiry date, the licensing authority that 
issued it. 

f) The date the vehicle was first used by the PHO to fulfil bookings and the date the PHO 
ceased using the vehicle to fulfil bookings (where applicable)

g) The vehicle registration number

h) A list of unique radio/call sign allocated to the driver and vehicle 

51Page 67



i) A copy of the valid insurance in place for the driver and vehicle 

4.2 The Operator must ensure that booking records are:

a) Kept electronically

b) Are available for immediate inspection by an Authorised Officer or Police Officer

c) Able to be printed onto paper or downloaded in an electronic format 

d) Continuous and chronological

e) Not capable of retrospective alteration or amendment

f) Kept as one set of records. Cash and credit account bookings can be separately 
identified but must not be in separate sets of records. The name of the person 
compiling the records must be detailed on the records.

g) Are clear, intelligible, kept in English and retained for a minimum of 12 months from 
the date of the last entry or for such other period as required by an Authorised Officer.

4.3 The Operator must retain records for a minimum period of 12 months and make available 
any GPS data and any voice recording system for inspection upon request by an 
Authorised Officer or Police Officer. 

4.4 The Operator must implement a robust system to ensure that drivers and/or vehicles do 
not operate when their licence or insurance has expired. This must be documented and 
approved by an Authorised Officer.

4.5 The Operator must conduct a check of the Council’s public register before allowing a 
driver to carry out bookings.

4.6 The Operator must take all reasonable steps to ensure that its drivers and vehicles, when 
plotting or waiting without bookings around the district, do not do so:

a) in high footfall / high visible locations

b) outside busy venues/businesses or in close proximity to events

c) at the front or back of designated hackney ranks

d) in groups or lines that present as a ‘rank’

e) in contravention of road traffic orders

 Operators will upon request by an Authorised Officer or Police Officer demonstrate how 
they monitor and control this behaviour.

4.7 The Operator must have an approved process in place to ensure that the individual 
carrying out a booking is the licensed driver they have employed for this purpose.

4.8 The Operator will ensure registration with the Information Commissioner’s Office for 
Data Controller, CCTV and other relevant purposes. Where the Operator is exempt from 
registration with the Information Commissioner’s Office, they will notify the Council 
within 7 days of the commencement of these conditions.

4.9 Where the Operator agrees sub-contracting arrangements with other non-(insert name 
of Council) licensed Operators, it must have due regard for the comparative licensing 
policies and standards of the relevant licensing authority their partner Operator is subject 
to, and take steps not to undermine the Council’s licensing standards which have been 
set in the interests of promoting high levels of public safety.

52 Greater Manchester Taxi and Private Hire Vehicle Minimum Licensing Standards – Consultation DocumentPage 68



5. Complaints
5.1 The Operator must notify the Council immediately by email (or in any case within 24 

hours) of any complaints, police enquiries or notification of convictions involving any 
driver that is registered to carry out bookings for the operator which relates to matters of 
a sexual nature, dishonesty, indecency, violence or threats of violence, equality or drugs. 
The Operator is required to provide at the time of notification to the council the identity of 
the driver involved and the nature of the complaint/enquiry including the complainant’s 
details. This notification to the Council must take place regardless of whether the 
Operator ceases any contractual arrangement with the driver.

5.2 The Operator must record every complaint received against its service (against any 
driver operated by him, including those licensed by other authorities carrying out 
a sub-contracted booking on the Operator’s behalf) and, if unable to resolve the 
complaint within 7 days (from the date of the complaint) the Operator must provide the 
complainant with the relevant Licensing Authority contact details within 10 days (from 
the date of complaint). 

5.3 Where a complaint not covered by section 5.1 above is received against a driver and it 
remains unresolved after 7 days (from the date of complaint), the operator must notify 
the Council within 10 days (from the date of complaint). The Operator is required to 
provide at the time of notification, the identity of the driver involved, the nature of the 
complaint/enquiry including the complainant’s details. 

5.4 The Operator must provide a report every six months to the council detailing all 
complaints received (including against drivers carrying out sub-contracted bookings) 
and action taken. The report should be provided no later than one month after the end of 
the reporting period. The Operator must keep all records for at least 12 months.

6. Convictions and Staff Vetting 
6.1 The licensee shall notify the Council immediately in writing (or in any case within 24 

hours) if they are subject to any of the following:

• arrest or criminal investigation,

• summons, 

• charge, 

• conviction,

• formal/simple caution, 

• fixed penalty, 

• criminal court order, 

• criminal behaviour order or anti-social behaviour injunction, 

• domestic violence related order, 

• warning or bind over 

• any matter of restorative justice  

 and shall provide such further information about the circumstances as the Council  
may require.

53Page 69



6.2 The Operator must keep up to date records of all individuals working in any capacity (paid  
or unpaid) for the business as follows:

• Full Name

• Address

• Date of Birth

• Contact details (phone and email)

• DBS issue date and certificate number

• Start and finish dates of employment

• Job Title

6.3 The Operator must ensure that all individuals (non-drivers) working in any capacity (paid 
or unpaid) have obtained a basic DBS Certificate from the Disclosure and Baring Service 
before commencing employment. The DBS certificate must be dated within one month 
before the commencement of employment. 

6.4 The Operator must ensure that DBS checks are carried out for all existing staff (paid or 
unpaid) within one month of the commencement of these conditions. 

6.5 The employee should be registered with the DBS Update Service to enable the Operator 
to conduct regular checks (six monthly as a minimum) of the individual’s DBS status. 

6.6 The Operator must have a policy compatible with the Council’s suitability policy or adopt 
the Councils suitability policy and implement this policy in relation to the recruitment 
of all staff (paid or unpaid) and the recruitment of ex-offenders. This must be produced 
upon request.

6.7 The Operator must be able to evidence that they have had sight of a basic DBS by 
maintaining a register. The register must be retained for inspection for a minimum of 12 
months, being the duration of how long booking records are to be kept and allows cross 
referencing between the two records. A record that the operator has had sight of a basic 
DBS check certificate (although the certificate itself should not be retained) should be 
retained for the duration that the individual remains on the register. Should an employee 
cease to be on the register and later re-entered, a new basic DBS certificate should be 
requested and sight of this recorded.

6.8 Operators may outsource booking and dispatch functions, but they cannot pass on 
the obligation to protect children and vulnerable adults. Operators should be required 
to evidence that comparable protections are applied by the company to which they 
outsource these functions.

7. Advertisements
7.1 The Operator shall not cause or permit to be displayed in, on or from his/her premises or 

to be published in relation to the Operator’s business any sign, notice or advertisement 
which consists of or includes the words “Taxi” whether in the singular or plural or the 
words “For Hire” or any other word or words of similar meaning or appearance whether 
alone or as part of another word or phrase or any other word or words likely to cause a 
person to believe that any vehicle operated by him/her is a hackney carriage. 

7.2 All advertisements by the Operator should first be approved by the Council to ensure 
they comply with conditions and do not breach the Codes of Practice of the Advertising 
Standards Authority or those of the Portman Group relating to alcohol advertising.

54 Greater Manchester Taxi and Private Hire Vehicle Minimum Licensing Standards – Consultation DocumentPage 70



7.3 The Operator must not dispatch any vehicle that has been licensed by another Authority, 
which uses, displays or exhibits any literature, documentation, advertising or which 
displays any signage associated to the Private Hire Operator or the Council which 
suggests, indicates, misleads or might lead to a misunderstanding that the vehicle is 
licensed by this Council. 

8. Notifications and Licence Administration
8.1 For the duration of the licence, the Licensee shall pay the reasonable administration 

charge or fee attached to any requirement to attend training, or produce a relevant 
certificate, assessment, validation check or other administration or notification process.

8.2 The Licensee shall notify the Council in writing within 14 days of any transfer of ownership 
of the vehicle. The notice will include the name, address and contact details of the new 
owner.

8.3 The Licensee shall give notice in writing to the Council of any change of his address or 
contact details (including email address) during the period of the licence within 7 days of 
such change taking place.

9. Duty to Co-operate
9.1 The Operator and his/her staff shall co-operate fully with any Local Authority Authorised 

Officer or Police Officer in respect of any enquiries or investigations carried out relating 
to drivers or vehicles currently connected to the business or formerly connected to the 
business.

9.2 The Operator will provide the Council with details of appropriate members of staff 
(whether at the base or via telephone) to be contactable during the times of operation 
(day or night) in relation to compliance/enforcement related matters. Where the 
aforementioned contact details change, the Operator shall inform the Council of the new 
contact details within 24 hours.

9.3 The Operator shall grant access to the licensed premises to any Local Authority 
Authorised Officer or Police Officer upon request. 

10. Lost Property
10.1 The Operator must keep a record of lost property that is handed to him by drivers or 

passengers. The record must include the date the item is handed to the Operator, details 
of where it was found and a description of the property. The log must always be available 
for inspection by an Authorised Officer or Police Officer and any information entered onto 
the record must be kept for a period of 12 months from the date of entry.

10.2 Any lost property held by the Operator must be stored securely by him for 6 months after 
it was found.

55Page 71



11. Operator Policies
11.1 Operators are required to adopt, implement, review, update as is necessary and submit 

to the Council the following policies:

• Safeguarding Policy

• Customer Service and Complaints Policy which includes conduct of drivers and the 
timeframe for responding to complaints

• Equality Policy (Equality Act 2010) including disability awareness and the carrying of 
assistance animals.

• Data Protection Policy

• Recruitment / Suitability Policy

12 Training
12.1 Operators should ensure that they have attended any licensing training required by the 

Council within one month of a licence being granted or as otherwise directed by the 
Council.

12.2 The Operator must ensure that training is provided to staff (paid or unpaid) on licensing 
law, the policies listed at paragraph 12.1 and how and when to accept bookings. This 
training must be undertaken within one month of the commencement of these 
conditions or employment and thereafter, at least every two years. The Operator must 
keep a record of the aforementioned training which has been signed by the operator and 
the member of staff. 

56 Greater Manchester Taxi and Private Hire Vehicle Minimum Licensing Standards – Consultation DocumentPage 72



Appendix 7: Licensed  
Drivers’ Dress Code
The purpose of the dress code is to set a standard that provides a positive image of the 
licensed hackney carriage and private hire trade in Greater Manchester, promoting public and 
driver safety.

Dress Standard
l All clothing worn by those working as private hire or hackney carriage drivers must be in 

good condition and the driver must keep good standards of personal hygiene.

l As a minimum standard whilst working a licensed driver, males should wear trousers 
and a shirt which has a full body and short/long sleeves. Knee length tailored shorts are 
acceptable. Exceptions related to faith or disability are accepted. 

l As a minimum standard whilst working as a licensed driver, females should wear trousers, 
or a knee length skirt or dress, and a shirt/blouse which have a full body and a short/
long sleeve. Knee length tailored shorts are also acceptable. Exceptions related to faith or 
disability are accepted.

l Footwear whilst working as a licensed driver shall fit (i.e. be secure) around the toe and heel.

Examples of unacceptable standard of dress
l Clothing that is not kept in a clean condition, free from holes, rips or other damage.

l Words or graphics on any clothing that is of an offensive or suggestive nature which might 
offend.

l Sportswear e.g. football/rugby kits including shirts, track suits in whole or part or 
beachwear.

l Sandals with no heel straps, flip flops or any other footwear not secure around the heel.

l The wearing of any hood or any other type of clothing that may obscure the driver’s vision or 
their identity.

Uniforms
The Council recognises the positive image that uniforms can create. This dress code does 
not require a licensed driver to wear a distinct uniform. The Council acknowledges that many 
private hire and hackney carriage companies do require licensed drivers to wear appropriate 
corporate branded uniform and this is a practice that the Council would encourage licensed 
drivers to support.

57Page 73



Appendix 8: Current Licensing Standards: Driver
 Taxi and Private Hire Minimum Licensing Standards Audit - GM 10 Local Authorities 

Bury Bolton Manchester Oldham Rochdale Salford Stockport Tameside Trafford Wigan

Criminal Record 
Checks - applicants 
require an enhanced 
DBS certificate and 
sign up to the DBS 
update service

No update service 
approval sought this 
year.

Enhanced DBS 
required but not yet 
required to register 
with update service.

Enhanced DBS 
required but not yet 
required to register 
with update service.

Enhanced DBS 
required but not 
required to sign up to 
the update service.

Require certificate 
of good conduct for 
applicants who have 
lived outside the UK 
for 6 months or more

If applicants have 
not lived in UK 
consecutively for 
the last 5 years, will 
require certificate of 
good conduct.

If applicant has lived 
outside of the UK for 
more than 3 months 
in the past 5 years 
they will require a 
certificate of good 
conduct.

Applicants/drivers 
must meet DVLA 
Group 2 Medical 
Standards and 
medicals to be 
undertaken by GPs 
who have access 
to applicant’s full 
medical history - and 
proposed frequency

Must be completed 
by applicant’s own 
doctor but currently 
only require Group 1.

Group 2 Medical with 
any Doctor.

Applicants required 
to take a local area 
knowledge test 

Authorities to ensure 
that drivers can 
communicate in 
English orally and in 
writing to a standard 
required to fulfil their 
duties

Authorities must 
require all drivers 
to undertake 
safeguarding/child 
sexual exploitation/
human trafficking 
awareness training 
and also disability 
awareness training

All new drivers 
required to pass a 
practical driving test 
with a GM approved 
supplier

58 Greater Manchester Taxi and Private Hire Vehicle Minimum Licensing Standards – Consultation Document

P
age 74



Appendix 8: Current Licensing Standards: Vehicles
 Taxi and Private Hire Minimum Licensing Standards Audit - GM 10 Local Authorities 

Bury Bolton Manchester Oldham Rochdale Salford Stockport Tameside Trafford Wigan

All licensed vehicles 
must comply with 
the current Euro 
standard relating to 
vehicle emissions 
at first licensing. 
(Petrol - Euro IV 
2005 + and Diesel - 
Euro VI 2015 +)

Enhanced DBS 
required but not yet 
required to register 
with update service.

All vehicles must be 
under five years of 
age at first licensing 
and will not be 
licensed beyond ten 
years of age. 

PH vehicles - up to 7 
years until 12 years 
HC vehicles - up to 7 
years until 14 years.

Must be under 4 
years.

PH vehicles - upto 
5 years until 12 
years PH WAV’s & 
HC vehicles - upto 
5years until 15 years.

4 years and 10 years 
unlesss vehicle 
is in exceptional 
condition.

PH vehicles - off at 7 
years HC vehicles - 
off at 10 years.

Vehicle Colour - all 
Private Hire vehicles 
will be white in 
colour and all taxis/
hackney carriage 
vehicles to be black 
in colour

Currently allow ‘True 
Silver’ in PHVs also.

Currently, all WAVs 
must be black.

Vehicle Stickers as 
prescribed by the 
Council only - no 
advertisements, no 
magnetic stickers

Approved adverts on 
taxis. No adverts on 
private hire, however 
problems with 
company wraps on 
private hire.

Limited advertising 
is permitted on PHV 
as per policy.

Limited advertising 
is permitted on PHV 
as per policy.

“Pre booked 
vehicle stickers 
as prescribed by 
the Council only.
Approved adverts 
only - Any livery to 
be authorised by the 
Council”.

All taxis to be 
Wheelchair 
Accessible Vehicles 
(WAV). 

All Licensed vehicles 
over the age of three 
will be tested at least 
twice a year

Limited advertising 
is permitted on PHV 
as per policy.

59 Greater Manchester Taxi and Private Hire Vehicle Minimum Licensing Standards – Consultation Document

P
age 75



Appendix 8: Current Licensing Standards: Vehicles
 Taxi and Private Hire Minimum Licensing Standards Audit - GM 10 Local Authorities 

Bury Bolton Manchester Oldham Rochdale Salford Stockport Tameside Trafford Wigan

Not allowing retrofit 
of engines

Not licensing 
vehicles that have 
previously been 
written off

Allow catergory D 
vehicles.

Will consider 
licensing Cat S & N - 
must pass Autolign 
inspection.

Will consider 
licensing Cat S 
& N provided it 
meets the Council’s 
compliance test. 

We allow if they 
are profesionally 
repaired and meet 
DVSA standards and 
complaince test.

Will consider 
licensing Cat S 
& N provided it 
meets the Council’s 
compliance test. 

Will consider 
licensing Cat S & N - 
must pass Autolign 
inspection.

Will consider 
licensing written off 
vehicles as long as 
they pass our vehicle 
inspection test.

Window tint 
allowances  
(as proposed)

“Current failure item 
- Light transmittance 
through:  
a. front-window 
glass is less than 
75%. 
b. side-door glass is 
less than 70%. 
c. remaining glass 
(except rear window) 
is less than 70%”.

As manufacture / 
factory fittted.

“Current failure item 
- Light transmittance 
through: 
a. front-window 
glass is less than 
75%. 
b. side-door glass is 
less than 70%. 
c. remaining glass 
(except rear window) 
is less than 70%”.

As manufacture / 
factory fittted.

No roof signs  
on PHVs

Proprietors to have 
DBS check

Not currently but 
considering basic 
disclosures for 
applicants who are 
not current licensed 
drivers.

All Licensed vehicles 
to be fitted with 
mandatory CCTV 
cameras to a 
standard yet to be 
determined. 

60 Greater Manchester Taxi and Private Hire Vehicle Minimum Licensing Standards – Consultation Document

P
age 76



Appendix 8: Current Licensing Standards: Operators
 Taxi and Private Hire Minimum Licensing Standards Audit - GM 10 Local Authorities 

Bury Bolton Manchester Oldham Rochdale Salford Stockport Tameside Trafford Wigan

Operator Licence 
Conditions that set 
clear requirements 
around records and 
responsibilities 

Have this but 
proposed conditions 
go further and 
put further 
responsibilities 
around policy and 
training.

Have this but 
proposed conditions 
go further and 
put further 
responsibilities 
around policy and 
training.

We do have 
conditions relating 
to this, but proposed 
conditions are more 
robust.

Have this but 
proposed conditions 
go further and 
put further 
responsibilities 
around policy and 
training.

Have this but 
proposed conditions 
go further and 
put further 
responsibilities 
around policy and 
training.

DBS Checks for 
Operators and Staff 
every three years

DBS for Operator 
Licence Holders but 
not staff at present.

A basic/standard 
DBS required at the 
point of application 
from operators who 
are not currently 
licensed as a driver.

DBS for Operator 
Licence Holders but 
not staff at present.

Not currently but 
considering basic 
disclsoures for 
applicants who 
aren’t current 
licensed drivers - if 
implemented this 
would be done every 
5 years in line with 
their licence. 

Fit and Proper 
criteria for operator 
applications

This will be dealt 
with in the suitability 
policy.

61 Greater Manchester Taxi and Private Hire Vehicle Minimum Licensing Standards – Consultation Document

P
age 77



Appendix 9:
These case studies are based on the current proposals 
and are subject to change following consultation and 
confirmation of government funding

62 Greater Manchester Taxi and Private Hire Vehicle Minimum Licensing Standards – Consultation DocumentPage 78



Outlining the effects of GM Clean Air Plan and GM Minimum 
Licensing Standards on licensed vehicles – Bolton

Average/Most Common Vehicle in Each District (incl. Age)

District
Private Hire Vehicle Hackney Carriage

Make/Model Year Make/Model Year

Bolton Toyota Prius 2006 Peugeot Expert 2008

Scenario One – Bolton
Silver 2006 diesel Toyota Avensis. The car is 
licensed as a Private Hire Vehicle by Bolton 
Council.

Clean Air Zone 
As the vehicle has a Euro IV Diesel engine, 
it would not comply with the Clean Air Zone 
proposed for introduction in Spring 2022 
and would therefore be charged £7.50 each 
day if it was used in Greater Manchester. A 
discounted charge of only 5 out of 7 days 
per week for vehicles licensed by Greater 
Manchester local authorities and also used as 
a private car is proposed.

Licensing policy 
The vehicle would not comply with the 
proposed MLS age standards (10 years 
maximum age), and therefore would not be 
relicensed after April 2023. This vehicle would 
need to be white and should also meet MLS 
age and emissions standards.

Financial Support 
Under the Clean Air Zone programme, subject 
to the award of government funding, it is 
proposed that financial support may be 
available to assist in obtaining a replacement 
compliant vehicle, including either:

l A £1,000 grant or vehicle finance 
contribution towards a replacement 
compliant petrol or diesel vehicle is 
available;

l A £2,000 grant or vehicle finance 
contribution towards replacement to a 
hybrid or plug-in hybrid; or

l A £2,500 running costs grant for 
replacement with a zero emissions 
capable vehicle.

Scenario Two – Bolton
Black 2008 diesel, non-wheelchair accessible 
Peugeot Expert, licensed as a Hackney Cab 
with Bolton Council. 

Clean Air Zone 
As the vehicle has a Euro IV and therefore 
non-compliant engine, it would not comply 
with the proposed Clean Air Zone due for 
introduction in Spring 2022, when it would be 
charged £7.50 each day it was used in GM.

Minimum Licensing Standards 
As the vehicle is more than 10 years old it will not 
meet the age standards under MLS and would 
not be re-licensed after April 2023. A black, 
age and emissions compliant and wheelchair 
accessible vehicle must be obtained.

Financial Support 
Under the Clean Air Zone programme, subject 
to the award of government funding, it is 
proposed that financial support is available to 
assist in obtaining a replacement compliant 
vehicle, including either:

l £10,000 per vehicle for a running costs 
grant or a contribution for vehicle finance, 
for a replacement zero emissions capable 
vehicle. 

Further UK Government funding may also be 
available including;

l UK government grant available of up 
to £7,500 for purchasing a new zero 
emissions capable vehicle, on top of the 
£10,000 grant

l UK Government grant of up to £3,000 for 
new plug-in vehicles.

63Page 79



Outlining the effects of GM Clean Air Plan and GM Minimum 
Licensing Standards on licensed vehicles – Bury

Average/Most Common Vehicle in Each District (incl. Age)

District
Private Hire Vehicle Hackney Carriage

Make/Model Year Make/Model Year

Bury Skoda Octavia 2012 Peugeot Expert 2006

Scenario One – Bury
Silver diesel 2012 Skoda Octavia, licensed as 
a Private Hire Vehicle by Bury Council. 

Clean Air Zone 
As the vehicle has a Euro V Diesel engine, it 
would not comply with the proposed Clean Air 
Zone due for introduction in Spring 2022 and 
would therefore be charged £7.50 each day it 
was used. A discounted charge of 5 out of 7 
days per week for vehicles licensed by Greater 
Manchester local authorities and also used as 
a private car is proposed.

Minimum Licensing Standards 
As the vehicle was registered in 2012 and 
will be over 10 years old as MLS come into 
effect, it would not comply with the proposed 
Minimum Licensing Standards and therefore 
could not be relicensed after April 2023. An 
MLS compliant, white replacement vehicle 
would need to be obtained.

Financial Support 
Under the Clean Air Zone programme, subject 
to the award of government funding, it is 
proposed that financial support may be 
available to assist in obtaining a replacement 
compliant vehicle, including either:

l A £1,000 grant or vehicle finance 
contribution towards a replacement 
compliant petrol or diesel vehicle is 
available;

l A £2,000 grant or vehicle finance 
contribution towards replacement to a 
hybrid or plug-in hybrid; or

l A £2,500 running costs grant for 
replacement with a zero emissions 
capable vehicle.

Scenario Two – Bury
Black 2006 non-wheelchair accessible 
Peugeot Expert, licensed as a Hackney Cab 
with Bury Council. 

Clean Air Zone 
As the vehicle has a Euro IV and therefore 
non-compliant engine, it would not comply 
with the proposed Clean Air Zone due for 
introduction in Spring 2022, when it would be 
charged £7.50 each day it was used in GM.

Minimum Licensing Standards 
As the vehicle is more than 10 years old it will not 
meet the age standards under MLS and would 
not be re-licensed after April 2023. A black, 
age and emissions compliant and wheelchair 
accessible vehicle must be obtained.

Financial Support 
Under the Clean Air Zone programme, subject 
to the award of government funding, it is 
proposed that financial support is available to 
assist in obtaining a replacement compliant 
vehicle, including either:

l £10,000 per vehicle for a running costs 
grant or a contribution for vehicle finance, 
for a replacement zero emissions capable 
vehicle. 

Further UK Government funding may also be 
available including;

l UK government grant available of up 
to £7,500 for purchasing a new zero 
emissions capable vehicle, on top of the 
£10,000 grant

l UK Government grant of up to £3,000 for 
new plug-in vehicles.

64 Greater Manchester Taxi and Private Hire Vehicle Minimum Licensing Standards – Consultation DocumentPage 80



Outlining the effects of GM Clean Air Plan and GM Minimum 
Licensing Standards on licensed vehicles – Manchester

Average/Most Common Vehicle in Each District (incl. Age)

District
Private Hire Vehicle Hackney Carriage

Make/Model Year Make/Model Year

Manchester Skoda Octavia 2014 LTI TX4b 2011

Scenario One – Manchester
Silver 2014 registered diesel Skoda Octavia, 
licensed by Manchester City Council as a 
private hire vehicle.

Clean Air Zone 
As the vehicle has a Euro V Diesel engine, it 
would not comply with the proposed Clean Air 
Zone proposed for introduction in Spring 2022, 
and would therefore be charged £7.50 each day 
it was used. A discounted charge of 5 out of 7 
days per week for vehicles licensed by Greater 
Manchester local authorities and also used as a 
private car is proposed.

Minimum Licensing Standards 
As the car was registered in 2014, it may have 
to be replaced by 2022, as Manchester City 
Council’s current age policy already goes 
beyond the proposed MLS and the licence 
could only be renewed with a vehicle older than 
7 years since the date of first registration if it 
remains in exceptional condition. When the 
vehicle was replaced to comply with MCC’s age 
policy, it would also have to be white in colour by 
2024 to comply with the proposed MLS. 

Financial Support 
Under the Clean Air Zone programme, 
subject to the award of government funding, 
it is proposed that financial support may be 
available to assist in obtaining a replacement 
compliant vehicle, including either:

l A £1,000 grant or vehicle finance contribution 
towards a replacement compliant petrol or 
diesel vehicle is available;

l A £2,000 grant or vehicle finance 
contribution towards replacement to a 
hybrid or plug-in hybrid; or

l A £2,500 running costs grant for replace-
ment with a zero emissions capable vehicle.

Scenario Two – Manchester
White 2011 diesel wheelchair accessible LTI TX4. 
The car is licensed by Manchester City Council 
as a hackney carriage. 

Clean Air Zone 
As the vehicle has a Euro IV and therefore 
non-compliant engine, it would not comply 
with the proposed Clean Air Zone proposed 
for introduction in Spring 2022. However, as a 
Wheelchair Accessible Vehicle, it is subject to a 
temporary exemption from the charge, meaning 
it would not be liable for charging until the start 
of 2023, when it would be charged £7.50 each 
day it was used in GM.

Minimum Licensing Standards 
As the vehicle would be more than 10 years 
old when MLS is introduced, it will not be re-
licensable after April 2023, when a black, age 
and emissions compliant and wheelchair 
accessible vehicle would need to be presented 
for licensing as a hackney carriage.

Financial Support 
Under the Clean Air Zone programme, subject 
to the award of government funding, it is 
proposed that financial support is available to 
assist in obtaining a replacement compliant 
vehicle, including either:

l £10,000 per vehicle for a running costs grant 
or a contribution for vehicle finance, for a 
replacement zero emissions capable vehicle. 

Further UK Government funding may also be 
available including;

l UK government grant available of up to 
£7,500 for purchasing a new zero emissions 
capable vehicle, on top of the £10,000 grant

l UK Government grant of up to £3,000 for 
new plug-in vehicles.

65Page 81



Outlining the effects of GM Clean Air Plan and GM Minimum 
Licensing Standards on licensed vehicles – Oldham

Average/Most Common Vehicle in Each District (incl. Age)

District
Private Hire Vehicle Hackney Carriage

Make/Model Year Make/Model Year

Oldham Skoda Octavia 2014 Toyota Avensis 2010

Scenario One – Oldham
Blue 2014 diesel Skoda Octavia. The car is 
licensed with Oldham Council as a Private 
Hire Vehicle. 

Clean Air Zone 
As the vehicle has a Euro V engine, it is not 
compliant with the proposed Clean Air Zone 
and would therefore be charged £7.50 each 
day it was used once it was introduced in 
Spring 2022. A discounted charge of 5 out 
of 7 days per week for vehicles licensed by 
Greater Manchester local authorities and also 
used as a private car is proposed.

Minimum Licensing Standards 
As the car was registered in 2014 it would 
comply with MLS age standard until 2024 
when a replacement vehicle would need to be 
obtained that complies with all aspects of the 
MLS (age, emissions and colour). 

Financial Support 
Under the Clean Air Zone programme, subject 
to the award of government funding, it is 
proposed that financial support may be 
available to assist in obtaining a replacement 
compliant vehicle, including either:

l A £1,000 grant or vehicle finance 
contribution towards a replacement 
compliant petrol or diesel vehicle is 
available;

l A £2,000 grant or vehicle finance 
contribution towards replacement to a 
hybrid or plug-in hybrid; or

l A £2,500 running costs grant for 
replacement with a zero emissions 
capable vehicle.

Scenario Two – Oldham
Silver 2010 registered diesel, non-wheelchair 
accessible Toyota Avensis. It is licensed with 
Oldham Council as a Hackney Carriage. 

Clean Air Zone 
As the vehicle is a Euro IV engine it does not 
comply with the proposed Clean Air Zone and 
would therefore be charged £7.50 each day 
it was used once it was introduced in Spring 
2022.

Minimum Licensing Standards 
As the vehicle would be more than 10 years 
old when MLS is introduced, it will not be 
re-licensable after April 2023, when a black, 
age and emissions compliant and wheelchair 
accessible vehicle must be presented for 
licensing as a hackney carriage.

Financial Support 
Under the Clean Air Zone programme, subject 
to the award of government funding, it is 
proposed that financial support is available to 
assist in obtaining a replacement compliant 
vehicle, including either:

l £10,000 per vehicle for a running costs 
grant or a contribution for vehicle finance, 
for a replacement zero emissions capable 
vehicle. 

Further UK Government funding may also be 
available including;

l UK government grant available of up 
to £7,500 for purchasing a new zero 
emissions capable vehicle, on top of the 
£10,000 grant

l UK Government grant of up to £3,000 for 
new plug-in vehicles.

66 Greater Manchester Taxi and Private Hire Vehicle Minimum Licensing Standards – Consultation DocumentPage 82



Outlining the effects of GM Clean Air Plan and GM Minimum 
Licensing Standards on licensed vehicles – Rochdale

Average/Most Common Vehicle in Each District (incl. Age)

District
Private Hire Vehicle Hackney Carriage

Make/Model Year Make/Model Year

Rochdale Toyota Avensis 2005 Toyota Prius 2008

Scenario One – Rochdale
Silver 2005 Toyota Avensis diesel, licensed 
with Rochdale Council as a Private Hire 
Vehicle (PHV). 

Clean Air Zone 
As the vehicle has a Euro Three Diesel engine, 
it would not comply with the proposed Clean 
Air Zone due for introduction in Spring 2022, 
and would therefore be charged £7.50 each 
day it was used. A discounted charge of 5 out 
of 7 days per week for vehicles licensed by 
Greater Manchester local authorities and also 
used as a private car is proposed.

Minimum Licensing Standards 
As the vehicle is registered in 2005, and is 
over 10 years old, it would not comply with the 
proposed Minimum Licensing Standards and 
therefore could not be relicensed after April 
2023. A MLS compliant, white replacement 
vehicle would need to be obtained.

Financial Support 
Under the Clean Air Zone programme, subject 
to the award of government funding, it is 
proposed that financial support may be 
available to assist in obtaining a replacement 
compliant vehicle, including either:

l A £1,000 grant or vehicle finance 
contribution towards a replacement 
compliant petrol or diesel vehicle is 
available;

l A £2,000 grant or vehicle finance 
contribution towards replacement to a 
hybrid or plug-in hybrid; or

l A £2,500 running costs grant for 
replacement with a zero emissions 
capable vehicle.

Scenario Two – Rochdale
White 2008 non-wheelchair accessible 
Toyota Prius, licensed as a Hackney Carriage 
with Rochdale Council. 

Clean Air Zone 
As it is a Hybrid Electric vehicle, and therefore 
a Euro VI engine, it is compliant with the 
proposed Clean Air Zone and will not be 
charged. 

Licensing Standards 
As the vehicle is registered in 2008 it does 
not comply with the age requirements under 
MLS. Also MLS requires all hackney carriages 
to be wheelchair accessible. Therefore a 
black, compliant, and wheelchair accessible 
vehicle must be obtained to secure a hackney 
licence after April 2023. 

Financial Support 
A UK Government grant of up to £3,000 is 
available for new plug-in vehicles. 

67Page 83



Outlining the effects of GM Clean Air Plan and GM Minimum 
Licensing Standards on licensed vehicles – Salford

Average/Most Common Vehicle in Each District (incl. Age)

District
Private Hire Vehicle Hackney Carriage

Make/Model Year Make/Model Year

Salford Seat Toledo 2015 LTI TX4 2010

Scenario One – Salford
Black 2015 Euro VI diesel Seat Toledo, 
registered with Salford City Council as a 
Private Hire Vehicle. 

Clean Air Zone 
As the vehicle has a Euro VI engine, it 
complies with the Clean Air Zone and will not 
be charged.

Minimum Licensing Standards 
The vehicle complies with age and emissions 
but not colour under the proposed MLS. A 
replacement vehicle that complies with the 
proposed colour standard (white for PHV) 
would need to be obtained when the current 
vehicle needs to be changed to meet the age 
requirement (ie less than 10 years, ie before 
2025) 

Financial Support 
As the vehicle is already compliant with the 
Clean Air Zone there is no funding available in 
order to upgrade.

Scenario Two – Salford
Black 2010 diesel wheelchair accessible LTI 
TX4, which is licensed as a Hackney Carriage 
by Salford Council.

Clean Air Zone 
The vehicle has a Euro IV engine therefore it 
would not comply with the proposed Clean 
Air Zone due for introduction in Spring 2022. 
However, as a Wheelchair Accessible Vehicle, 
it is subject to a temporary exemption from 
the charge, meaning it would not be liable for 
charging until the start of 2023, when it would 
be charged £7.50 each day it was used in GM.

Licensing Policy 
As the vehicle would be more than 10 years 
old when MLS is introduced, it will not be 
re-licensable after April 2023, when a black, 
age and emissions compliant and wheelchair 
accessible vehicle must be presented for 
licensing as a hackney carriage.

Financial Support 
Under the Clean Air Zone programme, subject 
to the award of government funding, it is 
proposed that financial support is available to 
assist in obtaining a replacement compliant 
vehicle, including either:

l £10,000 per vehicle for a running costs 
grant or a contribution for vehicle finance, 
for a replacement zero emissions capable 
vehicle. 

Further UK Government funding may also be 
available including;

l UK government grant available of up 
to £7,500 for purchasing a new zero 
emissions capable vehicle, on top of the 
£10,000 grant

l UK Government grant of up to £3,000 for 
new plug-in vehicles.

68 Greater Manchester Taxi and Private Hire Vehicle Minimum Licensing Standards – Consultation DocumentPage 84



Outlining the effects of GM Clean Air Plan and GM Minimum 
Licensing Standards on licensed vehicles – Stockport

Average/Most Common Vehicle in Each District (incl. Age)

District
Private Hire Vehicle Hackney Carriage

Make/Model Year Make/Model Year

Stockport Skoda Octavia 2014 LTI TX2 2006

Scenario One – Stockport
Blue 2014 diesel Skoda Octavia. The vehicle is 
licensed with Stockport Council as a Private 
Hire Vehicle.

Clean Air Zone 
As the vehicle has a Euro V Diesel engine, it 
would not comply with the Clean Air Zone due 
for introduction in Spring 2022 and would 
therefore be charged £7.50 each day if it was 
used in Greater Manchester. A discounted 
charge of only 5 out of 7 days per week for 
vehicles licensed by Greater Manchester local 
authorities and also used as a private car is 
proposed.

Minimum Licensing Standards 
As the car was registered in 2014 it would 
comply with MLS until 2024 when a 
replacement vehicle would need to be obtained 
and licensed, this vehicle would need to be 
white and must also meet emissions standards. 

Financial Support 
Under the Clean Air Zone programme, 
subject to the award of government funding, 
it is proposed that financial support may be 
available to assist in obtaining a replacement 
compliant vehicle, including either:

l A £1,000 grant or vehicle finance 
contribution towards a replacement 
compliant petrol or diesel vehicle is 
available;

l A £2,000 grant or vehicle finance 
contribution towards replacement to a 
hybrid or plug-in hybrid; or

l A £2,500 running costs grant for 
replacement with a zero emissions  
capable vehicle.

Scenario Two – Stockport
Black 2006 diesel wheelchair accessible LTI 
TX2. The vehicle is licensed by Stockport 
Council as a Hackney Carriage. 

Clean Air Zone 
As the vehicle has a Euro IV and therefore non-
compliant engine, it would not comply with the 
proposed Clean Air Zone due for introduction 
in Spring 2022. However, as a Wheelchair 
Accessible Vehicle, it is subject to a temporary 
exemption from the charge, meaning it would 
not be liable for charging until the start of 2023, 
when it would be charged £7.50 each day it was 
used in GM.

Minimum Licensing Standards 
As the vehicle would be more than 10 years 
old when MLS is introduced, it will not be re-
licensable after April 2023, when a black, age 
and emissions compliant and wheelchair 
accessible vehicle would need to be presented 
for licensing as a hackney carriage.

Financial Support 
Under the Clean Air Zone programme, subject 
to the award of government funding, it is 
proposed that financial support is available to 
assist in obtaining a replacement compliant 
vehicle, including either:

l £10,000 per vehicle for a running costs grant 
or a contribution for vehicle finance, for a 
replacement zero emissions capable vehicle. 

Further UK Government funding may also be 
available including;

l UK government grant available of up to 
£7,500 for purchasing a new zero emissions 
capable vehicle, on top of the £10,000 grant

l UK Government grant of up to £3,000 for 
new plug-in vehicles.

69Page 85



Outlining the effects of GM Clean Air Plan and GM Minimum 
Licensing Standards on licensed vehicles – Tameside

Average/Most Common Vehicle in Each District (incl. Age)

District
Private Hire Vehicle Hackney Carriage

Make/Model Year Make/Model Year

Tameside Toyota Auris 2014 Mercedes Vito 2013

Scenario One – Tameside
Silver 2014 diesel Skoda Octavia. The vehicle is 
licensed with Tameside Council as a Private Hire 
Vehicle.

Clean Air Zone 
As the vehicle has a Euro V Diesel engine, it 
would not comply with the Clean Air Zone 
proposed for introduction in Spring 2022 and 
would therefore be charged £7.50 each day if it 
was used in Greater Manchester. A discounted 
charge of only 5 out of 7 days per week for 
vehicles licensed by Greater Manchester local 
authorities and also used as a private car is 
proposed.

Minimum Licensing Standards 
As the car is registered in 2014 it would comply 
with the proposed MLS until 2024 when a 
replacement vehicle would need to be obtained. 
This vehicle would need to be white and also 
meet age and emissions standards. 

Financial Support 
Under the Clean Air Zone programme, 
subject to the award of government funding, 
it is proposed that financial support may be 
available to assist in obtaining a replacement 
compliant vehicle, including either:

l A £1,000 grant or vehicle finance 
contribution towards a replacement 
compliant petrol or diesel vehicle is 
available;

l A £2,000 grant or vehicle finance 
contribution towards replacement to a 
hybrid or plug-in hybrid; or

l A £2,500 running costs grant for 
replacement with a zero emissions  
capable vehicle.

Scenario Two – Tameside 
Black 2013 diesel wheelchair accessible 
Mercedes Vito, licensed as a hackney carriage 
with Tameside Council. 

Clean Air Zone 
As the vehicle has a Euro V and therefore non-
compliant engine, it would not comply with the 
proposed Clean Air Zone due for introduction 
in Spring 2022. However, as a Wheelchair 
Accessible Vehicle, it is subject to a temporary 
exemption from the charge, meaning it would 
not be liable for charging until the start of 2023, 
when it would be charged £7.50 each day it was 
used in GM.

Minimum Licensing Standards 
As the vehicle is registered in 2013 it would not 
comply with the proposed MLS age requirements 
after 2023. Therefore, a replacement vehicle 
would need to be obtained before this date, 
when a black, age and emissions compliant and 
wheelchair accessible vehicle would need to be 
presented for licensing as a hackney carriage.

Financial Support 
Under the Clean Air Zone programme, subject 
to the award of government funding, it is 
proposed that financial support is available to 
assist in obtaining a replacement compliant 
vehicle, including either:

l £10,000 per vehicle for a running costs 
grant or a contribution for vehicle finance, for a 
replacement zero emissions capable vehicle. 

Further UK Government funding may also be 
available including;

l UK government grant available of up to 
£7,500 for purchasing a new zero emissions 
capable vehicle, on top of the £10,000 grant

l UK Government grant of up to £3,000 for 
new plug-in vehicles.

70 Greater Manchester Taxi and Private Hire Vehicle Minimum Licensing Standards – Consultation DocumentPage 86



Outlining the effects of GM Clean Air Plan and GM Minimum 
Licensing Standards on licensed vehicles – Trafford

Average/Most Common Vehicle in Each District (incl. Age)

District
Private Hire Vehicle Hackney Carriage

Make/Model Year Make/Model Year

Trafford Skoda Octavia 2012 LTI TX4 2007

Scenario One – Trafford
White 2012 diesel Skoda Octavia. The car is 
licensed with Trafford Council as a Private Hire 
Vehicle. 

Clean Air Zone 
As the vehicle has a Euro V diesel engine, it 
is not compliant with the proposed Clean Air 
Zone and would therefore be charged £7.50 
each day it was used once it was introduced in 
Spring 2022. A discounted charge of 5 out of 7 
days per week for vehicles licensed by Greater 
Manchester local authorities and also used as a 
private car is proposed.

Minimum Licensing Standards 
As the vehicle was registered in 2012, it would 
not comply with the proposed MLS age policy 
after 2022, and a replacement vehicle would 
need to be obtained for licensing after April 
2023. This vehicle would also need to be white 
and should meet age and emissions standards. 

Financial Support 
Under the Clean Air Zone programme, 
subject to the award of government funding, 
it is proposed that financial support may be 
available to assist in obtaining a replacement 
compliant vehicle, including either:

l A £1,000 grant or vehicle finance 
contribution towards a replacement 
compliant petrol or diesel vehicle is 
available;

l A £2,000 grant or vehicle finance 
contribution towards replacement to a 
hybrid or plug-in hybrid; or

l A £2,500 running costs grant for 
replacement with a zero emissions capable 
vehicle.

Scenario Two – Trafford 
Black 2007 diesel, wheelchair accessible  
LTI TX4 licensed with Trafford Council as a 
Hackney Carriage. 

Clean Air Zone 
As the vehicle has a Euro IV and therefore non-
compliant engine, it would not comply with the 
proposed Clean Air Zone due for introduction 
in Spring 2022. However, as a Wheelchair 
Accessible Vehicle, it is subject to a temporary 
exemption from the charge, meaning it would 
not be liable for charging until the start of 2023, 
when it would be charged £7.50 each day it was 
used in GM.

Minimum Licensing Standards 
As the vehicle would be more than 10 years old 
when MLS is introduced, it will not be re-licensable 
after April 2023, a black, age compliant and 
wheelchair accessible vehicle must be obtained.

Financial Support 
Under the Clean Air Zone programme, subject 
to the award of government funding, it is 
proposed that financial support is available to 
assist in obtaining a replacement compliant 
vehicle, including either:

l £10,000 per vehicle for a running costs 
grant or a contribution for vehicle finance, 
for a replacement zero emissions capable 
vehicle. 

Further UK Government funding may also be 
available including;

l UK government grant available of up to 
£7,500 for purchasing a new zero emissions 
capable vehicle, on top of the £10,000 grant

l UK Government grant of up to £3,000 for 
new plug-in vehicles.

71Page 87



Outlining the effects of GM Clean Air Plan and GM Minimum 
Licensing Standards on licensed vehicles – Wigan

Average/Most Common Vehicle in Each District (incl. Age)

District
Private Hire Vehicle Hackney Carriage

Make/Model Year Make/Model Year

Wigan Ford Mondeo 2006 Toyota Prius 2009

Scenario One – Wigan
Blue 2006 Ford Mondeo, licensed as a Private 
Hire Vehicle by Wigan Council.

Clean Air Zone 
As the vehicle has a Euro IV Diesel engine, it 
would not comply with the proposed Clean 
Air Zone proposed for introduction in Spring 
2022, and would therefore be charged £7.50 
each day it was used.  A discounted charge of 
5 out of 7 days per week for vehicles licensed 
by Greater Manchester local authorities and 
also used as a private car is proposed.

Minimum Licensing Standards 
As the vehicle is registered in 2006 it does 
not comply with the age requirements under 
the proposed MLS. A compliant replacement 
vehicle would need to be obtained, this 
vehicle would need to be white and must also 
meet emissions standards.

Financial Support 
Under the Clean Air Zone programme, subject 
to the award of government funding, it is 
proposed that financial support may be 
available to assist in obtaining a replacement 
compliant vehicle, including either:

l A £1,000 grant or vehicle finance 
contribution towards a replacement 
compliant petrol or diesel vehicle is 
available;

l A £2,000 grant or vehicle finance 
contribution towards replacement to a 
hybrid or plug-in hybrid; or

l A £2,500 running costs grant for 
replacement with a zero emissions 
capable vehicle.

Scenario Two – Wigan
Silver 2009 Toyota Prius, it is licensed as a 
hackney carriage by Wigan Council. 

Clean Air Zone 
As the vehicle is a Hybrid Electric vehicle,  
and therefore a Euro VI engine, it complies 
with the clean air zone.

Minimum Licensing Standards 
As the vehicle would be more than 10 years 
old when MLS is introduced, it will not be  
re-licensable after April 2023. Also MLS 
requires all hackney carriages to be 
wheelchair accessible. Therefore a black, 
compliant, and wheelchair accessible  
vehicle must be obtained. 

Financial Support 
A UK Government grant of up to £3,000 is 
available for new plug-in vehicles. 

72 Greater Manchester Taxi and Private Hire Vehicle Minimum Licensing Standards – Consultation DocumentPage 88



Supporting you to respond to this consultation
For support to respond to this consultation or to request  
copies of the summary document and questionnaire please  
contact info@gmtaxistandards.com or 0161 244 1100.

Support for non-English speakers is available on 0161 244 1100

 
 
 
“Prosimy o kontakt przez email info@cleanairgm.com lub telefonicznie pod 
numerem 0161 244 1100 po pomoc w odpowiedzi na tą konsultację lub aby móc 
otrzymać egzemplarze dokumentacji z podsumowaniem wraz z ankietą.  
 
 
Wsparcie dla osób nie mówiących po angielsku można otrzymać pod numerem 
0161 244 1100.” 

 
 
 
 
 
 

“Prosimy o kontakt przez email info@gmtaxistandards.com lub telefonicznie pod 
numerem 0161 244 1100 po pomoc w odpowiedzi na tą konsultację lub aby móc 
otrzymać egzemplarze dokumentacji z podsumowaniem wraz z ankietą.  
 
Wsparcie dla osób nie mówiących po angielsku można otrzymać pod numerem 
0161 244 1100.” 

 

 
Message 1 

 

 

“  સરશં અ  કો મળ મ અથ આ રમશો બ આ મ 
મ મળ  કર info@cleanairgm.com ર ઇમઇ ર સંક કરો 

 અથ મ 0161 244 1100 ર ો કર શકો છો.  

 

 ોકો  થ બો, ઓ મ મળ,  0161 244 1100 ર ો કર શક છ." 

 

 

 

Message 2 

 

 

 

 

“  સરશં અ  કો મળ મ અથ આ રમશો બ આ મ 
મ મળ  કર info@gmtaxistandards.com ર ઇમઇ ર સંક કરો  

અથ મ 0161 244 1100 ર ો કર શકો છો. 

 

  ોકો  થ બો, ઓ મ મળ,  0161 244 1100 ર ો કર શક છ." 

 

 
 
 
 
 

 
Message 1 

 

 

“  સરશં અ  કો મળ મ અથ આ રમશો બ આ મ 
મ મળ  કર info@cleanairgm.com ર ઇમઇ ર સંક કરો 

 અથ મ 0161 244 1100 ર ો કર શકો છો.  

 

 ોકો  થ બો, ઓ મ મળ,  0161 244 1100 ર ો કર શક છ." 

 

 

 

Message 2 

 

 

 

 

“  સરશં અ  કો મળ મ અથ આ રમશો બ આ મ 
મ મળ  કર info@gmtaxistandards.com ર ઇમઇ ર સંક કરો  

અથ મ 0161 244 1100 ર ો કર શકો છો. 

 

  ોકો  થ બો, ઓ મ મળ,  0161 244 1100 ર ો કર શક છ." 

 

 
 
 
 
 

info@cleanairgm.com

0161 244 1100  

0161 244 1100  

info@gmtaxistandards.com 

0161 244 1100  

0161 244 1100  

 
 

 

"For support to respond to this consultation or to request copies of the summary document and

questionnaire please contact info@cleanairgm.com or 0161 244 1100.

Support for non-English speakers is available on 0161 244 1100.

�cmā)q™'!
6 0161 244 1100 cinfo@cleanairgm.com

6™ 0161 244 1100 �m

For support to respond to this consultation or to request copies of the summary document and

questionnaire please contact info@gmtaxistandards.com or 0161 244 1100.

Support for non-English speakers is available on 0161 244 1100.

�cmā)q™'!
6 0161 244 1100 6c info@gmtaxisstandards.com

6™ 0161 244 1100 �m!�

“For support to respond to this consultation or to request copies of the summary 
document and questionnaire please contact info@cleanairgm.com or 0161 244 
1100. Support for non-English speakers is available on 0161 244 1100.” 

 
 
 
 

  

  

  

"    
   

 info@cleanairgm.com  1100 244 0161 .  

  

 1100 244 0161". 

 
 
 
 
 

“For support to respond to this consultation or to request copies of the summary 
document and questionnaire please contact info@gmtaxistandards.com or 0161 
244 1100. Support for non-English speakers is available on 0161 244 1100.” 

 
 
 
 
 

"    
  info@gmtaxistandards.com   

   1100 244 0161 .  

  

  1100 244 0161". 

“For support to respond to this consultation or to request copies of the summary 
document and questionnaire please contact info@cleanairgm.com or 0161 244 
1100. Support for non-English speakers is available on 0161 244 1100.” 

 
 
 
 

  

  

  

"    
   

 info@cleanairgm.com  1100 244 0161 .  

  

 1100 244 0161". 

 
 
 
 
 

“For support to respond to this consultation or to request copies of the summary 
document and questionnaire please contact info@gmtaxistandards.com or 0161 
244 1100. Support for non-English speakers is available on 0161 244 1100.” 

 
 
 
 
 

"    
  info@gmtaxistandards.com   

   1100 244 0161 .  

  

  1100 244 0161". 

Page 89

mailto:info@gmtaxistandards.com


This page is intentionally left blank



Introduction
Greater Manchester (GM) needs to take action to improve air quality, now and for future 
generations. Air pollution is linked to a range of very serious health conditions. 
It contributes to the equivalent of around 1,200 early deaths in GM every year, harming 
our health.

Government has directed GM to introduce a Category C Clean Air Zone across the 
region, to bring nitrogen dioxide (NO

2
) levels on local roads within legal limits in “the 

shortest time possible” and by 2024 at the latest.

As air pollution does not respect geographic boundaries, all 10 local authority areas have 
worked together to develop a joint Clean Air Plan to improve air quality. 

GM is now consulting on the key elements of the proposals, including proposed daily 
Clean Air Zone charges, discounts and exemptions, and the proposals for a multi-million 
pound funding package to support local businesses to upgrade to cleaner vehicles.

There is now a requirement under the Transport Act 2000 to consult “such local persons 
as [the GM authorities] consider appropriate about the charging scheme”.

Clean Air Plan consultation
Between 8 October and 3 December 2020, GM is holding a statutory public consultation 
on the key elements of the charging Clean Air Zone, and the proposals for the 
supporting funds. At the same time, the ten GM local authorities are asking for views on 
the proposed vehicle standards for hackney carriages and private hire services during 
a consultation on the GM Minimum Licensing Standards. This will allow everyone with 
an interest to have a complete view of all the proposed changes to vehicles, and the 
potential support available for vehicle upgrades.

The consultations and supporting engagement activity will adhere to the government 
COVID-19 guidance around social distancing, while ensuring that residents, businesses 
and visitors can engage with the consultation materials and respond in a meaningful way.

The impacts of COVID-19
The Government has asked GM to continue to progress the Clean Air Plan, and to 
undertake the consultation, based on proposals developed before the COVID-19 
pandemic that showed compliance would be achieved by 2024.

GM is assessing the possible effects of COVID-19 on the Clean Air Plan and 
the consultation is asking questions about the impact of COVID-19 on impacted 
groups. This information will inform future decisions on each aspect of the 
final plan.

Greater Manchester 
Clean Air Plan 
October 2020 

BUS 2 42

C

Charges apply
pay online

Clean air

ZONE

Greater
Manchester

PCV 1

PHV 1 PV0001

Page 91



OLDHAM

ROCHDALE

BURY
BOLTON

WIGAN

SALFORD

TRAFFORD

MANCHESTER

STOCKPORT

TAMESIDE

Greater 
Manchester/ 
proposed 
Clean Air Zone 
boundary

Contains OS data © Crown copyright and database right 2018

What is a Clean Air Zone?

This is a designated area which certain 
higher pollution vehicles would pay a 
charge to drive into and within.

Vehicles which do not comply with the 
required emissions standards would pay 
a daily charge for each day on which 
they drive into, out of, within or through 
the Clean Air Zone. Failure to pay the 
daily charge would result in the issue of 

a penalty charge notice (PCN) requiring 
an additional payment.

A Clean Air Zone is not the same as a 
Congestion Charge Zone. The purpose 
of a Clean Air Zone is to improve air 
quality by encouraging drivers to 
upgrade to a cleaner vehicle. It is not 
designed to tackle congestion.

Proposed daily charges for non-compliant vehicles
Vehicle type Updated proposed charge at consultation

  
                          Buses and coaches

 
£60

    Taxis/private hire vehicles £7.50

                          HGVs 

 

£60

               Vans and minibuses £10

Failure to pay the daily charge would result in a penalty charge notice (PCN) of £120, in addition to the daily charge.

BLACKBURN
WITH

DARWEN

MERSEYSIDE

WARRINGTON

CHESHIRE EAST

DERBYSHIRE

WEST
YORKSHIRE

LANCASHIRE

LANCASHIRE

CHESHIRE WEST
AND CHESTER

WIGAN

BOLTON
BURY

ROCHDALE

OLDHAM

TAMESIDE

STOCKPORT

TRAFFORD

SALFORD

M
AN

CH
ES

TE
R

Greater Manchester/
proposed Clean Air 
Zone boundary

Contains OS data © Crown copyright and database right 2018

BLACKBURN
WITH

DARWEN

MERSEYSIDE

WARRINGTON

CHESHIRE EAST

DERBYSHIRE

WEST
YORKSHIRE

LANCASHIRE

LANCASHIRE

CHESHIRE WEST
AND CHESTER

WIGAN

BOLTON
BURY

ROCHDALE

OLDHAM

TAMESIDE

STOCKPORT

TRAFFORD

SALFORD

M
AN

CH
ES

TE
R

Greater Manchester/
proposed Clean Air 
Zone boundary

Contains OS data © Crown copyright and database right 2018

BLACKBURN
WITH

DARWEN

MERSEYSIDE

WARRINGTON

CHESHIRE EAST

DERBYSHIRE

WEST
YORKSHIRE

LANCASHIRE

LANCASHIRE

CHESHIRE WEST
AND CHESTER

WIGAN

BOLTON
BURY

ROCHDALE

OLDHAM

TAMESIDE

STOCKPORT

TRAFFORD

SALFORD

M
AN

CH
ES

TE
R

Greater Manchester/
proposed Clean Air 
Zone boundary

Contains OS data © Crown copyright and database right 2018

Where will the Clean 
Air Zone cover?
All roads within GM will be 
included in the Clean Air Zone, 
with the exception of those 
roads managed by Highways 
England, such as motorways 
and trunk roads. You can 
see this in detail by visiting 
cleanairgm.com/clean-air-
zone-map

How will it operate?
It’ll run 7 days a week, 24 hours a day. Those vehicles liable to pay the charge 
would pay using the Government’s online portal.

Discounts and exemptions will be put in place for some vehicle types. Some 
exemptions are temporary, some are permanent and some are for vehicles licensed 
with the Greater Manchester Authorities only. 

Page 92



Clean vehicle funding support
GM is requesting a package of funding from Government totalling over £150m to 
support owners or registered keepers of non-compliant vehicles with the cost of 
upgrading to compliant vehicles.

Of the total request, so far £41m has been confirmed by Government and further awards 
are anticipated. This funding aims to mitigate negative social and economic effects on 
businesses and individuals most affected by the GM Clean Air Zone.

The funding proposals are a Clean Commercial Fund, a Clean Taxi Fund a Clean Bus 
Fund and a Hardship Fund. There are also proposals for a ‘try before you buy’ electric 
hackney carriage trial scheme and electric vehicle charging points across the city-region, 
which would be for use by hackney carriages and private hire vehicles (PHV) only.

*Available for vehicles registered in GM, small and micro businesses, sole traders, charities and social enterprises, private owners, initially targeted 
towards individuals and the smallest businesses with the oldest vehicles.

Proposed support for those eligible 
and have a non-compliant bus which is 
used on a registered bus service in GM.

Grant of up to £16,000 per vehicle for 
replacement or retrofit.

Bus operators will not be offered 
access to the vehicle finance scheme.

No proposed cap on number of 
vehicles per applicant.

Proposed support for 
those eligible with a non-
compliant van.*

A grant of £3,500 per 
vehicle for replacement or 
vehicle finance contribution.

Limit of 10 vehicles per 
applicant.

Proposed support for 
those eligible with a non-
compliant coach.*

Grant of up to £16,000 per 
vehicle for replacement or 
retrofit or vehicle finance 
contribution.

Limit of 10 vehicles per 
applicant.

Proposed support for 
those eligible with a non-
compliant minibus.*

A grant of up to £5,000 
for replacement or vehicle 
finance contribution for 
replacement of minibuses 
(which are not licensed 
taxis or PHVs or used on  
a registered bus service  
in GM). 

Limit of 10 vehicles per 
applicant.

BusesBUS 2

192

Hackney 
carriages

TA XI

CAB 1
HV0001

Private hire 
vehicles

PHV 1 PV0001

Heavy Goods 
VehiclesLGV 1VansLGV 2 CoachesPCV 2 Minibuses

PCV 1

Proposed support for 
those eligible with a non-
compliant HGV.*

A grant of up to £5,500 per 
vehicle for replacement or 
vehicle finance contribution. 
Limit of 10 vehicles per 
applicant. 

A grant of up to £16,000 per 
vehicle for retrofit. Limit of 
five vehicles per applicant.

Proposed support for those eligible 
with a non-compliant hackney carriage 
licensed with the GM authorities.

£10,000 per vehicle for a running 
costs grant or a contribution for 
vehicle finance, for a replacement 
zero emissions capable wheelchair 
accessible vehicle.

£5,000 grant towards an LPG retrofit.

UK government grant available of up 
to £7,500 for purchasing a new zero 
emissions capable vehicle.

Limit of eight vehicles per applicant.

Proposed support for those eligible 
with a non-compliant private hire 
vehicle licensed with the GM authorities.

£1,000 grant or vehicle finance 
contribution towards replacement to a 
compliant petrol or diesel vehicle.

£2,000 grant or vehicle finance 
contribution towards replacement to a 
hybrid or plug-in hybrid.

£2,500 running costs grant for 
replacement with a zero emissions 
capable vehicle.

£5,000 grant or vehicle finance 
contribution towards replacement of a 
minibus or Wheelchair accessible vehicle.

Limit of 10 vehicles per applicant.

or

or

or

or

or

Page 93



Strategic Outline 
Business Case

• 96 measures 
identified in a 
long list

• Sifting exercise 
reduced this to 
17 and then 14 
measures

Target determination 

• Agreed with 
Government the 
extent of the air 
quality problem 

• Modelling shows that 
illegal levels of NO2 
will span all GM local 
authorities in 2021 if 
no action is taken 

Measure development  

• Options combining 
the shortlisted 
measures were 
developed and 
assessed to 
determine which 
delivered compliance 
in the shortest 
possible time 

Outline 
Business Case  

• GM determined the 
best-performing 
option to reduce 

NO2 across GM: 

• A charging catergory 
C Clean Air Zone 
(CAZ)

• Funds to support 
business upgrade 

• Electric vehicle 
charging 
infrastructure and 
promotion 

• Sustainable Journeys 
(behaviour change 
activity) 

• Consider loan 
finance

MARCH 2018 OCTOBER 2018 MARCH 2019

Public conversation 
on proposals

• Over 3,300 
responses 

• Nearly 70% 
of individuals 
supported the 
proposals 

• Businesses thought 
the proposals would 
have a negative 
effect on the 
economy (54%), 
and two-thirds felt 
they would have a 
negative impact on 
their business

Government response 

• Government 
directed all 10 GM 
local authorities 
to implement a 
catergory C charging 
Clean Air Zone with 
additional measures 
and provided further 
£36m funding

• Government 
requests further 
options appraisal 
information to be 
submitted 

Development of 
proposals   

• 32 briefing notes 
and eight technical 
reports submitted 

• Ongoing dialogue 
with Government 
about the funding 
packages to support 
impacted groups 

• Ongoing 
development of 
proposals

Government response    
and COVID-19

• Government 
provides initial 
tranche of £41m 
funding to support 
businesses to 
upgrade to cleaner 
vehicles

• COVID-19 pandemic 
leads to nationwide 
'lockdown'

MAY/JUNE 2019

JULY 2019 JULY 2019 MARCH 2020

Statutory consultation

• GM Clean Air Plan 
consultation starts 
running for 
eight weeks

Consultation Findings 
Reported 

• Including assessment 
of COVID-19 impacts 
on GM Clean Air Plan

OCTOBER 2020 FEBRUARY 2021*

Final Business Case & 
GM Clean Air Funds 
open 

GM Clean Air Zone 
launches

TBC SPRING 2022*

The journey to consultation
Here is a timeline of the activity to date on the GM Clean Air Plan and the timing for 
delivering the final plan.

Find out more
For support to respond to this consultation or to request copies of the summary 
document and questionnaire please contact info@cleanairgm.com or 0161 244 1100. 

Support for non-English speakers is available on 0161 244 1100. For further information 
on the GM Clean Air Plan and to sign up for future updates, visit cleanairgm.com or 
email info@cleanairgm.com

For media enquiries, call 0161 244 1055 or email info@cleanairgm.com

* To be confirmed

Page 94



CONSULTATION DOCUMENT

Consultation runs from 8 October to 3 December 2020 

Find out more and get involved at cleanairgm.com

BUS 2

307

C

Charges apply
pay online

Clean air

ZONE

LGV 1

PCV 1

Greater
Manchester

Greater 
Manchester  
Clean Air Plan

Bolton | Bury | Manchester | Oldham | Rochdale | Salford | Stockport | Tameside | Trafford | WiganPage 95

http://cleanairgm.com


2 3Greater Manchester Clean Air Plan – Consultation Document

Contents

Section 1 – Foreword by Councillor Western ................................................................................4

Section 2 – Overview of the plan .......................................................................................................6

Section 3 – Introduction and background

3.1 Why are we producing a Clean Air Plan? .................................................................................8

3.2 Why this plan? .....................................................................................................................................9

3.3 The journey so far ............................................................................................................................ 10

3.4 What is the consultation about? .................................................................................................12

3.5 Additional information for hackney carriages/private hire vehicles .............................13

Section 4 – Clean Air Zone

4.1 Clean Air Zone at a glance ........................................................................................................... 14

4.2 Scope .....................................................................................................................................................15

4.3 Enforcement ....................................................................................................................................... 19

4.4 Discount and exemptions ............................................................................................................ 20

Section 5 – Funding support

5.1 Summary of funding ........................................................................................................................31

5.2 Vehicle finance ..................................................................................................................................33

5.3 Support at a glance .........................................................................................................................35

5.4 Funding to support bus operators – Clean Bus Fund ....................................................... 36

5.5 Funding to support coaches, minibuses, HGVs and vans 

 – Clean Commercial Vehicle Fund ............................................................................................ 39

5.6 Funding to support hackney carriages and private hire vehicles 

 – Clean Taxi Fund ............................................................................................................................ 45

5.7 Hardship fund .....................................................................................................................................51

5.8 Fraudulent activity and misappropriation ..............................................................................52

Section 6 – Impacts

6.1 Impact of the proposals ................................................................................................................53

6.2 Impact of COVID-19 .........................................................................................................................53

Section 7 – Equalities

7.1 Equality Impact Assessment .......................................................................................................55

Section 8 – Next steps

8.1  Who can take part? ........................................................................................................................ 56

8.2  Where can I get more information? ......................................................................................... 56

8.3  How do I respond?.......................................................................................................................... 56

8.4  Access to all .......................................................................................................................................57

8.5  What happens to my response? .................................................................................................57

Appendix 1: Clean Air Zone vehicle categories and minimum emission standards  
as set out in the UK Government’s Clean Air Zone Framework ................. 58

Appendix 2: Consultation questionnaire ....................................................................................... 59 

3Greater Manchester Clean Air Plan – Consultation Document2

About this document
This document sets out the proposals for the GM Clean Air Plan, which 
are being consulted on between 8 October and 3 December 2020.

It presents the policies that have been developed, as well as explaining 
which parts of the policies you can have your say on. At the end of 
each section, you’ll find the questions relevant to that section, that are 
asked in the consultation. 

The policies for consultation have been agreed by the 10 Local 
Authorities of Greater Manchester, who are responsible for the GM 
Clean Air Plan. Throughout this document, when Greater Manchester or 
GM is used to describe the decision-making body for the proposals, it 
refers to the 10 Local Authorities of Greater Manchester. 

The GM Clean Air Plan proposals are a collaboration between the 
10 Greater Manchester Local Authorities. The proposals have been 
coordinated by Transport for Greater Manchester.

P
age 96



Now more than ever,  
we are thinking about 
the air that we breathe. 
Air pollution affects us all, but particularly our poorest communities, 
those with health problems, older people, and children. It’s also 
damaging our economy. 

At the start of the pandemic, lockdown led to a huge improvement in 
air quality across our city-region, with reduced traffic on our roads and 
many choosing to cycle or walk. 

We’ve been able to experience what a future with cleaner air might 
look like if we tackle the vehicle emissions that expose us all to harmful 
nitrogen dioxide (NO2). 

But as restrictions have been reduced and more vehicles have returned 
to the roads, the levels of air pollution are quickly returning. Many sites 
are once again above legal limits across Greater Manchester. 

As part of our efforts to build back better from the pandemic, we want 
everyone to continue enjoying the benefits of improved air quality. 

Our Clean Air Plan is an important part of our post-lockdown recovery, 
cleaning up our commercial vehicles and providing bus operators and 
hackney carriage and private hire drivers with access to funding to 
move to a modern, cleaner fleet. 

It will help us reach legal limits of NO2 as soon as possible, by 2024, 
making our city-region a cleaner, greener place to live, work and grow 
old. Where we can all breathe more easily. 

We’re now asking businesses and residents across Greater Manchester 
and beyond to give their views and help shape the final plan. At the 
same time, we are further considering the ongoing impacts of the 
pandemic. 

1. Foreword by 
 Councillor Andrew Western
 Green City-Region Lead and  
 Leader of Trafford Council 

The plan remains a progressive and ambitious strand of our green road 
to recovery. It proposes: 

• A Greater Manchester-wide charging Clean Air Zone covering all ten 
local authority areas – the largest outside London. 

• A comprehensive package of funding support to help Greater 
Manchester businesses upgrade to cleaner vehicles before that zone 
is introduced. 

It’s the result of a tremendous amount of hard work and continues 
Greater Manchester’s proud history of collaboration. 

During the public "conversation" in 2019 we had thousands of responses 
– and nearly 70% of individuals who responded were supportive of the 
proposals. 

Since then we’ve used that feedback to make some key changes to the 
plans: 

• Adjusted the proposed daily charges and made some changes to the 
proposed Clean Air Zone boundary. 

• Increased our ask of government funding to more than £150 million, 
with £41 million already committed. 

• Developed supporting financing schemes so Greater Manchester 
businesses can access funding support in a way that suits them. 

• Proposed a wide range of temporary and permanent exemptions and 
discounts to limit the impact on key industries. 

The Greater Manchester Council Leaders and I believe that the resulting 
plan is the right one, to clean up the air we all breathe now, but also to 
protect future generations. It will support Greater Manchester’s plans to 
build back better and greener. 

This plan will impact all of our lives. I hope you will set some time aside 
to get involved, fill out our questionnaire, and help shape the final plan 
we submit to government. 

Help us get it right. Let’s clean up our air together. 

4 5Greater Manchester Clean Air Plan – Consultation Document

P
age 97



2. Overview of the plan

Where will the  
Clean Air Zone cover? 

All roads within Greater Manchester 
(GM) will be included in the  Clean 
Air Zone, with the exception of 
those roads managed by Highways 
England, such as motorways and 
trunk roads, and you can see this in 
detail by visiting cleanairgm.com/
clean-air-zone-map

How will it operate? 

The CAZ will operate 7 days a week, 
24 hours a day. Those vehicles 
liable to pay the charge will use the 
Government's online portal to do so. 

Discounts and exemptions will be 
put in place for some vehicle types. 
Some exemptions are temporary, 
some are permanent, some are for 
vehicles licensed with the Greater 
Manchester Authorities.

BLACKBURN
WITH

DARWEN

MERSEYSIDE

WARRINGTON

CHESHIRE EAST

DERBYSHIRE

WEST
YORKSHIRE

LANCASHIRE

LANCASHIRE

CHESHIRE WEST
AND CHESTER

WIGAN

BOLTON
BURY

ROCHDALE

OLDHAM

TAMESIDE

STOCKPORT

TRAFFORD

SALFORD

M
AN

CH
ES

TE
R

Greater Manchester/
proposed Clean Air 
Zone boundary

Contains OS data © Crown copyright and database right 2018

What is a Clean Air Zone?

This is a designated area which certain higher 
pollution vehicles would pay a charge to drive.

Vehicles which do not comply with the required 
emissions standards would pay a daily charge for 
each day on which they drive into, out of, within or 
through the Clean Air Zone. Failure to pay the daily 
charge would result in the issue of a penalty charge 
notice, requiring an additional payment of £120.

A Clean Air Zone is not the same as a Congestion 
Charge Zone. The purpose of a Clean Air Zone is 
to improve air quality by encouraging drivers to 
upgrade to a cleaner vehicle. It is not designed to 
tackle congestion.

The GM Clean Air Zone will launch in Spring 2022. 

You can check if your vehicle is compliant by using 
the GM  vehicle checker  
cleanairgm.com/vehicle-checker

The daily charges are:

Vehicle type Proposed daily charge at consultation

  
                          Buses and coaches

£60

     Hackney carriages/private hire vehicles £7.50

                          HGVs 

£60

               Vans £10

Failure to pay the daily charge would result in a penalty charge notice (PCN) of £120, in addition to the daily charge. 
See section 4.4 for more information

6 7Greater Manchester Clean Air Plan – Consultation Document

The proposed GM Clean Air Plan includes launching and operating 
a GM-wide Clean Air Zone (CAZ), with a number of temporary and 
permanent discounts and exemptions for some vehicle types. Private 
cars and motorbikes are not included in the scheme. As well as that, 
the proposals include a package of support funding, to help upgrade 
vehicles across Greater Manchester.

Funding to upgrade to compliant vehicles

Greater Manchester is requesting a package of funding from Government 
totalling over £150m to support owners or registered keepers of  
non-compliant vehicles with the cost of upgrading to vehicles that would 
not incur a charge. Of the total request, so far £41m has been confirmed 
by Government and further awards are anticipated.

This funding aims to mitigate negative social and economic effects on 
businesses and individuals most affected by the GM CAZ.

The funding proposals are:

• A Clean Commercial Fund to provide financial support for the 
upgrade of non-compliant vans and HGVs, minibuses and coaches, 
which will be targeted to support smaller local businesses, sole 
traders, individuals and the charity/voluntary sector.

• A Clean Taxi Fund to provide financial support for the upgrade of  
non-compliant GM-licensed hackney carriage and private hire vehicles.

• A Clean Bus Fund to provide financial support for the upgrade of  
non-compliant buses registered to run services across GM.

• A Hardship Fund to support individuals, companies and organisations 
who are considered to be the most vulnerable to the potential 
negative economic impacts of the GM CAZ.

This means that owners or registered keepers of non-compliant vehicles 
that would be subject to the GM CAZ charges may be eligible to apply 
for financial support towards upgrading to a compliant vehicle (subject 
to meeting eligibility criteria and state aid restrictions).

Vehicle finance

The proposals also include an offer to access affordable finance (through 
a panel of GM appointed finance providers) for eligible applicants who 
require assistance in funding the cost of upgrading to a compliant HGV, 
van, coach, minibus, GM-licensed hackney carriage or GM-licensed 
private hire vehicle. It has been designed to address some of the 
potential reasons that finance might typically be refused.

Try before you buy hackney scheme

To tackle the barriers to switching to electric vehicles, GM is proposing a 
‘Try Before You Buy’ initiative for GM-licensed hackney carriage drivers.

Electric vehicle charging infrastructure for hackney carriages and 
private hire vehicles

GM is proposing a £6.5m network of 40 taxi-only rapid electric vehicle 
charging points tailored to locations to support zero emissions capable 
taxis to operate across GM. 

The funding to upgrade to compliant vehicles is explained in pages  
31 – 52.

P
age 98

http://cleanairgm.com/clean-air-zone-map
http://cleanairgm.com/clean-air-zone-map
http://cleanairgm.com/vehicle-checker


3.1 Why are we producing a Clean Air Plan?
Government is working with more than 60 local authorities across the 
UK to improve air quality. Greater Manchester has received a direction 
from Government to introduce a Clean Air Plan to bring nitrogen 
dioxide (NO2) levels within legal limits in "the shortest possible time"1. 

GM needs to take action to improve air quality, 
now and for future generations. Pollution from 
road traffic is linked to a wide range of serious 
illnesses and conditions. It contributes to the 
equivalent of around 1,200 deaths a year in  
GM alone. 

As air pollution does not respect geographic 
boundaries, the ten GM local authorities 
(Bolton, Bury, Manchester, Oldham, Rochdale, 
Salford, Stockport, Trafford, Tameside, Wigan) 
have come together to produce a joint plan. This co-ordinated approach 
is seen as the most effective way to deal with a problem that affects all 
parts of GM and will not be remedied on a site-by-site or district-by-
district basis. The Clean Air Plan is being co-ordinated by Transport for 
Greater Manchester (TfGM).

The core aim of the GM Clean Air Plan (GM CAP) is to remove all 
concentrations of NO2 that have been forecast to exceed the legal limits 
"in the shortest possible time and by 2024 at the latest", in line with 
Government's direction to Greater Manchester. 

The GM Authorities are now consulting on the key elements of the zone, 
including the proposed daily charges, discounts and exemptions, and 
the proposals for funding packages to help local businesses upgrade to 
cleaner vehicles.

What about COVID-19?

The Government has asked Greater Manchester 
to continue to progress the Clean Air Plan, and to 
undertake the consultation, based on proposals 
developed before the COVID-19 pandemic that 
showed compliance would be achieved by 2024.2

GM is assessing the possible effects of COVID-19 
on the Clean Air Plan and the consultation is 
asking questions about the impact of COVID-19 
on impacted groups. This information will inform 
future decisions on each aspect of the final plan.

3. Introduction and background

GM needs to  
take action  
to improve  
air quality

1 assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/746095/air-quality-no2-plan-
directions-2017.pdf
2 GM CAP Data, Evidence and Modelling – Consultation Summary Report

3.2 Why this plan?
This plan has been in development since 2018 when a Strategic Outline 
Case was submitted to Government. It has been designed to meet 
Government’s "primary and secondary success criteria". You can find 
out more detail through the technical documentation available at 
cleanairgm.com/technical-documents 

The GM local authorities undertook a process to identify and assess 
the interventions that could be implemented to reduce annual mean 
NO2 concentrations on the roads they manage, following Government 
guidance. 

The Strategic Case of the Outline Business Case (OBC) sets out a 
robust case for change, based upon local modelling. It revealed a 
much wider problem with current NO2 levels at the roadside than 
initially identified by Government. It sets out the approach GM took 
to identifying a preferred option for achieving compliance. As part of 
this process, GM identified a number of possible solutions, which were 
assessed against primary and secondary success criteria based upon 
modelling and analysis; engagement with stakeholders and professional 
experts, and the use of a Multi-Criteria Analysis tool to assess the 
performance of each option against the success factors and relative to 
each other. A full economic appraisal was then undertaken of the best 
performing options. More detail is available in the Options Appraisal 
Report, Appendix 1 to the Strategic Case.

GM has identified a preferred option based on which of the best 
performing options delivers compliance in the "shortest possible time" 
and that improves air quality with the least detrimental impact on GM. 
This means GM has taken account of its wider responsibilities to its 
people and businesses, and has sought to develop proposals that bring 
the most benefit, with the least negative impact. In particular, evidence 
suggests that some of GM’s most vulnerable residents are most likely to 
suffer the effects of poor air quality. This plan improves air quality for 
those residents without damaging their quality of life in other ways.

8 9Greater Manchester Clean Air Plan – Consultation Document

P
age 99

http://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/746095/air-quality-no2-plan-directions-2017.pdf
http://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/746095/air-quality-no2-plan-directions-2017.pdf
http://cleanairgm.com/technical-documents


The GM CAP is supported by an evidence base consisting of modelling, 
analysis and research. The approach to developing the evidence base, 
along with key research findings, is set out in the Data, Evidence and 
Modelling Consultation Summary Report3. Further information can 
be found in a series of Technical Reports4 produced to support the 
consultation, and in Technical Notes setting out analysis, research and 
modelling carried out since the OBC to support the development of the 
consultation option. 

Once the GM Clean Air Plan is in place, it is estimated that GM will have 
NO2 within the legal limit of 40 micrograms per cubic metre (ug/m3) 
by 2024. If we do not all take action, the dirtiest vehicles will remain on 
GM’s roads longer, meaning that the estimated date of legal compliance 
is 2027, which is not the "shortest possible time".

3.3 The journey so far
The Clean Air Plan process has a number of development stages. These 

are outlined below: 

Strategic Outline 
Business Case

• 96 measures 
identified in a 
long list

• Sifting exercise 
reduced this to 
17 and then 14 
measures

Target Determination 

• Agreed with 
Government the 
extent of the Air 
Quality problem 

• Modelling shows 
that illegal levels of 

NO2 will span all GM 
Local Authorities in 
2021 if no action is 
taken 

Measure development  

• Options combining 
the shortlisted 
measures were 
developed and 
assessed to 
determine which 
delivered compliance 
in the shortest 
possible time 

Outline 
Business Case  

• GM determined the 
best performing 
option to reduce 

NO2 across GM 

• A charging Clean 
Air Zone (CAZ) 
category C  

• Funds to support 
business upgrade 

• Electric Vehicle 
Infrastructure and 
Promotion 

• Sustainable Journeys 
(behaviour change 
activity) 

• Consider Loan 
Finance

MARCH 2018 OCTOBER 2018 MARCH 2019

Public conversation 
on proposals

• Over 3,300 
responses 

• Nearly 70% 
of individuals 
who responded 
supported the 
proposals 

• Businesses thought 
the proposals would 
have a negative 
effect on the 
economy (54%), 
and two-thirds felt 
they would have a 
negative impact on 
their business

Government response 

• Government 
directed all 10 
Greater Manchester 
authorities to 
implement a 
charging  
Clean Air Zone 
Category C with 
additional measures 
and provided 
a further £36m 
funding

• Further options 
appraisal information 

Development of 
proposals   

• 38 briefing notes 
and eight technical 
reports submitted to 
Government

• Ongoing dialogue 
with Government 
about the funding 
packages to support 
impacted groups 

• Ongoing 
development of the 
proposals

Government response 
and COVID-19

• Government provide 
initial tranche of 
£41m funding to 
support businesses 
to upgrade to 
cleaner vehicles

• COVID-19 pandemic 
leads to nationwide 
"lockdown"

MAY/JUNE 2019 JULY 2019 MARCH 2020

Statutory consultation

• GM Clean Air Plan 
consultation running 
for eight weeks

Consultation Findings 
to be reported

• Including assessment 
of COVID-19 impacts 
on GM Clean Air Plan

Final Business Case 
and GM Clean Air 
Funds open 

GM Clean Air Zone 
launches

OCTOBER 2020 FEBRUARY 2021* TBC SPRING 2022*

3 Data, Evidence and Modelling Consultation Summary Report, available at cleanairgm.com/technical-documents
4 Technical reports available at cleanairgm.com/technical-documents

* To be confirmed

10 11Greater Manchester Clean Air Plan – Consultation Document

P
age 100

http://cleanairgm.com/technical-documents
http://cleanairgm.com/technical-documents


3.4 What is the consultation about?
Based on local analysis by GM, the 10 GM authorities have been legally 
directed by Government to introduce a Category C Clean Air Zone 
(CAZ) across the region. This means that buses, coaches, hackney 
carriages, private hire vehicles, HGVs, vans and minibuses that do not 
meet the required emission standards would be required to pay a daily 
charge for driving into or within the CAZ.

Private cars and motorbikes are not included. Some permanent and 
temporary discounts and exemptions are proposed for some vehicles 
that otherwise would be required to pay the daily charge.

In addition to the plans for implementation of the charging CAZ,  
GM is sharing details of the wider proposals as part of this consultation, 
including funding to support impacted vehicles. This will help to ensure 
that respondents have as much information as possible to inform them, 
before they answer the questions in this consultation.

3.5 Additional information about taxis: hackney 
carriages and private hire vehicles

Hackney carriages and private hire services are a significant part of 
GM’s transport offer. In 2018, the Greater Manchester authorities agreed 
to collectively develop a common set of Minimum Licensing Standards 
(MLS) for these services that cover the whole of GM.

To make sure there is as much certainty and clarity as possible for 
the trade on any proposed changes they might need to make to their 
vehicles, as a result of both the CAP proposals and the proposed  
GM MLS, the consultation on both these policies is running at the  
same time. 

For more information on the MLS, visit gmtaxistandards.com

There are two types of vehicles that the general public call "taxis"

• Hackney carriages are licensed to pick up people who wave 
for the vehicle to pull over and stop at the roadside or from an 
authorised taxi rank. Hackney carriages are often purpose built 
"black cabs" but don't have to be (depending on local policy) 
and they may also do pre-booked work.

• Private hire vehicles (PHVs) are only permitted to pick people 
up via a pre-arranged booking. This might be over the phone, 
on the web or using an app based booking system.

In this document, if referring to a specific vehicle type, "hackney 
carriage"  or "private hire vehicle" will be used. If referring to this 
form of public transport generally, "taxi" will be used. 

PHV 1 PV0001

TA XI

CAB 1
HV0001

12 13Greater Manchester Clean Air Plan – Consultation Document

P
age 101

http://gmtaxistandards.com


4.1 Clean Air Zone at a glance

Where will the  
Clean Air Zone cover? 

All roads within Greater Manchester 
(GM) will be included in the  Clean 
Air Zone, with the exception of 
those roads managed by Highways 
England, such as motorways and 
trunk roads, and you can see this in 
detail by visiting cleanairgm.com/
clean-air-zone-map

How will it operate? 

The CAZ will operate 7 days a week, 
24 hours a day. Those vehicles 
liable to pay the charge will use the 
Government's online portal to do so. 

Discounts and exemptions will 
be put in place for some vehicle 
types. These are explained in the 
following pages. Some exemptions 
are temporary, some are permanent, 
some are for vehicles licensed with 
the Greater Manchester Authorities.

4. Greater Manchester Charging 
 Clean Air Zone

BLACKBURN
WITH

DARWEN

MERSEYSIDE

WARRINGTON

CHESHIRE EAST

DERBYSHIRE

WEST
YORKSHIRE

LANCASHIRE

LANCASHIRE

CHESHIRE WEST
AND CHESTER

WIGAN

BOLTON
BURY

ROCHDALE

OLDHAM

TAMESIDE

STOCKPORT

TRAFFORD

SALFORD

M
AN

CH
ES

TE
R

Greater Manchester/
proposed Clean Air 
Zone boundary

Contains OS data © Crown copyright and database right 2018

What is a Clean Air Zone?

This is a designated area which certain higher 
pollution vehicles would pay a charge to drive.

Vehicles which do not comply with the required 
emissions standards would pay a daily charge for 
each day on which they drive into, out of, within or 
through the Clean Air Zone. Failure to pay the daily 
charge would result in the issue of a penalty charge 
notice, requiring an additional payment of £120.

A Clean Air Zone is not the same as a Congestion 
Charge Zone. The purpose of a Clean Air Zone is 
to improve air quality by encouraging drivers to 
upgrade to a cleaner vehicle. It is not designed to 
tackle congestion.

The GM Clean Air Zone will launch in Spring 2022. 

You can check if your vehicle is compliant by 
using the GM  vehicle checker  
cleanairgm.com/vehicle-checker

4.2 Scope

Greater Manchester has been directed by Government to introduce  
charging Clean Air Zone Category C across the region. This means 
that owners or registered keepers of the following vehicle types will be 
required to pay a daily charge for driving inside the zone, if the vehicle 
does not comply with the vehicle emission standards in Government’s 
CAZ Framework5:

• Licensed hackney carriages
• Licensed private hire vehicles (PHVs)
• Buses
• Coaches
• Minibuses
• Light Goods Vehicles (LGVs) such as vans
• Heavy Goods Vehicles (HGVs)

The CAZ vehicle categories and minimum emission standards as set 
out in the Government's CAZ Framework6 are provided in Appendix 
1. Vehicles which meet the emissions standards will not be subject to 
charges. Private cars and motorbikes will not be charged under these 
plans.

A central Government database (vehicle checker) will determine if a 
vehicle is in scope for a charge. This vehicle checker is primarily linked 
to the Driving and Vehicle Licensing Agency (DVLA) database holding 
information on the classification of vehicles (often found on a V5C 
document). The vehicle checker can be accessed at cleanairgm.com/
vehicle-checker. Any queries relating to the classification of vehicles are 
a matter for the registered keeper and the DVLA. 

The GM CAZ will be implemented through a Road User Charging 
Scheme Order7 with an anticipated start date of Spring 2022.

GM anticipates that once the CAZ has been implemented, compliance 
for NO2 levels will be reached by 2024 and the CAZ will remain in full 
operation until at least the second half of 2026. 

GM intend to review the need for a CAZ following two consecutive 
years of compliance, so if in 2026 it’s found that GM has met the legal 
limit value for NO2, and there is confidence the limits will continue to 
be maintained, GM will write to the Government to notify them of GM's 
intention to revoke the daily charge and decommission the GM CAZ.

Table 1 provides a summary of the key characteristics of the proposed 
GM CAZ.

5 Department for Environment, Food & Rural Affairs and Department for Transport. 2020. Clean Air Zone Framework. Available at: 
assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/863730/clean-air-zone-framework-
feb2020.pdf 
6 Department for Environment, Food & Rural Affairs and Department for Transport. 2020. Clean Air Zone Framework, Annex A – Clean 
Air Zone minimum classes and standards. Available at: assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/
attachment_data/file/863730/clean-air-zone-framework-feb2020.pdf
7 Secondary legislation which empowers traffic authorities to charge road users, in accordance with the Transport Act 2000. 

The daily charges are:

Vehicle type Proposed daily charge at consultation

  
                          Buses and coaches

£60

     Hackney carriages/private hire vehicles £7.50

                          HGVs 

£60

               Vans £10

Failure to pay the daily charge would result in a penalty charge notice (PCN) of £120, in addition to the daily charge. 
See section 4.4 for more information

14 15Greater Manchester Clean Air Plan – Consultation Document

P
age 102

http://cleanairgm.com/clean-air-zone-map
http://cleanairgm.com/clean-air-zone-map
http://cleanairgm.com/vehicle-checker
http://cleanairgm.com/vehicle-checker
http://cleanairgm.com/vehicle-checker
http://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/863730/clean-air-zone-framework-feb2020.pdf
http://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/863730/clean-air-zone-framework-feb2020.pdf
http://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/863730/clean-air-zone-framework-feb2020.pdf
http://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/863730/clean-air-zone-framework-feb2020.pdf


Table 1: Key Characteristics of the GM CAZ

Clean Air Zone: 
Boundary

The proposed boundary of the CAZ would follow the existing 
administrative boundary of Greater Manchester as closely as 
possible, excluding the Strategic Road Network (SRN)8 which 
is managed by Highways England. The CAZ boundary has been 
set with the principle that signage would be clear so that vehicle 
drivers who do not wish to enter the CAZ can take an alternative 
route.

There is a proposal to exclude a small stretch of the A555 from 
the junction with the B5166 in the west to the junction with A523 
in the east (from Styal Road to the Macclesfield Road junction). 

This is to enable movements between Poynton and Handforth 
(which are towns located in the district of Cheshire East), to 
continue uncharged, given the expectation that implementing a 
charge would result in local journeys returning to the roads that 
the A555 was designed to reduce.

See the full detailed boundary by visiting cleanairgm.com/clean-
air-zone-map

Clean Air Zone: Times of 
Operation

24 hours a day, 7 days a week, 365 days per year.

Clean Air Zone: Vehicles 
Affected

Hackney carriages

Private hire vehicles

Buses

Coaches

Minibuses

Vans

HGVs

Clean Air Zone: 
Exemptions

Certain vehicle types may be eligible for exemptions as detailed 
in section 4.4.

Clean Air Zone: 
Discounts

Certain vehicle types may be eligible for discounts as detailed  
in section 4.4.

8 The SRN consists of roads which are not managed by local and regional GM authorities, namely motorways and trunk roads 
managed by Highways England. The SRN is illustrated on the Highways England Network Management Map available at:  
gov.uk/government/publications/roads-managed-by-highways-england  

Clean Air Zone: Daily 
Charges

Daily charges would apply for each day a non-compliant vehicle 
is used within the GM CAZ, with one charge imposed per 
vehicle, per "Charging Day" (midnight to midnight), however 
many journeys the vehicle makes within the GM CAZ in that  
24-hour period. 

• Hackney carriages – £7.50 

• Private hire vehicles – £7.50 

• Buses – £60

• Coaches – £60

• Minibuses – £10

• Vans – £10 

• HGVs – £60 

Owners or registered keepers of non-compliant vehicles used 
within the GM CAZ will be required to pay the relevant charge 
via a central Government payment portal. Government intends 
that a user can pay 7 days in advance, including the journey date 
(Charging Day), up to 7 days in advance after the journey date 
including the journey date (Charging Day). 

Penalty for non/late 
payment of CAZ charge

£120 (in addition to the daily charge) will be applied to all 
relevant vehicles. This will be reduced to £60 (plus the daily 
charge) if paid within 14 days of the Penalty Charge Notice 
being issued.

PCV 1 LGV 1
BUS 2

192

16 17Greater Manchester Clean Air Plan – Consultation Document

P
age 103

http://cleanairgm.com/clean-air-zone-map
http://cleanairgm.com/clean-air-zone-map
http://gov.uk/government/publications/roads-managed-by-highways-england


Some of the key characteristics of the GM CAZ are specified by 
Government, but you can have your say on the elements identified in 
the questions below.

Q1: The proposed Clean Air Zone Boundary would follow the 
existing administrative boundary of Greater Manchester as 
closely as possible. 

 Do you have any comments on the proposed boundary?

Q2: The Clean Air Zone would operate 24 hours a day, seven days 
a week, signage would be used to clearly identify the Clean 
Air Zone, and the daily charges would apply from midnight to 
midnight.  
Do you have any comments on these proposals? 

Q3: Please tell us what you think of the proposed daily charges for 
each of the vehicles?

 a) Buses / Coaches and HGVs – £60

 b) Hackney carriages and private hire vehicles – £7.50

 c) Vans and Minibuses – £10

Q3a: Do you have any comments on the proposed charges? 

4.3 Enforcement

Enforcement of the Greater Manchester Clean Air Zone will be 
undertaken in line with the prescribed process set out within Road User 
Charging Schemes (Penalty Charges, Adjudication and Enforcement) 
(England) Regulations 2013 (the Penalty Charges Regulations). 

The GM CAZ will use a network of automatic number plate recognition 
(ANPR) cameras to identify non-compliant vehicles. Where the ANPR 
system identifies non-compliant vehicles travelling in the GM CAZ 
and charges have not been paid, owners or registered keepers will be 
notified of a penalty charge of £120 via a Penalty Charge Notice (PCN).  

If the person or organisation named on the PCN pays the amount 
specified on the PCN within 14 days of service of the PCN (as indicated 
on the PCN), the amount payable is reduced to £60 (payable in 
addition to the daily charge). 

If the person or organisation named on the PCN does not either pay 
the amount specified on the PCN or make a representation in relation 
to it (on certain grounds specified in the Penalty Charges Regulations), 
within 28 days of the date of service of the PCN then a Charge 
Certificate would be issued and the penalty charge would be increased 
by 50% (as set out in the Penalty Charges Regulations) to £180 
(payable in addition to the daily charge). 

A representation against a PCN cannot be made once the Charge 
Certificate has been served. However, the person or organisation 
named on the Charge Certificate can make a Statutory Declaration if 
they did not receive the PCN or they have not received a response to a 
representation against the PCN.  

A representation against a PCN is considered and if it is accepted the 
PCN will be cancelled and any sums paid in respect of the PCN will be 
reimbursed. If the representation is rejected the person or organisation 
named on the PCN may appeal to an independent adjudicator within  
28 days of rejection of the representation. 

Where a charge certificate has been served and is not paid within 
14 days of service, enforcement action may be taken to recover the 
increased penalty charge along with the daily charge. If these steps are 
taken, the associated additional costs would increase the sum sought 
from the individual or organisation.

Data collected through the ANPR system will be used for the purposes 
of managing the GM CAZ and will be handled in accordance with the 
General Data Protection Regulations (GDPR) and Data Protection Act 
2018.

18 19Greater Manchester Clean Air Plan – Consultation Document

P
age 104



4.4 Discounts and Exemptions

In general, all non-compliant vehicles in the same category will be 
required to pay the Clean Air Zone charge. However, there will be 
certain circumstances where discounts or exemptions from a charge 
will be appropriate.

Government’s CAZ Framework sets out a series of permanent 
exemptions, which are those vehicles that will be exempt from charges 
for all CAZs across the country, including the Greater Manchester 
CAZ. These exemptions are in place because some types of vehicle 
are particularly difficult or uneconomic to adapt to comply with the 
Framework's requirements. The exemptions also cover vehicles that 
are engaged in unique or novel operations. The national, permanent 
exemptions that apply to all CAZs are set out in Table 2.

FIRE

Table 2: Permanent Exemptions to 
CAZ Charges, set by Government 

Permanent 
exemptions

Description Rationale Further Information

Historic vehicles Vehicles with a 
"historic" vehicle tax 
class (vehicles built or 
first registered more 
than 40 years ago).

Exempt due to age 
and unsuitability for 
compliant retrofitting.

A database of these 
nationally exempt 
vehicles will be 
managed via the 
central Government 
payment portal, 
so vehicles will be 
automatically exempt 
with no additional 
action required by the 
owner or registered 
keeper.

Military vehicles Vehicles in use by UK 
Armed Forces.

Exempt from charges 
by virtue of Section 
349 of the Armed 
Forces Act 2006.

Disabled 
Passenger 
Vehicle

Vehicles within the 
DVLA Disabled 
Passenger Vehicle 
tax class, used 
by organisations 
providing transport 
for disabled people.

This group of vehicles 
may include a range 
of specialist and/
or novel or adapted 
vehicles, where it 
may generally not be 
practical to upgrade 
to a vehicle compliant 
with the emission 
standards of the GM 
CAZ.

Specialist 
Emergency 
Service Vehicles

Specialist vehicles in 
use by emergency 
services, such as aerial 
ladders and major 
incident command 
vehicles.

This group of vehicles 
may include a range 
of specialist and/
or novel or adapted 
vehicles where it 
may generally not be 
practical to upgrade 
to a vehicle compliant 
with the emission 
standards of the GM 
CAZ.

It is proposed that 
a locally managed 
database of vehicles 
exempted will be 
developed in liaison 
with emergency 
services.

20 21Greater Manchester Clean Air Plan – Consultation Document

P
age 105



In addition to stipulating national exemptions, Government’s CAZ 
Framework allows local authorities to consider additional exemptions 
or discounts based on particular local circumstances, specifically 
highlighting the need to work with local emergency services to 
understand the vehicles they use and what they use them for. Further 
local exemptions and discounts can be proposed on this basis so long 
as they do not undermine GM’s ability to achieve compliance "in the 
shortest possible time".

GM is proposing the following local exemptions and discounts for the 
GM CAZ. These exemptions and discounts fall into three categories: 

• Permanent local exemptions (set out in Table 3)

• Temporary local exemptions9 (set out in Table 4)

• Permanent local discounts (set out in Table 5).

9 A temporary local exemption is time limited exemption, applied for a fixed period. Within this temporary local exemption 
period, eligible vehicles would not pay a charge. Following the expiry of a temporary local exemption, non-compliant vehicles 
would charged. Note there may be a requirement to apply for discounts and exemptions. 

Permanent local 
exemptions

Description Rationale Further Information

Specialist Heavy 
Goods Vehicles

Certain types of 
heavily specialised 
HGVs, such as 
certain vehicles used 
in construction or 
vehicle recovery.

This group of vehicles 
includes certain novel 
or adapted road going 
HGVs of a particularly 
specialised nature, 
meaning it may not be 
practical to upgrade 
to a vehicle compliant 
with the emission 
standards of the GM 
CAZ.

It is proposed that 
owners or registered 
keepers of specialist 
HGVs will need 
to apply for this 
exemption, as there is 
no national database 
of these vehicles.

Non-road-going 
vehicles

Certain types of non-
road going vehicles 
which are allowed to 
drive on the highway 
such as agricultural 
machines; digging 
machines, and mobile 
cranes. 

This group of vehicles 
includes a range of 
specialist and/or novel 
or adapted vehicles, 
where it may generally 
not be practical to 
upgrade to a vehicle 
compliant with the 
emission standards of 
the GM CAZ.

It is proposed that 
owners or registered 
keepers of non-road 
going vehicles not 
identified through 
DVLA vehicle 
classification will 
need to apply for this 
exemption.

Table 3: Permanent local exemptions 
proposed by Greater Manchester

Permanent local 
exemptions

Description Rationale Further Information

Vehicles used 
by emergency 
services 

Certain types of 
vehicles used by 
emergency services 
front line emergency 
and certain non-
emergency vehicles.

This group of vehicles 
includes a range of 
vehicles, associated 
with front line 
emergency response, 
and where it may 
generally not be 
practical to upgrade 
to a vehicle compliant 
with the emission 
standards of the 
GM CAZ, which are 
not captured by the 
national exemption. 

It is proposed that 
a locally managed 
database of vehicles 
exempted will be 
developed in liaison 
with emergency 
services.

Community 
Minibuses

Those operating 
under a permit under 
section 19 or section 
22 of the Transport 
Act 1985, issued by a 
body designated by 
the Secretary of State.

These vehicles provide 
important access 
to employment, 
education and training 
for people who may 
otherwise be isolated, 
including those with 
mobility issues and 
located in areas with 
poor public transport 
accessibility. They also 
facilitate inclusion in 
social and community 
activities.

It is proposed that 
owners or registered 
keepers of community 
minibuses will need 
to apply for this 
exemption, as there is 
no national database 
of these vehicles.

Showmen’s Guild 
vehicles

Fairground/funfair 
vehicles which are 
registered with the 
Showmen’s Guild.

This group of vehicles 
includes a range of 
specialist and/or novel 
or adapted vehicles, 
where it may generally 
not be practical to 
upgrade to a vehicle 
compliant with the 
standards of the GM 
CAZ.

It is proposed that 
the Showmen’s Guild 
will notify GM of the 
vehicles registered with 
the Showmen’s Guild 
and that these vehicles 
will be exempted.

22 23Greater Manchester Clean Air Plan – Consultation Document

P
age 106



Permanent local 
exemptions

Description Rationale Further Information

Driving within 
the zone because 
of a road 
diversion 

Vehicles driving within 
the zone because of 
a road diversion who 
would otherwise not 
have entered the GM 
CAZ.

Applies only while 
the diversion is 
active and subject 
to non-compliant 
vehicles being on the 
designated diversion 
route.

This exemption is 
aimed at protecting 
road safety and 
recognises that 
vehicles may enter the 
GM CAZ for reasons 
outside of the driver’s 
control.

The exemption will 
apply to vehicles 
which enter the GM 
CAZ as a direct result 
of a road diversion 
only.

It is intended that no 
additional action will 
be required by the 
owner or registered 
keeper of a non-
compliant vehicle 
driving on a diversion 
route who would 
otherwise not have 
entered the GM CAZ.

Disabled Tax 
Class vehicles

Vehicles used by, or 
for the purposes of a 
disabled person which 
are exempt from 
vehicle tax.

This exemption is 
complementary to the 
vehicle tax exemption 
for Disabled Tax Class 
vehicles.

An exemption 
certificate will have 
been secured for 
vehicles within this 
group, following a 
successful application 
to the Driver and 
Vehicle Licensing 
Authority (DVLA) 
for exemption from 
vehicle tax. The 
vehicle must be 
used solely for the 
purposes of the 
disabled person. 

A database of these 
nationally exempt 
vehicles will be 
managed via the 
central Government 
payment portal, 
so vehicles will be 
automatically exempt 
with no additional 
action required by the 
registered keeper.

Q4: To what extent do you agree or disagree with the permanent 
local exemptions proposed by Greater Manchester?

Q4a: Why do you say this? 

Table 4: Temporary local exemptions 
proposed by Greater Manchester

The proposed local temporary exemptions are not expected to change 
the GM Clean Air Plan’s date of compliance for legal NO2 levels across 
Greater Manchester. 

Temporary local 
exemptions

Description Rationale Further Information

Vans and 
minibuses 

(which are 
not a licensed 
hackney carriage 
or PHV or used 
to provide a 
registered bus 
service)

Light Goods Vehicles 
(vans) and minibuses 
which are not used as 
a licensed taxi, PHV 
or on a registered bus 
service, will be eligible 
for a temporary 
exemption until 31 
December 2022.

After 31 December 
2022, non-compliant 
vehicles will be 
charged.

GM evidence indicates 
that the cost and 
availability of new, 
second and third hand 
compliant vans will 
not provide a viable or 
an affordable option 
for many operators 
(especially for the 
smallest businesses 
and sole traders) 
to upgrade to a 
compliant vehicle in 
2022, given the scale 
of the GM CAZ. 

Introducing a charge 
in 2022 risks many 
operators having to 
switch from using 
a van to a pre-Euro 
VI diesel car or stop 
trading.

Given the number of 
vans operating in GM, 
there is also a high 
risk of there being 
insufficient time in 
advance of 2022 to 
administer the funding 
required to support 
affected parties to 
upgrade to compliant 
vans. 

As proposed, this 
temporary exemption 
for vans and minibuses 
does not affect the 
projected year of legal 
Limit Value compliance 
with the GM CAZ in 
place, or the number of 
exceedances in 2023.

It is proposed that 
this exemption will be 
managed centrally, so 
eligible vehicles will be 
automatically exempt 
with no additional 
action required by the 
registered keeper.

24 25Greater Manchester Clean Air Plan – Consultation Document

P
age 107



Temporary local 
exemptions

Description Rationale Further Information

GM-licensed 
Wheelchair 
Accessible 
hackney 
carriages & PHVs

Wheelchair Accessible 
hackney carriages and 
accessible private hire 
vehicles (PHVs), which 
are licensed to one of 
the 10 GM Authorities, 
as of the 3 December 
2020 will be eligible 
for a temporary 
exemption until 31 
December 2022.

After 31 December 
2022, non-compliant 
vehicles will be 
charged.

Wheelchair accessible 
hackney carriages and 
private hire vehicles 
offer a vital service 
for disabled people 
and are often the 
only mode of travel 
available to them.

26% of taxi users 
report that they have 
a health problem or 
disability that limits 
their day-to-day 
activities, and 26% 
of taxi users over 65 
say that they cannot 
use buses due to a 
disability10.

The cost of upgrade 
to a wheelchair 
accessible vehicle 
(WAV) is high and 
availability of second-
hand vehicles is 
poor (especially for 
London-style hackney 
carriages).11

The application of 
GM CAZ charges in 
2022 could therefore 
affect disabled 
people’s access to taxi 
services, by reducing 
the number of 
wheelchair accessible 
vehicles operating in 
the region.

As proposed, a 
temporary exemption 
for wheelchair 
accessible hackney 
carriages and PHVs 
does not affect the 
year of compliance 
or the number of 
exceedances in 2023.

It is expected that 
this exemption will 
be facilitated through 
Government’s Hackney 
Carriage and PHV 
Centralised Database, 
which forms part 
of the wider digital 
infrastructure that 
is being developed 
to support the 
introduction of the 
CAZ.

Therefore, no 
additional action will 
be required by the 
registered owner. 

10 November 2019 Hatch Regeneris “CAZ Commercial Vehicle Socio-Economic Impacts Research. 
11 Technical Note 19: GM CAP Taxi and PHV Fleet Research.

12 Technical Note 37: GM CAP Vehicle Population Estimates
13 Technical Note 37: GM CAP Vehicle Population Estimates

Temporary local 
exemptions

Description Rationale Further Information

Coaches and 
buses registered 
to a business 
address within 
GM and not used 
on a registered 
bus service 
within GM. 

Coaches and buses 
registered to a 
business address 
within GM and not 
used on a registered 
bus service within GM 
will be eligible for a 
temporary exemption 
until 31 December 
2022.

After 31 December 
2022, non-compliant 
vehicles will be 
charged.

Although compliant 
Euro VI coaches have 
been available since 
2013, the majority 
(67%) of the fleet 
operating within GM 
is not compliant with 
the GM CAZ emission 
standards12.

This is because coaches 
have a long running 
life and upgrade to a 
compliant vehicle is 
very expensive.

69% of coach operators 
are small businesses 
and have very small 
fleets of 1-5 vehicles.

There is a risk that, 
even with funding 
support, coach 
operators cannot 
reasonably comply with 
the GM CAZ emission 
standards by 2022 
and that this creates a 
risk of reduced coach 
operations.

In comparison to 
buses, retrofit solutions 
are also relatively 
immature, affecting 
availability.

This in turn risks 
affecting accessibility 
and the provision of 
services for vulnerable 
groups, particularly 
children, elderly people 
and those on low 
incomes.

Analysis shows 
that coaches make 
up under 0.5% of 
total traffic13 and 
as proposed, a 
temporary exemption 
for coaches is not 
projected to affect the 
year of compliance 
or the number of 
exceedances of the 
legal Limit Value in 
2023.

Owners or registered 
keepers of coaches 
and buses registered 
to a business address 
within GM and not 
used on a registered 
bus service within GM 
will need to apply for 
this exemption, as 
there is no database of 
these vehicles.

26 27Greater Manchester Clean Air Plan – Consultation Document

P
age 108



Temporary local 
exemptions

Description Rationale Further Information

Outstanding 
finance or 
lease on non-
compliant 
vehicles

Non-compliant 
vehicles subject 
to finance or 
lease agreements 
entered into before 
3 December 2020 
which will remain 
outstanding at the 
time at which the 
GM CAZ becomes 
operational, will 
be eligible for a 
temporary exemption 
until the agreement 
ends or until 31 
December 2022, 
whichever is sooner.

After 31 December 
2022, non-compliant 
vehicles will be 
charged.

A move to a compliant 
vehicle is not 
considered feasible 
due to outstanding 
finance, which was 
entered into before 
information on the GM 
CAZ had been made 
publicly available. 

Owners or registered 
keepers of non-
compliant vehicles 
which are subject to 
outstanding finance 
or lease agreements 
at the time at which 
the GM CAZ becomes 
operational will need 
to apply for this 
exemption, as there is 
no national database 
of these vehicles. 

Limited supply 
(awaiting 
delivery of 
a compliant 
vehicle)

Owners or registered 
keepers of non-
compliant vehicles 
that can demonstrate 
they have placed an 
order for a compliant 
replacement vehicle 
or retrofit solution, 
will be eligible for a 
temporary exemption 
until such a time as 
they are in receipt 
of the compliant 
replacement vehicle 
or retrofit solution, 
or for 12 weeks, 
whichever is sooner.

Upgrade to a 
compliant vehicle may 
not be immediately 
possible due to an 
issue with the supply 
of a compliant vehicle 
or retrofit solution 
on order, which is 
considered outside 
of the control of the 
applicant.

Registered keepers of 
non-compliant vehicles 
who can evidence that 
they have placed an 
order for a compliant 
replacement vehicle or 
retrofit solution, which 
is yet to be received, 
will need to apply for 
this exemption, as 
there is no national 
database of these 
vehicles.

Q5: To what extent do you agree or disagree with the temporary 
local exemptions proposed by Greater Manchester?

Q5a: Why do you say this? 

Table 5: Permanent local discounts 
proposed by Greater Manchester 

Permanent local 
discounts

Description Rationale Further Information

PHVs (owned 
or exclusively 
contracted by 
one person) 
licensed to one 
of the 10 GM 
Local Authorities 
and also used as 
a private car

Owners or registered 
keepers of non-
compliant PHVs 
which are also used 
as a private car will be 
eligible to apply for 
a discounted charge 
of 5/7 of the weekly 
total (proposed to 
be £37.50 per week) 
from 2022.

This responds 
to previous 
feedback from the 
"conversation" in 2019 
which highlighted 
the large proportion 
of PHVs that are also 
used as a private car 
when not in service, 
and private cars will 
not be subject to 
charges under the GM 
CAZ.

The discounted 
charge is based upon 
the proportion of the 
week that vehicles 
could reasonably be 
expected to be in 
service. 

Owners or registered 
keepers of non-
compliant PHVs, 
licensed to one of 
the 10 GM Local 
Authorities, which are 
also used as a private 
car will need to apply 
for this discount.

LCV 1
PHV 1 PV0001

28 29Greater Manchester Clean Air Plan – Consultation Document

P
age 109



Permanent local 
discounts

Description Rationale Further Information

Leisure vehicles 
in private 
ownership 
(>3.5t)

Owners or registered 
keepers of leisure 
vehicles (>3.5t) in 
private ownership 
(e.g. motor caravan 
(>3.5t), motorised 
horse box (>3.5t)), 
and registered to an 
address in GM for 
not less than 12 full 
consecutive calendar 
months prior to the 
date of application, 
will be eligible to 
apply for a discounted 
charge. 

The vehicle would 
be eligible for 
consideration for a 
charge equivalent to 
the van daily charge 
(proposed to be £10 
a day), rather than 
the HGV daily charge 
(proposed to be £60 
a day). 

The discount will be 
subject to providing 
evidence that the 
vehicle is not used for 
commercial purposes.

A small proportion 
of HGVs will be in 
private ownership, 
largely used for leisure 
purposes, e.g. motor 
caravans (>3.5t) and 
motorised horseboxes 
(>3.5t). This group 
of vehicles includes 
a range of specialist 
and/or adapted 
vehicles, which are 
often bought second 
or third hand where it 
may generally not be 
feasible to upgrade 
to a vehicle compliant 
with the emission 
standards of the GM 
CAZ.

This approach 
recognises feedback 
received during 
the "Clean Air 
Conversation".

Owners or registered 
keepers of leisure 
vehicles in private 
ownership which have 
a gross weight above 
3,500kg will need to 
apply for this discount.

Q6: To what extent do you agree or disagree with the permanent 
local discounts proposed by Greater Manchester?

Q6a: Why do you say this? 

5.1 Summary of funding. 

Greater Manchester is requesting a package of funding from 
Government totaling over £150m to support owners or registered 
keepers of non-compliant vehicles with the cost of upgrading their 
vehicles. This is so they are compliant with the emission standards 
required by the implementation of a GM CAZ, so as not to be subject 
to a charge. Of the total request, so far £41m has been confirmed by 
Government and further awards are anticipated.

This funding aims to mitigate negative social and economic effects on 
businesses and individuals most affected by the GM CAZ. The funding 
proposals are:

• A Clean Commercial Fund to provide financial support for the 
upgrade of non-compliant vans and HGVs, minibuses and coaches, 
which will be targeted to support smaller local businesses, sole 
traders, individuals and the charity/voluntary sector. 

• A Clean Taxi Fund to provide financial support for the upgrade of 
non-compliant hackney carriages and private hire vehicles licensed 
with the Greater Manchester Authorities. 

• A Clean Bus Fund to provide financial support for the upgrade of 
non-compliant buses registered to run services across GM.

• A Hardship Fund to support individuals, companies and 
organisations who are considered to be the most vulnerable to the 
potential negative economic impacts of the GM CAZ.

This means that owners or registered keepers of non-compliant vehicles 
that would be subject to the GM CAZ charges may be eligible to apply 
for financial support towards upgrading to a compliant vehicle (subject 
to meeting eligibility criteria and state aid restrictions).

5 Funding to upgrade to  
 compliant vehicles

What is state aid? 

State aid is any advantage granted by public authorities through 
state resources on a selective basis to any organisation that 
could potentially distort competition and trade in the  
European Union (EU)14

££££

14 gov.uk/guidance/state-aid

30 31Greater Manchester Clean Air Plan – Consultation Document

P
age 110



A breakdown of the total funding ask of Government per measure, and 
the current funding position, can be seen in Table 6 below:

Table 6: Summary of funding by measure

GM is proposing that financial support is:

• Only offered for vehicles that do not comply with the relevant GM 
CAZ emission standards and are not eligible for a permanent national 
or local exemption;

• Provided for the replacement of a non-compliant vehicle with a 
compliant vehicle on a "like-for-like" basis – i.e. financial support will 
not be available to facilitate upgrade of a non-compliant vehicle to 
a compliant vehicle of a different vehicle type (e.g. van to HGV) or 
Euro Category (e.g. N1 to N2) (see Appendix 1, Table A1 for details of 
vehicle types and Euro Categories);

• Facilitated directly with accredited suppliers of retrofit and 
replacement upgrade options, to ensure maintenance of a 
comprehensive audit trail, accountability for public funding and to 
reduce the risk of fraudulent activity and misappropriation of funds15; 

• With the exception of the Clean Bus Fund, limited to a maximum 
of 10 vehicles per applicant, with a maximum of eight vehicles for 
hackney carriages and five vehicles for HGV retrofit;

• Managed and administered centrally on behalf of the 10 GM 
authorities; and

• Only available insofar as it complies with UK government and 
European requirements, including but not limited to, State Aid 
Regulations16.

Vehicle Total ask  
(excl. Delivery Costs)  

Funding position  
(incl. Delivery Costs)

Clean Bus Fund c.£30m £15.4 funded (retrofits)

Clean Commercial Vehicle 
Fund

c.£98m £14.7m funded

Clean Taxi Fund c.£28m £10.7m funded

Total c.£156m £41m funded

15 The exceptions to this are the Clean Bus Fund and running cost grants under the Clean Taxi Fund. 
16 The UK has left the EU and is now in a transition period, while the UK and EU negotiate additional arrangements before new 
rules come into place from 1 January 2021. The current rules on State Aid continue to apply during the transition period. The 
final GM CAP policy will need to comply with any government state aid rules or subsidy control frameworks that are in place.

TA XI

CAB 1
HV0001

5.2 Vehicle finance
In Greater Manchester’s Outline Business Case, it was proposed that a 
scheme to offer loans at preferential rates for those taking advantage of 
the Clean Air funds would be investigated.

Feedback received as part of the "conversation" in 2019 indicated that 
vehicle finance is needed to help some owners upgrade their vehicle.

The Vehicle Finance measure has been developed to support 
individuals, companies and organisations to upgrade to a compliant 
vehicle. 

It will provide access to affordable finance (from a GM appointed panel 
of finance providers) for eligible applicants who require assistance in 
funding the cost of upgrading to a compliant HGV, van, coach, minibus, 
GM-licensed hackney carriage or GM-licensed private hire vehicle. It has 
been designed to address some of the potential reasons that finance 
might typically be refused, including:

• Affordability – the ability or otherwise of applicants to meet finance 
re-payments.

• Thin credit file – applicants not having enough information in their 
credit reports to generate a high enough credit score to be approved 
for credit.

PCV 2
PCV 1

32 33Greater Manchester Clean Air Plan – Consultation Document

P
age 111



Vehicle Finance will work alongside the Clean Commercial Vehicle Fund 
and Clean Taxi Fund to offer eligible owners of a non-compliant vehicle 
the option of either a lump sum grant or a finance contribution towards 
vehicle finance for upgrade to a compliant vehicle. Applicants will 
therefore be able to choose the option which best suits their individual 
circumstances. These options are as follows:

• Lump sum grant contributing to the cost of replacement or retrofit 
– the applicant funds the remaining costs with their own capital or 
financing arrangements; or

• Vehicle Finance contributing to the cost of financing a replacement 
vehicle through the GM scheme, through either a lease or Hire 
Purchase – the applicant pays monthly for an agreed finance period.

All financial support set out in the following sections includes a 
proposed amount of grant funding and an alternative figure, available 
as a contribution towards vehicle finance. Eligibility criteria for both of 
these options is detailed in the Clean Commercial Vehicle Fund and 
Clean Taxi Fund sections.

In addition to meeting the eligibility criteria those seeking vehicle 
finance will need to:

• Hold a UK bank account in the name of the applicant or business 

• Consent to the Lending Body carrying out credit reference searches 
on their credit history

• Require a 10% deposit contribution (cash or vehicle trade-in value)

• Note that lending decisions will rest with a GM appointed panel of 
finance providers, and

• Recognise that whilst they may be eligible for a non-repayable grant 
through Clean Air Funds, they may not be able to secure a vehicle 
finance agreement due to their individual circumstances. 

LCV 1 ICE 99

5.3 Proposed support at a glance

Proposed support for those eligible 
and have a non-compliant bus which is 
used on a registered bus service in GM.

Grant of up to £16,000 per vehicle for 
replacement or retrofit.

Bus operators will not be offered 
access to the vehicle finance scheme.

No proposed cap on number of 
vehicles per applicant.

Proposed support for 
those eligible with a non-
compliant van.

Applies to these four 
vehicle types17

A grant of £3,500 per 
vehicle for replacement or 
vehicle finance contribution.

Limit of 10 vehicles per 
applicant.

Proposed support for 
those eligible with a non-
compliant coach.

Applies to these four 
vehicle types17

Grant of up to £16,000 per 
vehicle for replacement or 
retrofit or vehicle finance 
contribution.

Limit of 10 vehicles per 
applicant.

Proposed support for those 
eligible and have a non-
compliant minibus.

Applies to these four 
vehicle types17

A grant of up to £5,000 
for replacement or vehicle 
finance contribution for 
replacement of minibuses 
(which are not licensed 
taxis or PHVs or used on  
a registered bus service  
in GM). 

Limit of 10 vehicles per 
applicant.

BusesBUS 2

192

Hackney 
carriages

TA XI

CAB 1
HV0001

Private hire 
vehicles

PHV 1 PV0001

Heavy Goods 
VehiclesLGV 1

Light Goods 
Vehicles (vans)LGV 2 CoachesPCV 2 Minibuses

PCV 1

Proposed support for 
those eligible with a non-
complaint HGV

Applies to these four 
vehicle types17

A grant of up to £5,500 per 
vehicle for replacement or 
vehicle finance contribution. 
Limit of 10 vehicles per 
applicant. 

A grant of up to £16,000 per 
vehicle for retrofit. Limit of 
five vehicles per applicant.

Proposed support for those eligible 
with a non-compliant hackney carriage 
licensed with the Greater Manchester 
Authorities.

£10,000 per vehicle for a running 
costs grant or a contribution for 
vehicle finance, for a replacement 
zero emissions capable wheelchair 
accessible vehicle.

£5,000 grant towards an LPG retrofit.

There is also a UK government grant 
available of up to £7,500 for purchasing 
a new zero emissions capable vehicle.

Limit of 8 vehicles per applicant.

17 Available for vehicles registered in GM, small and micro businesses, sole traders, charities and 
social enterprises, private owners, initially targeted towards individuals and the smallest businesses 
with the oldest vehicles..

Greater Manchester is requesting a package of 
funding from Government totalling over £150m 
to support owners or registered keepers of non-
compliant vehicles with the cost of upgrading to 
vehicles that don’t incur a charge. Of the total 

request, so far £41m has been confirmed by 
Government and further awards are anticipated.

This funding aims to mitigate negative social and 
economic effects on businesses and individuals most 
affected by the GM CAZ. 

Proposed support for those eligible 
with a non-compliant private hire 
vehicle licensed with the Greater 
Manchester Authorities.

£1,000 grant or vehicle finance 
contribution towards replacement to a 
compliant petrol or diesel vehicle

£2,000 grant or vehicle finance 
contribution towards replacement to a 
hybrid or plug-in hybrid

£2,500 running costs grant for 
replacement with a zero emissions 
capable vehicle.

£5,000 grant or vehicle finance 
contribution towards replacement of a 
minibus or WAV.

Limit of 10 vehicles per applicant.

or

or

or

or

or

34 35Greater Manchester Clean Air Plan – Consultation Document

P
age 112



5.4 Funding to support bus operators – 
 Clean Bus Fund
Retrofit 

In the Outline Business Case (OBC), Greater Manchester set out that 
the Clean Bus Fund would provide financial support to, where possible, 
retrofit buses which have an older engine than Euro VI. This funding 
would apply to buses registered to run services across across GM. 

In March 2020, Government awarded £14.7m initial funding to retrofit 
buses running services in GM that have older engines which are not 
compliant with the GM CAZ emission standards. Government has 
confirmed that this funding for bus retrofit should be awarded as soon 
as possible and so consultation feedback is not being sought on this 
aspect of the fund. 

This means that a grant of up to £16,000 towards retrofit to a compliant 
standard via a Clean Vehicle Retrofit Accreditation Scheme (CVRAS) 
certified system will be available. Financial support will be available to 
vehicles less than 13-years old that have operated for a minimum of six 
months on a GM-registered bus service. 

Replacement

In the OBC, GM estimated 350 buses could not be retrofitted, and 
it would be for the owners of those vehicles to find a solution. This 
estimate has now been revised, based on further evidence, and it has 
been established that there are more than 500 non-compliant buses 
that cannot be retrofitted operating in GM. GM is requesting c.£9m of 
funding from Government to support the replacement of non-compliant 
vehicles operating on registered bus services in GM. 

Using this funding, GM proposes that a grant of up to £16,000 will be 
available towards the cost of replacing a non-compliant bus registered 
to run services across GM with a compliant vehicle which meets GM 
CAZ emission standards.

Eligibility

Applicants would need to be able to demonstrate that: 

• They are the registered operator for a registered bus service 
operating in Greater Manchester;

• They have not been in receipt of, or be subject to a current 
application for, public sector clean air funding in GM or elsewhere 
in the United Kingdom for upgrade (retrofit or replacement) of the 
same vehicle(s) that is to be upgraded through the GM Clean Bus 
Fund;

• They have been operating on a registered bus service, within GM, for 
not less than 12 full consecutive calendar months prior to the date of 
application; 

• The vehicle has been registered to the applicant for not less than 
12 consecutive calendar months prior to the date of application, 
evidenced through the V5C Registration Document;

• The vehicle has a valid MOT, road tax and suitable insurance to 
operate a bus passenger service at the date of application; 

• The upgraded vehicle will be compliant with the GM CAZ emission 
standards as a minimum; and

• The upgraded vehicle will continue to operate on a registered bus 
service within GM for a minimum of five years following receipt of 
funding. If it is replaced or taken out of service in GM it must be 
replaced by a vehicle which meets the same emissions standard and 
passenger capacity, or better, e.g. a compliant double decker bus 
must be replaced with another compliant double decker bus, and 
must be of the same age or younger.

Management of funds

If the fund is oversubscribed by the deadline, it is proposed that, in 
addition to applicants meeting the eligibility criteria, an additional 
process could be applied that seeks to prioritise air quality benefits, i.e. 
funding could initially be targeted towards the upgrade of the oldest 
vehicles first.

Greater Manchester’s Zero Emission  
Bus Fleet Ambition
Greater Manchester is developing proposals to deliver its strategic 
objective of a zero-emission bus fleet. In its March 2020 budget, 
Government announced £5bn worth of funding for buses and 
cycling. Greater Manchester is looking to secure additional funding 
from this pot to help deliver this ambition. 

36 37Greater Manchester Clean Air Plan – Consultation Document

P
age 113



Q7: Do you have any comments on the proposed Clean Bus Fund? 
(e.g. eligibility criteria, funding amounts)  

Q7a: Do you believe you are eligible to access this fund?
Q7b: Would the proposed fund meet your needs e.g. support you to 

upgrade your vehicle(s)? if not, why not? 
Q7c: Do you have any comments about the proposed management 

of the funds? (e.g. if over-subscribed the oldest vehicles could 
be targeted first) 

BUS 2 42

BUS 2

192

5.5 Funding to support HGVs, vans, minibuses 
and coaches – the Clean Commercial Vehicle Fund

Greater Manchester has asked Government for £98m for the Clean 
Commercial Vehicle Fund (CCVF), to provide financial support for 
the upgrade of vans and HGVs, minibuses and coaches, which will 
be targeted to support smaller local businesses, sole traders and the 
voluntary sector.

HGVs

In March 2020, the Government awarded GM £7.6m as an initial tranche 
of funding towards the upgrade of HGVs, for retrofitting vehicles 
currently in use so that they subsequently meet the GM CAZ emission 
standards, or replacing non-compliant vehicles with compliant vehicles. 
Funding will be available to both commercial and private owners or 
registered keepers of non-compliant HGVs.

Retrofit

GM is proposing that a grant of up to £16,000 towards retrofit to a 
compliant standard via a Clean Vehicle Retrofit Accreditation Scheme 
(CVRAS) certified system will be available.

Replacement

Alternatively, a replacement grant will be available. Dependent on 
vehicle size, the following funding amounts are proposed: 

• 44t articulated up to £4,500 per vehicle

• 32t rigid up to £5,500 per vehicle

• 26t up to £4,500 per vehicle

• 18t up to £3,500 per vehicle

• <7.5t up to £2,500 per vehicle

Vehicle finance

Access to the Vehicle Finance offer will be available for replacement 
of non-compliant vehicles, offering an average finance contribution of 
£5,500 with the finance contribution per vehicle capped at £8,000. 
For more information about the Vehicle Finance measure, please see 
section 5.2.

LGV 1

38 39Greater Manchester Clean Air Plan – Consultation Document

P
age 114



Vans

GM is proposing that Government provides £80m of funding to support 
GM businesses and organisations to replace non-compliant vans with 
vehicles that meet the GM CAZ emission standards.

Retrofit

Subject to the award of Government funding to GM, it is proposed that 
a replacement grant of up to £3,500 per vehicle will be available.

Vehicle finance

Alternatively, access to the Vehicle Finance offer will be available for 
replacement of non-compliant vehicles, offering an average finance 
contribution of £3,500, with the finance contribution per vehicle 
capped at £5,000. For more information about the Vehicle Finance 
measure, please see section 5.2.

Minibuses

(which are not a GM-licensed taxi or PHV or used on a GM-registered 
bus service)

In March 2020, Government awarded £2m as an initial tranche of 
funding towards replacing non-compliant vehicles with those that meet 
the GM CAZ emission standards.

Replacement

GM is proposing that a replacement grant of up to £5,000 per vehicle 
will be available.

Vehicle finance

Access to the Vehicle Finance offer will be available for replacement 
of non-compliant vehicles, offering an average finance contribution of 
£5,000, with the finance contribution per vehicle capped at £7,000. 
For more information about the Vehicle Finance measure, please see 
section 5.2.

PCV 2

Coaches and Buses 

(which are not used on a GM-registered bus service)

In March 2020, Government awarded £4.4m as an initial tranche of 
funding towards the upgrade of coaches, by either retrofitting vehicles 
currently in use so that they subsequently meet the GM CAZ emission 
standards, or replacing non-compliant vehicles with compliant vehicles.

Retrofit

GM is proposing that a grant of up to £16,000 towards retrofit to a 
compliant standard via a Clean Vehicle Retrofit Accreditation Scheme 
(CVRAS) certified system will be available.

Replacement

Alternatively, a replacement grant of up to £16,000 per vehicle will be 
available.

Vehicle finance

Access to the Vehicle Finance will be available for replacement of non-
compliant vehicles, offering an average finance contribution of £16,000, 
with the finance contribution per vehicle capped at £23,000. For more 
information about the Vehicle Finance measure, please see section 5.2.

BUS 2

192

LGV 2
PCV 2

PCV 1

40 41Greater Manchester Clean Air Plan – Consultation Document

P
age 115



Eligibility

Applicants for the CCVF would need to be able to demonstrate that 
they are:

• A small business 

• A micro business/entity

• Self-employed/sole trader

• An entity regulated by the Charity Commission (including registered, 
active charities and active charities exempted from registration)

• A social enterprise (including non-profit organisations), or

• A private owner (owner or registered keeper) of non-compliant 
vehicles which are not used for commercial purposes.

They must also demonstrate that:

• They have had a registered address within GM for not less than 12 full 
consecutive calendar months prior to the date of application

• They have not already been in receipt of Government clean air 
funding for the purpose of upgrade of the same non-compliant 
vehicle that is the subject of the application, in GM or elsewhere in 
the United Kingdom

• They are not in receipt of, or have made a successful application for, 
an Office of Low Emission Vehicle (OLEV) grant for the acquisition 
of the same compliant vehicle that is the subject of the GM CCVF 
application 

PCV 2

• They have not received and do not expect to receive more than 
200,000 Euros (or equivalent) of state aid from any source over 
a period of three fiscal years, if seeking funding support for the 
upgrade of a non-Road Freight Transport vehicle18. This figure is 
inclusive of any discounts, exemptions, grants or Vehicle Finance 
secured through the GM CAP or any other funding source, including 
the grant applied for.

• The non-compliant vehicle must be registered to the Applicant, 
or an authorised employee, director or trustee of the Applicant/
organisation, for not less than 12 consecutive calendar months prior 
to the date of application, evidenced through the V5C Registration 
Document provided with the application 

• The non-compliant vehicle must have been registered to an address 
in GM for not less than 12 consecutive calendar months prior to 
the date of application, evidenced through the V5C Registration 
Document provided with the application 

• The non-compliant vehicle has a valid MOT (or annual test)19, road 
tax and insurance, as appropriate for the vehicle use/organisation,  
at the date of application 

• The non-compliant vehicle will be replaced by a compliant vehicle, 
or upgraded via a Clean Vehicle Retrofit Accreditation Scheme 
(CVRAS) certified emission reduction system, to meet GM CAZ 
emission standards 

• Where in private ownership, the vehicle must not be used for 
commercial purposes

• The business/organisation/trader/private owner will continue to have 
a base location in GM for not less than 12 full consecutive calendar 
months following receipt of funding.

BUS 2

237 BUS 2 85

18 This category includes all HGVs and LGVs which are used for the purposes of performing road freight transport for hire or reward. 
19 An annual test (MOT) applies for a lorry, bus or trailer. Further information is available at:  

gov.uk/getting-an-mot/vehiclesexempt-from-mot 

PCV 2

42 43Greater Manchester Clean Air Plan – Consultation Document

P
age 116

http://gov.uk/getting-an-mot/vehiclesexempt-from-mot


Management of Funds

It is proposed that financial support subject to available funds will 
be available through sequential funding rounds. These would target 
funding towards individuals and the smallest businesses within GM, 
and would be initially directed towards those who are likely to be most 
economically vulnerable to the impacts of the GM CAZ. The proposed 
funding rounds are set out below:

• An initial round of funding will be open to eligible owners or 
registered keepers of a non-compliant vehicle of Euro VI standard or 
older, with the exception of small businesses

• A second round of funding would be open to eligible owners or 
registered keepers of a non-compliant vehicle, with the exception of 
small businesses

• Subject to available funds, a third round of funding would be open 
to eligible owners or registered keepers of a non-compliant vehicle, 
including small businesses.

Q8: Do you have any comments on the proposed Clean Commercial 
Vehicle Fund? 

Q8a: Do you believe you are eligible to access this fund?
Q8b: Would the proposed fund meet your needs e.g. support you to 

upgrade your vehicle(s)? If not - why not?  
Q8c: Do you have any comments about the proposed management 

of the funds? (e.g. financial support could be available for the 
smallest businesses)

5.6 Funding to support hackney carriages  
and private hire vehicles – Clean Taxi Fund

The Clean Taxi Fund will provide a financial mechanism to support the 
upgrade of non-compliant hackney carriages and private hire vehicles 
(PHVs) licensed with the Greater Manchester Authorities.

Hackney carriages

GM is requesting £10.4m funding from Government towards the 
replacement or retrofit of non-compliant hackney carriages. 

Using this funding, it is proposed that the following grants would  
be available: 

• A grant of up to £10,000 will be available towards the running costs 
of a purpose-built wheelchair accessible zero emissions capable 
vehicle (ZEC), or 

• Access to vehicle finance towards the cost of upgrade to a purpose-
built wheelchair accessible ZEC vehicle, offering an average finance 
contribution of £10,000, with the total finance contribution capped 
at £14,000, or 

• A grant of £5,000 towards the LPG retrofit of a Euro 5 vehicle less 
than ten years old will also be available.

Additional  
Government Funding 

In addition to the proposed funding 
under GM CAP, Government also have 
funding of up to £7,500 available for 
those looking to purchase a new ZEC 
hackney carriage. This is available in 
addition to the GM CAP funding.  
For more information, visit  
gov.uk/plug-in-car-van-grants 

BUS 2

330

PCV 2

44 45Greater Manchester Clean Air Plan – Consultation Document

P
age 117



21 Which is not eligible/supported by an Office for Low Emission Vehicles (OLEV) Plug-In Grant. gov.uk/plug-in-car-van-grants 
22 Which is eligible/supported by an Office for Low Emission Vehicles (OLEV) plug-in grant. gov.uk/plug-in-car-van-grants

Private hire vehicles 

In March 2020, Government awarded £10.2m as an initial tranche of 
funding towards replacing non-compliant vehicles with compliant 
alternatives to meet the GM CAZ emission standards.

The following grants will be available to apply for:

Private hire wheelchair accessible vehicle or minibus

• A grant of £5,000 towards the cost of a compliant 6+ seater vehicle,  

• OR access to vehicle finance, offering an average finance 
contribution of £5,000, with the finance contribution per vehicle 
capped at £7,000.

Non-wheelchair accessible private hire vehicle:

• A grant of £1,000 towards the cost of a compliant internal 
combustion engine vehicle OR access to vehicle finance, offering an 
average finance contribution of £1,000, with the finance contribution 
per vehicle capped at £2,000.

• OR a grant of £2,000 towards the cost of a compliant hybrid or  
plug-in hybrid21 

• OR access to vehicle finance, offering an average finance 
contribution of £2,000, with the finance contribution per vehicle 
capped at £3,000.

• OR a grant of £2,500 towards the running costs of a ZEC vehicle22

Additional  
Government Funding 

In addition to the proposed funding 
under GM CAP, Government also have 
funding of up to £3,000 available for 
those looking to purchase a new ZEC 
private hire vehicle. This is available in 
addition to the GM CAP funding.

For more information, visit  
gov.uk/plug-in-car-van-grants  

20 The deliberative research findings can be found at cleanairgm.com/technical-documents

TA XI

CAB 1
HV0001

PHV 1 PV0001

Try Before you Buy hackney scheme 

The Greater Manchester Clean Air 
Plan and the proposed GM MLS will 
require hackney carriages to meet 
stricter emissions standards. This 
means a significant proportion of 
the trade will need to upgrade their 
vehicles to meet these emissions 
standards to avoid a charge. The GM 
Five-Year Environment Plan sets out 
the ambition for GM to be carbon 
neutral by 2038, an objective that will 
be supported by the uptake of ZEC 
vehicles.

Research has been done with the 
trade to explore their thoughts and 
expectations with these ambitions20.

To tackle the barriers to switching 
to electric vehicles, GM is proposing 
a "Try Before You Buy" initiative for 
GM-licensed hackney carriage drivers.  
The opportunity to hire and assess 
the vehicle before making an 
investment should help to address 
identified uncertainties about 
operating costs, range anxiety and 
availability of charging infrastructure.

The GM scheme would aim to 
encourage a 40% conversion rate of 
those taking up the trial.

46 47Greater Manchester Clean Air Plan – Consultation Document

P
age 118

gov.uk/plug-in-car-van-grants
http://gov.uk/plug-in-car-van-grants
http://cleanairgm.com/technical-documents


Eligibility

Applicants for the Clean Taxi Fund would need to be able to 
demonstrate that:

• They have been trading and operating as a licensed hackney carriage 
or private hire driver or operator with one of the 10 Local Authorities 
in GM for not less than 12 uninterrupted consecutive calendar months 
prior to the date of application; 

• They are the owner or registered keeper of a non-compliant vehicle 
which is and has been licensed for the purposes of hackney carriage 
or private hire services with one of the 10 Local Authorities in GM for 
not less than 12 uninterrupted consecutive calendar months prior to 
the date of application; 

• The non-compliant vehicle to be upgraded has been registered to 
the applicant for not less than 12 uninterrupted consecutive calendar 
months prior to the date of application, evidenced through the V5C 
Registration Document provided with the application;

• The non-compliant vehicle will be replaced by a compliant vehicle, 
or upgraded via a Clean Vehicle Retrofit Accreditation Scheme 
(CVRAS) approved emission reduction system, to meet GM CAZ 
emission standards;

• The non-compliant vehicle has current road tax and business 
insurance at the date of application, with evidence of such provided 
with the application;

• They will declare that they will remain licensed with one of the 10 GM 
Local Authorities for the purpose of performing hackney carriage or 
private hire duties within GM for two years following the receipt of 
funding; and

• They have not received and do not expect to receive more than 
200,000 Euros (or equivalent) of state aid from any source over 
a period of three fiscal years, if seeking funding support for the 
upgrade of a non-Road Freight Transport vehicle. This figure is 
inclusive of any discounts, exemptions, grants or Vehicle Finance 
secured through the GM CAP or any other funding source, including 
the grant applied for. 

PCV 1

Management of Funds

It is proposed that funding will be offered on a first-come-first-served 
basis, once an applicant has evidenced that the eligibility criteria  
are met.

Q9a: Do you have any comments on the proposed funds for hackney carriages?
Q9b: Do you have any comments on the proposed funds for private hire vehicles? 
Q9c: Do you have any comments on the "Try Before You Buy" initiative? 
Q9d: Do you believe you are eligible to access either of these funds? 
Q9e: Would the proposed funds / "try before you buy" meet your needs e.g. 

support you to upgrade your vehicle(s)? If not - why not?
Q9f: Do you have any comments about the proposed management of funds? (e.g. 

offered on a first-come-first basis once an applicant has evidenced that the 
eligibility criteria are met) 

Electric vehicle charging infrastructure for 
hackney carriages and private hire vehicles 

Research has shown taxi drivers 
are concerned about the ability 
to charge electric vehicles during 
shifts. Dedicated electric vehicle 
infrastructure will be key in 
supporting the transition to ZEC taxis. 

GM is proposing a £6.5m network 
of 40 taxi-only rapid electric 
vehicle charging points tailored to 
locations to support ZEC taxis to 
operate across GM. This measure 

is complementary to the financial 
support offered through the Clean 
Taxi Fund, for a running-costs grant 
for those who upgrade from a non-
compliant vehicle to a ZEC vehicle. 

This is in addition to £2.4m already 
in place to deliver 30 rapid chargers, 
targeted in areas suitable for the taxi 
trade across Greater Manchester.

48 49Greater Manchester Clean Air Plan – Consultation Document

P
age 119



5.7 Hardship fund

Vehicle Finance

Now that you have had chance to consider the vehicle finance offer 
available for eligible applicants, please consider the following questions:

Q10a: Do you have any comments on the proposed Vehicle Finance 
Offer (see section 5.2 for more information) 

Q10b: To what extent do you agree or disagree that the proposed 
vehicle finance offer would meet your needs e.g. support you to 
upgrade your vehicle(s)?

Q10c: Why do you say this? 

Since submission of the OBC and following the feedback received as 
part of the "conversation" in 2019, GM considers that it is individuals 
and the smallest businesses who will be most economically affected by 
the GM CAZ charge, and that the proposed amount of grant funding to 
help upgrade to a compliant vehicle may not be enough to adequately 
mitigate the potential adverse economic impacts. 

GM is proposing a Hardship Fund of at least £10m to support 
individuals, companies and organisations who are assessed to be most 
economically vulnerable to the CAZ charge.

GM is currently considering the scope and scale of support required. 
This assessment is also being considered in light of the impact of the 
COVID-19 pandemic. It is possible that the groups affected by the GM 
CAP may require different levels of financial assistance than had been 
assessed at the time of the submission of the OBC to Government.

GM knows that the transport sector has already been affected by the 
pandemic, and Government policies to stem its spread. The sector’s 
ability to recover from revenue loss, while also being expected to 
respond to pre-pandemic clean air policy priorities by upgrading to a 
cleaner fleet, will clearly require further assessment and consideration. 
Therefore, the consultation is asking questions about the impact of 
COVID-19 to provide information for a technical briefing note to be 
submitted to Government to assist in determining the amount of 
hardship funding to be made available.

Q11a: Do you support a hardship fund? Why do you say this? 
Q11b: If you are impacted by the proposed clean air zone daily 

charges, is there any additional support that you would need?

Minimum Licensing Standards 

In the longer term, there is an 
ambition to move towards a ZEC fleet 
for hackney carriages and private 
hire vehicles. This is driven by the GM 
Five-Year Environment Plan, through 
which GM aims to be carbon neutral 
by 2038. To achieve this target, there 
needs to be a shift to ZEC vehicles 
over the next decade.

To invest in ZEC vehicles, taxi and 
private hire vehicle owners require 
long-term confidence in the local 
policy landscape, including future 
interventions and supporting 
infrastructure. The following dates for 
ZEC adoption are therefore proposed 
as part of the Greater Manchester 
Minimum Licensing Standards 
consultation.

• From 2025 all new to license 
vehicles would need to be ZEC; 
and

• From 2028 all vehicles would need 
to be ZEC, meaning an entirely 
zero emission hackney/private hire 
fleet across Greater Manchester by 
2029.

There is significant overlap between 
the Greater Manchester Clean Air Plan 
proposals and the proposed Greater 
Manchester Minimum Licensing 
Standards for hackney carriages 
and private hire vehicles, namely 
with regard to emissions standards. 
Therefore, these two consultations are 
running at the same time to ensure 
that charging, funding and licensing 
policy positions are joined-up. You 
can find more information about the 
proposals for Minimum Licensing 
Standards at gmtaxistandards.com

50 51Greater Manchester Clean Air Plan – Consultation Document

P
age 120



5.8 Fraudulent activity and misappropriation

GM is proposing that if an applicant is found to have abused the 
application process for the funds, vehicle finance, discounts or 
exemptions (e.g. falsified information), such that there is a risk of 
misappropriation, the right is reserved to terminate applications for 
funding or take enforcement action to recover awarded grants where 
information provided is not truthful or accurate.

Furthermore, any applicants found to have abused the application 
process or made a fraudulent application will not be eligible for any 
existing GM CAZ exemptions, discounts or financial support and GM will 
refer the matter to the relevant authorities where applicable.

6.1 Overall Clean Air Plan impacts

Modelling shows that the current proposals would achieve the required 
reduction in NO2 levels in the shortest possible time, in the most cost-
effective way, while minimising the wider impacts on the people and 
economy of Greater Manchester.23

Q12: To what extent do you agree or disagree that air quality needs 
to be improved in Greater Manchester?

Q13: Having read through the proposals, how confident are you 
that the Greater Manchester Clean Air Plan will bring roadside 
nitrogen dioxide (NO2) levels within legal limits "in the shortest 
possible time and by 2024 at the latest"? 

Q13a: Do you have any other comments on the proposals for the 
Clean Air Plan as set out in the consultation document?

Q14: Taking into account both the Clean Air Zone and the support 
offered, what would be the likely impact on you/your business/
your organisation? 

6.2 COVID-19 impact

It was originally thought that the statutory consultation on the Clean 
Air Zone and the wider proposals would take place earlier in 2020. 
However, due to the COVID-19 pandemic and the resulting national 
lockdown, plans to consult were paused. Government has now asked 
Greater Manchester to continue to progress the Clean Air Plan, and 
to continue with the consultation, based on proposals developed 
before the COVID-19 pandemic. Government has also asked that an 
assessment of the possible impacts of the pandemic on the proposals is 
undertaken to inform decision-makers in the GM local authorities.

GM is aware that businesses have been impacted by the pandemic, 
and Government policies to stem the spread of the virus and continue 
to be impacted. Their ability, particularly of the transport sector, to 
recover from revenue loss, while also being expected to respond to 
pre-pandemic clean air policy priorities by upgrading to a cleaner 
fleet, may require further assessment and consideration. Therefore, 
the consultation is asking questions about the impact of COVID-19 to 
inform decisions on the nature and requirements for additional support 
for those most vulnerable to the Clean Air Zone charge.

6 Impacts and overall opinion

23 GM CAP Data, Evidence and Modelling – Consultation Summary Report

52 53Greater Manchester Clean Air Plan – Consultation Document

P
age 121



Q15a: Which of the following best reflects your trading status as a 
result of the COVID-19 pandemic?:

 • Have continued trading throughout
 • Currently trading, having temporarily paused – but have  

 resumed trading during the pandemic 
 • Paused trading 
 • Permanently ceased trading
 • Other, please state 
Q15b: Have you or your business received any of the following as a 

result of the COVID-19 pandemic?:
 Please select all that apply
 • Coronavirus job retention scheme (aka Furlough) 
 • Government-backed accredited loans or finance agreements  

 (aka CBIL / BBLS)
 • Business grants funded by the UK and devolved governments
 • Self-employment income support scheme 
 • Other government support
 • Other loans / grants (please specify) 
 • Not applied for any of these schemes 
Q15c: To what extent has the COVID-19 pandemic affected the 

following aspects of your business?
 • Level of debt 
 • Reserves / Savings 
 • Turnover
 • Profitability 
Q15d: Please tell us about how the COVID-19 pandemic has affected 

your ability to meet the proposals outlined within the 
consultation document.

7.1 Equality impact assessment

Under equality legislation, there is a requirement to have due regard for 
the need to:

• Eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment and victimisation 

• Advance equality of opportunity between persons who share a 
relevant protected characteristic, and persons who do not share it

• Foster good relations between those who have a relevant protected 
characteristic and those who don’t.

"Relevant protected characteristics" are age; disability; gender 
reassignment; pregnancy and maternity; race; religion or belief; sex and 
sexual orientation.

The draft analysis of potential impacts of the Clean Air Plan proposals is 
set out in the document "Equality Impact Analysis" which is part of the 
suite of documents available to consultees.

It concludes that the Clean Air Plan proposals would have a high 
positive impact on children and young people, older people, people 
from a variety of ethnic backgrounds and pregnant women. It also 
concludes that there would be a medium adverse impact on men due 
to the predominance of males working as taxi drivers and bus drivers.

Q16: The Equality Impact Assessment identifies the potential impact 
on the Clean Air Plan proposals on persons with protected 
characteristics. Do you have any comments on it?

7 Equalities

PCV 1

54 55Greater Manchester Clean Air Plan – Consultation Document

P
age 122



8.1 Who can take part?

Anyone can get involved to share their views on the proposals to 
remove all concentrations of NO2 that have been forecast to be above 
legal limits and to make Greater Manchester’s air cleaner and healthier  
for everyone.

8.2 Where can I get more information?

The questionnaire is available on cleanairgm.com, where you can 
also find supporting documents to give you more detailed, technical 
information on the proposals and sign up for any future updates.

You can also request hard copies of the consultation document, 
questionnaire and suppoting materials by calling 0161 244 1100.

8.3 How do I respond?

You can have your say on the proposals by going to cleanairgm.com to 
answer the questions in the online questionnaire.

Alternatively you can:

• Email your feedback to cleanairgm@aecom.com

• Give your feedback via telephone on 0161 244 1100  
(you will be forwarded through to our independent research 
organisation AECOM to submit your response).

• Write/send a completed questionnaire to

 Freepost RUBS-XRAT-GLBK,  
AECOM, 1 New York Street,  
MANCHESTER, M1 4HD

All responses will go to AECOM – the independent agency who are 
managing and analysing the responses.

For further information or to request paper copies of the consultation 
document and questionnaire, please ring 0161 244 1100 or email 
info@cleanairgm.com. A pre-paid envelope will be provided along with 
the paper version of the questionnaire so that you are able to return 
your completed form to AECOM free of charge.

The consultation is open from Thursday 8 October to 23:59 on 
Thursday 3 December 2020.

8 How to get involved  
 and have your say

8.4 Access to all

If you need to respond to the consultation in a different way, or require 
the consultation materials in a different format, please contact  
info@cleanairgm.com or call 0161 244 1100 to discuss how we can help 
you. Support for non-English speakers is available on 0161 244 1100.

8.5 What happens to my response?

Your response will be independently assessed as part of the 
consultation.

The outputs of the consultation will be analysed and will be taken into 
account when finalising the proposals. The consultation findings will be 
reported in spring 2021.

Once the report is considered by the Greater Manchester local 
authorities the GM CAP Final Business Case (FBC) will be developed 
and subject to approval by the 10 Greater Manchester Local Authorities, 
submitted to Government. Then, subject to Government approval and 
funding, measures will be introduced from 2021, with the Clean Air Zone 
being introduced from spring 2022.

56 57Greater Manchester Clean Air Plan – Consultation Document

P
age 123

http://cleanairgm.com
http://cleanairgm.com
http://cleanairgm@aecom.com


T
a
b

le
 A

1 
– 

C
A

Z
 v

e
h

ic
le

 c
a
te

g
o

ri
e
s 

a
n

d
 m

in
im

u
m

 e
m

is
si

o
n

 
st

a
n

d
a
rd

s 
a
s 

se
t 

o
u

t 
in

 t
h

e
 C

le
a
n

 A
ir

 Z
o

n
e

 F
ra

m
e
w

o
rk

24
 

V
e

h
ic

le
 T

y
p

e
E

u
ro

 C
a
te

g
o

ry
M

in
im

u
m

25
 C

A
Z

 
C

o
m

p
li
a
n

t 
E

u
ro

 
E

m
is

si
o

n
 S

ta
n

d
a
rd

 

E
x
a
m

p
le

 v
e

h
ic

le
s2

6

B
u

s
M

3
 (

G
ro

ss
 V

e
h

ic
le

 W
e
ig

h
t2

7 
o

v
e
r 

5
0

0
0

k
g

 
a
n

d
 m

o
re

 t
h

a
n

 8
 s

e
a
ts

 i
n

 a
d

d
it

io
n

 t
o

 t
h

e
 

d
ri

v
e
r)

E
u

ro
 V

I
P

u
b

lic
 B

u
se

s 
(s

in
g

le
 d

e
c
k
e
r,
 d

o
u

b
le

 d
e
c
k
e
r 

a
n

d
 m

id
i)

, C
o

a
c
h

e
s 

(s
in

g
le

 a
n

d
 d

o
u

b
le

 
d

e
c
k
e
r)

.
C

o
a
c
h

E
u

ro
 V

I

H
G

V
N

2
 (

G
ro

ss
 V

e
h

ic
le

 W
e
ig

h
t 

o
v
e
r 

3
5

0
0

 k
g

 
a
n

d
 r

e
f.
 m

a
ss

 o
v
e
r 

2
6

10
 k

g
)

N
3

 (
G

ro
ss

 V
e
h

ic
le

 W
e
ig

h
t 

o
v
e
r 

5
0

0
0

 k
g

)

E
u

ro
 V

I 
A

rt
ic

u
la

te
d

 v
e
h

ic
le

s,
 r

ig
id

 H
G

V
s,

 fl
a
tb

e
d

 
lo

rr
ie

s,
 c

o
n

c
re

te
 m

ix
e
rs

, 2
-a

x
le

 l
o

rr
y,

 s
o

m
e
 

m
o

to
ri

se
d

 c
a
ra

v
a
n

s 
(>

3
.5

t)
 a

n
d

 m
o

to
ri

se
d

 
h

o
rs

e
b

o
x
e
s 

(>
3

.5
t)

.

M
in

ib
u

s
M

2
 (

G
ro

ss
 V

e
h

ic
le

 W
e
ig

h
t 

n
o

t 
e
x
c
e
e
d

in
g

 
5

0
0

0
 k

g
, r

e
fe

re
n

c
e
. m

a
ss

 n
o

t 
e
x
c
e
e
d

in
g

 
2
8

4
0

 k
g

 a
n

d
 m

o
re

 t
h

a
n

 8
 s

e
a
ts

 i
n

 
a
d

d
it

io
n

 t
o

 t
h

e
 d

ri
v
e
r

E
u

ro
 V

I 
(d

ie
se

l)
 

E
u

ro
 I
V

 (
p

e
tr

o
l)

M
in

ib
u

se
s 

(e
x
c
lu

d
in

g
 t

h
o

se
 w

h
ic

h
 a

re
 l
ic

e
n

se
d

 
a
s 

a
 T

a
x
i 
o

r 
p

ri
v
a
te

 h
ir

e
 v

e
h

ic
le

 –
 s

e
e
 T

a
x
i 
a
n

d
 

p
ri

v
a
te

 h
ir

e
 v

e
h

ic
le

s 
b

e
lo

w
).

V
a
n

N
1 

(G
ro

ss
 V

e
h

ic
le

 W
e
ig

h
t 

n
o

t 
e
x
c
e
e
d

in
g

 
3

5
0

0
 k

g
 a

n
d

 r
e
fe

re
n

c
e
. m

a
ss

 n
o

t 
e
x
c
e
e
d

in
g

 k
g

)

E
u

ro
 V

I 
(d

ie
se

l)
E

u
ro

 I
V

 (
p

e
tr

o
l)

V
a
n

s 
(s

h
o

rt
 a

n
d

 l
o

n
g

 w
h

e
e
lb

a
se

),
 s

o
m

e
 c

a
r 

d
e
ri

v
e
d

 v
a
n

s,
 s

o
m

e
 l
ig

h
t 

4
x
4

 u
ti

lit
y
 v

e
h

ic
le

s 
a
n

d
 p

ic
k
u

p
s.

H
a
c
k
n

e
y
 c

a
rr

ia
g

e
 

a
n

d
 p

ri
v
a
te

 h
ir

e
 

v
e
h

ic
le

s

M
in

ib
u

s 
– 

M
2

 (
G

ro
ss

 V
e
h

ic
le

 W
e
ig

h
t 

n
o

t 
e
x
c
e
e
d

in
g

 5
0

0
0

 k
g

, r
e
fe

re
n

c
e
. m

a
ss

 n
o

t 
e
x
c
e
e
d

in
g

 2
8

4
0

 k
g

 a
n

d
 m

o
re

 t
h

a
n

 8
 

se
a
ts

 i
n

 a
d

d
it

io
n

 t
o

 t
h

e
 d

ri
v
e
r)

M
1 

P
a
ss

e
n

g
e
r 

v
e
h

ic
le

 w
it

h
 u

p
 t

o
 8

 s
e
a
ts

 
in

 a
d

d
it

io
n

 t
o

 t
h

e
 d

ri
v
e
r

E
u

ro
 V

I 
(d

ie
se

l)
E

u
ro

 I
V

 (
p

e
tr

o
l)

V
e
h

ic
le

s 
lic

e
n

se
d

 a
s 

h
a
c
k
n

e
y
 c

a
rr

ia
g

e
s 

a
n

d
/o

r 
p

ri
v
a
te

 h
ir

e
 v

e
h

ic
le

s.

24
 D

e
fr

a
 a

n
d

 D
fT

. 2
0

2
0

. C
le

a
n

 A
ir

 Z
o

n
e
 F

ra
m

e
w

o
rk

, A
n

n
e
x
 A

. A
v
a
ila

b
le

 a
t:

 a
ss

e
ts

.p
u

b
li
sh

in
g

.s
e

rv
ic

e
.g

o
v.

u
k
/g

o
v
e

rn
m

e
n

t/
u

p
lo

a
d

s/
sy

st
e

m
/u

p
lo

a
d

s/
a
tt

a
c
h

m
e

n
t_

d
a
ta

/fi
le

/8
6

3
7
3

0
/c

le
a
n

-a
ir

-z
o

n
e

-f
ra

m
e
w

o
rk

-f
e

b
2

0
2

0
.p

d
f

25
 N

o
te

 t
h

e
 m

in
im

u
m

 c
o

m
p

lia
n

t 
st

a
n

d
a
rd

 i
s 

sp
e
c
ifi

e
d

 i
n

 T
a
b

le
 3

.1.
2
. V

e
h

ic
le

s 
w

h
ic

h
 m

e
e
t 

E
u

ro
 5

 (
V

) 
a
n

d
 6

 (
V

I)
 p

e
tr

o
l 
st

a
n

d
a
rd

s 
w

ill
 a

ls
o

 b
e
 c

o
m

p
lia

n
t.

26
 A

s 
se

t 
o

u
t 

b
y
 G

re
a
te

r 
M

a
n

c
h

e
st

e
r.
 T

h
e
se

 e
x
a
m

p
le

 v
e
h

ic
le

s 
d

o
 n

o
t 

fe
a
tu

re
 i
n

 G
o

v
e
rn

m
e
n

t 
G

u
id

a
n

c
e
 a

n
d

 a
re

 p
ro

v
id

e
d

 f
o

r 
g

u
id

a
n

c
e
 o

n
ly

. 
27

 T
h

e
 w

e
ig

h
t 

o
f 

a
 v

e
h

ic
le

 o
r 

tr
a
ile

r,
 i
n

c
lu

d
in

g
 t

h
e
 m

a
x
im

u
m

 l
o

a
d

, t
h

a
t 

c
a
n

 b
e
 s

a
fe

ly
 c

a
rr

ie
d

 w
h

e
n

 i
t 

is
 b

e
in

g
 u

se
d

 o
n

 t
h

e
 r

o
a
d

. T
h

is
 w

ill
 b

e
 l
is

te
d

 i
n

 t
h

e
 

o
w

n
e
r’

s 
m

a
n

u
a
l. 

A
ls

o
 k

n
o

w
n

 a
s 

th
e
 m

a
x
im

u
m

 a
u

th
o

ri
se

d
 m

a
ss

 (
M

A
M

) 
o

r 
p

e
rm

is
si

b
le

 m
a
x
im

u
m

 w
e
ig

h
t.

Appendix 1 – Clean Air Zone vehicle categories and minimum  
emission standards as set out in the UK Government’s  
Clean Air Zone Framework Appendix 2 – Consultation questionnaire

These are the questions included in the consultation questionnaire. They 
are set out throughout this document at the appropriate points within 
each section.

Q1: The proposed Clean Air Zone Boundary would follow the existing 
administrative boundary of Greater Manchester as closely as 
possible. 

 Do you have any comments on the proposed boundary?

Q2: The Clean Air Zone would operate 24 hours a day, seven days 
a week, signage would be used to clearly identify the Clean 
Air Zone, and the daily charges would apply from midnight to 
midnight.  
Do you have any comments on these proposals? 

Q3: Please tell us what you think of the proposed daily charges for 
each of the vehicles?

 a) Buses / Coaches and HGVs – £60
 b) Hackney carriages and private hire vehicles – £7.50
 c) Vans and Minibuses – £10

Q3a: Do you have any comments on the proposed charges? 

Q4: To what extent do you agree or disagree with the permanent 
local exemptions proposed by Greater Manchester?

Q4a: Why do you say this? 

Q5: To what extent do you agree or disagree with the temporary 
local exemptions proposed by Greater Manchester?

Q5a: Why do you say this? 

Q6: To what extent do you agree or disagree with the permanent 
local discounts proposed by Greater Manchester?

Q6a: Why do you say this? 

Q7: Do you have any comments on the proposed Clean Bus Fund? 
(e.g. eligibility criteria, funding amounts) 

Q7a: Do you believe you are eligible to access this fund?

Q7b: Would the proposed fund meet your needs e.g. support you to 
upgrade your vehicle(s)? if not, why not? 

Q7c: Do you have any comments about the proposed management of 
the funds? (e.g. if over-subscribed the oldest vehicles could be 
targeted first) 

58 59Greater Manchester Clean Air Plan – Consultation Document

P
age 124

http://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/863730/clean-air-zone-framework-feb2020.pdf
http://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/863730/clean-air-zone-framework-feb2020.pdf


Appendix 2 – Consultation questionnaire continued

Q8: Do you have any comments on the proposed Clean Commercial 
Vehicle Fund? 

Q8a: Do you believe you are eligible to access this fund?

Q8b: Would the proposed fund meet your needs e.g. support you to 
upgrade your vehicle(s)? If not - why not?  

Q8c: Do you have any comments about the proposed management 
of the funds? (e.g. financial support could be available for the 
smallest businesses)

Q9a: Do you have any comments on the proposed funds for hackney 
carriages?

Q9b: Do you have any comments on the proposed funds for private 
hire vehicles? 

Q9c: Do you have any comments on the "Try Before You Buy" 
initiative? 

Q9d: Do you believe you are eligible to access either of these funds? 

Q9e: Would the proposed funds / "try before you buy" meet your 
needs e.g. support you to upgrade your vehicle(s)? If not - why 
not?

Q9f: Do you have any comments about the proposed management of 
funds? (e.g. offered on a first-come-first basis once an applicant 
has evidenced that the eligibility criteria are met) 

Q10a: Do you have any comments on the proposed Vehicle Finance 
Offer (see section 5.2 for more information) 

Q10b: To what extent do you agree or disagree that the proposed 
vehicle finance offer would meet your needs e.g. support you to 
upgrade your vehicle(s)?

Q10c: Why do you say this?

Q11a: Do you support a hardship fund? Why do you say this? 

Q11b: If you are impacted by the proposed clean air zone daily charges, 
is there any additional support that you would need?

Q12: To what extent do you agree or disagree that air quality needs to 
be improved in Greater Manchester?

Q13: Having read through the proposals, how confident are you 
that the Greater Manchester Clean Air Plan will bring roadside 
nitrogen dioxide (NO2) levels within legal limits "in the shortest 
possible time and by 2024 at the latest"? 

Q13a: Do you have any other comments on the proposals for the Clean 
Air Plan as set out in the consultation document?

Q14: Taking into account both the Clean Air Zone and the support 
offered, what would be the likely impact on you/your business/
your organisation? 

Q15a: Which of the following best reflects your trading status as a 
result of the COVID-19 pandemic?:

 • Have continued trading throughout
 • Currently trading, having temporarily paused – but have  

 resumed trading during the pandemic 
 • Paused trading 
 • Permanently ceased trading
 • Other, please state 

Q15b: Have you or your business received any of the following as a 
result of the COVID-19 pandemic?:

 Please select all that apply

 • Coronavirus job retention scheme (aka Furlough) 
 • Government-backed accredited loans or finance agreements  

 (aka CBIL / BBLS)
 • Business grants funded by the UK and devolved governments
 • Self-employment income support scheme 
 • Other government support
 • Other loans / grants (please specify) 
 • Not applied for any of these schemes 

Q15c: To what extent has the COVID-19 pandemic affected the 
following aspects of your business?

 • Level of debt 
 • Reserves / Savings 
 • Turnover
 • Profitability 

Q15d: Please to tell us about how the COVID-19 pandemic has 
affected your ability to meet the proposals outlined within the 
consultation document.

Q16: The Equality Impact Assessment identifies the potential impact 
on the Clean Air Plan proposals on persons with protected 
characteristics. Do you have any comments on it?

60 61Greater Manchester Clean Air Plan – Consultation Document

P
age 125



62 63Greater Manchester Clean Air Plan – Consultation Document

P
age 126



 
 
 
“Prosimy o kontakt przez email info@cleanairgm.com lub telefonicznie pod 
numerem 0161 244 1100 po pomoc w odpowiedzi na tą konsultację lub aby móc 
otrzymać egzemplarze dokumentacji z podsumowaniem wraz z ankietą.  
 
 
Wsparcie dla osób nie mówiących po angielsku można otrzymać pod numerem 
0161 244 1100.” 

 
 
 
 
 
 

“Prosimy o kontakt przez email info@gmtaxistandards.com lub telefonicznie pod 
numerem 0161 244 1100 po pomoc w odpowiedzi na tą konsultację lub aby móc 
otrzymać egzemplarze dokumentacji z podsumowaniem wraz z ankietą.  
 
Wsparcie dla osób nie mówiących po angielsku można otrzymać pod numerem 
0161 244 1100.” 

 

 
Message 1 

 

 

“  સરશં અ  કો મળ મ અથ આ રમશો બ આ મ 
મ મળ  કર info@cleanairgm.com ર ઇમઇ ર સંક કરો 

 અથ મ 0161 244 1100 ર ો કર શકો છો.  

 

 ોકો  થ બો, ઓ મ મળ,  0161 244 1100 ર ો કર શક છ." 

 

 

 

Message 2 

 

 

 

 

“  સરશં અ  કો મળ મ અથ આ રમશો બ આ મ 
મ મળ  કર info@gmtaxistandards.com ર ઇમઇ ર સંક કરો  

અથ મ 0161 244 1100 ર ો કર શકો છો. 

 

  ોકો  થ બો, ઓ મ મળ,  0161 244 1100 ર ો કર શક છ." 

 

 
 
 
 
 

“For support to respond to this consultation or to request copies of the summary 
document and questionnaire please contact info@cleanairgm.com or 0161 244 
1100. Support for non-English speakers is available on 0161 244 1100.” 

 
 
 
 

  

  

  

"    
   

 info@cleanairgm.com  1100 244 0161 .  

  

 1100 244 0161". 

 
 
 
 
 

“For support to respond to this consultation or to request copies of the summary 
document and questionnaire please contact info@gmtaxistandards.com or 0161 
244 1100. Support for non-English speakers is available on 0161 244 1100.” 

 
 
 
 
 

"    
  info@gmtaxistandards.com   

   1100 244 0161 .  

  

  1100 244 0161". 

info@cleanairgm.com

info@gmtaxistandards.com 

"For support to respond to this consultation or to request copies of the summary document and

questionnaire please contact info@cleanairgm.com or 0161 244 1100.

Support for non-English speakers is available on 0161 244 1100.

�cmā)q™'!
6 0161 244 1100 cinfo@cleanairgm.com

6™ 0161 244 1100 �m

For support to respond to this consultation or to request copies of the summary document and

questionnaire please contact info@gmtaxistandards.com or 0161 244 1100.

Support for non-English speakers is available on 0161 244 1100.

�cmā)q™'!
6 0161 244 1100 6c info@gmtaxisstandards.com

6™ 0161 244 1100 �m!�

Supporting you to respond to this consultation
For support to respond to this consultation or to request  
copies of the summary document and questionnaire please  
contact info@cleanairgm.com or 0161 244 1100.

Support for non-English speakers is available on 0161 244 1100.

Page 127



This page is intentionally left blank



 
 

 
 
 

 

 

Licensing Committee 

Statutory Taxi & Private Hire Vehicle Standards 

Report of Executive Member for Neighbourhoods & Culture 

 

Officer contact:  John Garforth – Trading Standards & Licensing Manager 

Ext. 5026 

 

3rd November 2020   

 
Executive Summary 
Following consultation, the Government have recently issued new statutory taxi and 
private hire vehicle standards which the Department for Transport expects to be 
implemented by Licensing Authorities unless there is a compelling reason not to.  
 
 
Recommendations 
That Members: 

1) Note the report; and 

2) Consider the implications of the report in future licensing decisions   

Page 129

Agenda Item 8



Page 2 of 4 Licensing Committee [3rd November 2020] 

Licensing Committee  3rd November 2020 
 
Statutory Taxi and Private Hire Vehicle Standards 
 
1. Purpose of the report 

1.1 The purpose of this report is to inform Members of the issuing of statutory 
guidance by the Government relating to taxi and private hire vehicles.  

2. Introduction 

2.1 The reason for issuing of the guidance, as extracted from its introduction, is as 
follows: 

There is evidence to support the view that taxis and private hire vehicles are a 
high-risk environment. In terms of risks to passengers, this can be seen in abuse 
and exploitation of children and vulnerable adults facilitated and, in some cases, 
perpetrated by the trade and the number of sexual crimes reported which 
involve taxi and private hire vehicle drivers.  

Links between the trade and child sexual abuse and exploitation have been 
established in many areas and other investigations continue. Data on reported 
sexual assaults by taxi and private hire vehicle drivers evidence the risk to 
passengers; data from Greater Manchester and Merseyside suggest that, if 
similar offence patterns are applied across England, 623 sexual assaults per 
year are reported. These figures do not however account for the under reporting 
of crime which is estimated to be as high as 83 percent in the Crime Survey for 
England and Wales. 

3. Focus of the Guidance  

3.1 The Government intention behind issuing the guidance is to improve 
consistency of licensing policy and focuses attention on protecting children and 
vulnerable adults. 

3.2 The guidance states: 

Whilst the focus of the Statutory Taxi and Private Hire Vehicle Standards is on 
protecting children and vulnerable adults, all passengers will benefit from the 
recommendations contained in it. There is consensus that common core 
minimum standards are required to regulate better the taxi and private hire 
vehicle sector, and the recommendations in this document are the result of 
detailed discussion with the trade, regulators and safety campaign groups. The 
Department therefore expects these recommendations to be implemented 
unless there is a compelling local reason not to. 

Page 130



Page 3 of 4 Licensing Committee [3rd November 2020] 

 All local authorities and district councils that provide children’s and other types 
of services, including licensing authorities, have a statutory duty to make 
arrangements to ensure that their functions and any services that they contract 
out to others are discharged having regard to the need to safeguard and promote 
the welfare of children. This means that licensing authorities should have in place 
arrangements that reflect the importance of safeguarding and promoting the 
welfare of children. This includes clear whistleblowing procedures, safe 
recruitment practices and clear policies for dealing with allegations against 
people who work with children, as set out in the Working Together to Safeguard 
Children statutory guidance.  

 
 The Statutory Taxi and Private Hire Vehicle Standards reflect the significant 

changes in the industry and lessons learned from experiences in local areas 
since the 2010 version of the Department’s Best Practice Guidance. This 
includes extensive advice on checking the suitability of individuals and operators 
to be licensed; safeguarding children and vulnerable adults; the Immigration Act 
2016 and Common Law Police Disclosure (which replaced the Notifiable 
Occupations Scheme). 

 
3.3 The main headings covered in the guidance include: 

 Administering the licensing regime 

 Gathering and sharing information 

 Decision making 

 Driver, Vehicle and Operator licensing; and 

 Enforcement 

 
4. Implementation of the Guidance 
 
4.1 Officers across Greater Manchester have discussed the guidance and firmly 

believe that there is no compelling reason not to implement the 
recommendations within it.  

 
4.2 The timing of its issue came just as the Greater Manchester Minimum Licensing 

Standards were being finalised so for the handful of areas that needed to be 
implemented these were included in the consultation document which is subject 
to discussion with Members on today’s agenda. 

 
4.3 A copy of the statutory guidance can found appended to this report at Appendix 

1.   
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 131



Page 4 of 4 Licensing Committee [3rd November 2020] 

5  Legal Services Comments 

5.1  Under S177 of the Policing and Crime Act 2017, the Secretary of State may 
issue guidance to local authorities as to how their licensing functions under taxi 
and private hire legislation may be exercised so as to protect children and 
vulnerable adults from harm.  In accordance with S177(4), the Council must have 
regard to the guidance. (A Evans)  

6  Co-operative Agenda 

6.1 The licensing process is in place not only to protect the public but also to support 
 and where necessary regulate businesses within the Borough. 

7  Environmental and Health & Safety Implications 

7.1  None 

8  Equality, community cohesion and crime implications 

8.1  None 

9  Equality Impact Assessment Completed? 

9.1  No  

10  Key Decision 

10.1 No  

11  Key Decision Reference 

11.1 N/A 

12  Background Papers - None 

12.1  Appendices  

 Appendix 1 – Statutory Taxi & Private Hire Guidance 

Page 132



  

Statutory Taxi & Private Hire Vehicle 
Standards 

 
 

 

July 2020 

 
 

Page 133



 

   2 
 

Contents 
 
 

Page 
 
1. Introduction .................................................................................................................. 4 

2. Consideration of the Statutory Taxi and Private Hire Vehicle Standards ..................... 6 

3. Administering the Licensing Regime ............................................................................ 8 

Licensing polices ..................................................................................................... 8 

Duration of licences ................................................................................................. 9 

Whistleblowing ......................................................................................................... 9 

Consultation at the local level ................................................................................ 10 

Changing licensing policy and requirements ......................................................... 10 

4. Gathering and Sharing Information ............................................................................ 12 

The Disclosure and Barring Service ...................................................................... 12 

The Disclosure and Barring Service Update Service ....................................................... 13 

Common Law Police Disclosure ............................................................................ 13 

Licensee self-reporting .......................................................................................... 13 

Referrals to the Disclosure and Barring Service and the Police ............................ 14 

Working with the Police ......................................................................................... 15 

Sharing licensing information with other licensing authorities ................................ 15 

Multi-agency Safeguarding Hub (MASH) ............................................................... 16 

Complaints against licensees ................................................................................ 17 

Overseas convictions ............................................................................................ 17 

5. Decision Making ........................................................................................................ 19 

Administration of the licensing framework ............................................................. 19 

Training decision makers ....................................................................................... 19 

The regulatory structure ........................................................................................ 20 

Fit and proper test ................................................................................................. 21 

Criminal convictions and rehabilitation .................................................................. 21 

6. Driver Licensing ......................................................................................................... 23 

Criminality checks for drivers ................................................................................. 23 

Safeguarding awareness ....................................................................................... 23 

‘County lines’ exploitation ...................................................................................... 24 

Language proficiency ............................................................................................ 25 

Page 134



 

3 
 

7. Vehicle Licensing ....................................................................................................... 26 

Criminality checks for vehicle proprietors .............................................................. 26 

In-vehicle visual and audio recording – CCTV ....................................................... 27 

Stretched Limousines ............................................................................................ 28 

8. Private Hire Vehicle Operator Licensing .................................................................... 29 

Criminality checks for private hire vehicle operators .............................................. 29 

Booking and dispatch staff..................................................................................... 30 

Record keeping ..................................................................................................... 31 

Use of passenger carrying vehicles (PCV) licensed drivers .................................. 31 

9. Enforcing the Licensing Regime ................................................................................ 33 

Joint authorisation of enforcement officers ............................................................ 33 

Setting expectations and monitoring ...................................................................... 33 

Suspension and revocation of driver licences........................................................ 33 

Annex – Assessment of Previous Convictions ................................................................. 35 

Annex – Disclosure and Barring Service information ....................................................... 37 

Annex – CCTV Guidance ................................................................................................. 38 

Annex - Staying Safe: Guidance for Passengers ............................................................. 40 

 

Page 135



 

4 
 

1. Introduction 
 

 There is evidence to support the view that taxis and private hire vehicles are a 
high-risk environment. In terms of risks to passengers, this can be seen in abuse 
and exploitation of children and vulnerable adults facilitated and in some cases 
perpetrated by the trade and the number of sexual crimes reported which involve 
taxi and private hire vehicle drivers. Links between the trade and child sexual 
abuse and exploitation have been established in many areas and other 
investigations continue. Data on reported sexual assaults by taxi and private hire 
vehicle drivers evidence the risk to passengers; data from Greater Manchester 
and Merseyside suggest that, if similar offence patterns are applied across 
England, 623 sexual assaults per year are reported. These figures do not however 
account for the under reporting of crime which is estimated to be as high as 83 
percent in the Crime Survey for England and Wales.  

 The Policing and Crime Act 2017 enables the Secretary of State for Transport to 
issue statutory guidance on exercising taxi and private hire vehicle licensing 
functions to protect children and vulnerable individuals who are over 18 from harm 
when using these services. For the purposes of this document, a child is defined 
as anyone who has not yet reached their 18th birthday; and the term “vulnerable 
individual” has the same meaning as the definition of a ‘vulnerable adult’ for the 
purpose of section 42 of the Care Act 2014, which applies where a local authority 
has reasonable cause to suspect that an adult in its area (whether or not ordinarily 
resident there): 

(a) has needs for care and support (whether or not the authority is meeting 
any of those needs), 

(b) is experiencing, or is at risk of, abuse or neglect, and 

(c) as a result of those needs is unable to protect himself or herself against 
the abuse or neglect or the risk of it. 

 Whilst the focus of the Statutory Taxi and Private Hire Vehicle Standards is on 
protecting children and vulnerable adults, all passengers will benefit from the 
recommendations contained in it. There is consensus that common core minimum 
standards are required to regulate better the taxi and private hire vehicle sector, 
and the recommendations in this document are the result of detailed discussion 
with the trade, regulators and safety campaign groups. The Department 
therefore expects these recommendations to be implemented unless there 
is a compelling local reason not to.  

 It should be noted that as policing and criminal justice is not a devolved matter, 
the Statutory Taxi and Private Hire Vehicle Standards issued under the Policing 
and Crime Act 2017 will continue to have effect in Wales although responsibility 
for taxi and private hire vehicle policy was devolved to the Welsh Assembly in 
April 2018. Should the Welsh Government introduce legislation to regulate on 
these issues, the standards in this document would, cease to apply.  

Page 136

https://www.whatdotheyknow.com/request/sex_attacks_2
https://www.whatdotheyknow.com/request/taxi_private_hire_related_rapes#incoming-286178
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/crimeandjustice/articles/sexualoffencesinenglandandwales/yearendingmarch2017#main-points
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2014/23/section/42/enacted


 

5 
 

 All local authorities and district councils that provide children’s and other types of 
services, including licensing authorities, have a statutory duty to make 
arrangements to ensure that their functions and any services that they contract 
out to others are discharged having regard to the need to safeguard and promote 
the welfare of children. This means that licensing authorities should have in place 
arrangements that reflect the importance of safeguarding and promoting the 
welfare of children. This includes clear whistleblowing procedures, safe 
recruitment practices and clear policies for dealing with allegations against people 
who work with children, as set out in the Working Together to Safeguard Children 
statutory guidance. 

 The Statutory Taxi and Private Hire Vehicle Standards reflect the significant 
changes in the industry and lessons learned from experiences in local areas since 
the 2010 version of the Department’s Best Practice Guidance. This includes 
extensive advice on checking the suitability of individuals and operators to be 
licensed; safeguarding children and vulnerable adults; the Immigration Act 2016 
and Common Law Police Disclosure (which replaced the Notifiable Occupations 
Scheme).  

 The standards in this document replace relevant sections of the Best Practice 
Guidance issued by the Department in 2010, where there is a conflict between 
the Statutory Taxi and Private Hire Vehicle Standards and the Best Practice 
Guidance the Department issue on taxi and private hire vehicle licensing, the 
standards in this document take precedence.  

Page 137

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/working-together-to-safeguard-children--2


6 

Terminology 

Taxis are referred to in legislation, regulation and common language as 
‘hackney carriages’, ‘black cabs’ and ‘cabs’. The term ‘taxi’ is used throughout 
this document and refers to all such vehicles. Taxis can be hired immediately 
by hailing on the street or at a rank. 

Private hire vehicles include a range of vehicles including minicabs, executive 
cars, chauffeur services, limousines and some school and day centre transport 
services. All private hire vehicle journeys must be pre-booked via a licensed 
private hire vehicle operator and are subject to a ‘triple licensing lock’ i.e. the 
operator fulfilling the booking must use vehicles and drivers licensed by the 
same authority as that which granted its licence. The term ‘private hire vehicle’ 
is used throughout this document to refer to all such vehicles. 

2. Consideration of the Statutory Taxi and Private Hire
Vehicle Standards

 The past failings of licensing regimes must never be repeated. The Department 
has carefully considered the measures contained in the Statutory Taxi and Private 
Hire Vehicle Standards and recommend that these should be put in to practice 
and administered appropriately to mitigate the risk posed to the public. The 
purpose of setting standards is to protect children and vulnerable adults, and by 
extension the wider public, when using taxis and private hire vehicles.  

 The Government set out in the Modern Crime Prevention Strategy the evidence 
that where Government, law enforcement, businesses and the public work 
together on prevention, this can deliver significant and sustained cuts in certain 
crimes. That is good news for victims and communities and it makes clear 
economic sense too. Educating the public on the risks of using unlicensed drivers 
and vehicles, how to identify the licensed trade and appropriate measure to take 
when using these services will protect help all passengers, more information is 
annexed to this document (Annex - Staying safe: guidance for passengers). 

 The Strategy committed to protect children and young people from the risk of child 
sexual abuse and exploitation (CSAE), by working with local authorities to 
introduce rigorous taxi and private hire vehicle licensing regimes. Both the Jay 
and Casey reports on CSAE highlighted examples of taxi/private hire vehicle 
drivers being directly linked to children that were abused, including instances 
when children were picked up from schools, children’s homes or from family 
homes and abused, or sexually exploited. 

 The Casey Report made clear that weak and ineffective arrangements for taxi and 
private hire vehicle licensing had left the children and public at risk. The 
Department for Transport has worked with the Home Office, Local Government 
Association (LGA), personal safety charities, trade unions and trade bodies, 

Page 138

https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/509831/6.1770_Modern_Crime_Prevention_Strategy_final_WEB_version.pdf
https://www.rotherham.gov.uk/downloads/file/279/independent-inquiry-into-child-sexual-exploitation-in-rotherham
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/report-of-inspection-of-rotherham-metropolitan-borough-council


 

7 
 

holding workshops, forums, and sharing evidence and good practice with local 
authorities to assist in the setting of the standards.  

 This document is published by the Secretary of State for Transport under section 
177(1) of the Policing and Crime Act 2017 following consultation in accordance 
with section 177(5). 

 The document sets out a framework of policies that, under section 177(4), 
licensing authorities “must have regard” to when exercising their functions. 
These functions include developing, implementing and reviewing their taxi and 
private hire vehicle licensing regimes. “Having regard” is more than having a 
cursory glance at a document before arriving at a preconceived conclusion.  

 “Having regard” to these standards requires public authorities, in formulating a 
policy, to give considerations the weight which is proportionate in the 
circumstances. Given that the standards have been set directly to address 
the safeguarding of the public and the potential impact of failings in this 
area, the importance of thoroughly considering these standards cannot be 
overstated. It is not a question of box ticking; the standards must be considered 
rigorously and with an open mind. 

 Although it remains the case that licensing authorities must reach their own 
decisions, both on overall policies and on individual licensing matters in light of 
the relevant law, it may be that the Statutory Taxi and Private Hire Vehicle 
Standards might be drawn upon in any legal challenge to an authority’s practice, 
and that any failure to adhere to the standards without sufficient justification could 
be detrimental to the authority’s defence. In the interest of transparency, all 
licensing authorities should publish their consideration of the measures 
contained in Statutory Taxi and Private Hire Vehicle Standards, and the 
policies and delivery plans that stem from these. The Department has 
undertaken to monitor the effectiveness of the standards in achieving the 
protection of children and vulnerable adults (and by extension all passengers). 

 The Statutory Taxi and Private Hire Vehicle Standards does not purport to give a 
definitive statement of the law and any decisions made by a licensing authority 
remain a matter for that authority. 

  

Page 139



8 

3. Administering the Licensing Regime

Licensing polices 

 The Department recommends all licensing authorities make publicly available a 
cohesive policy document that brings together all their procedures on taxi and 
private hire vehicle licensing. This should include but not be limited to policies on 
convictions, a ‘fit and proper’ person test, licence conditions and vehicle 
standards. 

 When formulating a taxi and private hire vehicle policy, the primary and overriding 
objective must be to protect the public. The importance of ensuring that the 
licensing regime protects the vulnerable cannot be overestimated. This was 
highlighted in the report by Dame Louise Casey CB of February 2015 on 
safeguarding failings. 

“It will be evident from this report that in many cases the activities of 
perpetrators take place in spheres which are regulated by the Council – taxis 
have been the focus of particular concern. Persistent and rigorous enforcement 
of the regulatory functions available to the council, including the placing of 
conditions on private hire taxi operator licences where appropriate, would send 
a strong signal that the trade is being monitored and would curtail the activities 
of opportunistic perpetrators whereby taxi drivers have solicited children to 
provide sex in return for cigarettes, alcohol or a fare free ride.” 

 The long-term devastation caused by CSAE was summarised in the same report: 

“Victims suffer from suicidal feelings and often self-harm. Many become 
pregnant. Some have to manage the emotional consequences of miscarriages 
and abortions while others have children that they are unable to parent 
appropriately. The abuse and violence continues to affect victims into 
adulthood. Many enter violent and abusive relationships. Many suffer poor 
mental health and addiction.” 

 Rotherham Metropolitan Borough Council (‘Rotherham Council’) provides an 
example of how the systematic review of policies and procedures and the 
implementation of a plan to drive improvements in practice can result in a well-
functioning taxi and private hire vehicle sector that is rebuilding local confidence 
in the industry. The history of past failings here and elsewhere is well known, but 
it is the transparency and resolution that Rotherham Council has demonstrated 
and the high standards they now require that are rebuilding public confidence. 

 One of the key lessons learned is that it is vital to review policies and reflect 
changes in the industry both locally and nationally. Licensing authorities should 
review their licensing policies every five years, but should also consider 
interim reviews should there be significant issues arising in their area, and 
their performance annually. 

Page 140

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/401125/46966_Report_of_Inspection_of_Rotherham_WEB.pdf


 

9 
 

Duration of licences 

 A previous argument against issuing licences for more than a year was that a 
criminal offence might be committed, and not notified, during this period; this can 
of course also be the case during the duration of a shorter licence. This risk can 
be mitigated for drivers by authorities to undertaking regular interim checks. To 
help authorities monitor licensees’ suitability, licensing authorities should engage 
with their police force to ensure that when the police believe a licensee presents 
a risk to the travelling public they use their Common Law Police Disclosure powers 
(see paragraphs 4.9 - 4.11) to advise them. 

 The Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976 (as amended) sets 
a standard length at three years for taxi and private hire vehicle drivers and five 
years for private hire vehicle operators. Any shorter duration licence should only 
be issued when the licensing authority thinks it is appropriate in the specific 
circumstances of the case, if a licensee has requested one or where required (e.g. 
when the licence holder’s leave to remain in the UK is time-limited) or when the 
licence is only required to meet a short-term demand; they should not be issued 
on a ‘probationary’ basis. 

Whistleblowing 

 It is in the application of licensing authority’s policies (and the training and raising 
of awareness among those applying them) that protection will be provided. Where 
there are concerns that policies are not being applied correctly, it is vital that these 
can be raised, investigated and remedial action taken if required. Licensing 
authorities should have effective internal procedures in place for staff to 
raise concerns and for any concerns to be dealt with openly and fairly. 

  
A report into the licensing of drivers by South Ribble Borough Council highlights 
the implications of not applying the agreed policies. In early August 2015, 
concerns were raised regarding decisions to renew the licences of drivers 
where there were potential incidents of child sexual exploitation. An internal 
review concluded that there had been failings in local investigatory procedures 
which might have affected the ability of the General Licensing Committee to 
make proper decisions, and information sharing with the police and data 
recording was not satisfactory. 

Page 141



 

10 
 

 The external investigation in South Ribble concluded “that there had been a lack 
of awareness and priority given to safeguarding and the safety of taxi [and private 
hire vehicle] passengers in the manner in which licensing issues were addressed”. 
We are pleased to note that the report concludes, “The Council have been active 
at every stage in responding to issues and concerns identified. It has taken steps 
to address operational issues in the licensing function and has engaged fully with 
other agencies in so doing. In the light of the above, it is not necessary to make 
any further recommendations.” 

 It is hoped that all licensing authorities will have learnt from these mistakes 
but to prevent a repeat, local authorities should ensure they have an effective 
‘whistleblowing’ policy and that all staff are aware of it. If a worker is aware 
of, and has access to, effective internal procedures for raising concerns then 
‘whistleblowing’ is unlikely to be needed. 

 The Public Interest Disclosure Act 1998 (PIDA), commonly referred to as 
whistleblowing legislation, provides protection for those that have a reasonable 
belief of serious wrongdoing, including failure to comply with professional 
standards, council policies or codes of practice/conduct. The PIDA is part of 
employment law. In the normal course of events, if a worker reveals information 
that his employer does not want revealed it may be a disciplinary offence. If 
someone leaked their employer’s confidential information to the press, they might 
expect to be dismissed for that. The PIDA enables workers who ‘blow the whistle’ 
about wrongdoing to complain to an employment tribunal if they are dismissed or 
suffer any other form of detriment for doing so. It is a qualified protection and 
certain conditions would have to be met for the worker to be protected. More 
information is available online for employees and employers. 

Consultation at the local level 

 Licensing authorities should consult on proposed changes in licensing rules 
that may have significant impacts on passengers and/or the trade. Such 
consultation should include not only the taxi and private hire vehicle trades but 
also groups likely to be the trades’ customers. Examples are groups representing 
disabled people, Chambers of Commerce, organisations with a wider transport 
interest (e.g. the Campaign for Better Transport and other transport providers), 
women’s groups, local traders, and the local multi-agency safeguarding 
arrangements. It may also be helpful to consult with night-time economy groups 
(such as Pubwatch) if the trade is an important element of dispersal from the local 
night-time economy’s activities. 

 Any decision taken to alter the licensing regime is likely to have an impact on 
the operation of the taxi and private hire vehicle sector in neighbouring areas; and 
licensing authorities should engage with these areas to identify any 
concerns and issues that might arise from a proposed change. Many areas 
convene regional officer consultation groups or, more formally, councillor liaison 
meetings; this should be adopted by all authorities.  

Changing licensing policy and requirements 

Page 142

http://www.southribble.gov.uk/sites/default/files/FINAL_REPORT_JUNE_2016.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/whistleblowing
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/415175/bis-15-200-whistleblowing-guidance-for-employers-and-code-of-practice.pdf


 

11 
 

 Any changes in licensing requirements should be followed by a review 
of the licences already issued. If the need to change licensing requirements 
has been identified, this same need is applicable to those already in possession 
of a licence. That is not however to suggest that licences should be automatically 
revoked overnight, for example if a vehicle specification is changed it is 
proportionate to allow those that would not meet the criteria to have the 
opportunity to adapt or change their vehicle. The same pragmatic approach 
should be taken to driver licence changes - if requirements are changed to include 
a training course or qualification, a reasonable time should be allowed for this to 
be undertaken or gained. The implementation schedule of any changes that affect 
current licence holders must be transparent and communicated promptly and 
clearly. 

 Where a more subjective change has been introduced, for example an 
amended policy on previous convictions, a licensing authority must consider each 
case on its own merits. Where there are exceptional, clear and compelling 
reasons to deviate from a policy, licensing authorities should consider doing so. 
Licensing authorities should record the reasons for any deviation from the policies 
in place. 

  

Page 143



 

12 
 

4. Gathering and Sharing Information 
 

 Licensing authorities must consider as full a range of information available to them 
when making a decision whether to grant a licence and to meet their ongoing 
obligation to ensure a licensee remains suitable to hold a licence.   

The Disclosure and Barring Service 

 The Disclosure and Barring Service (DBS) provides access to criminal record 
information through its disclosure service for England and Wales. The DBS also 
maintains the lists of individuals barred from working in regulated activity with 
children or adults. The DBS makes independent barring decisions about people 
who have harmed, or where they are considered to pose a risk of harm to a child 
or vulnerable person within the workplace. The DBS enables organisations in the 
public, private and voluntary sectors to make safer employment decisions by 
identifying candidates who may be unsuitable for certain work, especially that 
which involves vulnerable groups including children.  

 Enhanced certificates with a check of the barred lists include details of spent and 
unspent convictions recorded on the Police National Computer (PNC), any 
additional information which a chief officer of police believes to be relevant and 
ought to be disclosed, as well as indicating whether the individual is barred from 
working in regulated activity with children or adults. Spent convictions and 
cautions are disclosed on standard and enhanced certificates according to rules 
set out in legislation.  Convictions which resulted in a custodial sentence, and 
convictions or cautions for a specified serious offence such as those involving 
child sexual abuse will always be disclosed on a standard or enhanced certificate. 
Full details of the disclosure rules, and those offences which will always be 
disclosed, are available from the DBS. As well as convictions and cautions, an 
enhanced certificate may include additional information which a chief police officer 
reasonably believes is relevant and ought to be disclosed. Chief police officers 
must have regard to the statutory guidance issued by the Home Office when 
considering disclosure. A summary of the information provided at each level of 
DBS checks is annexed to this document (Annex – Disclosure and Barring 
Service information). 

 It should be noted that licensing authorities must not circumvent the DBS process 
and seek to obtain details of previous criminal convictions and other information 
that may not otherwise be disclosed on a DBS certificate. Whilst data protection 
legislation (not just the Data Protection Act 2018 or General Data Protection 
Regulation (GDPR)) gives individuals (or data subjects) a ‘right of access’ to the 
personal data that an organisation holds about them, it is a criminal offence to 
require an individual to exercise their subject access rights so as to gain 
information about any convictions and cautions. This could potentially lead to the 
authority receiving information to which it is not entitled. The appropriate way of 
accessing an individual’s criminal records is through an enhanced DBS and 
barred lists check. 

Page 144

https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/dbs-filtering-guidance
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/statutory-disclosure-guidance


 

13 
 

The Disclosure and Barring Service Update Service 
 Subscription to the DBS Update Service allows those with standard and enhanced 
certificates to keep these up to date online and, with the individual’s consent, 
allows nominees to check the status of a certificate online at any time. 
Subscription to the service removes the need for new certificates to be requested, 
reduces the administrative burden and mitigates potential delays in relicensing. 

 The DBS will search regularly to see if any relevant new information has been 
received since the certificate was issued. The frequency varies depending on the 
type of information; for criminal conviction and barring information, the DBS will 
search for updates on a weekly basis. For non-conviction information, the DBS 
will search for updates every nine months.  

 Licensing authorities are able to request large numbers of status checks on a daily 
basis. The DBS has developed a Multiple Status Check Facility (MSCF) that can 
be accessed via a web service. The MSCF enables organisations to make an 
almost unlimited number of Status Checks simultaneously. Further information on 
the MSCF is available from the DBS. 

 Should the MSCF advise that new information is available the DBS certificate 
should no longer be relied upon and a new DBS certificate requested. 

Common Law Police Disclosure 

 The DBS is not the only source of information that should be considered as part 
of a fit and proper assessment for the licensing of taxi and private hire vehicle 
drivers. Common Law Police Disclosure ensures that where there is a public 
protection risk, the police will pass information to the employer or regulatory body 
to allow them to act swiftly to mitigate any danger. 

 Common Law Police Disclosure replaced the Notifiable Occupations Scheme 
(NOS) in March 2015 and focuses on providing timely and relevant information 
which might indicate a public protection risk. Information is passed on at arrest or 
charge, rather than on conviction which may be some time after, allowing any 
measures to mitigate risk to be put in place immediately. 

 This procedure provides robust safeguarding arrangements while ensuring 
only relevant information is passed on to employers or regulatory bodies. 
Licensing authorities should maintain close links with the police to ensure 
effective and efficient information sharing procedures and protocols are in 
place and are being used. 

Licensee self-reporting 

 Licence holders should be required to notify the issuing authority within 48 
hours of an arrest and release, charge or conviction of any sexual offence, any 
offence involving dishonesty or violence and any motoring offence. An arrest for 
any of the offences within this scope should result in a review by the issuing 
authority as to whether the licence holder is fit to continue to do so. This must not 

Page 145

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/dbs-update-service-multiple-status-checking-guide


 

14 
 

however be seen as a direction that a licence should be withdrawn; it is for the 
licensing authority to consider what, if any, action in terms of the licence should 
be taken based on the balance of probabilities. Should an authority place an 
obligation on licensees to notify under these circumstances, authorities should 
also ensure appropriate procedures are in place to enable them to act in a suitable 
timeframe if and when needed.  

 Importantly, a failure by a licence holder to disclose an arrest that the issuing 
authority is subsequently advised of might be seen as behaviour that questions 
honesty and therefore the suitability of the licence holder regardless of the 
outcome of the initial allegation. 

Referrals to the Disclosure and Barring Service and the Police 

 In some circumstances it may be appropriate under the Safeguarding 
Vulnerable Groups Act 2006 for licensing authorities to make referrals to the DBS. 
A decision to refuse or revoke a licence as the individual is thought to 
present a risk of harm to a child or vulnerable adult, should be referred to 
the DBS. The power for the licensing authority to make a referral in this context 
arises from the undertaking of a safeguarding role. Further guidance has been 
provided by the DBS. 

 The Department recommends that licensing authorities should make a 
referral to the DBS when it is thought that: 

• an individual has harmed or poses a risk of harm to a child or vulnerable adult; 

• an individual has satisfied the ‘harm test’; or 

• received a caution or conviction for a relevant offence and; 

• the person they are referring is, has or might in future be working in regulated 
activity; 

if the above conditions are satisfied, the DBS may consider it appropriate for the 
person to be added to a barred list. 

 These referrals may result in the person being added to a barred list and 
enable other licensing authorities to consider this should further applications to 
other authorities be made. Further information on referrals to DBS is available.  

Page 146

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/dbs-barring-referrals-local-authority-referral-duty-and-power/referral-duty-and-power-for-local-authorities-and-regulatory-bodies#local-authorities-as-regulated-activity-providers
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/making-barring-referrals-to-the-dbs#what-is-the-harm-test
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/making-barring-referrals-to-the-dbs


 

15 
 

Working with the Police 

 The police are an invaluable source of intelligence when assessing whether 
a licensing applicant is a ‘fit and proper’ person. It is vital that licensing authorities 
have a partnership with the police service to ensure that appropriate information 
is shared as quickly as possible. As part of building an effective working 
relationship between the licensing authority and the police, action taken by the 
licensing authority as a result of information received should be fed-back 
to the police. Increasing the awareness among police forces of the value 
licensing authorities place on the information received, particularly on non-
conviction intelligence, will assist furthering these relationships and reinforce the 
benefits of greater sharing of information. 

 This relationship can be mutually beneficial, assisting the police to prevent 
crime. The police can gain valuable intelligence from drivers and operators, for 
example, the identification of establishments that are selling alcohol to minors or 
drunks, or the frequent transportation of substance abusers to premises. 

 To aid further the quality of the information available to all parties that have a 
safeguarding duty, a revocation or refusal on public safety grounds should also 
be advised to the police. 

Sharing licensing information with other licensing authorities 

 As has been stated elsewhere in this document, obtaining the fullest 
information minimises the doubt as to whether an applicant or licensee is ‘fit and 
proper’. An obvious source of relevant information is any previous licensing 
history. Applicants and licensees should be required to disclose if they hold 
or have previously held a licence with another authority. An applicant 
should also be required to disclose if they have had an application for a 
licence refused, or a licence revoked or suspended by any other licensing 
authority. Licensing authorities should explicitly advise on their application forms 
that making a false statement or omitting to provide the information requested 
may be a criminal offence. 

 The LGA’s Councillors’ Handbook on taxi and private hire vehicle licensing 
advises that those responsible for licensing should “communicate regularly with 
licensing committees and officers in neighbouring councils to ensure critical 
information is shared and that there is a consistency and robustness in decision-
making. By working together, local government can make sure that this vital 
service is safe, respected, and delivering for local communities.”. While this 
approach may aid consistency and robustness in decision-making within regions, 
it has obvious inherent limitations as it is unlikely such protocols could be 
established between all licensing authorities. The LGA commissioned the 
National Anti-Fraud Network to develop a national register of taxi and private hire 
vehicle driver licence refusals and revocations (the register is known as ‘NR3’). 
Tools such as NR3 should be used by licensing authorities to share 
information on a more consistent basis to mitigate the risk of non-
disclosure of relevant information by applicants. 

Page 147

https://www.local.gov.uk/councillor-handbook-taxi-and-phv-licensing


 

16 
 

 For these processes to be beneficial, all licensing authorities must keep a 
complete and accurate record as to the reasons for refusal, suspension or 
revocation of a licence in order that this might be shared if requested and 
appropriate to do so. 

 Data protection legislation provides exemption from the rights of data subjects 
for the processing of personal data in connection with regulatory activities. This 
includes taxi and private hire vehicle licensing. The exemption applies only to 
information processed for the core regulatory activities of appropriate 
organisations; it may not be used in a blanket manner. The exemption applies 
only to the extent that the application of the rights of data subjects to the 
information in question would be likely to prejudice the proper discharge of the 
regulatory functions. The Information Commissioner’s Office has published 
guidance to assist organisations to fully understand their obligations and suggest 
good practice.  

 If notification under paragraph 4.20 or 4.21 of a refused or revoked licence is 
disclosed, the relevant licensing authority should be contacted to establish when 
the licence was refused, suspended or revoked and the reasons why. In those 
circumstances, the relevant licensing authority must consider whether it should 
disclose any information in relation to the previous decision, consistent with its 
obligations under data protection legislation. If information is disclosed, it can then 
be taken into account in determining the applicant’s fitness to be licensed. The 
relevance of the reason for refusing/revoking a licence must be considered. For 
example, if any individual was refused a licence for failing a local knowledge test, 
it does not have any safeguarding implications. Conversely, a revocation or 
refusal connected to indecency would. Licensing authorities should not simply 
replicate a previous decision, authorities must consider each application on its 
own merits and with regard to its own polices.  

 Should a licensing authority receive information that a licence holder did not 
disclose the information referred to in paragraph 4.20, for example by checking 
the NR3 register, the authority should consider whether the non-disclosure 
represents dishonesty and should review whether the licence holder remains ‘fit 
and proper’. 

Multi-agency Safeguarding Hub (MASH) 

 Multi-Agency Safeguarding Hubs are a way to improve the safeguarding 
response for children and vulnerable adults through better information sharing 
and high quality and timely safeguarding responses. MASHs (or similar models) 
should operate on three common principles: information sharing, joint decision 
making and coordinated intervention. 

 The Home Office report on Multi Agency Working and Information Sharing 
recommended that effective multi-agency working still needs to become more 
widespread. The Children’s Commissioner’s 2013 Inquiry into Child Sexual 
Exploitation in Gangs and Groups found that both police and local authorities still 
identified the inability to share information as a key barrier to safeguarding 
children from sexual abuse and exploitation. 

Page 148

https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/338875/MASH.pdf
ttps://www.childrenscommissioner.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/2017/07/If_only_someone_had_listened.pdf
ttps://www.childrenscommissioner.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/2017/07/If_only_someone_had_listened.pdf


 

17 
 

 All licensing authorities should operate or establish a means to facilitate the 
objectives of a MASH (i.e. the sharing of necessary and relevant information 
between stakeholders). As has been emphasised throughout this document, one 
of the most effective ways to minimise the risk to children and vulnerable adults 
when using taxis and private hire vehicles is to ensure that decisions on licensing 
individuals are made with the fullest knowledge possible.  

Complaints against licensees 

 Complaints about drivers and operators provide a source of intelligence when 
considering the renewal of a licence or to identify problems during the period of 
the licence. Patterns of behaviour such as complaints against drivers, even when 
they do not result in further action in response to an individual compliant, may be 
indicative of characteristics that raise doubts over the suitability to hold a licence. 
All licensing authorities should have a robust system for recording 
complaints, including analysing trends across all licensees as well as 
complaints against individual licensees. Such a system will help authorities to 
build a fuller picture of the potential risks an individual may pose and may tip the 
‘balance of probabilities’ assessment that licensing authorities must take. 

 Licensees with a high number of complaints made against them should be 
contacted by the licensing authority and concerns raised with the driver and 
operator (if appropriate). Further action in terms of the licence holder must be 
determined by the licensing authority, which could include no further action, the 
offer of training, a formal review of the licence, or formal enforcement action. 

 To ensure that passengers know who to complain to, licensing authorities 
should produce guidance for passengers on making complaints directly to the 
licensing authority that should be available on their website. Ways to make 
complaint to the authority should be displayed in all licensed vehicles. This is likely 
to result in additional work for the licensing authority but has the advantage of 
ensuring consistency in the handling of complaints. Currently, it is more likely that 
a complaint against a taxi driver would be made directly to the licensing authority 
whereas a complaint against a private hire vehicle driver is more likely to be made 
to the operator. An effective partnership in which operators can share concerns 
regarding drivers is also encouraged.  

 Importantly, this approach will assist in the directing of complaints and 
information regarding the behaviour of drivers who may be carrying a passenger 
outside of the area in which the driver is licensed to the authority that issued the 
licence. In order for this to be effective licensing authorities must ensure that 
drivers are aware of a requirement to display information on how to complain and 
take appropriate sanctions against those that do not comply with this requirement. 

 In terms of investigating complaints CCTV footage of an incident can provide 
an invaluable insight, providing an ‘independent witness’ to an event. This can 
assist in the decision whether to suspend or revoke a licence. The potential 
benefits of mandating CCTV in vehicles is discussed in paragraphs 7.7 - 7.12. 

Overseas convictions 

Page 149



 

18 
 

 The DBS cannot access criminal records held overseas, only foreign 
convictions that are held on the Police National Computer may, subject to the 
disclosure rules, be disclosed. Therefore, a DBS check may not provide a 
complete picture of an individual’s criminal record where there have been periods 
living or working overseas; the same applies when an applicant has previously 
spent an extended period (three or more continuous months) outside the UK. It 
should however be noted that some countries will not provide an ‘Certificate of 
Good Character’ unless the individual has been resident for six months or more 

 Licensing authorities should seek or require applicants to provide where 
possible criminal records information or a ‘Certificate of Good Character’ from 
overseas in this circumstance to properly assess risk and support the decision-
making process (. It is the character of the applicant as an adult that is of particular 
interest, therefore an extended period outside the UK before the age of 18 may 
be less relevant. As with all licensing decisions, each case must be considered 
on its own merits. For information on applying for overseas criminal record 
information or ‘Certificates of Good Character’ please see the Home Office 
guidance. 

 Where an individual is aware that they have committed an offence overseas 
which may be equivalent to those listed in the annex to this document (Annex – 
Assessment of previous convictions), licensing authorities should advise the 
applicant to seek independent expert or legal advice to ensure that they provide 
information that is truthful and accurate. 

  

Page 150

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/criminal-records-checks-for-overseas-applicants


 

19 
 

5. Decision Making 
Administration of the licensing framework 

 A policy is only effective if it is administered properly. The taxi and private hire 
vehicle licensing functions of local councils are non-executive functions i.e. they 
are functions of the council rather than the executive (such as the Cabinet). The 
functions include the determination of licence applications, reviews and renewals, 
along with the attachment of conditions when considered appropriate. The 
function may be delegated to a committee, a sub-committee or an officer – which 
should be set out within a clear scheme of delegation. In London the taxi and 
private hire vehicle licensing function is undertaken by Transport for London. 

 Licensing authorities should ensure that all individuals that determine whether a 
licence is issued or refused are adequately resourced to allow them to discharge 
the function effectively and correctly. 

Training decision makers 

 All individuals that determine whether a licence is issued should be 
required to undertake sufficient training. As a minimum, training for a member 
of a licensing committee should include: licensing procedures, natural justice, 
understanding the risks of CSAE, disability and equality awareness and the 
making of difficult and potentially controversial decisions. Training should not 
simply relate to procedures, but should include the use of case study material to 
provide context and real scenarios. All training should be formally recorded by the 
licensing authority and require a signature from the person that has received the 
training. Training is available from a number of organisations including the 
Institute of Licensing and Lawyers in Local Government; the LGA may also be 
able to assist in the development of training packages. 

 Public safety is the paramount consideration but the discharge of licensing 
functions must be undertaken in accordance with the following general principles: 

• policies should be used as internal guidance, and should be supported 
by a member/officer code of conduct. 

• any implications of the Human Rights Act should be considered. 

• the rules of natural justice should be observed. 

• decisions must be reasonable and proportionate. 

• where a hearing is required it should be fairly conducted and allow for 
appropriate consideration of all relevant factors. 

• decision makers must avoid bias (or even the appearance of bias) and 
predetermination. 

• data protection legislation. 

Page 151



 

20 
 

 When a decision maker has a prejudicial interest in a case, whether it be financial 
or a personal relationship with those involved they should declare their interest at 
the earliest opportunity; this must be prior to any discussions or votes and, once 
declared, they must leave the room for the duration of the discussion or vote. 

The regulatory structure 

 It is recommended that councils operate with a Regulatory Committee or Board 
that is convened at periodic intervals to determine licensing matters, with 
individual cases being considered by a panel of elected and suitably trained 
councillors drawn from a larger Regulatory Committee or Board. This model is 
similar to that frequently adopted in relation to other licensing matters. To facilitate 
the effective discharge of the functions, less contentious matters can be delegated 
to appropriately authorised council officers via a transparent scheme of 
delegation. 

 It is considered that this approach also ensures the appropriate level of separation 
between decision makers and those that investigate complaints against licensees, 
and is the most effective method in allowing the discharge of the functions in 
accordance with the general principles referred to in 5.4. In particular, the 
Committee/Board model allows for: 

• Each case to be considered on its own merits. It is rare for the same 
councillors to be involved in frequent hearings – therefore the councillors 
involved in the decision making process will have less knowledge of previous 
decisions and therefore are less likely to be influenced by them. Oversight 
and scrutiny can be provided in relation to the licensing service generally, 
which can provide independent and impartial oversight of the way that the 
functions are being discharged within the authority. 

• Clear separation between investigator and the decision maker – this 
demonstrates independence, and ensures that senior officers can attempt to 
resolve disputes in relation to service actions without the perception that this 
involvement will affect their judgement in relation to decisions made at a later 
date. 

 Avoidance of bias or even the appearance of bias is vital to ensuring good 
decisions are made and instilling and/or maintaining confidence in the licensing 
regime by passengers and licensees. 

 Unlike officers, elected members are not usually involved in the day to day 
operation of the service and as such do not have relationships with licence holders 
that may give the impression that the discharge of a function is affected by the 
relationship between the decision maker and the licence holder.  

 Some licensing authorities may decide to operate a system whereby all 
matters are delegated to a panel of officers; however, this approach is not 
recommended and caution should be exercised. Decisions must be, and be seen 
to be, made objectively, avoiding any bias. In addition, it may be more difficult to 
demonstrate compliance with the principles referred to above due to the close 

Page 152



 

21 
 

connection between the officers on the panel, and those involved in the 
operational discharge of the licensing functions. 

 Whether the structure proposed is introduced or an alternative model is more 
appropriate in local circumstances, the objective should remain the same - to 
separate the investigation of licensing concerns and the management of the 
licence process. Regardless of which approach is adopted, all licensing 
authorities should consider arrangements for dealing with serious matters 
that may require the immediate revocation of a licence. It is recommended 
that this role is delegated to a senior officer/manager with responsibility for the 
licensing service. 

Fit and proper test 

 Licensing authorities have a duty to ensure that any person to whom they 
grant a taxi or private hire vehicle driver’s licence is a ‘fit and proper’ person to be 
a licensee. It may be helpful when considering whether an applicant or licensee 
is fit and proper to pose oneself the following question: 

Without any prejudice, and based on the information before you, would 
you allow a person for whom you care, regardless of their condition, to 
travel alone in a vehicle driven by this person at any time of day or night? 

 If, on the balance of probabilities, the answer to the question is ‘no’, the 
individual should not hold a licence. 

 Licensing authorities have to make difficult decisions but (subject to the points 
made in paragraph 5.4) the safeguarding of the public is paramount. All decisions 
on the suitability of an applicant or licensee should be made on the balance of 
probability. This means that an applicant or licensee should not be ‘given the 
benefit of doubt’. If the committee or delegated officer is only “50/50” as to whether 
the applicant or licensee is ‘fit and proper’, they should not hold a licence. The 
threshold used here is lower than for a criminal conviction (that being beyond 
reasonable doubt) and can take into consideration conduct that has not resulted 
in a criminal conviction. 

Criminal convictions and rehabilitation 

 In considering an individual’s criminal record, licensing authorities must 
consider each case on its merits, but they should take a particularly cautious view 
of any offences against individuals with special needs, children and other 
vulnerable groups, particularly those involving violence, those of a sexual nature 
and those linked to organised crime. In order to achieve consistency, and to 
mitigate the risk of successful legal challenge, licensing authorities should have a 
clear policy for the consideration of criminal records. This should include, for 
example, which offences would prevent an applicant from being licenced 
regardless of the period elapsed in all but truly exceptional circumstances. In the 
case of lesser offences, a policy should consider the number of years the authority 
will require to have elapsed since the commission of particular kinds of offences 
before they will grant a licence. 

Page 153



 

22 
 

 Annexed to this document are the Department’s recommendations on the 
assessment of previous convictions (Annex – Assessment of previous 
convictions). This draws on the work of the Institute of Licensing, in partnership 
with the LGA, the National Association of Licensing Enforcement Officers 
(NALEO) and Lawyers in Local Government, in publishing its guidance on 
determining the suitability of taxi and private hire vehicle licensees. 

 These periods should be taken as a starting point in considering whether a 
licence should be granted or renewed in all cases. The Department’s view is that 
this places passenger safety as the priority while enabling past offenders to 
sufficiently evidence that they have been successfully rehabilitated so that they 
might obtain a licence. Authorities are however reminded that applicants are 
entitled to a fair and impartial consideration of their application. 

 

  

Page 154



 

23 
 

6. Driver Licensing 
 
Criminality checks for drivers 

 Licensing authorities are entitled to request an enhanced criminal record 
certificate with check of the barred lists from the DBS for all driver licence holders 
or applicants. The DfT’s 2019 survey of taxi and private hire vehicle licensing 
authorities shows that all licensing authorities in England and Wales have a 
requirement that an enhanced DBS check is undertaken at first application or 
renewal.  

 All individuals applying for or renewing a taxi or private hire vehicle drivers licence 
licensing authorities should carry out a check of the children and adult Barred 
Lists in addition to being subject to an enhanced DBS check (in section x61 of the 
DBS application ‘Other Workforce’ should be entered in line 1 and ‘Taxi Licensing’ 
should be entered at line 2). All licensed drivers should also be required to 
evidence continuous registration with the DBS update service to enable the 
licensing authority to routinely check for new information every six months. Drivers 
that do not subscribe up to the Update Service should still be subject to a check 
every six months. 

 Driving a taxi or private hire vehicle is not, in itself, a regulated activity for the 
purposes of the barred list. This means that an individual subject to barring would 
not be legally prevented from being a taxi or private hire vehicle driver but the 
licensing authority should take an individual’s barred status into account alongside 
other information available. In the interests of public safety, licensing 
authorities should not, as part of their policies, issue a licence to any 
individual that appears on either barred list. Should a licensing authority 
consider there to be exceptional circumstances which means that, based on the 
balance of probabilities they consider an individual named on a barred list to be 
‘fit and proper’, the reasons for reaching this conclusion should be recorded. 

 Drivers working under an arrangement to transport children may be working in 
‘regulated activity’ as defined by the Safeguarding Vulnerable Groups Act 2006. 
It is an offence to knowingly allow a barred individual to work in regulated activity. 
The guidance on home-to-school travel and transport issued by the Department 
for Education should be considered alongside this document. Please see 
guidance on driver DBS eligibility and how to apply. 

Safeguarding awareness 

 Licensing authorities should consider the role that those in the taxi and private 
hire vehicle industry can play in spotting and reporting the abuse, exploitation or 
neglect of children and vulnerable adults. As with any group of people, it is 
overwhelmingly the case that those within the industry can be an asset in the 
detection and prevention of abuse or neglect of children and vulnerable adults. 
However, this is only the case if they are aware of and alert to the signs of potential 
abuse and know where to turn to if they suspect that a child or vulnerable adult is 
at risk of harm or is in immediate danger. 

Page 155

https://departmentfortransportuk.sharepoint.com/sites/BusTaxi/Taxis/Control%20of%20Taxis%20and%20PHV/STATUTORY%20GUIDANCE%20(2019)/FINAL%20VERSION%20DOCUMENTS%20(2019)/v.uk/government/statistics/taxi-and-private-hire-vehicle-statistics-england-2019
https://departmentfortransportuk.sharepoint.com/sites/BusTaxi/Taxis/Control%20of%20Taxis%20and%20PHV/STATUTORY%20GUIDANCE%20(2019)/FINAL%20VERSION%20DOCUMENTS%20(2019)/v.uk/government/statistics/taxi-and-private-hire-vehicle-statistics-england-2019
https://departmentfortransportuk.sharepoint.com/sites/BusTaxi/Taxis/Control%20of%20Taxis%20and%20PHV/STATUTORY%20GUIDANCE%20(2019)/FINAL%20VERSION%20DOCUMENTS%20(2019)/w.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2006/47/contents
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/home-to-school-travel-and-transport-guidance
https://www.gov.uk/dbs-check-applicant-criminal-record/get-a-standard-or-enhanced-dbs-check-for-an-employee


 

24 
 

 All licensing authorities should provide safeguarding advice and guidance to the 
trade and should require taxi and private hire vehicle drivers to undertake 
safeguarding training. This is often produced in conjunction with the police and 
other agencies. These programmes have been developed to help drivers and 
operators: 

• provide a safe and suitable service to vulnerable passengers of all ages; 

• recognise what makes a person vulnerable; and 

• understand how to respond, including how to report safeguarding concerns 
and where to get advice. 

 Since 2015, the Department for Education (DfE) has run a nationwide campaign 
– ‘Together, we can tackle child abuse’ which aims to increase public 
understanding of how to recognise the signs to spot and encourage them to report 
child abuse and neglect. The DfE continues to promote and raise awareness of 
the campaign materials through its online toolkit, for local authorities, charities and 
organisations for use on their social media channels. 

‘County lines’ exploitation 

 County lines is a term used to describe gangs and organised criminal networks 
involved in exporting illegal drugs (primarily crack cocaine and heroin) into one or 
more importing areas [within the UK], using dedicated mobile phone lines or other 
form of “deal line”.   

 Exploitation is an integral part of the county lines offending model with children 
and vulnerable adults exploited to transport (and store) drugs and money between 
locations.  Children aged between 15-17 make up the majority of the vulnerable 
people involved in county lines, but they may also be much younger. We know 
that both girls and boys are groomed and exploited and offenders will often use 
coercion, intimidation, violence (including sexual violence) and weapons to 
ensure compliance of victims.  Children exploited by county lines gangs may have 
vulnerabilities besides their age, such as broader mental health issues, disrupted 
or chaotic homes, substance misuse issues, being excluded from school or 
frequently going missing. 

 The National Crime Agency’s 2018 county lines threat assessment set out 
that the national road network is key to the transportation of county lines victims, 
drugs and cash; with hire vehicles being one of the methods used for 
transportation between locations. 

 Safeguarding awareness training should include the ways in which drivers 
can help to identify county lines exploitation. Firstly, they should be aware of the 
following warning signs: 

• Children and young people travelling in taxis or private hire vehicles alone; 

Page 156

https://urldefense.proofpoint.com/v2/url?u=https-3A__tacklechildabuse.campaign.gov.uk_&d=DwMFAg&c=troKkvwivNn_CddsvWCHHPiPoFoTgTGIbXJULvYU158&r=pWkfbO8wDT90SEXeF9GowY2JHpbVlJjhfIuWcSqpmQM&m=fFeqs4P7cc5j0MiDgA_vqM_PIud0cGnyoU8czGJMaZE&s=nMZ5f_AqK1I4Q_O6JJAKws40OkSXl3a3I8i2l5r8hUU&e=


 

25 
 

• travelling at unusual hours (during school time, early in the morning or late 
at night); 

• travelling long distances; 

• unfamiliar with the local area or do not have a local accent; 

• paying for journeys in cash or prepaid. 

 The Home Office is working with partners to raise awareness of county lines 
and has provided material to help taxi and private vehicle hire staff to identify 
victims and report concerns to protect those exploited through this criminal 
activity. 

 Drivers (or any person) should be aware of what to do if they believe a child 
or vulnerable person is at risk of harm. If the risk is immediate they should contact 
the police otherwise they should:  

• use the local safeguarding process, the first step of which is usually to contact 
the safeguarding lead within the local authority;  

• call Crime Stoppers on 0800 555 111. 

Language proficiency 

 A lack of language proficiency could impact on a driver’s ability to understand 
written documents, such as policies and guidance, relating to the protection of 
children and vulnerable adults and applying this to identify and act on signs of 
exploitation. Oral proficiency will be of relevance in the identification of potential 
exploitation through communicating with passengers and their interaction with 
others.  

 A licensing authority’s test of a driver’s proficiency should cover both oral and 
written English language skills to achieve the objectives stated above. 

  

Page 157

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/county-lines-posters-for-taxi-and-private-vehicle-hire-staff?utm_source=HO&utm_campaign=LA


 

26 
 

7. Vehicle Licensing 
 

 As with driver licensing, the objective of vehicle licensing is to protect the public, 
who trust that the vehicles dispatched are above all else safe. It is important 
therefore that licensing authorities are assured that those granted a vehicle 
licence also pose no threat to the public and have no links to serious criminal 
activity. Although vehicle proprietors may not have direct contact with passengers, 
they are still entrusted to ensure that the vehicles and drivers used to carry 
passengers are appropriately licensed and so maintain the safety benefits of the 
licensing regime. 

Criminality checks for vehicle proprietors 

 Enhanced DBS and barred list checks are not available for vehicle licensing. 
Licensing authorities should require a basic disclosure from the DBS and 
that a check is undertaken annually. Any individual may apply for a basic check 
and the certificate will disclose any unspent convictions recorded on the Police 
National Computer (PNC). Licensing authorities should consider whether an 
applicant or licence holder with a conviction for offences provided in the annex to 
this document (Annex – Assessment of previous convictions), other than those 
relating to driving, meet the ‘fit and proper’ threshold. 

 However, it is important that authorities acknowledge that in many cases 
individuals that license a vehicle may already be licensed as a driver. An authority 
which undertakes the biannual DBS checks recommended for its drivers should 
not require those seeking to licence a vehicle to provide a basic DBS check as 
part of the application process; a basic DBS would not provide any information in 
addition to that disclosed under the enhanced DBS and barred lists check used 
for the driver assessment. In these circumstances, the authority should instead 
rely on the fact that the applicant is considered as fit and proper to hold a driver 
licence when considering their suitability to hold a vehicle licence. Should the 
individual cease to hold a driver licence a basic certificate should be required 
immediately. 

 A refusal to license an individual as a driver or to suspend or revoke a driver 
licence does not automatically mean that that individual cannot be issued or 
continue to hold a vehicle or private hire vehicle operator licence; these decisions 
must be independent of a driver licence refusal and based on the appropriate 
information i.e. it should not consider information that would only be available via 
an enhanced DBS check but instead that which would be disclosed on a basic 
check. DBS certificate information can only be used for the specific purpose for 
which it was requested and for which the applicant’s full consent has been given. 

 Private hire vehicle operator and vehicle licences may be applied for by a 
company or partnership; licensing authorities should apply the ‘fit and proper’ test 
to each of the directors or partners in that company or partnership. For this to be 
effective private hire vehicle operators and those to whom a vehicle licence should 
be required to advise the licensing authority of any change in directors or partners. 

Page 158



 

27 
 

 As explained earlier in the context of driver licensing, the DBS cannot access 
criminal records held overseas so other checks must be consider where and 
applicant has lived or worked overseas (see paragraph 4.34 - 4.36). 

In-vehicle visual and audio recording – CCTV 

 Government has acknowledged the potential risk to public safety when 
passengers travel in taxis and private hire vehicles. It is unfortunately the case 
that no matter how complete the information available to licensing authorities is 
when assessing whether to issue any taxi or private hire vehicle licence, nor how 
robust the policies in place are and the rigor with which they are applied, it will 
never completely remove the possibility of harm to passengers by drivers. 

 The Department’s view is that CCTV can provide additional deterrence to prevent 
this and investigative value when it does. The use of CCTV can provide a safer 
environment for the benefit of taxi/private hire vehicle passengers and drivers by: 

• deterring and preventing the occurrence of crime; 

• reducing the fear of crime; 

• assisting the police in investigating incidents of crime; 

• assisting insurance companies in investigating motor vehicle accidents. 

 All licensing authorities should consult to identify if there are local circumstances 
which indicate that the installation of CCTV in vehicles would have either a 
positive or an adverse net effect on the safety of taxi and private hire vehicle 
users, including children or vulnerable adults, and taking into account potential 
privacy issues. 

 While only a small minority of licensing authorities have so far mandated all 
vehicles to be fitted with CCTV systems, the experience of those authorities that 
have has been positive for both passengers and drivers. In addition, the evidential 
benefits of CCTV may increase the level of reporting of sexual offences.  
According to the Crime Survey for England and Wales only 17 percent of victims 
report their experiences to the police, 28 percent of rape or sexual assault victims 
indicated that a fear they would not be believed as a factor in them not reporting 
the crime. The evidential benefits CCTV could provide are therefore an important 
factor when considering CCTV in vehicles.  

 The mandating of CCTV in vehicles may deter people from seeking a taxi or 
private hire vehicle licence with the intent of causing harm. Those that gain a 
licence and consider perpetrating an opportunistic attack against a vulnerable 
unaccompanied passenger may be deterred from doing so. It is however 
unfortunately the case that offences may still occur even with CCTV operating. 

 CCTV systems that are able to record audio as well as visual data may also 
help the early identification of drivers that exhibit inappropriate behaviour toward 
passengers. Audio recording should be both overt (i.e. all parties should be aware 
when recordings are being made) and targeted (i.e. only when passengers (or 

Page 159

https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/crimeandjustice/articles/sexualoffencesinenglandandwales/yearendingmarch2017#main-points


 

28 
 

drivers) consider it necessary). The recording of audio should be used to provide 
an objective record of events such as disputes or inappropriate behaviour and 
must not be continuously active by default and should recognise the need for 
privacy of passengers’ private conversations between themselves. Activation of 
the audio recording capability of a system might be instigated when either the 
passenger or driver operates a switch or button. 

 Imposition of a blanket requirement to attach CCTV as a condition to a licence 
is likely to give rise to concerns about the proportionality of such an approach and 
will therefore require an appropriately strong justification and must be kept under 
regular review. More information and guidance on assessing the impacts of CCTV 
and on an authority mandating CCTV is annexed to this document (Annex – CCTV 
guidance). 

Stretched Limousines 

 Licensing authorities are sometimes asked to license small (those 
constructed or adapted to carry fewer than nine passengers) limousines as private 
hire vehicles, these vehicles may be used for transport to ‘school proms’ as well 
as for adult bookings. It is suggested that licensing authorities should approach 
such requests on the basis that these vehicles – where they have fewer than nine 
passenger seats - have a legitimate role to play in the private hire trade, meeting 
a public demand. It is the Department’s view that it is not a legitimate course of 
action for licensing authorities to adopt policies that exclude limousines as a 
matter of principle thereby excluding these services from the scope of the private 
hire vehicle regime and the safety benefits this provides. A blanket policy of 
excluding limousines may create an unacceptable risk to the travelling public, as 
it may lead to higher levels of unsupervised operation. Public safety 
considerations are best supported by policies that allow respectable, safe 
operators to obtain licences on the same basis as other private hire vehicle 
operators.  

 Stretched large limousines which clearly seat more than eight passengers 
should not be licensed as private hire vehicles because they are outside the 
licensing regime for private hire vehicles. However, in some circumstances a 
vehicle with space for more than eight passengers can be licensed as a private 
hire vehicle where the precise number of passenger seats is hard to determine. 
In these circumstances, the authority should consider the case on its merits in 
deciding whether to license the vehicle under the strict condition that the vehicle 
will not be used to carry more than eight passengers, bearing in mind that refusal 
may encourage illegal private hire operation.  

  

Page 160



 

29 
 

8. Private Hire Vehicle Operator Licensing 
 

 As with driver licensing, the objective in licensing private hire vehicle operators is 
to protect the public, who may be using operators’ premises and trusting that the 
drivers and vehicles dispatched are above all else safe. It is important therefore 
that licensing authorities are assured that those that are granted a private hire 
vehicle operator also pose no threat to the public and have no links to serious 
criminal activity. Although private hire vehicle operators may not have direct 
contact with passengers, they are still entrusted to ensure that the vehicles and 
drivers used to carry passengers are appropriately licensed and so maintain the 
safety benefits of the driver licensing regime. 

Criminality checks for private hire vehicle operators 

 Enhanced DBS and barred list checks are not available for private hire vehicle 
operator licensing. Licensing authorities should request a basic disclosure 
from the DBS and that a check is undertaken annually. Any individual may 
apply for a basic check and the certificate will disclose any unspent convictions 
recorded on the Police National Computer (PNC). Licensing authorities should 
consider whether an applicant or licence holder with a conviction for offences 
provided in the annex to this document (Annex – Assessment of previous 
convictions), other than those relating to driving, meet the ‘fit and proper’ 
threshold. 

 However, it is important that authorities acknowledge that in many cases 
individuals that license as a private hire vehicle operator may already be licensed 
as a driver. An authority which undertakes the biannual DBS checks 
recommended for its drivers should not require those seeking a private hire 
vehicle operator licence to provide a basic DBS check as part of the application 
process; a basic DBS would not provide any information in addition to that 
disclosed under the enhanced DBS and barred lists check used for the driver 
assessment. In these circumstances, the authority should instead rely on the fact 
that the applicant is considered as fit and proper to hold a driver licence when 
considering their suitability to hold a vehicle licence. Should the individual cease 
to hold a driver licence a basic certificate should be required immediately 

 Refusal to license in individual as a driver or to suspend or revoke a driver licence 
does not automatically mean that that individual cannot be issued or continue to 
hold a private hire vehicle operator licence; this decision must be independent of 
a driver licence refusal and based on the appropriate information i.e. it should not 
consider information that would only be available via an enhanced DBS check but 
instead that which would be disclosed on a basic check. DBS certificate 
information can only be used for the specific purpose for which it was requested 
and for which the applicant’s full consent has been given. 

 A private hire vehicle operator licence may be applied for by a company or 
partnership; licensing authorities should apply the ‘fit and proper’ test to each of 
the directors or partners in that company or partnership. For this to be effective 

Page 161



 

30 
 

private hire vehicle operators should be required to advise the licensing authority 
of any change in directors or partners. 

 As explained earlier in the context of driver licensing, the DBS cannot access 
criminal records held overseas. Further information on assessing the suitability of 
those that have spent extended periods in overseas is provided in paragraphs 
4.34 - 4.36. 

Booking and dispatch staff 

 Private hire vehicle drivers are not the only direct contact that private hire vehicle 
users have with private hire vehicle operators’ staff, for example a person taking 
bookings (be it by phone or in person). A vehicle dispatcher decides which driver 
to send to a user, a position that could be exploited by those seeking to exploit 
children and vulnerable adults. It is therefore appropriate that all staff that have 
contact with private hire vehicle users and the dispatching of vehicles should not 
present an undue risk to the public or the safeguarding of children and vulnerable 
adults. 

 Licensing authorities should be satisfied that private hire vehicle operators can 
demonstrate that all staff that have contact with the public and/or oversee the 
dispatching of vehicles do not pose a risk to the public. Licensing authorities 
should, as a condition of granting an operator licence, require a register of 
all staff that will take bookings or dispatch vehicles is kept. 

 Operators should be required to evidence that they have had sight of a Basic DBS 
check on all individuals listed on their register of booking and dispatch staff and 
to ensure that Basic DBS checks are conducted on any individuals added to the 
register and that this is compatible with their policy on employing ex-offenders. 
DBS certificates provided by the individual should be recently issued when 
viewed, alternatively the operator could use a ‘responsible organisation’ to 
request the check on their behalf. When individuals start taking bookings and 
dispatching vehicles for an operator they should be required, as part of their 
employment contract, to advise the operator of any convictions while they are 
employed in this role. 

 The register should be a ‘living document’ that maintains records of all those 
in these roles for the same duration as booking records are required to be kept, 
this will enable cross-referencing between the two records. A record that the 
operator has had sight of a basic DBS check certificate (although the certificate 
itself should not be retained) should be retained for the duration that the individual 
remains on the register. Should an employee cease to be on the register and later 
re-entered, a new basic DBS certificate should be requested and sight of this 
recorded. 

 Operators may outsource booking and dispatch functions but they cannot 
pass on the obligation to protect children and vulnerable adults. Operators should 
be required to evidence that comparable protections are applied by the company 
to which they outsource these functions.  

Page 162

https://www.gov.uk/dbs-check-applicant-criminal-record/get-a-basic-dbs-check-for-an-employee


 

31 
 

  Licensing authorities should also require operators or applicants for a licence 
to provide their policy on employing ex-offenders in roles that would be on the 
register as above. As with the threshold to obtaining a private hire vehicle 
operators’ licence, those with a conviction for offences provided in the annex to 
this document (Annex – Assessment of previous convictions), other than those 
relating to driving, may not be suitable to decide who is sent to carry a child or 
vulnerable adult unaccompanied in a car. 

Record keeping 

 Section 56 of the Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976 

requires private hire vehicle operators to keep records of the particulars of every 
booking invited or accepted, whether it is from the passenger or at the request of 
another operator. Licensing authorities should as a minimum require private 
hire vehicle operators to record the following information for each booking: 

• the name of the passenger; 

• the time of the request; 

• the pick-up point; 

• the destination; 

• the name of the driver; 

• the driver’s licence number; 

• the vehicle registration number of the vehicle; 

• the name of any individual that responded to the booking request; 

• the name of any individual that dispatched the vehicle. 

 This information will enable the passenger to be traced if this becomes 
necessary and should improve driver security and facilitate enforcement. It is 
suggested that booking records should be retained for a minimum of six months. 

 Private hire vehicle operators have a duty under data protection legislation to 
protect the information they record. The Information Commissioner’s Office 
provides comprehensive on-line guidance on registering as a data controller and 
how to meet their obligations. 

Use of passenger carrying vehicles (PCV) licensed drivers 

 PCV licensed drivers are subject to different checks from taxi and private hire 
vehicle licensed drivers as the work normally undertaken, i.e. driving a bus, does 
not present the same risk to passengers. Members of the public are entitled to 
expect when making a booking with a private hire vehicle operator that they will 
receive a private hire vehicle licensed vehicle and driver. The use of a driver 
who holds a PCV licence and the use of a public service vehicle (PSV) such 

Page 163

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1976/57


 

32 
 

as a minibus to undertake a private hire vehicle booking should not be 
permitted as a condition of the private hire vehicle operator’s licence 
without the informed consent of the booker. 

 Where a private hire vehicle is unsuitable, for example where a larger vehicle 
is needed because more than eight passenger seats required or to accommodate 
luggage, the booker should be informed that a PSV is necessary, and that a PCV 
licenced driver will be used who is subject to different checks and not required to 
have an enhanced DBS check. 

Page 164



 

33 
 

9. Enforcing the Licensing Regime 
 

 Implementing an effective framework for licensing authorities to ensure that as full 
a range of information made available to suitably trained decision makers that are 
supported by well-resourced officials is essential to a well-functioning taxi and 
private hire vehicle sector. These steps will help prevent the licensing of those 
that are not deemed ‘fit and proper’ but does not ensure that those already 
licensed continue to display the behaviours and standards expected. 

Joint authorisation of enforcement officers 

 Licensing authorities should, where the need arises, jointly authorises officers 
from other authorities so that compliance and enforcement action can be taken 
against licensees from outside their area. An agreement between licensing 
authorities to jointly authorise officers enables the use of enforcement powers 
regardless of which authority within the agreement the officer is employed by and 
which issued the licence. This will mitigate the opportunities for drivers to evade 
regulation. Such an agreement will enable those authorities to take action against 
vehicles and drivers that are licensed by the other authority when they cross over 
boundaries. A model for agreeing joint authorisation is contained in the LGA 
Councillors’ handbook. 

Setting expectations and monitoring 

 Licensing authorities should ensure that drivers are aware of the policies that they 
must adhere and are properly informed of what is expected of them and the 
repercussions for failing to do so. Some licensing authorities operate a points-
based system, which allows minor breaches to be recorded and considered in 
context while referring those with persistent or serious breaches to the licensing 
committee. This has the benefit of consistency in enforcement and makes better 
use of the licensing committee’s time.    

 The provision of a clear, simple and well-publicised process for the public to make 
complaints about drivers and operators will enable authorities to target 
compliance and enforcement activity (see paragraphs 4.29 - 4.33). This will 
provide a further source of intelligence when considering the renewal of licences 
and of any additional training that may be required. It is then for the licensing 
authority to consider if any intelligence indicates a need to suspend or revoke a 
licence in the interests of public safety. 

Suspension and revocation of driver licences 

 Section 61 of the Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976 
provides a licensing authority with the ability to suspend or revoke a driver’s 
licence on the following grounds: -  

(a) that he has since the grant of the licence—  

Page 165

https://www.local.gov.uk/councillor-handbook-taxi-and-phv-licensing
https://www.local.gov.uk/councillor-handbook-taxi-and-phv-licensing


 

34 
 

(i) been convicted of an offence involving dishonesty, indecency or 
violence; or  

(ii) been convicted of an offence under or has failed to comply with 
the provisions of the Act of 1847 or of this Part of this Act; 

(aa) that he has since the grant of the licence been convicted of an 
immigration offence or required to pay an immigration penalty; or 

(b) any other reasonable cause 

 Licensing authorities have the option to suspend or revoke a licence should 
information be received that causes concern over whether a driver is a fit and 
proper person. Where the licence holder has been served an immigration penalty 
or convicted of an immigration offence the licence should be revoked immediately. 
Guidance for licensing authorities to prevent illegal working in the taxi and private 
hire vehicle sector has been issued by the Home Office. As with the initial decision 
to license a driver, this determination must be reached based on the balance of 
probabilities, not on the burden of beyond reasonable doubt.  

 Before any decision is made, the licensing authority must give full consideration 
to the available evidence and the driver should be given the opportunity to state 
his or her case. If a period of suspension is imposed, it cannot be extended or 
changed to revocation at a later date. 

 A decision to revoke a licence does not however prevent the reissuing of a licence 
should further information be received that alters the balance of probability of a 
decision previously made. The decision to suspend or revoke was based on the 
evidence available at the time the determination was made. New evidence may, 
of course, become available later. 

 New evidence may be produced at an appeal hearing that may result in the court 
reaching a different decision to that reached by the council or an appeal may be 
settled by agreement between the licensing authority and the driver on terms 
which, in the light of new evidence, becomes the appropriate course. If, for 
example, the allegations against a driver were now, on the balance of probability, 
considered to be unfounded, a suspension could be lifted or, if the licence was 
revoked, an expedited re-licensing process used. 

 A suspension may still be appropriate if it is believed that a minor issue can 
be addressed though additional training. In this instance the licence would be 
returned to the driver once the training has been completed without further 
consideration. This approach is clearly not appropriate where the licensing 
authority believes that, based on the information available at that time, on the 
balance of probability it is considered that the driver presents a risk to public 
safety. 

  

Page 166

https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/613415/A_Licensing_Authority_guide_to_right_to_work_checks_-_England_and_Wales.pdf


 

35 
 

Annex – Assessment of Previous Convictions 
 

Legislation specifically identifies offences involving dishonesty, indecency or violence as a 
concern when assessing whether an individual is ‘fit and proper’ to hold a taxi or private 
hire vehicle licence. The following recommendations to licensing authorities on previous 
convictions reflect this. 
 
Authorities must consider each case on its own merits, and applicants/licensees are 
entitled to a fair and impartial consideration of their application. Where a period is 
given below, it should be taken to be a minimum in considering whether a licence should 
be granted or renewed in most cases. The Department’s view is that this places passenger 
safety as the priority while enabling past offenders to sufficiently evidence that they have 
been successfully rehabilitated so that they might obtain or retain a licence.  

Crimes resulting in death 
Where an applicant or licensee has been convicted of a crime which resulted in the death 
of another person or was intended to cause the death or serious injury of another person 
they will not be licensed. 

Exploitation 
Where an applicant or licensee has been convicted of a crime involving, related to, or 
has any connection with abuse, exploitation, use or treatment of another individual 
irrespective of whether the victim or victims were adults or children, they will not be 
licensed. This includes slavery, child sexual abuse, exploitation, grooming, 
psychological, emotional or financial abuse, but this is not an exhaustive list. 

Offences involving violence against the person 
Where an applicant has a conviction for an offence of violence against the person, or 
connected with any offence of violence, a licence will not be granted until at least 10 
years have elapsed since the completion of any sentence imposed. 

Possession of a weapon 
Where an applicant has a conviction for possession of a weapon or any other weapon 
related offence, a licence will not be granted until at least seven years have elapsed 
since the completion of any sentence imposed. 

Sexual offences 
Where an applicant has a conviction for any offence involving or connected with illegal 
sexual activity, a licence will not be granted. 
In addition to the above, the licensing authority will not grant a licence to any applicant 
who is currently on the Sex Offenders Register or on any barred list. 

Dishonesty 
Where an applicant has a conviction for any offence where dishonesty is an element of 
the offence, a licence will not be granted until at least seven years have elapsed since 
the completion of any sentence imposed. 

  

Page 167



 

36 
 

Drugs 
Where an applicant has any conviction for, or related to, the supply of drugs, or 
possession with intent to supply or connected with possession with intent to supply, a 
licence will not be granted until at least 10 years have elapsed since the completion of 
any sentence imposed. 
Where an applicant has a conviction for possession of drugs, or related to the possession 
of drugs, a licence will not be granted until at least five years have elapsed since the 
completion of any sentence imposed. In these circumstances, any applicant may also 
have to undergo drugs testing for a period at their own expense to demonstrate that they 
are not using controlled drugs. 

Discrimination 
Where an applicant has a conviction involving or connected with discrimination in any 
form, a licence will not be granted until at least seven years have elapsed since the 
completion of any sentence imposed. 

Motoring convictions 
Hackney carriage and private hire drivers are professional drivers charged with the 
responsibility of carrying the public. It is accepted that offences can be committed 
unintentionally, and a single occurrence of a minor traffic offence would not prohibit the 
granting of a licence. However, applicants with multiple motoring convictions may 
indicate that an applicant does not exhibit the behaviours of a safe road user and one 
that is suitable to drive professionally.   
 
Any motoring conviction while a licensed driver demonstrates that the licensee may not 
take their professional responsibilities seriously. However, it is accepted that offences 
can be committed unintentionally, and a single occurrence of a minor traffic offence may 
not necessitate the revocation of a taxi or private hire vehicle driver licence providing the 
authority considers that the licensee remains a fit and proper person to retain a licence. 

Drink driving/driving under the influence of drugs 
Where an applicant has a conviction for drink driving or driving under the influence of 
drugs, a licence will not be granted until at least seven years have elapsed since the 
completion of any sentence or driving ban imposed. In the case of driving under the 
influence of drugs, any applicant may also have to undergo drugs testing at their own 
expense to demonstrate that they are not using controlled drugs. 
 

Using a hand-held device whilst driving 
Where an applicant has a conviction for using a held‐hand mobile telephone or a hand‐
held device whilst driving, a licence will not be granted until at least five years have 
elapsed since the conviction or completion of any sentence or driving ban imposed, 
whichever is the later. 
 

  

Page 168



37 

Annex – Disclosure and Barring Service information 

Table 1: Information included in criminal record checks 

Information included Type of check 

Basic 
check 

Standard 
DBS check 

Enhanced 
DBS check 

Enhanced DBS 
(including 
barred list) 

check 

Unspent convictions         Yes Yes Yes Yes 

Unspent cautions 1 Yes Yes Yes Yes 

Spent convictions2 No Yes Yes Yes 

Spent cautions 1 & 2   No Yes Yes Yes 

Additional police 
Information 3 

No No Yes Yes 

Barred list(s)       
Information 4 

No No No Yes 

1. Does not include fixed penalty notices, penalty notices for disorder or any other
police or other out-of-court disposals.

2. Spent convictions and cautions that have become protected under the
Rehabilitation of Offenders Act 1974 (Exceptions Order) 1975, as amended, are
not automatically disclosed on any level of certificate.  Further guidance is
available the DBS filtering guide.

3. This is any additional information held by the police which a chief police officer
reasonably believes to be relevant and considers ought to be disclosed.

4. This is information as to whether the individual concerned is included in the
children’s or adults’ barred lists maintained by the Disclosure and Barring Service
(DBS).

Page 169

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/dbs-filtering-guidance/dbs-filtering-guide


 

   38 
 

Annex – CCTV Guidance 
 

It is important to note that, in most circumstances, a licensing authority which mandates the 
installation of CCTV systems in taxis and private hire vehicles will be responsible for the 
data – the data controller. It is important that data controllers fully consider concerns 
regarding privacy and licensing authorities should consider how systems are configured, 
should they mandate CCTV (with or without audio recording). For example, vehicles may 
not be exclusively used for business, also serving as a car for personal use - it should 
therefore be possible to manually switch the system off (both audio and visual recording) 
when not being used for hire. Authorities should consider the Information Commissioner’s 
view on this matter that, in most cases, a requirement for continuous operation is unlikely 
to be fair and lawful processing of personal data. 
 
The Home Office ‘Surveillance Camera Code of Practice’ advises that government is fully 
supportive of the use of overt surveillance cameras in a public place whenever that use is: 

• in pursuit of a legitimate aim; 
• necessary to meet a pressing need; 
• proportionate; 
• effective, and; 
• compliant with any relevant legal obligations 

 
The Code also sets out 12 guiding principles which, as a ‘relevant authority’ under section 
33(5) of the Protection of Freedoms Act 2012, licensing authorities must have regard to. It 
must be noted that, where a licence is granted subject to CCTV system conditions, the 
licensing authority assumes the role and responsibility of ‘System Operator’. The role 
requires consideration of all guiding principles in this code. The failure to comply with these 
principles may be detrimental to the use of CCTV evidence in court as this may be raised 
within disclosure to the Crown Prosecution Service and may be taken into account. 
 
The Surveillance Camera Commissioner (SCC) has provided guidance on the Surveillance 
Camera Code of Practice in its ‘Passport to Compliance’ which provides guidance on the 
necessary stages when planning, implementing and operating a surveillance camera 
system to ensure it complies with the code. The Information Commissioner’s Office (ICO) 
has also published a code of practice which, in this context, focuses on the data governance 
requirement associated with the use of CCTV such as data retention and disposal, which it 
is important to follow in order to comply with the data protection principles. The SCC 
provides a self-assessment tool to assist operators to ensure compliance with the principles 
set of in the Surveillance Camera Code of Practice. The SCC also operate a certification 
scheme; authorities that obtain this accreditation are able to clearly demonstrate that their 
systems conform to the SCC’s best practice and are fully compliant with the Code and 
increase public confidence that any risks to their privacy have been fully considered and 
mitigated.  
 
The Data Protection Act 2018 regulates the use of personal data. Part 2 of the Data 
Protection Act applies to the general processing of personal data, and references and 
supplements the General Data Protection Regulation. Licensing authorities, as data 
controllers, must comply with all relevant aspects of data protection law. Particular attention 
should be paid to the rights of individuals which include the right to be informed, of access 

Page 170

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/surveillance-camera-code-of-practice
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2012/9/section/33/enacted
https://departmentfortransportuk.sharepoint.com/sites/BusTaxi/Taxis/Control%20of%20Taxis%20and%20PHV/STATUTORY%20GUIDANCE%20(2019)/FINAL%20VERSION%20DOCUMENTS%20(2019)/government/public
https://ico.org.uk/media/for-organisations/documents/1542/cctv-code-of-practice.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/surveillance-camera-code-of-practice-self-assessment-tool
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/surveillance-camera-code-of-practice-third-party-certification-scheme
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/surveillance-camera-code-of-practice-third-party-certification-scheme
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2018/12/contents/enacted


 

39 
 

and to erasure. The ICO has provided detailed guidance on how data controllers can ensure 
compliance with these. 
 
It is a further requirement of data protection law that before implementing a proposal that is 
likely to result in a high risk to the rights and freedoms of people, an impact assessment on 
the protection of personal data shall be carried out. The ICO recommends in guidance that 
if there is any doubt as to whether a Data Protection Impact Assessment (DPIA) is required 
one should be conducted to ensure compliance and encourage best practice. A DPIA will 
also help to assess properly the anticipated benefits of installing CCTV (to passengers and 
drivers) and the associated privacy risks; these risks might be mitigated by having 
appropriate privacy information and signage, secure storage and access controls, retention 
policies, training for staff how to use the system, etc.  
 
It is essential to ensure that all recordings made are secure and can only be accessed by 
those with legitimate grounds to do so. This would normally be the police if investigating an 
alleged crime or the licensing authority if investigating a complaint or data access request. 
Encryption of the recording to which the licensing authority, acting as the data controller, 
holds the key, mitigates this issue and protects against theft of the vehicle or device. It is 
one of the guiding principles of data protection legislation, that personal data (including in 
this context, CCTV recordings and other potentially sensitive passenger information) is 
handled securely in a way that ‘ensures appropriate security’, including protection against 
unauthorised or unlawful processing and against accidental loss, destruction or damage, 
using appropriate technical or organisational measures. 
 
All passengers must be made fully aware if CCTV is operating in a vehicle. Given that audio 
recording is considered to be more privacy intrusive, it is even more important that 
individuals are fully aware and limited only to occasions when passengers (or drivers) 
consider it necessary. The recording of audio should be used to provide an objective record 
of events such as disputes or inappropriate behaviour and must not be continuously active 
by default and should recognise the need for privacy of passengers’ private conversations 
between themselves. Activation of the audio recording capability of a system might be 
instigated when either the passenger or driver operates a switch or button. As well as clear 
signage in vehicles, information on booking systems should be introduced. This might be 
text on a website, scripts or automated messages on telephone systems; the Information 
Commissioner’s Office (ICO) has issued guidance on privacy information and the right to 
be informed on its website. 
  

Page 171

https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/individual-rights/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-data-protection/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/security/


 

40 
 

Annex - Staying Safe: Guidance for Passengers 
 
Licensing authorities should provide guidance to assist passengers in identifying licensed 
vehicles and the increased risks of using unlicensed vehicles. The guidance might include 
advice on: 
 

• how to tell if a taxi or private hire vehicle is licensed. 
 
Educate the public in the differences between taxis and private hire vehicles e.g.: 
 

• a taxi can be flagged down or pre-booked. 
• a private hire vehicle that has not been pre-booked should not be used as it will not 

be insured and may not be licensed. 
• what a private hire vehicle should look like e.g. colour, signage, licence plates etc. 
• the benefit of pre-booking a return vehicle before going out. 
• arrange to be picked up from a safe meeting point. 
• requesting at the time of booking what the fare is likely to be. 

 
When using a private hire vehicle, passengers should always: 
 

• book with a licensed operator. 
• confirm their booking with the driver when s/he arrives. 
• note the licence number. 
• sit in the back, behind the driver. 
• let a third party know details of their journey. 

 
When using a taxi, passengers should where possible: 
 

• use a taxi rank and choose one staffed by taxi marshals if available. 
 

Page 172



 
 

 
 
 

 

 

Licensing Committee 

Disclosure & Baring Service Checks 

Report of Executive Member for Neighbourhoods & Culture 

 

Officer contact:  John Garforth – Trading Standards & Licensing Manager 

Ext. 5026 

 

3rd November 2020   

 
Executive Summary 
Recently issued Government statutory guidance requires Licensing Authorities to 
conduct a Disclosure and Baring Service criminal records check every six months on 
licensed drivers. A new procedure has therefore been developed to facilitate this 
process.   
 
 
Recommendations 
That Members: 

1) Note the report; and 

2) Approve the procedure as outline in the report   

Page 173

Agenda Item 9



Page 2 of 7 Licensing Committee [3rd November 2020] 

 

Licensing Committee  3rd November 2020 
 
Disclosure & Baring Service Checks 
 
1. Purpose of the report 

1.1 The purpose of this report is to inform Members of the issuing of statutory 
guidance by the Government relating to criminal records checks on applicants 
for and existing private hire and hackney carriage driver licences.  

2. Introduction 

2.1 There reason for issuing of the guidance, as extracted from its introduction, is 
as follows: 

There is evidence to support the view that taxis and private hire vehicles are a 
high-risk environment. In terms of risks to passengers, this can be seen in abuse 
and exploitation of children and vulnerable adults facilitated and, in some cases, 
perpetrated by the trade and the number of sexual crimes reported which 
involve taxi and private hire vehicle drivers.  

3. Focus of the Guidance  

3.1 The Government intention behind issuing the guidance is to improve 
consistency of licensing policy and focuses attention on protecting children and 
vulnerable adults. 

3.2 The guidance states: 

  All individuals applying for or renewing a taxi or private hire vehicle drivers 
licence licensing authorities should carry out a check of the children and adult 
Barred Lists in addition to being subject to an enhanced DBS check (in section 
x61 of the DBS application ‘Other Workforce’ should be entered in line 1 and 
‘Taxi Licensing’ should be entered at line 2). All licensed drivers should also be 
required to evidence continuous registration with the DBS update service to 
enable the licensing authority to routinely check for new information every six 
months. Drivers that do not subscribe up to the Update Service should still be 
subject to a check every six months. 

 
 Driving a taxi or private hire vehicle is not, in itself, a regulated activity for the 

purposes of the barred list. This means that an individual subject to barring would 
not be legally prevented from being a taxi or private hire vehicle driver but the 
licensing authority should take an individual’s barred status into account 
alongside other information available. In the interests of public safety, licensing 
authorities should not, as part of their policies, issue a licence to any individual 
that appears on either barred list. Should a licensing authority consider there to 
be exceptional circumstances which means that, based on the balance of 
probabilities they consider an individual named on a barred list to be ‘fit and 
proper’, the reasons for reaching this conclusion should be recorded. 

 

  

Page 174



Page 3 of 7 Licensing Committee [3rd November 2020] 

 

 
4. Implementation of the Guidance 
 
4.1 Officers across Greater Manchester have discussed the guidance and firmly 

believe that there is no compelling reason not to implement the 
recommendations within it.  

 
4.2 In order to comply with the guidance and ensure that six monthly checks take 

place a procedure has been written. This includes those requiring a DBS check 
to register for the online service which will be a cheaper and quicker option of 
conducting checks every six months rather than submitting a full application 
every time.  

 
4.3 The procedure also covers the situation where an online check has failed or the 

driver has failed to apply for the online service in time (30 days) and enforcement 
action needs to be taken.  

 
4.4 A copy of the proposed procedure can be found at Appendix 1 of this report.   

 
5  Legal Services Comments 

5.1  Under section 57 of the Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976, 
the Council can require an applicant for a licence under the Town Police Clauses 
Act 1847 (in respect of hackney carriages) or the Local Government 
(Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976 (in respect of private hire vehicles and 
private hire operators) to submit such information as they may reasonably 
consider necessary to enable them to determine whether the licence should be 
granted or whether conditions should be attached to any such licence.  Any 
person aggrieved by the refusal to grant him a licence may appeal to the 
magistrates’ court.   

5.2  Under section 51 of the Act, the Council may attach such conditions to the grant 
of a private hire vehicle driver’s licence as the Council considers to be reasonably 
necessary.  Under section 55 of the Act, the Council may attach such conditions 
to the grant of a private hire operator’s licence as the Council considers to be 
reasonably necessary.  Any person aggrieved by any conditions attached to a 
private hire vehicle driver’s licence or private hire operator’s licence may appeal 
to the magistrates’ court (A. Evans) 

6  Co-operative Agenda 

6.1 The licensing process is in place not only to protect the public but also to support 
 and where necessary regulate businesses within the Borough. 

7  Environmental and Health & Safety Implications 

7.1  None 

8  Equality, community cohesion and crime implications 

8.1  None 

Page 175



Page 4 of 7 Licensing Committee [3rd November 2020] 

 

9  Equality Impact Assessment Completed? 

9.1  No  

10  Key Decision 

10.1 No  

11  Key Decision Reference 

11.1 N/A 

12  Background Papers 

12.1    None 

13.0  Appendices  

13.1 Appendix 1 – DBS Procedure 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 176



Page 5 of 7 Licensing Committee [3rd November 2020] 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Appendix 1 

 

PROCEDURE INVOLVING DISCLOSURE BARRING SERVICE 

(DBS) CERTIFICATION 
 
 

 
1.0 Purpose 

 
1.1 This document aims to outline the procedure involved for DBS applications 

and renewals and the requirement to sign up to the DBS Online Update 

Service. 
 

2.0 Background  
 
2.1 This procedure has been implemented to guide drivers and members of the 

Licensing Team in the correct way to process DBS applications and necessary 
actions where there is a failure to sign up to the DBS Update Service. 

 
3.0 Procedure 
 

3.1 Currently licensed Dual Drivers must apply for a new DBS a minimum of 8 
weeks prior to the expiry of their existing DBS, unless they are already 

registered to the DBS Update Service with their existing one. 
 
3.2 All applicants, whether licensed or otherwise, are required to apply for their 

DBS Certificate through Personnel Checks. Personnel Checks are an 
independent company who have been instructed by Oldham Council Licensing 

Service to accept and process DBS applications on behalf of the Council. The 
fee for the application must be paid directly to Personnel Checks. 

 

3.3 Document verification associated with the DBS application procedure must 
be carried out via the Post Office. Any associated fees with this process must 

be covered by the applicant. 

Page 177



Page 6 of 7 Licensing Committee [3rd November 2020] 

 

 
3.4 Applicants must provide their DBS Certificates to the Licensing Service within 

30 days of receipt. Within those 30 days the client must have registered for 
the DBS Update Service. Signing up to this service allows applicants to keep 

their DBS Certificates up to date and allows employers to check the 
certificate. 

 

3.5 At the time of writing this procedure the current timeframe for being able to 
register a DBS Certificate to the DBS Update Service is 30 days (from the 

date printed on the certificate).  
 
3.6 Where an applicant/driver fails to register their DBS Certificate to the DBS 

Update Service within those 30 days, they will be required to apply for and 
obtain a new DBS Certificate, via Personnel Checks, and sign up to the DBS 

Update Service upon receipt of the new certificate. 
 
3.7 Where a currently licensed Dual Driver fails to sign up to the DBS Update 

Service in time and is required to re-apply, the Licensing Service will allow 
the driver to continue to work under their original DBS Certificate providing 

they evidence they have made a second application within 7 days. Where the 
currently licensed Dual Driver refuses to submit a further DBS application, 

their Dual Driver Licence will be suspended until such time as they comply.  
 
3.8 Where a new applicant fails to sign up to the DBS Update Service in time and 

is required to reapply, the Licensing Service will allow the applicant to 
continue through the Licensing process, however, no licence shall be granted 

until such time as the new DBS Certificate is provided and the applicant has 
signed up to the DBS Update Service. 

 

3.9 It is the applicant/driver’s responsibility to keep the Update Service live by 
paying the annual amount to the DBS (£13) which will be charged to the 

credit/debit card they have registered with them. If the credit/debit card 
details change, the applicant/driver must update the details immediately on 
their account. 

 
3.10 In the instance where the applicant/driver’s DBS Update Service registration 

is terminated for any reason, and their DBS certificate is no longer part of 
the scheme, the applicant/driver must complete a new DBS application within 
7 days and pay the associated fee. Failure to do so will result in the Dual 

Driver Licence being suspended, or in the case of a new applicant, a Dual 
Driver Licence will not be granted, until such time as the applicant/driver 

complies. 
 
3.11 For all currently licensed Dual Drivers who already hold a DBS Certificate that 

is not registered to the DBS Update Service, the Licensing Service will allow 
those drivers to continue to be licensed. When a 3-year period has elapsed 

from the date on those DBS Certificates, the driver must comply with the 
directions of this procedure at such time as they renew their DBS.  

 

3.12 Any suspension or refusal of licence can be undertaken by the Principal 
Officer or Trading Standards & Licensing Manager.  

 

Page 178



Page 7 of 7 Licensing Committee [3rd November 2020] 

 

3.12 Only in exceptional circumstances, will the Licensing Office depart from this 
procedure.  

 
3.14 The commencement date for the procedure is ****  

 

 

Page 179



This page is intentionally left blank



 
 

 
 
 

 

 

Licensing Committee 

Licensed Driver Medicals 

Report of Executive Member for Neighbourhoods & Culture 

 

Officer contact:  John Garforth – Trading Standards & Licensing Manager 

Ext. 5026 

 

3rd November 2020   

 
Executive Summary 
This report requests that Members approve an amendment to the Council’s taxi and 
private hire licensing policy relating to driver medicals.  
 
 
Recommendations 
That Members: 

1) Note the report; and 

2) Approve the policy amendment as outlined in the report.  

Page 181

Agenda Item 10



Page 2 of 4 Licensing Committee [3rd November 2020] 

 

Licensing Committee  3rd November 2020 
 
Licensed Driver Medicals 

 

 
1. Purpose of the report 

1.1 The purpose of this report is to request that Members approve an amendment 
to the Council’s Taxi and Private Hire Licensing Policy relating to driver 
medicals. 

2. Introduction 

2.1 Elected Members, acting in their capacity as the Licensing Authority, set local 
policy on the licensing of both taxi and private hire drivers, amongst other things.  

2.2 As part of that policy a set of licensing standards are set in order to ensure that, 
upon licensing, a driver is a ‘fit and proper’ person. The is supported by 
legislation and national guidance and best practice guidance issued by the 
Government.  

2.3 Part of that vetting process is a medical standard, known as the Group 2 
medical, which is the commercial driver medical standard set by the 
Government, via DVLA, for those working in certain sectors.  

2.4 Our current policy states: 

The Council has adopted the Group 2 licence medical standard for licensed 
drivers.  
 
The medical certificate required by the Council requests medical practitioners to 
have regard to the guidelines issued by the DVLA on fitness to drive.  
 
 Medical certificates must be issued by a general practitioner who has had full 
access to the applicant’s medical notes and history.  
 
This rule is designed to ensure that full disclosure is made of the applicant’s 
medical condition.  Group 2 medical forms must be dated within the last three 
months.  
 
Any licence holder must, as soon as is reasonably practicable, notify the Council 

of any newly diagnosed medical condition which may restrict their entitlement to 

a driver’s licence requiring a DVLA Group 2 medical standard. 

 

 

 

 

Page 182



Page 3 of 4 Licensing Committee [3rd November 2020] 

 

3. Current Position 

3.1 Many general practitioners (GP’s) in medical centres are currently following the 
advice of the British Medical Association which is to not undertake private 
medicals. A few are still providing this service, but it is the exception rather than 
the rule. Officers are led to believe this guidance will be in place for some time 
to come. 

3.2 That leaves both licensed drivers and applicants in the difficult position in that 
they are unable to provide the Licensing Authority to a medical declaration of 
fitness.  

3.3 Since the outbreak of COVID-19 Officers have been allowing those who have 
been unable to provide a medical to self-declare any change in circumstances. 
This is not sustainable much longer. In addition, Officers have been reluctant to 
licence new drivers who are simply self-declaring as this could result in an 
inaccurate health picture being portrayed.  

3.4 In addition to the above new applicants have been turning to apply to other 
licensing authorities who have different rules around medicals. 

3.5 Members are therefore asked to amend policy to allow for Officer discretion to 
use private companies who offer medicals, with a GP performing it, but having 
seen a summary of medical records rather than a print of the whole medical file 
or record held by the patients own GP.  

3.6 This matter has been discussed at GM level and agreement has been reached 
that this is a path that Officers support with no evidence that this deviation of 
the full record requirement will have any impact on the performing of a medical 
to the Group 2 standard. This is only intended to be a short term measure. 

 
4 Legal Services Comments 

4.1 Under section 57 of the Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976, 
the Council can require an applicant for a licence under the Town Police Clauses 
Act 1847 (in respect of hackney carriages) or the Local Government 
(Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976 (in respect of private hire vehicles and 
private hire operators) to submit such information as they may reasonably 
consider necessary to enable them to determine whether the licence should be 
granted or whether conditions should be attached to any such licence.  Any 
person aggrieved by the refusal to grant him a licence may appeal to the 
magistrates’ court. (A Evans)  

5  Co-operative Agenda 

6.1 The licensing process is in place not only to protect the public but also to support 
 and where necessary regulate businesses within the Borough. 

6  Environmental and Health & Safety Implications 

6.1  None 

Page 183



Page 4 of 4 Licensing Committee [3rd November 2020] 

 

7  Equality, community cohesion and crime implications 

8.1  None 

8  Equality Impact Assessment Completed? 

8.1  No  

9  Key Decision 

9.1  No  

10  Key Decision Reference 

10.1 N/A 

11  Background Papers 

12.1    None 

13.0  Appendices  

13.1 None 

Page 184



 
 

 
 
 

 

 

Licensing Committee 

Licensing Act 2003 Policy Review 

Report of Executive Member for Neighbourhoods & Culture 

 

Officer contact:  John Garforth – Trading Standards & Licensing Manager 

Ext. 5026 

 

3rd November 2020   

 
Executive Summary 

The purpose of this report is to ask Members to consider the revised statement of 
licensing policy attached at Appendix I, and whether it should replace the Council’s 
existing licensing policy. 

 
 
Recommendations 
That Members: 

1) Note the report; and 

2) Comment on the proposed policy which is subject to consultation.  

Page 185

Agenda Item 11



Page 2 of 5 Licensing Committee [3rd November 2020] 

 

Licensing Committee  3rd November 2020 
 
Licensing Act 2003 Policy Review 

 

 
1. Purpose of the report 

1.1 The purpose of this report is to request that Members to consider the review to 
the Council’s Licensing Act 2003 Policy. 

2. Introduction 

2.1 The Licensing Act 2003 requires that licensing authorities prepare and publish 
a statement of its licensing policy every five years. The policy must be kept 
under review and the licensing authority may make such revisions to it, as it 
considers appropriate. Oldham Council adopted the current Statement of 
Licensing Policy on 15th December 2010 

2.2 The Councils Statement of Licensing Policy fulfils two principal purposes; firstly, 
it provides advice to business and the public on what the Council expects of 
those licensed under the Licensing Act 2003. Secondly, it provides a decision-
making framework for the Council via its Licensing Committee, and its Licensing 
Premises Panel, to exercise its quasi-judicial functions under the Act. These two 
principles mean the policy must strike the right balance between the legitimate 
needs of businesses and demand for leisure and cultural activities and the need 
to protect those adversely affected by licensable activities.  

2.3 The policy must balance these needs with a view to promoting the four statutory 
‘Licensing Objectives’, those being: - 

 the prevention of crime and disorder 

 public safety 

 the prevention of public nuisance; and  

 protection of children from harm  

2.4 Failure to achieve this balance could lead the policy to being, both overly 
prescriptive and open to challenge, or alternatively through a failure to promote 
the licensing objectives effectively, ineffective to the needs of those adversely 
affected by licensable activities.  

2.5 In drafting this policy, it is acknowledged that at the time of writing the country 
is facing a major public health crisis. The hospitality and leisure industry have 
endured significant disruption to their trading during the past few months and 
have suffered from closure, job losses and drops in income.  

 

 

Page 186



Page 3 of 5 Licensing Committee [3rd November 2020] 

 

2.6 Whilst the proposed policy cannot necessarily positively impact on the industry’s 
recovery it can assist businesses in ensuring they operate in a safe and 
compliant way. Officers will continue to support and advise businesses to 
underpin the licensing objectives. 

 

3. Proposed Revisions 

3.1 Following consideration of the Secretary of State’s guidance, discussions at 
Greater Manchester level and upon reviewing local and national priorities the 
following revisions have been made to the existing policy that came into effect 
in 2015. These are highlighted in red in the proposed policy. 

 Public Health 

 Suspension of a premises licence for non-payment of annual fees 

 Pavement licences 

 Boxing events 

 Child Sexual Exploitation 

 Pre-application consultation 

 Immigration 

 Model conditions 

 

4 Consultation   

4.1 The proposed Statement of Licensing Policy attached at Appendix I is subject 
 to consultation in accordance with the provisions of the Act. These require that 
 the Authority must consult with: 

a) the Chief Officer of Police; 

b) the Fire Authority; 

c) such persons as the licensing authority considers to be representative of 
holders of premises licences; 

d) such persons as the licensing authority considers to be representative of 
holders of club premises certificates; 

e) such persons as the licensing authority considers to be representative of 
holders of personal licences; and 

Page 187



Page 4 of 5 Licensing Committee [3rd November 2020] 

 

f) such other persons as the licensing authority considers to be representative 
of residents and businesses in the area 

4.2 Following consultation the proposed policy will be presented to the Overview and 
 Scrutiny Committee before being presented to Council for adoption. 

5 Legal Services Comments 

5.1 Every five years the Council must determine its policy with respect to the 
 exercise of its licensing functions and publish a Statement of Licensing 
 Policy.  The draft policy complies with the guidance issued under Section182 of 
 the Licensing Act 2003. (A. Evans) 

6 Co-operative Agenda 

6.1 The licensing process is in place not only to protect the public but also to support 
 and where necessary regulate businesses within the Borough. 

7 Environmental and Health & Safety Implications 

7.1 None 

8 Equality, community cohesion and crime implications 

8.1 None 

9 Equality Impact Assessment Completed? 

9.1 Yes 

10 Key Decision 

10.1 No  

11 Key Decision Reference 

11.1 N/A 

12 Background Papers 

12.1    None 

13.0  Appendices  

13.1 Appendix 1 – Proposed Licensing Act 2003 Policy 

 

 

 

 

Page 188



Page 5 of 5 Licensing Committee [3rd November 2020] 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 189



This page is intentionally left blank



 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Proposed 

Licensing Act Policy 

2021 - 2026 
 

 

 

 

 

 Alterations and additions to the current policy are highlighted in red 

 

Page 191



 

Page | 2  

 

Contents 

Introduction to Oldham                                                   3 

Background & Policy Statement                                            4 

Licensing Objectives  & Licensable Activities                                 6 

Prevention of Crime & Disorder                                            6 

Public Safety                                                          11 

Prevention of Public Nuisance                                            12 

Protection of Children from Harm                                         14 

Child Sexual Exploitation                                                17 

Selling Alcohol Responsibly                                             18 

Alcohol Delivery                                                       20 

Opening Hours                                                        20 

Cumulative Impact and Late Night Levy                                    21 

Early Morning Restriction Orders                                         22 

Boxing                                                               23 

Events                                                               24 

Public Health                                                          25 

Adult Entertainment                                                    25 

Operating Schedule & Conditions                                         25 

Planning                                                              26 

Compliance & Enforcement                                              27 

Pavement Licences                                                     27 

Processing Applications                                                 27 

Immigration                                                          27 

Contacts                                                             30 

Appendix 1 – Model Conditions                                           32 

                                                 

Page 192



 

Page | 3  

 

Introduction to Oldham 

Oldham covers some 55 miles2 and is situated to the North East of Manchester, in a pivotal position 

between the cities of Manchester and Leeds.  

Although Oldham is named after its largest town (Oldham), the borough includes the townships of 

Chadderton, Failsworth, and Royton, the village of Lees, and the parishes of Shaw and Crompton, 

and Saddleworth; making Oldham a mixture of high-density urban areas, suburbs, semi-rural, and 

rural locations, with a quarter of the borough lying within the Peak District National Park. 

Whilst the Town Centre is seen as the heart of Oldham; offering exceptional retail and commercial 

opportunities, there are a wide range of retail facilities available to residents and visitors within Shaw 

Town Centre, Royton Town Centre and the Saddleworth Villages. Oldham also offers a wide range of 

sports and leisure facilities, including leisure centres, art centres, theatres and museums. 

Oldham’s population is diverse, young, growing and benefits from excellent education and skills 

development opportunities at the University Campus Oldham, The Oldham College, Oldham Sixth Form 

College and the Regional Science Centre amongst others. 

Oldham is undergoing significant change, with the heart of this change being the Council’s vision to 

be a co-operative borough – one where the council works alongside partners, businesses and 

residents to transform Oldham in to a place that offers all the amenities local residents need and want, 

a place where businesses can thrive and offers attractions and events that draw visitors into the 

borough. 

With the arrival of the Metrolink, accessibility to the borough, in particular the Town Centre, has been 

radically improved, making Oldham a more accessible destination for visitors to the region.  

Oldham has also seen, and continues to see, significant financial investment, including: - 

 £430 million in housing;  

 £137 million in education; 

 £80 million in healthcare facilities; 

 Oldham College’s campus transformation programme; 

 Oldham Council’s - £100 million capital programme; 

 The Council’s purchase of the Town Square and Spindles Shopping Centre; 

    The re-location of the indoor market to create a new linear park. 

 

Page 193



 

Page | 4  

 

1. Background   

1.1 Premises and events licensed under the 

Licensing Act 2003 provide an invaluable 

contribution towards Oldham’s economy, 

and the Council recognises that a diverse 

licensed leisure and entertainment industry 

has a major role to play in helping the 

Council achieve its ambitions. 

1.2 Businesses licensed by the Authority 

provide social and community spaces, 

facilities for residents and corporate 

groups and are a vital support 

infrastructure for related sectors such as 

retail and tourism.  

1.3 As well as promoting a family led leisure 

and entertainment culture, the Council is 

keen to encourage a diverse range of 

premises catering for a wide range of age 

groups and uses. However, the Authority 

also recognises the problems that can be 

caused if licensed activities are not 

properly managed or well run.  

1.4 As such, this Licensing Policy Statement 

sets out the manner in which Oldham 

Council (the ‘Licensing Authority’) will 

consider applications for licences as 

required by the Licensing Act 2003 (‘The 

Act’); and sets out what the Authority 

expects of operators and how they can 

promote a wider cultural benefit to the 

residents of, and visitors to, Oldham.  

1.5 This policy takes into account guidelines 

issued by the Secretary of State for the 

Home Office under section 182 of the 

Licensing Act 2003. 

1.6 The policy supports Oldham Council’s 

corporate objectives:-  

 a productive place to invest where 

business and enterprise thrive; 

 confident communities where everyone 

does their bit; 

 a co-operative council creating 

responsive and high quality services; 

1.7 This policy came into effect on                        

and will remain in force for a period of five 

years. It can be reviewed both during that 

period and at the end of the period, with 

any changes being subject to statutory 

consultation. 

1.8 The interpretation of words and phrases in 

this Policy has the same meaning as those 

in the Act or in Guidance issued under 

section 182 of the Act. 

1.9 The Council has a number of different 

functions under the Act, including acting as 

both the Licensing Authority and as a 

number of different responsible bodies. 

For this reason, the Licensing Policy refers 

to the Council as the Licensing Authority 

and individual responsible bodies by their 

directorate name, notwithstanding they are 

also part of the same Council. 

2. Policy Statement 

2.1 The Authority maintains that licensing is 

about regulating the carrying on of 

licensable activities on licensed premises, 

by qualifying clubs and at temporary 

events within the terms of the Act; and that 

conditions attached to various 

authorisations will be focused on matters 

which are within the control of licence 

holders and others in possession of 

relevant authorisations. Accordingly, each 

application under the Act will be 

considered on its own merits; and no 

restrictive controls will be introduced or 

imposed unless they are felt to be 

necessary and appropriate.  

2.2 Nothing in this Statement of Policy 

prevents any one person or body applying 

for a variety of current permissions under 

the Act. Nor does it override the right of an 

Responsible Authority, other persons or 

businesses to make representations or 

seek a review of a licence or certificate 

where provision has been made for them 

to do so in the Act. 

Page 194



 

Page | 5  

 

2.3 In preparing and publishing this Policy 

Statement due regard has been given to 

the guidance issued by the Secretary of 

State under section 182 of the Act, and to 

good practice advice issued by approved 

government advisory bodies.  

2.4 The Authority recognises that any 

breaches of conditions attached to 

operating schedules automatically become 

criminal offences under section 136 of the 

Act and could lead to imprisonment for up 

to six months and/or a £20,000 fine for 

non-compliance. The penalties are high 

because such action could involve putting 

public safety at serious risk and particular 

care needs to be taken in both the 

decision to impose conditions and how 

they may be framed. 

2.5 The Authority will operate from a pool of 

conditions, most of which will not be 

relevant to most premises, but it will 

enable some clarity and consistency to be 

developed on conditions. This is not and 

must not be taken as a “checklist” of 

appropriate conditions and if an applicant 

determines that any of the pool of 

conditions are not relevant and there are 

no relevant representations received, the 

licence will be granted without those 

conditions being attached. There nothing 

to prevent an applicant framing their own 

conditions for consideration by the 

Authority and not using those from the 

pool of conditions. The Authority will be fair 

and vigilant in considering all applications.  

2.6 The Authority is committed to ensuring the 

highest levels of customer service for 

applicants, responsible bodies and 

interested parties. Our officers will always 

seek to assist applicants in completing 

applications and considering relevant 

conditions – particularly with a view to 

accommodating likely representations from 

residents and responsible bodies. This is 

an important part of building and 

enhancing the partnership between the 

Licensing Authority and the licensed trade 

and providing useful advice and 

assistance. Notwithstanding this advice, it 

will be a matter for the applicant to decide 

what conditions to volunteer and for 

responsible bodies and interested parties 

to seek additional conditions where 

appropriate to promote the licensing 

objectives. 

2.7 In general, the licensing process will take 

the following form: 

 the applicant addresses the licensing 

objectives through completion of the 

Operating Schedule; 

 if appropriate, the applicant ‘volunteers’ 

conditions through the Operating 

Schedule; 

 if a responsible body or an interested 

party feels that a particular licensing 

objective is not adequately addressed 

through the ‘Operating Schedule’, then it 

may make relevant representations to 

that effect; 

 if no relevant representations are made, 

then the application must be granted and 

the only conditions which can appear on 

the premises licence are those which 

have been volunteered by the applicant 

through the Operating Schedule; and any 

mandatory conditions specified within the 

Act; 

 if relevant representations are made the 

Licensing Authority’s discretion is 

engaged, enabling them to impose 

additional conditions which must be, 

appropriate to promoting the licensing 

objectives, proportionate; and address 

the other general principles set out in the 

Act, the Secretary of State’s Guidance 

and this Policy. 

2.8 This policy has regard to the Authority’s 

duties under section 17 of the Crime and 

Disorder Act 1998. (Duty to do all it 

reasonably can to exercise its functions 

with due regard to the likely effect on crime 

and disorder and the need to prevent it.) 

2.9 In undertaking its licensing functions, the 

Authority will ensure that at all times it 

pays due regard to its obligations under 

Page 195



 

Page | 6  

 

the Equalities Act 2010 and will ensure 

that the policy does not disproportionately 

impact of any particular equality group. As 

part of this a Stage 1 Equality Impact 

Assessment has been conducted.  

3. Consultation 

3.1 Consultation on this Policy took place 

between           ; and was carried out in 

accordance with Section 5(3) of the Act.  

4. Licensing Objectives  

4.1 In exercising its functions under the 

Licensing Act 2003, the Authority will have 

regard to the Licensing Objectives as set 

out in section 4 of the Act.  

4.2 The licensing objectives are:- 

a) the prevention of crime and disorder; 

b) public safety; 

c) the prevention of public nuisance; and  

d) the protection of children from harm;  

4.3 The Act places a duty on the Licensing 

Authority to carry out its functions under 

the Act with a view to promoting these 

objectives. 

4.4 Each of these objectives is considered to 

be of equal importance for the purposes of 

this policy. 

5. Licensable Activities  

5.1 The Authority’s statement of licensing policy 

relates to all licensing activities falling within 

the provisions of the Act, namely 

a) the sale by retail of alcohol; 

b) the supply of alcohol by or on behalf of a 

club to a member; 

c) the provision of ‘regulated entertainment’; 

and 

d) the provision of late night refreshment; 

5.2 The definition of what constitutes 

‘regulated entertainment’ is complex and 

has been (and remains) the subject of 

Government deregulation. Whilst 

‘regulated entertainment’ potentially covers 

live or recorded music, dancing, plays, 

films and certain types of sporting 

activities, the Act itself provides various 

exemptions and restrictions on the types of 

activities subject to licensing. 

5.3 Other legislation such as the Live Music 

Act 2012 has removed the ability of the 

Authority to regulate live music at certain 

times and in certain circumstances.  

5.4 At the time of writing this policy, further 

deregulation of certain other forms of 

regulated entertainment is planned 

primarily between the hours of 8.00am and 

11.00pm where that entertainment takes 

place before an audience of a prescribed 

size. 

5.5 It cannot be assumed therefore that a licence 

is required for all forms of entertainment or, 

even if a licence is required, that the 

Authority will necessarily have the power to 

impose restrictions or conditions on such 

entertainment. 

6. Prevention of Crime & 

Disorder 

6.1 Conditions attached to premises licences 

and club premises certificates will, so far 

as possible, reflect local crime prevention 

strategies. 

6.2 When addressing crime and disorder the 

applicant should initially identify any 

particular issues (having regard to their 

particular type of premises and/or 

activities), which are likely to adversely 

affect the promotion of the crime and 

disorder objective. Such steps, as are 

required to deal with these identified 

issues, should be included within the 

applicant’s Operating Schedule. 

Page 196



 

Page | 7  

 

6.3 When applicants for premises licences or 

club premises certificates are preparing 

their Operating Schedules or club 

Operating Schedules, or responsible 

authorities are considering such 

applications, or when licensing authorities 

are considering applications following the 

receipt of any relevant representations 

from a responsible authority or interested 

party, the following options will be 

considered as measures which, if 

appropriate, would promote the prevention 

of crime and disorder. 

6.4 Whether or not any risk assessment 

shows these options to be appropriate in 

the individual circumstances of any 

premises will depend on a range of factors 

including the nature and style of the 

venue, the activities being conducted 

there, the location of the premises and the 

anticipated clientele of the business 

involved. It is noted that many club 

premises operate under codes of discipline 

to ensure the good order and behaviour of 

members. 

6.5 Under no circumstances should the 

following measures be regarded as 

standard conditions to be automatically 

imposed in all cases. They are designed to 

provide a range of possible conditions 

drawn from experience relating to differing 

situations and to offer guidance. 

6.6 Any individual preparing an Operating 

Schedule is at liberty to volunteer any 

measure, such as those described below, 

as a step he or she intends to take to 

promote the licensing objectives. When 

incorporated into the licence or certificate 

as a condition, they become enforceable 

under the law and a breach of such a 

condition could give rise to prosecution. 

6.7 In certain premises where existing 

legislation does not provide adequately for 

the reduction of crime and disorder or the 

safety of the public or club members and 

guests, consideration may also be given to 

conditions that deal with: 

 crime prevention design, including 

adequate lighting and supervision of car 

parks; 

 door supervision, including arrangements 

for screening for weapons and drugs; 

 other measures to control violent, 

drunken or abusive behaviour (including 

exclusion of troublemakers; refusal to sell 

to those who are or appear to be drunk or 

under age; use of toughened or plastic 

glasses); 

 the removal from the premises of drinking 

vessels and bottles; 

 drug dealing or abuse; 

 prostitution or indecency; 

 discouraging drinking in public places in 

the vicinity of the premises; and 

 discouraging the handling and distribution 

of stolen, counterfeit non-duty paid or 

other illegal goods. 

6.8 The Authority accepts that only a small 

minority of customers are likely to behave 

badly and this policy should be viewed as 

part of a framework of measures that will 

be used to tackle anti-social behavioural 

problems in any area where licensed 

premises are situated. 

6.9 The ‘Town Centre Business Link’, a radio 

link connecting premises licence holders, 

designated premises supervisors, 

managers of premises and clubs to the 

local police, can provide for rapid response 

by the police to situations of disorder 

which may be endangering customers and 

staff on the premises. Such radios provide 

two-way communication, enabling licence 

holders, managers, designated premises 

supervisors and clubs to report incidents to 

the police, and enabling the police to warn 

those operating a large number of other 

premises of potential trouble-makers or 

individuals suspected of criminal behaviour 

who are about in a particular area. The 

Licensing Authority encourages licence 

holders to participate in the radio link 

scheme, but this will not be added as a 

condition of licences. 

Page 197



 

Page | 8  

 

6.10 The presence of CCTV cameras can be an 

important means of deterring and 

detecting crime at, and immediately 

outside licensed premises. Conditions will 

not just consider a requirement to have 

CCTV on the premises, but also the 

precise siting of each camera, the 

requirement to maintain cameras in 

working order, and to retain recordings for 

an appropriate period of time. The police 

can provide individuals conducting risk 

assessments when preparing Operating 

Schedules with advice on the use of CCTV 

to prevent crime. 

6.11 Drinks purchased in licensed premises or 

clubs may be taken from those premises 

for consumption elsewhere. Where 

premises are licensed for the sale of 

alcohol for consumption off the premises 

that would be entirely lawful. However, 

consideration should be given to a 

condition preventing the taking of alcoholic 

and other drinks from the premises in open 

containers (e.g. glasses and opened 

bottles). This may again be appropriate to 

prevent the use of these containers as 

offensive weapons in surrounding streets 

after individuals have left the premises. 

6.12 It may be appropriate to restrict the areas 

where alcoholic drinks may be consumed 

in premises after they have been 

purchased from the bar. An example 

would be at a sports ground where the 

police consider it necessary to prevent the 

consumption of alcohol on the terracing of 

sports grounds during particular sports 

events. Such conditions will not only 

specify these areas, but indicate the 

circumstances in which the ban would 

apply and times at which it should be 

enforced. 

6.13 Although most commonly made a 

condition of a licence on public safety 

grounds, consideration will also be given 

to conditions, which set capacity limits for 

licensed premises or clubs (or parts of 

those premises) where it may be 

appropriate to prevent overcrowding which 

can lead to disorder and violence. Where 

such a condition is considered appropriate, 

consideration should also be given to 

whether door supervisors would be 

needed to ensure that the numbers are 

appropriately controlled. 

6.14 It may be appropriate at some premises 

for notices to be displayed which warn 

customers of the prevalence of crime 

which may target them. Some premises 

may be reluctant to volunteer the display 

of such notices for commercial reasons. 

For example, in certain areas, a condition 

attached to a premises licence or club 

premises certificate might require the 

displaying of notices at the premises which 

warn customers about the need to be 

aware of pickpockets or bag snatchers, 

and to guard their property. Similarly, it 

may be appropriate for notices to be 

displayed which advise customers not to 

leave bags unattended because of 

concerns about terrorism. Consideration 

could be given to a condition requiring a 

notice to display the name of a contact for 

customers if they wish to report concerns. 

6.15 It may be appropriate for the normal hours 

under the terms of the premises licence or 

club premises certificate at which 

licensable activities are permitted to take 

place to be displayed on or immediately 

outside the premises so that it is clear if 

breaches of the terms of the licence or 

certificate are taking place. 

6.16 Similarly, it may be appropriate for any 

restrictions on the admission of children to 

be displayed on or immediately outside the 

premises so that the consequences of 

breaches of these conditions would also 

be clear and to deter those who might 

seek admission in breach of those 

conditions. 

Page 198



 

Page | 9  

 

6.17 Large capacity “vertical drinking” premises, 

sometimes called High Volume Vertical 

Drinking establishments (HVVDs), are 

premises with exceptionally high 

capacities, used primarily or exclusively for 

the sale and consumption of alcohol, and 

have little or no seating for patrons. Where 

appropriate, conditions can be attached to 

premises licences for the promotion of the 

prevention of crime and disorder at such 

premises (if not volunteered by the venue 

operator and following representations on 

such grounds) which require adherence to: 

 a prescribed capacity; 

 an appropriate ratio of tables and chairs 

to customers based on the capacity; and 

 the presence of SIA registered security 

teams to control entry for the purpose of 

compliance with the capacity limit; 

Glass Control 

6.18 Glass can be a major factor in 

disturbances around licensed premises 

and the Authority may impose special 

conditions on certain types of venue in 

relation to glass control both within the 

premises, at disposal points and through 

unauthorised removal of glass from the 

premises. 

6.19 In particular, the Authority may consider it 

appropriate to ensure licensed premises 

have regular glass collection services in 

certain types of venue and keep control of 

waste bottle/glass receptacles. 

6.20 Glass bottles may be used as weapons 

inflicting more serious harm during 

incidents of disorder. A condition can 

prevent sales of drinks in glass bottles for 

consumption on the premises. Any 

condition requiring that no sales of 

beverages in glass bottles for consumption 

on the premises should be expressed in 

clear terms and include the following 

elements: 

 no bottles containing beverages of any 

kind, whether open or sealed, shall be 

given to customers on the premises 

whether at the bar or by staff service 

away from the bar; 

 no customers carrying open or sealed 

bottles shall be admitted to the premises 

at any time that the premises are open to 

the public (note: this needs to be carefully 

worded where off-sales also take place); 

6.21 In appropriate circumstances, the 

condition could include exceptions, for 

example:  

 bottles containing wine, being sold for 

consumption with a table meal by 

customers who are seated in an area set 

aside from the main bar area for the 

consumption of food; 

6.22 Glasses containing drinks may be used as 

weapons during incidents of disorder and 

in un-toughened form can cause very 

serious injuries. Therefore consideration 

could be given to conditions requiring 

either the use of plastic containers or 

toughened glass which inflicts less severe 

injuries. Location and style of the venue 

and the activities carried on there would be 

particularly important in assessing whether 

a condition is necessary. For example,  

 the use of glass containers on the 

terraces of some outdoor sports grounds  

 indoor sports events such as boxing 

matches.  

 the use plastic containers or toughened 

glass during televised sporting events, 

such as international football matches,  

6.23 It should be noted that the use of plastic or 

paper drinks containers and toughened glass 

may also be relevant as measures 

appropriate to promote public safety. 

Page 199



 

Page | 10  

 

Door Supervision  

6.24 Conditions relating to the provision of door 

supervisors and security teams are 

valuable in town centre locations and 

premises operating after 11.00pm in: 

 preventing the admission and ensuring 

the departure from the premises of the 

drunk and disorderly, without causing 

further disorder; 

 keeping out excluded individuals (subject 

to court bans or imposed by the licence 

holder); 

 searching and excluding those suspected 

of carrying illegal drugs, or carrying 

offensive weapons; and 

 maintaining orderly queuing outside of 

venues prone to such queuing. 

6.25 Where door supervisors conducting 

security activities are to be a condition of a 

licence, conditions may also need to deal 

with the number of such supervisors, the 

displaying of name badges, the carrying of 

proof of registration, where and at what 

times they should be stationed on the 

premises, and whether at least one female 

supervisor should be available (for 

example, if female customers are to be the 

subject of body searches). Door 

supervisors also have a role to play in 

ensuring public safety.  

6.26 All door supervisors employed at licensed 

premises will need to be registered with the 

Security Industry Authority or, if 

superseded, its successor; and will be 

expected to display their identification as 

issued by the Security Industry Authority. 

Drugs 

6.27 In light of relevant representations 

received, special conditions may be 

imposed for certain types of venues to 

prevent the sale and consumption of drugs 

and to create a safer environment for those 

who may have taken them. In all cases 

where these conditions are to be imposed, 

advice will be taken from the Oldham Drug 

and Alcohol Action Team and the Police. 

6.28 The Authority may also impose special 

conditions for certain types of venue 

relating to access for customers to drug 

testing kits, particularly for the prevention of 

drug assisted sexual assault. In all cases 

where these conditions are to be imposed, 

advice will be taken from the Oldham Drug 

and Alcohol Action Team and the Police. 

6.29 The role of club owners, managers and 

event promoters is to ensure that all 

aspects of their venue are designed and 

run in ways, which maximize the safety of 

customers, performers and staff. Any 

conditions relating to these types of venues 

will take into account the "Safer Clubbing" 

guidelines issued by the Home Office and 

annexes J and K of the guidance issued 

under section 182 of the Licensing Act 

2003. 

6.30 Key activities of club owners, managers 

and event promoters include:- 

 communicating all safety requirements 

clearly to performers ensuring that they 

are familiar with and understand the 

safety requirements for the venue; 

 developing a constructive working 

relationship with licensing authority 

officers and police officers with licensing 

responsibilities; 

 developing a venue drug policy in 

consultation with licensing and police 

officers; 

 ensuring that all staff are aware of their 

responsibilities within the drug policy and 

that they receive training and support to 

discharge these fully; 

 employing door supervisors from a 

reputable company and with Security 

Industry Authority accreditation; 

 employing experienced and fully trained 

first aiders; 

 providing free and easily accessible 

supplies of cold water and ensuring the 

provision of water is supervised to prevent 

contamination of water by others; 

 liaising with appropriate drug service 

Page 200



 

Page | 11  

 

personnel to provide training to staff, and 

information, advice and support to 

clubbers; 

 considering inviting and supporting drug 

outreach work, including integrating 

outreach workers into the staff team; 

 sharing intelligence on drug use and drug 

dealing with police officers and other local 

venues;  

 informing clubbers of their rights and 

responsibilities, and encouraging 

feedback on safety issues; 

  considering the provision of safe transport 

home; 

 ensuring that all staff are aware of the law 

and the responsibilities of the club to work 

within it. 

7. Public Safety 

7.1 Fire precautions and means of escape from 

licensed premises are particularly 

important. Large numbers of people, some 

of whom may be under the influence of 

alcohol, must be safely contained, 

managed and, if necessary, evacuated 

from premises. Due regard must be had to 

these issues. The attachment of conditions 

to a premises licence or club premises 

certificate will not in any way relieve 

employers of the statutory duty to comply 

with the requirements of other legislation 

including the Health and Safety at Work 

etc. Act 1974, associated regulations and 

especially the requirements under the 

Management of Health and Safety at Work 

Regulations 1999 and the Regulatory 

Reform Fire Safety Order 2005 to 

undertake risk assessments. Employers 

should assess the risks, including risks 

from fire, and take measures necessary to 

avoid and control these risks.  

7.2 When addressing public safety the 

applicant should initially identify any 

particular issues (having regard to their 

particular type of premises and/or 

activities), which are likely to adversely 

affect the promotion of the public safety 

objective. Such steps as are required to 

deal with these identified issues should be 

included within the applicant’s Operating 

Schedule. 

7.3 It is also recognised that special issues 

may arise in connection with outdoor and 

large scale events. Whether or not any risk 

assessment shows any of the measures to 

be necessary in the individual 

circumstances of any premises will depend 

on a range of factors including the nature 

and style of the venue, the activities being 

conducted there, the location of the 

premises and the anticipated clientele of 

the business involved. 

7.4 However, in consulting these texts, some of 

which were prepared prior to the coming 

into force of the Licensing Act 2003, those 

creating Operating Schedules or club 

Operating Schedules, licensing authorities 

and responsible authorities should again 

note that under no circumstances should 

any conditions be regarded as standard for 

all premises. 

7.5 Fire safety guides can be purchased from 

any good book shop or downloaded free 

from http://www.manchesterfire.gov.uk/  

7.6 For Health and Safety advice please refer 

to the Health and Safety Executives 

website at http://www.hse.gov.uk/  

7.7 Any individual preparing an Operating 

Schedule or club Operating Schedule is at 

liberty to volunteer any measure, such as 

those described below, as a step he or she 

intends to take to promote the licensing 

objectives.  

7.8 In certain premises where existing 

legislation does not provide adequately for 

the safety of the staff or others lawfully on 

the premises, consideration should also be 

given to conditions that deal with Living 

accommodation attached to or accessed 

via Licensed Premises, such as: 

 ensuring that sufficient fire safety 

arrangements are in place to detect and 

Page 201

http://www.hse.gov.uk/


 

Page | 12  

 

warn occupants and all other relevant 

persons 

 ensuring adequate fire separation and 

means of escape is provided between the 

mixes use premises. 

In certain premises where existing 

legislation does not provide adequately for 

the safety of the public, consideration might 

also be given to conditions that ensure that: 

 when disabled people are present, 

adequate arrangements exist to enable 

their safe evacuation in the event of an 

emergency; and 

 disabled people on the premises are 

made aware of those arrangements. 

7.9 Premises should not be altered in such a 

way as to make it impossible to comply with 

an existing licence condition without first 

seeking a variation of the premises licence 

proposing the deletion of the condition 

relating to public safety in question. The 

applicant will need to propose in a new 

Operating Schedule reflecting the proposed 

alteration to the premises how he or she 

intends to take alternative steps to promote 

the public safety objective. The application 

for variation will enable the responsible 

authorities with expertise in safety matters 

to consider whether the proposal is 

acceptable. 

7.10 The use of special effects in venues of all 

kinds being used for regulated 

entertainment is increasingly common and 

can present significant risks. Any special 

effects or mechanical installation should be 

arranged and stored so as to minimise any 

risk to the safety of the audience, the 

performers and staff. Specials effects which 

should be considered include: 

 dry ice machines and cryogenic fog; 

 smoke machines and fog generators; 

 pyrotechnics, including fireworks; 

 real flame; 

 firearms; 

 motor vehicles; 

 strobe lighting; 

 lasers (see HSE Guide The Radiation 

Safety of lasers used for display purposes 

[HS(G)95] and BS EN 60825: Safety of 

laser products); 

 explosives and highly flammable 

substances; 

7.11 In certain circumstances, it may be 

appropriate to require that certain special 

effects are only used with the prior 

notification of the licensing authority or the 

fire authority. 

7.12 In certain premises where existing 

legislation does not provide adequately for 

the safety of the public or club members 

and guests, consideration might also be 

given to conditions that deal with: 

 the adequacy of transportation 

arrangements to ensure customers are 

able to travel safely to and from the 

premises (including procedures for 

preventing people from consuming excess 

alcohol and driving); 

 ensuring that any arrangements or 

advertising of taxis and private hire 

vehicles only relate to such vehicles 

licensed by the Authority; 

8. Public Nuisance  

8.1 The Act covers a wide variety of premises 

that require licences, including cinemas, 

concert halls, theatres, nightclubs, public 

houses, cafes, restaurants, fast food outlets 

and takeaways. Each of these premises will 

present a mixture of risks, with many 

common to most premises and others 

unique to specific operations. It is essential 

that premises are constructed or adapted 

and maintained so as to acknowledge and 

safeguard occupants against these risks as 

far as is practicable. 

Page 202



 

Page | 13  

 

8.2 When addressing public nuisance the 

applicant should initially identify any 

particular issues (having regard to their 

particular type of premises and/or 

activities), which are likely to adversely 

affect the promotion of the public nuisance 

objective. Such steps as are required to 

deal with these identified issues should be 

included within the applicant’s Operating 

Schedule. 

8.3 If relevant representations are received, the 

Authority may impose conditions to prevent 

nuisance, noise, disturbance, light pollution, 

noxious smells, vermin and pest 

infestations and accumulations of rubbish 

and litter. 

8.4 When applicants for premises licences or 

club premises certificates are preparing 

their Operating Schedules or club 

Operating Schedules, or responsible 

authorities are considering such 

applications or licensing authorities are 

considering applications following the 

receipt of relevant representations from a 

responsible authority or interested party, 

the following options should be considered 

as measures that, if necessary, would 

promote the prevention of public nuisance. 

Whether or not any risk assessment shows 

them to be necessary in the individual 

circumstances of any premises will depend 

on a range of factors including the nature 

and style of the venue, the activities being 

conducted there, the location of the 

premises and the anticipated clientele of 

the business involved. 

8.5 In certain premises where existing 

legislation does not provide adequately for 

the prevention of public nuisance, 

consideration might be given to conditions 

that ensure that: 

 noise or vibration does not emanate from 

the premises so as to cause a nuisance to 

nearby properties. This might be achieved 

by a simple requirement to keep doors 

and windows at the premises closed, or to 

use noise limiters on amplification 

equipment used at the premises; 

 prominent, clear and legible notices are 

displayed at all exits requesting the public 

to respect the needs of local residents and 

to leave the premises and the area 

quietly; 

 the use of explosives, pyrotechnics and 

fireworks of a similar nature which could 

cause disturbance in surrounding areas 

are restricted (particularly ensuring that 

firework parties are not managed by 

persons consuming alcohol, that adequate 

safety precautions are in place, that 

fireworks are not set off between 2300hrs 

and 0700hrs (except on 31st December/1st 

January); and 

 the placing of refuse – such as bottles – 

into receptacles outside the premises 

takes place at times that will minimise the 

disturbance to nearby properties. 

8.6 In certain premises where existing 

legislation does not provide adequately for 

the prevention of public nuisance, 

consideration might be given to conditions 

that ensure that noxious smells from 

licensed premises are not permitted so as 

to cause a nuisance to nearby properties 

and the premises are properly vented. 

8.7 In certain premises where existing 

legislation does not provide adequately for 

the prevention of public nuisance, 

consideration might be given to conditions 

that ensure that flashing or particularly 

bright lights on or outside licensed 

premises do not cause a nuisance to 

nearby properties. Any such condition will 

be balanced against the benefits to the 

prevention of crime and disorder of bright 

lighting in certain places. 

8.8 Conditions may include restrictions on the 

times when music or other licensable 

activities may take place and may include 

technical restrictions on sound levels at the 

premises. Conditions may be imposed 

requiring licensees to display signs at all 

exits of premises reminding customers to 

leave premises quietly and to respect the 

rights of nearby residents.

Page 203



 

Page | 14  

 

9. Protection of Children 

from Harm 

9.1 The Authority recognises the wide variety 

of premises for which licences may be 

granted. It also recognises that there are 

many circumstances where it is appropriate 

for children to be present on licensed 

premises and seeks to encourage their 

access to constructive leisure pursuits, 

which support the social fabric of the 

Borough. It also recognises that there are 

circumstances where it is appropriate to 

limit or prevent access by children for the 

prevention of harm. 

9.2 When addressing the protection of children, 

the applicant should initially identify any 

particular issues (having regard to their 

particular type of premises and/or 

activities), which are likely to cause 

concern in relation to children. Such steps 

as are required to deal with these identified 

concerns should be included within the 

applicant’s Operating Schedule. 

9.3 The Authority will not impose conditions, 

which restrict or prevent access by children 

unless this is appropriate to promote the 

‘licensing objectives’.  

 in determining a ‘specified cut-off time’, 

the Authority will take into account: 

 the concerns of responsible authorities 

and interested persons who have made 

representations; 

 the steps set out in an operating schedule 

which the licensee will take to protect 

children from harm on such premises; and 

 the type of event for which no age 

restriction may be needed e.g. family 

entertainment; non alcohol events. 

9.4 In respect of all licensed premises where 

alcohol is usually supplied for consumption 

on the premises and in the light of any 

relevant representations being received, 

very careful consideration will be given by 

the Authority before permitting children 

under 16 years, who are unaccompanied 

by an adult, to be or remain on the 

premises after 9:00pm; even when there 

are no supplies of alcohol taking place 

(such as ‘teen discos’ etc). This is intended 

as an upper limit and does not imply that 

this limit will be permitted for all relevant 

applications. In any event each case will be 

dealt with on its own merits. 

9.5 There will be a strong presumption against 

access by persons under 18 to premises 

where any of the following apply: 

 convictions for serving alcohol to minors 

or premises with a reputation for, or 

inadequate arrangements to deter, under-

age drinking; 

 a known association with, or inadequate 

arrangements to deter, drug taking or 

dealing; 

 a strong element of gambling on the 

premises; 

 entertainment of an adult or sexual nature 

is provided; 

 inadequate arrangements to protect 

children from supply and use of other 

products which it is illegal to supply to 

children or the harmful effects of passive 

smoking; or 

 in the opinion of the Authority, there are 

inadequate controls on the times during 

which children may be present on the 

premises; 

9.6 The Authority’s options would include, 

amongst other things: 

 limitations on the hours when children 

may be present; 

 age limitations below 18; 

 limitations or exclusions when certain 

activities are taking place; 

 access limited to parts of the premises; 

 Requirements for accompanying adults; 

and 

 full exclusion of people under 18 from the 

premises when any licensable activities 

are taking place. 

 

Page 204



 

Page | 15  

 

9.7 No conditions will be imposed to the effect 

that children must be admitted to licensed 

premises. 

9.8 In certain premises where existing 

legislation does not provide adequately for 

the protection of children from harm, 

consideration might also be given to 

conditions that deal with: 

 the prevention of unlawful supply, 

consumption and use of alcohol and drugs 

and any other products that it is illegal to 

supply to children; and 

 premises restrictions on the access by 

children to the whole or any part of the 

premises, including times when children 

may not be present; 

9.9 Under the Act a wide variety of licensable 

activities could take place at various types 

of premises and at different times of the 

day and night. Whilst it may be appropriate 

to allow children unrestricted access at 

particular times and when certain activities 

are not taking place, the Authority following 

relevant representations made by 

responsible authorities and interested 

parties, will consider a range of conditions 

that are tailored to the particular premises 

and their activities where these are 

necessary. These could include: 

 the hours of day during which age 

restrictions should and should not apply. 

For example, the fact that adult 

entertainment may be presented at 

premises after 8.00pm does not mean that 

it would be necessary to impose age 

restrictions for earlier parts of the day; 

 types of event or activity in respect of 

which no age restrictions may be needed, 

for example family entertainment or non-

alcohol events for young age groups, such 

as under 18s dances; and/or 

 Similarly, types of event or activity, which 

give rise to a more acute need for age 

restrictions than normal, for example; 

during “Happy Hours” or on drinks 

promotion nights. 

9.10 Proof of age cards are relevant to both the 

prevention of crime and disorder and the 

protection of children from harm. However, 

where necessary and appropriate, a 

requirement for the production of proof of 

age cards before any sale of alcohol is 

made could be attached to any premises 

licence or club premises certificate for the 

protection of children from harm. Any such 

requirement will not be limited to 

recognised “proof of age” cards, but allow 

for the production of other proof, such as 

photo-driving licences and passports.  

9.11 The Authority strongly supports the PASS 

accreditation system which aims to approve 

and accredit various ‘proof of age’ schemes 

that are in existence. This ensures that 

such schemes maintain high standards, 

particularly in the area of integrity and 

security, and where appropriate and 

necessary, conditions may refer directly to 

PASS accredited proof of age cards, photo-

driving licences, student cards and 

passports.  

9.12 Proof of age cards can also ensure that 

appropriate checks are made where the 

presence of children is restricted by age at 

certain times. 

9.13 Challenge 25 builds on the highly 

successful Challenge 21 campaign 

developed by  the ‘Retail of Alcohol 

Standards Group’ in 2005. The Authority 

strongly supports the use of a ‘Challenge 

25’ policy for all premises that supply 

alcohol.  

9.14 Premises should check with the Licensing 

Authority for the availability of free 

resources relating to ‘Challenge 25’. 

Do-You-Pass training  

9.15 Please see sections 11.8 of this policy for 

information relating to the do-you-pass 

training module. 

Page 205



 

Page | 16  

 

Children and Entertainment 

9.16 The Authority will impose conditions in 

accordance with section 20 of the Act to 

prevent the viewing of films by children 

below the age of any restriction for that film 

as classified according to the 

recommendations of the British Board of 

Film Classification (BBFC) or the Authority, 

as the case may be. 

9.17 The Authority considers that, in addition to 

the mandatory condition imposed by virtue 

of section 20, requiring the admission of 

children to films to be restricted in 

accordance with recommendations given 

either by BBFC or by the licensing authority 

itself, conditions restricting the admission of 

children to film exhibitions should include a 

condition: 

 that where the licensing authority itself is 

to make recommendations on the 

admission of children to films, the cinema 

or venue operator must submit any film to 

the authority that it intends to exhibit 28 

days before it is proposed to show it. This 

is to allow the authority time to classify it 

so that the premises licence holder is able 

to adhere to any age restrictions then 

imposed; 

 that when a licensing authority has made 

a recommendation on the restriction of 

admission of children to a film, notices are 

required to be displayed both inside and 

outside the premises so that persons 

entering can readily be made aware of the 

classification attached to any film or 

trailer. 

9.18 Where entertainment aimed specifically at 

children takes place, the licensee must take 

all reasonable steps to maintain the safety 

of the children on the premises. The 

licensee must ensure that there are 

sufficient adult supervisors, with sufficient 

experience, in place to provide an 

adequate level of safety bearing in mind the 

number and ages of the children involved 

and any other issues such as disabilities 

that the children may have. 

9.19 The admission of children to theatres, as 

with other licensed premises, will not 

normally be restricted unless it is necessary 

to promote the licensing objective of the 

protection of children from harm. However, 

theatres may be the venue for a wide range 

of activities. The admission of children to 

the performance of a play will be left to the 

discretion of the licence holder and no 

condition restricting the access of children 

to plays will be attached. However, theatres 

may also present entertainment including, 

for example, variety shows, incorporating 

adult entertainment. A condition restricting 

the admission of children in such 

circumstances may be necessary. 

Entertainment may also be presented at 

theatres specifically for children. 

9.20 The Authority will also consider whether a 

condition should be attached to a premises 

licence which requires the presence of a 

sufficient number of adult staff on the 

premises to ensure the well being of 

children present on the premises during 

any  emergency  

9.21 Where performances are presented 

especially for unaccompanied children in 

theatres and cinemas conditions are 

anticipated to be needed which require an 

attendant to be stationed in the area(s) 

occupied by the children, in the vicinity of 

each exit, provided that on each level 

occupied by children the minimum number 

of attendants on duty should be one 

attendant per 50 children or part thereof. 

The Authority will have regard to any 

representations made by responsible 

authorities on the issue, to also consider 

whether or not standing should be allowed. 

For example, there may be reduced risk for 

children in the stalls than at other levels or 

areas in the building. 

Page 206



 

Page | 17  

 

There are many productions each year that 

are one-off shows where the cast is made 

up almost entirely of children. They may be 

taking part as individuals or as part of a 

drama club, stage school or school group. 

The age of those involved may range from 

5 to 18. The Children (Performances) 

Regulations 1968 as amended set out 

requirements for children performing in a 

show. The Licensing Authority will not 

duplicate any of these requirements. 

However, the Licensing Authority may, if it 

is appropriate, consider imposing 

conditions in addition to these 

requirements, for the promotion of the 

protection of children from harm. 

10. Child Sexual 

Exploitation (CSE) 

10.1 Alcohol is often a factor in Child Sexual 

Exploitation (CSE), where young people may 

be encouraged or coerced to drink, or alcohol 

may be a factor in risk-taking behaviour by 

young people who drink irresponsibly and 

then get involved in activities that otherwise 

they would not. Nationally, evidence has been 

found of the sexual exploitation of children 

taking place on licensed premises and 

licensed premises being used for the 

purposes of grooming and enticement. 

10.2 The licensing authority encourages licence 

holders and operators of licensed premises: 

 To ensure that they are fully aware of the 

signs of child sexual exploitation and to 

understand that the sexual exploitation of 

a child is sexual abuse and a crime 

 To raise the awareness of their staff about 

child sexual exploitation and provide 

intelligence for the appropriate authorities 

about concerns, including perpetrators 

who may be operating in their areas. The 

risks vary depending on the style and 

character of the business but premises 

can be involved in the following ways: 

 If an adult venue (night clubs or sex 

entertainment venue) is frequented by 

underage customers this can attract 

perpetrators; or if a premises (or event) 

hosts under 18 events or mixed age 

activities; 

 Where underage drinking takes place, 

children and young people are vulnerable 

as their judgement is impaired; 

 There is a risk of CSE at premises where 

goods or services can be offered in 

exchange for sexual favours (such as free 

food, transport, drinks, cigarettes, or free 

access to a venue). This can happen if a 

perpetrator is employed there (or works 

Page 207



 

Page | 18  

 

voluntarily) and has regular or private 

contact with children; 

 Children and young people are vulnerable in 

areas of premises that are not monitored 

(such as toilets, beer gardens); 

 Risk may present if information technology is 

in use at a premises (internet, mobile 

phones/cameras/video recorders); 

 Premises providing facilities for private 

parties, private dancing/entertainment 

booths or overnight accommodation may 

be vulnerable to child sexual exploitation. 

 

11. Selling Alcohol 

Responsibly 

Drinks Promotions  

11.1 Schedule 4 to the Policing and Crime Act 

2009, and the Licensing Act 2003 

(Mandatory Licensing Conditions) 

(Amendment) Order 2014, mandatory 

conditions relating to drinks promotions. 

The Home  Office has issued guidance on 

these conditions which can be found on the 

Home Office website -

www.homeoffice.gov.uk 

11.2  When considering any relevant 

representations which demonstrate a clear 

causal link between sales promotions or 

discounting and levels of crime and disorder 

on or in the vicinity of the premises, it would 

be appropriate for the Licensing Authority to 

consider whether the imposition of a new 

condition prohibiting irresponsible sales 

promotions or discounting of prices of 

alcoholic beverages is necessary at those 

premises.  

11.3 The Portman Group operates, on behalf of 

the alcohol industry, a Code of Practice on 

the Naming, Packaging and Promotion of 

Alcoholic Drinks. The Code seeks to 

ensure that drinks are packaged and 

promoted in a socially responsible manner 

and only to those who are 18 years old or 

older.  

11.4 Complaints about products under the Code 

are considered by an Independent 

Complaints Panel. If a product’s packaging 

or point-of-sale advertising is found to be in 

breach of the Code, the Portman Group 

may issue a ‘Retailer Alert Bulletin’ to notify 

retailers of the decision and ask them not to 

replenish stocks of any such product or to 

display such point-of-sale material, until the 

decision has been complied with.  

11.5 By addresses the naming, marketing and 

promotion of alcohol products, the Code is 

seen as an important mechanism in 

protecting children from harm.  

11.6 Where appropriate and necessary, 

consideration may be given to attaching 

conditions to premises licences and club 

premises certificates that require 

compliance with the Portman Group’s 

‘Retailer Alert Bulletins’. 

11.7 The Authority will not use the Licensing 

Policy to control prices or hinder free and 

fair competition in licensed trade. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 208

http://www.homeoffice.gov.uk/


 

Page | 19  

 

Do-You-Pass Training 

11.8 The ‘Do-You-Pass’ training module is part of 

the ‘Trading Standards Institutes’ (‘TSI’) fair 

trading award.  

11.9 The training is delivered by TSI accredited 

trainers in a two-and-a-half hour session, 

which includes a short examination, assessed 

and certificated by the TSI.  

11.10 The interactive training focuses on the main 

issues affecting every retailer of age-restricted 

products, such as: 

 what the law requires of business and 

staff; 

 proxy sales; 

 steps can take to avoid making illegal 

sales: 

i) challenge 25; 

ii) checking and accepting proof of 

age cards; 

iii) use of refusal logs; 

iv) staff training; 

11.11 Applicants, existing licence holders and 

staff working in, premises licensed under 

the Licensing Act 2003, are recommended 

to undertake such training in order to show 

due diligence.  

11.12 In light of relevant representations received 

where the sale of alcohol directly to a person 

underage, or via a proxy sale, is a factor, 

consideration may be given to making it a 

condition on a licence that the licence holder, 

and any staff employed by the licence holder, 

attend and complete the ‘do-you-pass’ 

training module. 

 

 

 

 

Written and Spoken English  

11.13 The Licensing Authority considers it 

reasonable that those who hold licences and 

persons involved in the sale of alcohol are 

able to understand the terms of the licence 

and their legal obligations. It is also expected 

that those making sales of alcohol can 

understand and converse in the English 

language and be able to read and write in 

English so as to be able to complete 

documents such as refusals books and read 

training guides. 

11.14 Where relevant representations are made, 

and a lack of understanding of basic written 

and  / or spoken English is a factor in those 

representations, consideration may, if 

appropriate, be given to attaching 

conditions to premises licences and club 

premises certificates that require the 

licence holder and staff connected with the 

business, attend a ‘Basic Skills’ course. 

This would be at cost to the applicant.  

Reduce the Strength Campaign 

11.15 The Licensing Authority, together with Local 

Authority Partners, are working together to 

look at the impact of ‘high strength / low cost’ 

alcohol.  

11.16 The sale of beer, wine or cider with an ABV of 

6% or above is discouraged. Where there are 

concerns about the sale of high strength 

alcohol in certain areas of the Borough the 

Licensing Authority may seek to impose a 

condition on a premises licence to restrict the 

sale of such alcohol.  

11.17 In addition, the introduction of The Licensing 

Act 2003 (Mandatory Conditions) Order 2014, 

introduces a mandatory condition banning the 

sale of alcohol below the cost of duty plus 

VAT. Guidance on this new mandatory 

condition can be found on the www.gov.uk 

website.  

 

 

Page 209

http://www.gov.uk/


 

Page | 20  

 

Alcohol Delivery Services 

11.18 The Licensing Authority is aware of the 

increase in alcohol delivery services, not just 

from supermarkets but from specialist alcohol 

retailers or food delivery outlets. 

11.19 Such business, whilst many are operated very 

well, can cause concern due to their method 

of operation and applicants should consider 

very carefully how they promote the licensing 

objectives, particularly the protection of 

children from harm. The sale or delivery of 

alcohol to children should be avoided at all 

cost and practices put into place to ensure 

alcohol does not get into the hands of 

children. A strict Challenge 25 scheme should 

be put into place and a strong training 

programme on under age sales deliveries. 

12. Opening Hours 

12.1 The Authority will deal with licensing hours 

on the merits of each individual application. 

No application to transfer an existing 

licence will result in a reduction of licensed 

hours. 

12.2 The Authority recognises that variable 

licensing hours for the sale of alcohol may 

be desirable to ensure that concentrations 

of customers leaving premises 

simultaneously are avoided. This is 

necessary to reduce friction at late night 

fast food outlets, taxi ranks and other 

sources of transport, which leads to 

disorder and disturbance. 

12.3 The Authority is keen to promote a safe, 

thriving and diverse night-time economy, 

both within Oldham Town Centre and 

elsewhere in the Borough. Should opening 

hours compromise any of the licensing 

objectives then responsible bodies or 

interested parties are entitled to lodge a 

review application. 

12.4 Appropriately licensed shops, stores and 

supermarkets will normally be permitted to 

sell alcohol during their normal trading 

hours, for consumption off premises, where 

consistent with the Authority’s ‘licensing 

objectives’. 

 

12.5 Where relevant representations are 

received, limitations may be imposed, for 

example in the case of specific premises 

known to be a focus of disorder and 

disturbance late at night. 

12.6 Stricter conditions with regard to licensing 

hours may be required for licensed 

premises situated in or immediately 

adjacent to residential areas to ensure that 

disturbance to local residents is avoided. 

This will particularly apply in circumstances 

where, having regard to the location, size 

and nature of the licensed premises, it is 

likely that disturbance will be caused to 

residents in the vicinity of the premises by 

concentrations of people leaving during 

normal night time sleeping periods 

(11:30pm-7:00am). 

12.7 The Authority requests that any applicants 

in respect of premises supplying take-away 

food, who also wish to supply alcohol for 

consumption off the premises between the 

hours of 11.00pm and 5.00am, pay 

particular attention in their Operating 

Schedules to crime and disorder and public 

nuisance caused by patrons leaving the 

premises.  

12.8 This policy acknowledges that Central 

Government have introduced a 

discretionary power that enables Local 

Authorities to introduce ‘Early Morning 

Alcohol Restriction Orders’ (‘EMARO’). If 

introduced, an EMARO restricts the time 

after which alcohol may be sold or 

supplied. The time is set by the Licensing 

Authority, but has to be between midnight 

and 06:00; and would apply to Premises 

Licences, Club Premises Certificates or 

Temporary Event Notices. 

 

 

Page 210



 

Page | 21  

 

13. Cumulative Impact  

13.1 The Authority may refuse applications for 

premises licences where representations 

are received from a Responsible Authority 

or interested party that the issue of a 

licence may, due to a concentration of 

premises in an area, result in exceptional 

problems for that area to the detriment of 

the Authority’s licensing objectives. In such 

cases, the Authority may adopt a Special 

Saturation Policy in accordance with the 

provisions of the Act. 

13.2 The Authority recognises that saturation 

policies can curtail expansion of supply in 

certain areas, but can also have the effect 

of removing improvement pressures from 

increased competition on poorly performing 

businesses. The Authority also recognises 

that a saturation policy could apply to a 

particular type of premises (such as off 

licences) and that any interested party or 

responsible body is entitled to make 

representations on the cumulative impact of 

a new application notwithstanding that a 

saturation policy is not in place. It is for any 

person making such representations to 

provide evidence to the Authority that the 

addition of the premises concerned would 

cause the cumulative impact claimed. 

When considering such representations, 

the Authority will:- 

 identify any serious and chronic concern; 

 identify the area from which problems are 

arising and the boundaries of that area; 

 make an assessment of the causes; 

 consider adopting a policy about future 

licence applications from that area; 

13.3 In the event of determining a Cumulative 

Impact Policy, the Authority will continue to 

consider each application for a licence on 

its merits and may decide that a particular 

application would not add significantly to 

the cumulative impact and grant an 

application notwithstanding a Special 

Saturation Policy being in place. 

 

13.4 The Authority recognises that the 

assessment of commercial need is a matter 

for market forces and not a matter for 

licensing controls. However, the cumulative 

impact of licensed premises on the 

promotion of the licensing objectives is a 

proper matter for the Authority to consider. 

13.5 At this time Oldham Council has no 

Cumulative Impact policy in place.  

13.6 Should the Council look to introduce such a 

policy, consultation will take place in 

accordance with any relevant legislation 

and / or statutory guidance.  

 

14. Late Night Levy  

14.1 The Police reform and Social Responsibility 

Act 2011introduced the power for the 

Licensing Authority to charge a late night levy 

(“the levy”) to all premises within the Borough 

of Oldham. 

14.2 The late night levy is a discretionary power 

allowing the Council to collect an annual fee 

from all licensed premises in the Borough that 

are authorised to sell alcohol between the 

hours of midnight and 6am as a means of 

raising a contribution towards the costs of 

policing the night time economy.  

14.3 The provisions relating to the Late Night Levy 

come into force on the 31st October 2012. As 

the powers are discretionary the Council, in its 

capacity as Licensing Authority, must decide 

whether to introduce them; and in accordance 

with the 2011 Act, in making that decision the 

Council must consider:- 

a) the cost of policing and other 

arrangements for reduction or prevention 

of crime and disorder in connection with 

the supply of alcohol between midnight 

and 06:00am; and 

b) having regard to those costs, is there a 

desire to raise revenue to cover those 

costs; 

 

Page 211



 

Page | 22  

 

14.4 In considering whether there is a ‘desire’ to 

introduce the late night levy, the Licensing 

Authority must take into account the views of 

Greater Manchester Police, the licence 

holders that will be affected by the levy and 

residents of the Borough. 

14.5 The decision to introduce, vary or cease the 

levy will be made by full Council in 

conjunction with the Greater Manchester 

Police.   

14.6 The Licensing Authority recognises that this 

levy would cover the whole of the Borough 

and not just those premises that are causing 

problems or those premises within any 

cumulative impact area. Therefore, serious 

consideration will be given to the introduction 

of the levy in light of this. Furthermore, the 

Licensing Authority will give serious 

consideration as to whether or not the levy is 

a viable proposal. 

14.7 At the time of writing this policy, the Licensing 

Authority has not had a request to consider 

introducing a late night levy, should this 

change during the life of this policy then a 

designated procedure would be applied to 

determine if late night levy is appropriate.   

15. Early Morning Alcohol 

Restriction Orders 

15.1 The power to make, vary or revoke an Early 

Morning Alcohol Restriction Order (‘EMRO’) is 

set out in section 172A to 172E of the 

Licensing Act 2003. This power was brought 

into force on the 31st October 2012 and the 

government has provided guidance as part of 

the section 182 ‘Guidance to Licensing 

Authorities’. 

15.2 An EMRO enable a licensing authority to 

prohibit the sale of alcohol for a specified time 

period between the hours of 12am and 6am in 

the whole or part of its area, if it is satisfied 

that this would be appropriate for the 

promotion of the licensing objectives.  

15.3 EMROs are designed to address recurring 

problems such as high levels of alcohol 

related crime and disorder in specific areas at 

specific times; serious public nuisance and 

other instances of alcohol related anti-social 

behaviour which is not directly attributable to 

specific premises.  

15.4 It is the Council’s intention to support 

businesses rather than hinder them whilst 

ensuring promotion of the licensing 

objectives. However, where this has deemed 

to fail then an EMRO may be considered as a 

possible solution.  

15.5 It is likely that any request for an EMRO, will 

come from Greater Manchester Police; 

however, the request may also be made by a 

number of different organisations, for example 

the request for an EMRO may originate from 

the Council its-self, a District Partnership, 

Public Health or Residents Associations.  

15.6 At the time of writing this policy, the Licensing 

Authority has not had a request to consider 

introducing an EMRO. Should this change 

during the life of this policy then a designated 

procedure would be applied to determine if an 

EMARO is appropriate.   

16. Alcohol in Public Places 

16.1 The Authority has adopted powers to 

designate parts of its area as places where 

alcohol may not be consumed publicly. The 

Authority will keep designated areas under 

review. Currently, the Authority has 

designated most of the Oldham Town 

Centre area and the Failsworth and 

Hollinwood areas as places where alcohol 

may not be consumed publicly. 

16.2 In considering licence applications and 

reviews, the Authority will have regard to 

the impact of licensed premises on the 

observance of the designated area 

controls. This is likely to be particularly 

relevant to sales of alcohol in open 

containers for consumption off the 

premises and unauthorised removal of 

alcohol in open containers, which have 

Page 212



 

Page | 23  

 

been supplied for consumption on 

premises.  

17. Live Music and 

Entertainment 

17.1 The Authority recognises that as part of 

implementing any cultural strategy as may 

from time to time apply, proper account will 

need to be taken to encourage and 

promote live music, dancing and theatre for 

the wider cultural benefit of the community. 

Conditions to be imposed on relevant 

licences will not discourage the promotion 

of such entertainment but will relate solely 

to the promotion of the licensing objectives. 

17.2 The Authority will keep the impact its policy 

is having on the promotion of live music, 

dancing, theatre, carnival events, children’s 

entertainment and performance artists 

under constant review.  

17.3 A number of public spaces with in the 

Borough have been granted a licence for, 

amongst other things, the provisions of 

regulated entertainment. For a list of these 

spaces please see the Councils website 

www.oldham.gov.uk  

17.4 The provision of music and dancing in a 

venue is a specialist function placing 

additional demands on staff and 

management. Dance floors may be a 

potential flashpoint for violence and 

disorder and should, therefore, be properly 

risk assessed to ensure a safe 

environment. The Authority will expect that 

these concerns are addressed in Operating 

Schedules so that the responsible bodies 

can make informed judgements on the 

adequacy of proposed arrangements for 

dance floors. 

17.5 The Live Music Act 2012 amends the 

Licensing Act 2003 so as to remove live 

music from the definition of ‘regulated 

entertainment’, where the following criteria 

are satisfied:- 

 there is a premises licence or club 

premises certificate in place permitting on 

sales; 

 the premises are open for the sale or 

supply of alcohol for consumption on the 

premises; 

 live music is taking place between 8am 

and 11pm; 

 if the live music is amplified, the audience 

consists of no more than 200 people 

17.6 The Live Music Act 2012 also amends the 

Licensing Act 2003 so as to create a 

general exemption that, live unamplified 

music, provided anywhere shall not be 

regarded as the provision of regulated 

entertainment if it takes place between 8am 

and 11pm, regardless of the number of 

people in the audience. 

18. Boxing  

18.1 The rise in popularity of White Collar 
 Boxing has encouraged the Council to 
 provide guidance  on the Licensing 
 Authority’s expectations for any boxing 
 promoters to  consider as measures for 
 their operating schedule. 

18.2  The following is guidance for organisers of    
  boxing events in the Oldham Council area    
  regarding the issues that should be included  
  in a risk assessment: 

•  Full contact details of the organisers and other 
parties involved in the event; 

•  The medical cover that will be provided at this 
event. Will there be a Registered Doctor and 
a Paramedic  be provided as a minimum? 
Has the facility of providing an ambulance 
been considered for the event? The Council 
would prefer that an ambulance is provided; 

•  The medical checks that will be carried out on 
the boxers before and after the fight. The 
Council would expect all boxers taking part to 
have a medical card and competition record 
book. This should detail previous bouts, 
medical history etc.; 

Page 213

http://www.oldham.gov.uk/


 

Page | 24  

 

•  How boxers will be matched up for the event. 
All boxers will be expected to be evenly 
matched and bel in the same weight category; 

•  Details of the ring set up and who will be 
carrying this out; 

•  The numbers of referees and judges taking 
part in the event; 

•  The type and weight of boxing gloves that will 
be used by the boxers and how these will be 
inspected; 

•  What will be the safety rules for the fight and 
how these rules will be communicated to the 
boxers, coaches, trainers and other relevant 
parties; 

•  Details of the Personal Protective Equipment 
that will be worn by boxers; 

•  Actions that will be taken in an emergency 
and how parties will communicate; 

•  Site checks that will be completed prior to the 

event taking place. 

 

19. Event Notification 

19.1 Where events are held on Council land, the 

Council requires an event notification form 

be completed. This notification will enable 

the Authority and Partnering agencies to 

offer their expertise and support to the 

event organiser.  

19.2 You should notify the Council if your event 

will: 

 impact on traffic or parking; 

 take place on Council land;  

 require road closures or 'no waiting' 

restrictions; 

 have loud music;  

 provide entertainment;  

 sell food, drink or alcohol;  

 require licences e.g. street trading or sale 

of alcohol;  

 attract over 200 people;  

19.3 If your event is on private land and doesn't fall 

into one of the above categories you do not 

need to notify the Council. However the 

Council can help advertise your event - email 

events@oldham.gov.uk  

19.4 Event notification forms can be obtained from 

the Council website at 

http://www.oldham.gov.uk/info/200204/licensi

ng/361/events and should be submitted at 

least 3 months prior to the event taking place. 

20. Public Health  

20.1 Section 104 of the Police Reform and 

Social Responsibility Act 2011 and the 

Health and Social Care Act 2012, amends 

the 2003 Act so as to include a Local 

Authority’s ‘Public Health’ department as a 

responsible Authority.  

20.2 The licensing authority recognises there is no 

public health licensing objective and therefore 

cannot conduct its licensing function in order 

to promote public health. The licensing 

function can only be carried out to promote 

the four licensing objectives as set out by the 

Licensing Act 2003. 

20.3 As a responsible authority, Oldham 

Council’s public health department can 

make representations in relation to 

applications for the grant, variation, minor 

variation or review of premises licences 

and club premises certificates; in addition, 

public health may themselves seek a 

review of a premises licence. Any 

representation must be specific to the 

premises and cannot be a general 

objection. 

20.4 Through ensuring the responsible selling of 
alcohol, this may impact on reducing a 
person’s drinking at harmful or hazardous 
levels. However, it is recognised that any 
such positive impact will be as a 
coincidence of the licensing authority 
conducting its licensing function under the 
Act to promote the licensing objectives. 
Local Health Bodies potentially have 
access to much data that can inform 
licensing decisions and policy. When such 

Page 214

mailto:events@oldham.gov.uk
http://www.oldham.gov.uk/info/200204/licensing/361/events
http://www.oldham.gov.uk/info/200204/licensing/361/events


 

Page | 25  

 

data is presented it will be considered and 
where links are made to any of the four 
licensing objectives it will be taken into 
account by the Licensing Sub-Committee in 
reaching its decision.  

20.5 The licensing authority recognises the 
impact of alcohol misuse in Oldham and it 
is hoped that through the implementation of 
this licensing policy the promotion of the 
four licensing objectives will in turn have a 
positive effect on preventing alcohol 
misuse. For example, by ensuring licensed 
premises refuse sales of alcohol to 
children, or those attempting to purchase it 
on behalf of children; this will impact 
positively on a reduction in child alcohol 
related health problems. 

20.6 The health of our population and the 
customers of licensed premises is very 
important. Premises are expected to follow 
guidance and comply with legislation in 
relation to any public health issues that 
may arise at local or national level.  

 

21. Operating Schedule 

21.1 An Operating Schedule must be submitted 

as part of the application for a licence 

application and must contain the 

information required by Section 17 of the 

Licensing Act. Among other things it must 

include the steps which the applicant 

proposes to take to promote the licensing 

objectives. The Authority requires 

applicants to address all of the areas in this 

policy where they are relevant to the 

proposed licensed activity. 

21.2 If a responsible body or interested party 

submits a relevant representation, then the 

Authority’s discretion is engaged to attach 

additional conditions to a licence to meet 

those representations if the Authority 

considers this to be appropriate in the 

individual circumstances of each 

application. 

 

 

22. Adult Entertainment  

22.1 Section 27 of the Policing and Crime Act 

2009 introduced new powers for Local 

Authorities to control ‘Sexual 

Entertainment’ venues. Applicants wishing 

to provide adult entertainment should 

consult the Authority’s policy on providing 

such entertainment. This policy can be 

found at www.oldham.gov.uk/licensing 

22.2 Where an operating schedule does not 

refer to ‘adult entertainment’ taking  place 

on the premises the Authority may place 

restrictions on the licence that  would 

prevent ‘adult entertainment’ taking place. 

 

23. Conditions  

23.1 Conditions to be imposed on licences will 

be specific to the individual premises and 

events. They will normally be drawn from 

the model pool of conditions based upon 

this Policy and the Secretary of State’s 

Guidance or from a localised Greater 

Manchester pool of conditions which can 

be used for reference and can be found at 

Appendix 1 of this policy.  

23.2 This list is not exhaustive and may be 

varied from time to time as considered 

necessary when licensable activities are 

being carried out. The Authority may also 

impose such other conditions as described 

in this policy and consistent with meeting 

the Authority’s licensing objectives. 

23.3 Within the conditions attached at Appendix 

1 of this policy is a section referring to 

counter terrorism conditions on licences. 

Applicants are suggested to consider 

whether their venue would benefit from the 

additional protection and awareness of 

counter terrorism measures which include 

staff training and vulnerability assessments. 

Page 215

http://www.oldham.gov.uk/licensing


 

Page | 26  

 

 

24. Integration of Policies 

and Avoidance of 

Duplication  

24.1 Licensing is but one part of an overall 

strategy to deal with poor behaviour. Other 

mechanisms include: 

 planning controls; 

 positive measures to create a safe and 

clean town centre environment; 

 powers of the Authority to designate 

public areas where the consumption of 

alcohol is not permitted; 

 police enforcement of disorder and anti-

social behaviour; 

 the prosecution of personal licence 

holders and staff for selling alcohol to 

persons who are under age or drunk; 

 police powers to close down instantly any 

licensed premises on grounds of disorder 

or likelihood of disorder or excessive 

noise emanating from the premises; 

 powers of the Local Authority under the 

Environmental Protection Act and Health 

and Safety at Work Act; 

 power of police or a local resident or 

business to seek a review of a licence. 

 

24.2 The Licensing Authority will consider the 

impact of licensing on regulated 

entertainment particularly live music and 

dancing. Where there is any indication that 

licensing requirements are deterring such 

events, the Authority’s policy will be 

examined with a view to investigating how 

this situation may be addressed. 

24.3 The Licensing Committee will receive 

annual reports on the situation regarding 

licensed premises in the Borough, including 

the general impact of alcohol related crime 

and disorder. 

24.4 So far as possible, duplication with other 

regulatory agencies will be avoided and 

conditions will only be attached to licences 

which are necessary for the promotion of 

the licensing objectives. 

 

 

 

25. Planning 

25.1 There are several key differences between 

licensing and planning control. Licensing is 

concerned with the operation and 

management of the premises.  Planning 

control relates to the use of the premises. 

25.2 The Authority recognises that licensing 

applications should not be seen as a re-run 

of any planning application and that there 

should be clear separation of the planning 

and licensing regimes to avoid duplication 

and inefficiency. 

25.3 Applicants for a premises licence need to 

be aware that the granting of a licence 

under the Licensing Act does not negate 

the need to obtain planning permission.  

25.4 To assist in this process the Authority may 

provide reports to the Council on the 

situation regarding licensed premises in the 

district, including the impact of alcohol 

related crime and disorder. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 216



 

Page | 27  

 

26. Compliance and 

Enforcement  

26.1 The Authority will undertake inspections, 

including joint inspections of premises and 

enter into other working arrangements with 

the Greater Manchester Police, Fire 

Authority and other agencies to support the 

‘licensing objectives’. 

26.2 Protocols will provide for targeting of 

agreed problem and high risk premises, but 

with a ‘lighter touch’ to those premises 

which are shown to be well managed and 

maintained.  

26.3 The Authority has adopted a business 

enforcement policy in accordance with the 

Government’s ‘enforcement concordat’. 

The key principles of consistency, 

transparency and proportionality will be 

maintained. 

26.4 The Authority continually reviews its 

regulation practice and will ensure 

implementation of best practice as 

delivered from time to time by guidance or 

legislation. 

26.5 Failure to pay an annual fee following a 

reminder will result in the suspension of the 

premises licence until such time that the 

annual fee is paid in full.  

27. Pavement Licences 

27.1 The Council will accept and consider any 

application submitted for a pavement 

licence accompanied by the relevant fee 

and supporting documents required by 

them. 

27.2 Consultation will take place with the Highways 

Department and other agencies such as the 

Police and Environmental Health that may be 

necessary to consider the effects of granting a 

licence. 

 

28. Processing of 

Applications and 

Objections  

28.1 The Authority will process all applications 

taking into account any relevant timescales 

in the Act and, where there are no 

timescales, within a reasonable time.  

28.2 The Authority will also publish guidance for 

applicants to assist them in identifying the 

kind of actions that may need to be taken to 

meet the licensing objectives. The 

guidance will supplement anything issued 

by central Government. It will not provide 

an exhaustive list of options, but it will give 

applicants advice on many of the 

approaches that can be taken to ensure 

successful applications for licences. 

28.3 Licences can be issued either: 

 by Officers acting under delegated 

powers; 

 following review by the full Licensing 

Committee; or 

 following review by a sub-committee of 

the full Committee (called a Licensing 

Panel). 

28.4 Potential objectors to licence applications 

can be “responsible authorities”, who are:-  

 Oldham Council, in its capacity as 

Licensing Authority; and any other 

licensing authority in whose area part of 

the premises is situated; 

 the chief officer of police; 

 the local fire and rescue authority; 

 the local enforcement agency for the 

Health and Safety at Work Act 1974 etc; 

 environmental Health; 

 planning; 

 local Safeguarding Board 

 Public Health Teams; and 

 the weights and measures authority. 

 

Page 217



 

Page | 28  

 

28.5 As well as responsible authorities, any 

other person, which includes any individual, 

body or business, can make 

representations in relation to applications 

for the grant, variation, minor variation or 

review of premises licences and club 

premises certificates, regardless of their 

geographic proximity to the premises. In 

addition, these persons may themselves 

seek a review of a premises licence.  

28.6 Whilst any of these ‘other persons’ may 

act in their own right, they may also 

request an individual or group to represent 

them. This could be someone legally 

qualified or an MP, MEP or Ward 

Councillor. Where a Councillor agrees to 

make representations on behalf of an 

interested party and that Councillor is a 

member of the Licensing Committee, they 

will disqualify themselves from all 

involvement in the decision making process 

in relation to that application. 

28.7 Representations can only be considered if 

they relate to a problem that could 

compromise one or more of the licensing 

objectives. Officers will decide if this is the 

case and they are charged with deciding 

whether or not objections are irrelevant, 

frivolous or vexatious. Any representation 

deemed so will not be considered. 

28.8 Representations need not just relate to the 

negative effect of a licence but may relate 

to the positive effect the granting of a 

licence may have. This also true in the 

case of a review where positive 

representations can be taken into account 

by the Authority.  

28.9 The Licensing Authority welcomes an early 

opportunity to discuss applications before 

their submission. At that stage the business 

model and operation of the business can 

be discussed and advice given on other 

wider support the Council can give can be 

provided.  

 

 

28.10 In addition, Responsible Authorities can be 

brought into the discussions so applicants 

can understand any early concerns and 

table any questions. 

28.11 The licensing Authority also provides a paid 

for pre application advice service where the 

Authority, following discussion, will put 

together an application and operating 

schedule with applicants who may have 

otherwise have struggled to follow the 

process. This can include drafting public 

and newspaper notices and serving copies 

of the application on responsible authorities 

electronically as provided for under 

Regulations.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 218



 

Page | 29  

 

29. Immigration Act 2016 

 29.1  Section 36 of and Schedule 4 to the         

     Immigration Act 2016 made a number of     

     amendments to the Licensing Act 2003 to    

     introduce immigration safeguards in respect  

     of licensing applications made in England and 

     Wales on or after 6 April 2017. The intention  

     of these changes is to prevent illegal working 

     in premises licensed for the sale of alcohol or 

     late-night refreshment.  

 29.2  The statutory prevention of crime and disorder 

     licensing objective in the Licensing Act 2003  

     includes the prevention of immigration crime  

     and the prevention of illegal working in       

     licensed premises. The Council will work with 

     the Home Office (Immigration Enforcement)   

     as well as the police, in respect of these      

     matters.  

 29.3  Section 36 of and Schedule 4 to the         

     Immigration Act 2016 (the 2016 Act) amended 

     the 2003 Act to provide that in England and   

     Wales: 

 •  Premises licences to sell alcohol or provide 

late night refreshment and personal 

licences cannot be issued to an individual 

who does not have permission to be in the 

UK, or is not entitled to undertake work 

relating to the carrying on of a licensable 

activity; 

 • Licences issued to those with limited 

permission to be in the UK will lapse when 

their permission to be in the UK and work 

in a licensable activity comes to an end; 

• Immigration offences, including civil 

penalties, are ‘relevant offences’ as 

defined by the 2003 Act;  

• The Home Secretary (in practice Home 

Office (Immigration Enforcement)) was 

added to the list of responsible authorities 

in the licensing regime, which requires 

Home Office (Immigration Enforcement) to 

receive premises licence applications 

(except regulated entertainment only 

licences) and applications to transfer 

premises licences, and in some limited 

circumstances personal licence 

applications, and permits Home Office 

(Immigration Enforcement) to make 

appropriate representations and 

objections to the grant of a licence; and  

•  Immigration officers are permitted to enter 

premises which they have reason to 

believe are being used to sell alcohol or 

provide late night refreshment, to 

investigate whether immigration offences 

are being committed in connection with 

the licensable activity.  

 29.4 The Licensing Authority will have regard to    

    any guidance issued by the Home Office in    

    relation to the immigration related provisions   

    now contained in the Licensing Act 2003. The  

    Licensing Authority will also work in partnership 

    with the Home Office (Immigration           

    Enforcement) and Greater Manchester Police  

    with a view to preventing illegal working in     

    premises licensed for the sale of alcohol and/or 

    late night refreshment. 

 

Page 219



 

Page | 30  

 

30. Contact Details  

Authority / Organisation Address  

Licensing Authority  Sir Robert Peacock House 

Vulcan Street 

Oldham 

OL1 4LA 

Phone: 0161 770 4730 

licensing@oldham.gov.uk 

Trading Standards Sir Robert Peacock House 

Vulcan Street 

Oldham 

OL1 4LA 

tradingstandards@oldham.gov.uk 

Planning  Civic Centre 

PO Box 30 

West Street 

Oldham, OL1 1UQ 

Phone: 0161 770 4105 

planning@oldham.gov.uk 

 

Environmental Health  Chadderton Town Hall 

Middleton Road 

Oldham 

OL9 6PP 

Phone: 0161 770 2244 

environmentalhealth@oldham.gov.uk 

Greater Manchester Police  

 

Oldham Police 

Divisional Licensing Officer 

Sir Robert Peacock House 

Vulcan Street 

Oldham 

OL1 4LA 

Phone: 0161 856 9069 

  

Greater Manchester Fire 

and Rescue 

Greater Manchester Fire and Rescue Service 

Oldham Borough  

Phone: 0161 909 8626/27 

obr@manchesterfire.gov.uk 

 

 

Page 220

mailto:licensing@oldham.gov.uk
mailto:tradingstandards@oldham.gov.uk
mailto:planning@oldham.gov.uk
mailto:environmentalhealth@oldham.gov.uk
mailto:obr@manchesterfire.gov.uk


 

Page | 31  

 

Authority / Organisation                        Address  

Public Health                        Level 4 
                       Civic Centre 
                       PO Box 30 
                       West Street 
                       Oldham                            
                       OL1 1UQ 
                       Phone: 0161 770 1641 

                       publichealthteam@oldham.gov.uk 
 

  

  

Oldham Safeguarding Children  

Partnership                                Rock Street Centre 

     Rock Street   

 Oldham 

 OL1 3UJ 

 Phone: 0161 770 8096 

  

                   

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 221

mailto:publichealthteam@oldham.gov.uk


 

Page | 32  

 

Appendix 1 

Proposed Licensing Act 2003 Model Conditions 

 

 

Counter Terrorism 

1. At all times that the premises are open to the public for licensable activities, all staff on-duty at the 

premises and all on-duty managers must have completed ACT:Awareness training. In addition, a 

minimum of 1 on-duty manager must also have completed the ACT:Operational or ACT:Strategic 

training. 

2. The Designated Premises Supervisor must complete the ACT:Awareness training and 

ACT:Operational or ACT:Strategic training course within 28 days of the grant or variation of the 

licence. Should the Designated Premises Supervisor named on the licence change, the new 

Designated Premises Supervisor must complete those courses within 28 days of being named on 

the licence. 

3. Within 28 days of the grant or variation of the licence, a documented security vulnerability 

assessment, which must incorporate counter terrorism measures, must be undertaken for the 

premises to include all areas in which licensable activities takes place and which the public will have 

access and/or transit through. The assessment shall be routinely reviewed and must be reviewed 

following the elevation of the change of the national threat level. All reviews shall be documented. 

4. Within 28 days of the grant or variation of the licence, the premises licence holder shall evaluate any 

risks identified through the security vulnerability assessment and take promptly such steps to 

eliminate them or to reduce the risk as far as is reasonably practicable. A documented record must 

be maintained of any remedial action implemented and made available upon request to any police 

officer or an authorised officer of Manchester City Council. 

5. Within 28 days of the grant or variation of the licence, the premises must have a documented 

counter-terrorism plan, which sets out counter measures to be implemented in response to a terrorist 

attack, through the principles of ‘Guide’, Shelter’ and ‘Communicate’- 

• Guide – Direct people towards the most appropriate location (invacuation, evacuation, hide) 

• Shelter – Understand how your place or space might be able to lock-down and shelter people within 

it for several hours 

• Communicate – Have a means of communicating effectively and promptly with users of your place 

and have staff capable of giving clear instructions. Also have the capability of integrating with any 

response or rescue operation by providing things like building plans. 

Admission and control of entry 

6. The designated queuing area shall be enclosed within appropriate barriers and ensure that a 

minimum width of 1.8m [or specify if greater]  is maintained on the footway to allow safe passage by 

pedestrians. 

Page 222



 

Page | 33  

 

7. An ID scanning system approved in writing by the licensing authority must be operated at the 

premises at all times it is open to the public. All persons entering the premises must provide 

verifiable ID and record their details on the system.  

8. All persons entering or re-entering the premises must be searched by an SIA registered door 

supervisor [and all searches must be monitored by the premises CCTV system].  

9. No patron shall be admitted or readmitted to the premises [after XX:XX hours] unless they have  

[passed through a metal detecting search arch] [been searched using hand-held electronic search 

wands] and, if the search equipment is activated, have been physically searched in accordance with 

a procedure agreed with Greater Manchester Police, which must include a ‘pat down search’ and a 

full bag search. Search equipment must be kept in working order.  

10. No customer will be permitted to enter or re-enter the premises between the hours of [specify] save 

for persons who have temporarily left the premises (e.g. to smoke).  

11. Between [specified times] no customer will be permitted to enter or leave the premises by means of 

[specified entrances]. 

12. No more than [insert number] customers will be permitted on the premises at any one time. 

13. The premises licence holder shall ensure a suitable method of calculating the number of people 

present during licensable activities is in place. 

Door supervisors 

14. Door supervision must be provided on (specify days / circumstance). Door supervisors must be on 

duty from [specify hours] and must remain on duty until the premises are closed and all the 

customers have left. 

15. On [specify days/hours], at least [insert number] of SIA registered door supervisors must be on duty 

at the premises [specify location at the premises] [or as shown on the plan]. 

16. Door supervisors shall be employed at the ratio of [XX] door supervisor for every 100 customers (or 

part thereof). 

17. Door supervisors shall be employed by the premises based upon a risk assessment carried out in 

relation to the following factors:  

(i) Size of the venue  

(ii) Expected attendance  

(iii) Type of event taking place  

(iv) Location of the premises  

(v) Time of year  

(vi) Special occasion (New Year, Halloween, Local events etc.)  

(vii) Premises Licence Conditions  

Page 223



 

Page | 34  

 

18. At least [XX] female door supervisor(s) shall be on duty at the premises at such times as door 

supervisors are required to be provided. 

19. All door supervisors, and other persons engaged at the premises for the purpose of supervising or 

controlling queues or customers, must wear [high visibility jackets or vests or armbands]. 

20. Any door supervisors on duty at the premises must be supplied by an SIA-Approved Contractor 

Scheme company. 

21. The Designated Premises Supervisor or on-duty manager must ensure that all door supervisors on 

duty at the premises are correctly displaying their current SIA accreditation and are briefed on their 

responsibilities and relevant company operating procedures before they commence duty. 

22. Door supervisors must be provided with radios to enable them to contact each other and the duty 

manager at the premises. 

23. Where SIA registered door supervisors are used at the premises, a record must be kept of their SIA 

registration number and the dates and times when they are on duty. 

Bodycams 

24. On [specify days/hours], at least [insert number] of SIA registered door supervisors on duty at 

[specify location at the premises] [or as shown on the plan] must wear working body cams.  

25. All body cams must: 

(i) be activated by the wearer to record any incident of crime and disorder they witness; 

(ii) provide a continuous recording loop designed to ensure that relevant information is still captured if 

the User is unable to immediately activate the recording; 

(iii) produce an acceptable video recording under street lighting and inside buildings, including low-light 

conditions 

(iv) be overt, be pointed correctly to ensure best evidence is captured, and worn so that it will not be 

obscured by clothing; 

(v) be capable of clearly recording a conversation between the User and people in close proximity; and 

be optimised to record speech rather than background noise; 

(vi) record synchronised video and audio; 

(vii) employ a wide-angle lens that records a broad scene in full focus; 

(viii) be securely attached to avoid accidental loss and malicious removal 

(ix) be equipped with sufficient storage and battery capacity to cover the requirements of a working shift. 

(x) record in a format viewable in its original format using free software including VLC media player 

(xi) when transferred off the device, recordings should be preserved in their original format and any 

metadata retained 

(xii) must always show the correct time and date in video footage, for evidential continuity 

Page 224



 

Page | 35  

 

(xiii) be capable of still capturing video if the microphone malfunctions, and audio is still captured if the 

camera malfunctions. 

(xiv) not overwrite data once recording capacity is reached. 

26. A record must be kept of the SIA registration number of the door supervisor and the ID of bodycam 

worn by them.   

27. Bodycam images must be stored so that they are retrievable and accessible for replay and viewing, 

and kept in an environment that will not be detrimental to the quality or capacity for future viewing. 

They should be appropriately labelled to enable identification and retrieval and kept for a minimum of 

28 days. 

28. The premises licence holder must ensure there are members of trained staff at the premises during 

operating hours able to provide viewable copies on request to police or authorised local authority 

officers as soon as is reasonably practicable in accordance with the Data Protection Act 1998 (or 

any replacement legislation). 

CCTV 

29. The premises licence holder must ensure that: 

(i) CCTV cameras are located within the premises to cover all public areas including all entrances and 

exits [The location of cameras could also be specified on the plan attached to the premises licence]. 

(ii) The system records clear images permitting the identification of individuals. 

(iii) The CCTV system is able to capture a minimum of 24 frames per second and all recorded footage 

must be securely retained for a minimum of 28 days.  

(iv) The CCTV system operates at all times while the premises are open for licensable activities [or 

specify timings].  

(v) All equipment must have a constant and accurate time and date generation. 

(vi) The CCTV system is fitted with security functions to prevent recordings being tampered with, i.e. 

password protected. 

(vii) There are members of trained staff at the premises during operating hours able to provide viewable 

copies on request to police or authorised local authority officers as soon as is reasonably practicable 

in accordance with the Data Protection Act 1998 (or any replacement legislation). 

Preventing illegal drug use 

30. There shall be a lockable ‘drugs box’ at the premises to which no member of staff, except the DPS 

and/or [designated role-holder at business], shall have access. All controlled drugs (or items 

suspected to be, or containing controlled drugs) found at the premises must be placed in this box as 

soon as practicable. Whenever this box is emptied, all its contents must be given to Greater 

Manchester Police for appropriate disposal. 

Promotional activity 

31. The premises licence holder must submit to [insert contact details for Responsible Authority] a 

completed risk assessment form as prescribed at least 28 days before any event that is 

Page 225



 

Page | 36  

 

(i) carried on by any person not affiliated with the venue; and 

(ii) promoted / advertised to the public. 

32. No promotional social media communication may be carried on for the purpose of encouraging the 

sale or supply of alcohol at the premises, which can reasonably be considered to condone, 

encourage or glamorise antisocial behaviour or to refer to the effects of drunkenness in any 

favourable manner. 

Incident reporting 

33. An incident log (which may be electronically recorded) shall be kept at the premises for at least six 

months, and made available on request to the police or an authorised officer of the licensing 

authority, which will record the following incidents including pertinent details (delete as appropriate): 

(i) All alleged crimes reported to the venue or by the venue to the police 

(ii) All ejections of patrons 

(iii) Any complaints received 

(iv) Any incidents of disorder 

(v) Seizures of drugs, offensive weapons, fraudulent ID or other items 

(vi) Any faults in the CCTV system, searching equipment or scanning equipment 

(vii) Any refusal of the sale of alcohol 

(viii) Any faults in the CCTV system, searching equipment or scanning equipment 

(ix) Any visit by a responsible authority or emergency service 

(x) The times on duty, names and the licence numbers of all licensed door supervisors employed by the 

premises. 

Staff training (alcohol & vulnerability welfare) 

34a) All staff authorised to sell alcohol shall be trained in (delete as appropriate): 

(i) Relevant age restrictions in respect of products 

(ii) Prevent underage sales 

(iii) Prevent proxy sales 

(iv) Maintain the refusals log  

(v) Enter sales correctly on the tills so the prompts show as appropriate 

(vi) Recognising signs of drunkenness and vulnerability 

(vii) How over service of alcohol impacts on the four objectives of the Licensing Act 2003 

(viii) How to refuse service 

Page 226



 

Page | 37  

 

(ix) The premises’ duty of care policy, understanding and dealing with situations involving vulnerable 

people, and incidents of harassment 

(x) Action to be taken in the event of an emergency, including the preservation of a crime scene and 

reporting an incident to the emergency services  

(xi) The conditions in force under this licence. 

34b) Training must include evidence that the trainee has gained knowledge and understanding of the 

training, which may consist of a test or quiz, completed and signed by the trainee. 

34c) Documented records of training completed shall be kept for each member of staff. Training shall be 

regularly refreshed and at no greater than 6 [or specify] monthly intervals. Training records shall be 

made available for inspection upon request by a police officer or an authorised officer of Manchester 

City Council. 

Preventing and dealing with drunkenness and vulnerability 

35. The premises shall have a documented Duty of Care policy for managing intoxicated and vulnerable 

customers and dealing with incidents of harassment at the premises. The policy shall also include 

provision for persons refused entry to the premises who are also considered vulnerable by staff.  

36. The premises shall display prominent signage indicating [at any point of sale] [at the entrance to the 

premises] [in all areas where alcohol is located] that it is an offence to sell alcohol to anyone who is 

drunk. 

37. A Personal licence Holder must be present at the premises to supervise all sales of alcohol. 

38. A minimum of [specify] persons must be employed and on duty at the premises between [specify 

days/hours] who are specifically tasked to maintain the safety of customers who may be vulnerable, 

ill or in distress as a result of alcohol and/or drug-related intoxication. Such persons must be trained 

on drunkenness, vulnerability, and drugs awareness in the night-time economy; and responding to 

these matters. 

39. The premises shall provide facilities for customers to securely recharge their mobile phones. 

Glassware and use of ice fountains / bottle sparklers 

40. Drinks must only be served in polycarbonate/plastic containers [on specified days or events] [upon 

reasonable notice by Greater Manchester Police]. 

41. Customers will not be permitted to remove from the premises any drinks supplied by the premises 

(alcoholic or otherwise) in open containers [except for consumption in any delineated external area 

as shown on the plan attached to the licence]. 

42. Spirit, Champagne and all other glass bottles greater than [70cl] are restricted to customers seated 

at a [table] [booth] in the delineated area[s] as shown on the plan attached to the licence. These 

bottles must be secured to the table or ice bucket and must only be dispensed by a member of staff 

who is trained in the responsible service of alcohol. Customers must not be permitted to leave their 

table carrying any such bottle, or be permitted to drink directly from the bottle.  

43. Ice fountains or similar products (which are classed as HT4 explosives): 

Page 227



 

Page | 38  

 

a) Must be kept in their original packaging and only stored in a secure store room or fire-resistant 

cabinet that the public have no access to. The room/cabinet must be kept locked, except for the 

depositing or removal of products but must be locked immediately thereafter. 

b) Their use must be risk assessed in advance and appropriate control measure put in place to reduce 

the risk to staff and customers, which must include (but is not limited to): 

(i) staff training in their safe use and dispersal 

(ii) the provision of appropriate first aid training and equipment 

(iii) suitability of areas of the premises where the products will be used 

c) The risk assessment and control measures identified must be documented, kept on the premises 

and made available for inspection to a police, fire or authorised  officer upon request. 

Preventing underage sales 

44. The Challenge 25 scheme must be operated to ensure that any person who appears to be under the 

age of 25 shall provide documented proof that he/she is over 18 years of age. Proof of age shall only 

comprise a passport, photo card driving licence, an EU/EEA national ID card or similar document, an 

HM Forces warrant card, a card bearing the PASS hologram, or any electronic or biometric age 

verification technology approved by the licensing authority.  

45. The premises shall display prominent signage indicating [at any point of sale] [at the entrance to the 

premises] [in all areas where alcohol is located] that the Challenge 25 scheme is in operation.  

46. The premises shall display prominent signage indicating [at any point of sale] [at the entrance to the 

premises] [in all areas where alcohol is located] that it is an offence to buy or attempt to buy alcohol 

for a person who is under 18 and for a person under the age of 18 to buy or attempt to buy alcohol. 

47. A refusals record must be kept at the premises which details all refusals to sell alcohol. This record 

must include the date and time of the incident, a description of the customer, the name of the staff 

member who refused the sale, and the reason the sale was refused. All entries must be made within 

24 hours of the refusal. The record must be made available for inspection and copying within [specify 

days / hours or a reasonable time] of a request by an officer of a Responsible Authority.  

Alcohol deliveries 

48. The premises licence holder shall provide the following information in writing to the licensing 

authority before any sale of alcohol is carried out (and notify change to this information to the 

licensing authority within 7 days): 

(i) The trading name of any company that will operate under the licence 

(ii) All telephone numbers that will be used to accept orders 

(iii) The URL/website address that will be used to accept orders. 

49. Any promotional material and/or any website home page used as part of the business operating 

under this licence will clearly state the premises licence number. For the avoidance of doubt, this 

includes flyers, leaflets and business cards promoting the business. 

Page 228



 

Page | 39  

 

50. All deliveries of alcohol shall only be delivered to a premises address with a valid postcode and will 

only be delivered directly to that property. 

 

 

Restaurants and takeaways (alcohol) 

51. The premises must only operate as a restaurant: 

(i) in which customers are seated at a table,  

(ii) which provides food in the form of substantial table meals that are prepared on the premises and are 

served and consumed at the table using non-disposable crockery,  

(iii) which do not provide any take away service of food or drink for immediate consumption, and 

(iv) where alcohol must not be sold, supplied, or consumed on the premises otherwise than to persons 

who are taking substantial table meals and provided always that the consumption of alcohol by such 

persons is ancillary to taking such meals. 

52. Sales of alcohol for consumption off the premises shall only be supplied with, and ancillary to, a 

takeaway meal. 

Restricting alcohol sales in relation to designated special events, eg. football matches 

53. Prior to any [designated special event by Greater Manchester Police] [‘designated sporting event’ (as 

defined in the Sporting Events Control of Alcohol Act 1985)] the premises licence holder shall ensure 

that: 

(i) Alcohol sales in respect of cans of beer or cider are limited to no more than four cans per person for 

a minimum of four hours before the commencement of the relevant designated [special] [sporting] 

event 

(ii) No sales of alcohol in bottles or glass containers are made in the period four hours before the 

commencement of the designated [special] [sporting] event 

(iii) Alcohol sales cease for a period of one hour immediately before the commencement of the relevant 

designated [special] [sporting] event 

(iv) On any day where there is a relevant designated [special] [sporting] event taking place, the premises 

will not externally advertise as a result of a local store promotion the availability of beer or cider in 

such a way as to be likely to be the sole inducement to attract persons to the premises who are 

either attending the designated [special] [sporting] event or in the vicinity of the premises as a result 

of the designated [special] [sporting] event 

(v) All members of staff working at the premises are informed of this condition prior to taking up 

employment 

(vi) On the day of the relevant designated [special] [sporting] event, upon the direction of a police officer, 

using the grounds of the prevention of crime and disorder or public safety, the premises will 

immediately cease to sell alcohol until further directed. 

Page 229



 

Page | 40  

 

Use of special effects 

54. Any special effects or mechanical installations shall be arranged and stored so as to minimise any 

risk to the safety of those using the premises. The following special effects will only be used if 10 

days’ prior notice is given to the licensing authority where consent has not previously been given: 

(i) Dry ice and cryogenic fog 

(ii) Smoke machines and fog generators 

(iii) Pyrotechnics, including fireworks 

(iv) Firearms (eg. Blank firing pistols) 

(v) Lasers 

(vi) Explosives and highly flammable substances 

(vii) Real flame 

(viii) Strobe lighting. 

Emergencies 

55. The premises licence holder shall ensure that at all times when the public is present there is at least 

one competent person able to administer first aid, that an adequate and appropriate supply of first 

aid equipment and materials is available on the premises, and that adequate records are maintained 

in relation to the supply of any first aid treatment. 

56. All external emergency exit doors shall be fitted with sensor alarms and visible indicators to alert 

staff when the doors have been opened. 

57. All staff on duty at the premises shall be trained in the Emergency and Evacuation procedures for 

the premises and aware of their individual responsibilities. This includes any door supervisors. 

Documented records of training completed shall be kept for each member of staff. Training shall be 

regularly refreshed and at no greater than [specify] monthly intervals. Training records shall be made 

available for inspection upon request by a police officer or an authorised officer of Manchester City 

Council. 

58. The premises shall have a minimum 20m rescue throwline available on the premises for emergency 

use. All on-duty staff  (including security)shall be knowledgeable of its location and the 

manufacturer’s instructions for use. 

Preventing noise and other public nuisances 

59. All external windows and doors must be kept shut at all times when regulated entertainment is being 

provided. Doors may be opened for normal entrance and egress of people but must be shut 

immediately thereafter. 

60. No noise shall emanate from the premises nor vibration be transmitted through the structure of the 

premises that gives rise to a nuisance. 

Page 230



 

Page | 41  

 

61. A noise limiting device must be installed and must operate at all times regulated entertainment takes 

place at the premises. The device must be of a type, in a location and set at a level [specify if known] 

[approved in writing by the appropriate officer of the Council]. 

62. The location and orientation of loudspeakers must be as specified on the attached premises plan. 

63. An [acoustic lobby / acoustic door / acoustic curtains/ acoustic door seals / automatic door closer] 

must be installed [specify the location / define on plan]. 

64. There shall be no noise or odours caused by the kitchen extraction equipment that gives rise to a 

nuisance. 

Deliveries (nuisance) 

65. A direct telephone number for the duty manager must be prominently displayed where it can 

conveniently be read from the exterior of the premises by the public. The telephone must be manned 

at all times the premises is open for licensable activities. 

66. No deliveries or collections relating to licensable activities at the premises will take place between 

the hours of [insert hours].  

67. Delivery drivers shall conduct the delivery in a manner that will not cause a noise disturbance to the 

occupiers of any residential properties surrounding the delivery address. This includes the avoidance 

of slamming doors, playing loud music, shouting, over-revving engines and sounding horns to signal 

their arrival. The driver shall turn the engine off immediately upon arrival at the delivery address and 

will park considerately without causing any obstruction to the highway. 

68. Customers must be instructed when placing the order that they will not be able to collect the order 

from the vehicle. All deliveries will only be made directly to the property address and customers will 

not be permitted to take orders from the vehicle. 

Smoking and other external areas 

69. Customers permitted to temporarily leave and then re-enter the premises to smoke must be 

restricted to a designated smoking area defined as [specify location / mark on plan]. No more than 

[insert number] of customers will be permitted to remain in the designated smoking area at any one 

time.  

70. Clear and legible notices must be prominently displayed at any area used for smoking requesting 

customers to respect the needs of local residents and use the area quietly. 

71. No more than [insert number] customers will be permitted to enter or remain in [define outdoor 

area(s)] of the premises at any one time, between the hours of [specify]. 

Litter and cleansing 

72. At [specify times] [specify areas] outside the premises, including [specify areas] must be swept 

and/or washed, and litter and sweepings collected and stored [specify storage and collection].  

73. All takeaway packaging and wrappers shall clearly identify the premises, i.e.. by way of company 

logo or name. 

Page 231



 

Page | 42  

 

74. Where the premises provide late night refreshments for consumption off the premises sufficient 

waste bins must be provided at or near the exits, to enable the disposal of waste.  

75. Empty bottles which have been collected must be placed into locked bins when deposited outside. 

76. All waste shall be properly presented and placed out for collection no earlier than 30 minutes before 

the scheduled collection times. 

77. Between the hours of [insert hours] no waste/glass bottles will be moved or deposited outside. 

Children on the premises 

78. No person under the age of [insert age] years of age is permitted to enter or remain on the licensed 

premises when alcohol is being sold or supplied.  

79. The PLH/DPS will provide [specify ratio] adult supervisors at a ratio of [specify ratio] who can provide 

care for the children as they move from stage to dressing room etc., and to ensure that all children 

can be accounted for in case of an evacuation or an emergency. 

80. The licence holder and/or DPS shall ensure that any child performer is licensed with Manchester City 

Council’s Licensing Unit and accompanied by a registered chaperone. Documented records should 

be kept for six months, including the child’s name, their licence number and chaperone details. 

81. Where children are allowed on the premises, information shall be displayed [location] on what to do if 

there is a cause for concern regarding a child’s welfare. This shall include reporting to Oldham 

Council via its Contact Centre on 0161 770 7777, or the NSPCC on 0808 800 5000 (free 24-hour 

service) or dialling 999 in the event of an immediate threat. 

Late night refreshment 

82. Any hot food or hot drink provided after 11pm (late night refreshment) under this licence must only 

be consumed on the premises.  

83. Between [specify hours from 11pm/days] customers must not be permitted to remove from the 

premises any hot food or hot drink (late night refreshment) provided at the premises. 

Large events 

84. The Premises licence Holder must comply with the Event Management Plan submitted to and 

approved by the Licensing Authority and no changes will be made to the Event Management Plan 

without the prior written consent of the Licensing Authority.  

Boxing and wrestling (including MMA and other combat sports) 

85. The Premises licence Holder must comply with the Event Management Plan submitted to and 

approved by the Licensing Authority and no changes will be made to the Event Management Plan 

without the prior written consent of the Licensing Authority. The Plan must set out (but is not limited 

to): 

(i) how fighters will be matched 

(ii) the measures that will be in place to ensure the safety and welfare of competitors; including medical 

facilities and qualified staff provision 

Page 232



 

Page | 43  

 

(iii) fighter details 

(iv) layout of the venue 

(v) competition rules 

(vi) referee details including qualifications. 

Adult entertainment 

86. The premises may not show R18 films without the benefit of a sex cinema licence. 

87. No person under the age of 18 will be permitted to enter or remain on the premises when any 

“relevant entertainment” (as defined in Schedule 3 to the Local Government (Miscellaneous 

Provisions) Act 1982 is taking place. 

 For reference:  

 Relevant entertainment is ‘Any live performance or any live display of nudity, which is of such a 

nature that, ignoring financial gain, it must reasonably be assumed to be provided solely or 

principally for the purpose of sexually stimulating any member of the audience (whether by verbal or 

other means).  

 Display of nudity means in the case of a women - exposure of her nipples, pubic area, genitals or 

anus; and in the case of a man - exposure of his public area, genitals or anus. 

 The audience can consist of one person. 

Dispersal 

88. The dispersal of customers from the premises must be managed in accordance with the following: 

(i) Clear and legible notices must be prominently displayed at all exits requesting customers to respect 

local residents and leave the area quietly. 

(ii) Public announcements requesting customers to leave quietly to minimise disturbance to nearby 

residents 

(iii) A [specify minutes] period where [music volume is reduced / lighting increased / alcohol sales 

cease]. 

(iv) A suitable member of staff or a Door Supervisor[s] will be visible at each public entrance / exit to 

control the dispersal, to remind people to leave quietly, and to prevent patrons from re-entering the 

premises, and shall deter customers from using private hire vehicles without a prior booking 

(v) All drinks and glass vessels must be removed from patrons as they leave to ensure no glass leaves 

the premises.  

89. From no later than 1 hour before the premises closes to the public, a member of staff shall be 

dedicated to monitor the dispersal of customers and ensure patrons do not contribute to anti-social 

behaviour in the vicinity. They will be easily identifiable by way of their uniform or high visibility jacket 

/ vest; will have a detailed knowledge of all transport options in the area and provide directions for 

patrons who may be loitering in the vicinity of the premises. 

Page 233



 

Page | 44  

 

 Mandatory Conditions 

 

Mandatory Condition Applicable to  

No supply of alcohol may be made under the premises licence – 
(a) at a time where there is no designated premises supervisor in 
respect of the premises licence, or 
(b) at a time when the designated premises supervisor does not hold a 
personal licence or his personal licence is suspended. Every supply of 
alcohol under the premises licence must be made or authorised by a 
person who holds a personal licence. 
 
 

Any premises licence or 
which authorises the sale of 
alcohol. 

(1) The responsible person must ensure that staff on relevant 
premises do not carry out, arrange or participate in any irresponsible 
promotions in relation to the premises. 
(2) In this paragraph, an irresponsible promotion means any one or 
more of the following activities, or substantially similar activities, 
carried on for the purpose of encouraging the sale or supply of alcohol 
for consumption on the premises— 
(a) games or other activities which require or encourage, or are 
designed to require or encourage, individuals to— 
(i) drink a quantity of alcohol within a time limit (other than to drink 
alcohol sold or supplied on the premises before the cessation of the 
period in which the responsible person is authorised to sell or supply 
alcohol), or (ii) drink as much alcohol as possible (whether within a 
time limit or otherwise); 
 
(b) provision of unlimited or unspecified quantities of alcohol free or for 
a fixed or discounted fee to the public or to a group defined by a 
particular characteristic in a manner which carries a significant risk of 
undermining a licensing objective; 
www.trafford.gov.uk 
(c) provision of free or discounted alcohol or any other thing as a prize 
to encourage or reward the purchase and consumption of alcohol over 
a period of 24 hours or less in a manner which carries a significant risk 
of undermining a licensing objective; 
 
(d) selling or supplying alcohol in association with promotional posters 
or flyers on, or in the vicinity of, the premises which can reasonably be 
considered to condone, encourage or glamorise anti-social behaviour 
or to refer to the effects of drunkenness in any favourable manner; 
 
(e) dispensing alcohol directly by one person into the mouth of another 
(other than where that other person is unable to drink without 
assistance by reason of disability). 
 
 

Any premises licence or 
club premises certificate 
which authorises the sale of 
alcohol for consumption on 
the 
premises. 
 

The responsible person shall ensure that free potable water is 
provided on request to customers where it is reasonably available. 

Any premises licence or 
club premises certificate 
which authorises the sale of 
alcohol for consumption on 
the premises. 
 

Page 234



 

Page | 45  

 

 

(i) The premises licence holder or club premises certificate holder 
must ensure that an age verification policy is adopted in respect of the 
premises in relation to the sale or supply of alcohol. 
(ii) The designated premises supervisor in relation to the premises 
licence must ensure that the supply of alcohol at the premises is 
carried on in accordance with the age verification policy. 
(iii) The policy must require individuals who appear to the responsible 
person to be under 18 years of age (or such older age as may be 
specified in the policy) to produce on request, before being served 
alcohol, identification bearing their photograph, date of birth and 
either— (a) a holographic mark, or (b) an ultraviolet feature. 
 
The responsible person must ensure that— 
(a) where any of the following alcoholic drinks is sold or supplied for 
consumption on the premises (other than alcoholic drinks sold or 
supplied having been made up in advance ready for sale or supply in 
a securely closed container) it is available to customers in the 
following measures— 
(i) beer or cider: 1⁄2 pint; 
(ii) gin, rum, vodka or whisky: 25 ml or 35 ml; and (iii) still wine in a 
glass: 125 ml; 
(b) these measures are displayed in a menu, price list or other printed 
material which is available to customers on the premises; and 
(c) where a customer does not in relation to a sale of alcohol specify 
the quantity of alcohol to be sold, the customer is made aware that 
these measures are available. 
 

Any premises licence or 
club premises certificate 
which authorises the sale of 
alcohol for consumption on 
the premises 
 

(1) A relevant person shall ensure that no alcohol is sold or supplied 
for consumption on or off the premises for a price which is less than 
the permitted price. 
(2). For the purposes of the condition set out in paragraph 1— 
(a) “duty” is to be construed in accordance with the 
Alcoholic Liquor Duties Act 1979; 
(b) “permitted price” is the price found by applying the formula— 
P = D + (D x V) 
where— 
(i) P is the permitted price, 
(ii) D is the amount of duty chargeable in relation to the alcohol 
as if the duty were charged on the date of the sale or supply of 
the alcohol, and 
(iii) V is the rate of value added tax chargeable in relation to the 
alcohol as if the value added tax were charged on the date of 
the sale or supply of the alcohol; 
(c) “relevant person” means, in relation to premises in respect of 
which there is in force a premises licence.www. 

Any premises licence or 
club premises certificate 
which authorises the sale of 
alcohol. 
 

 

Page 235



This page is intentionally left blank



 
 

 
 
 

 

 

Licensing Committee 

Amendment to Animal Welfare Licensing Policy 

Report of Executive Member for Neighbourhoods & Culture 

 

Officer contact:  John Garforth – Trading Standards & Licensing Manager 

Ext. 5026 

 

3rd November 2020   

 
Executive Summary 
This report requests that Members approve an amendment to the Council’s animal 
welfare licensing policy in terms of application procedures. 
 
 
Recommendations 
That Members: 

1) Note the report; and 

2) Approve the policy amendment as outlined in the report.  

Page 237

Agenda Item 12



Page 2 of 5 Licensing Committee [3rd November 2020] 

 

Licensing Committee  3rd November 2020 
 
Amendment to Animal Welfare Licensing Policy 

 

 
1. Purpose of the report 

1.1 The purpose of this report is to request that Members approve an amendment 
to the Council’s Animal Welfare Licensing Policy. 

2. Introduction 

2.1 The introduction of the Animal Welfare Act 2006 (The Animal Welfare (Licensing 
of Activities Involving Animals) (England) Regulations 2018) brought about new 
legislation, guidance and a tougher and wider licensing regime for commercial 
businesses involved with animals in the course of their business. 

2.2 Since October 2018 around fifty licences have been in force within the Borough 
of Oldham covering regimes including: 

 Sale of pets 

 Hiring our Horses 

 Commercial boarding of Dogs and Cats 

 Animal Exhibitions 

 Breeding of Dogs 

 Home boarding of dogs 

 

2.3 The above Regulations set out a system of regulation and enforcement which 
has been incorporated into local policy together with an inspection regime. 
Alongside that comes a need to provide a range of business documents and 
practices.  

2.4 The policy also deals with applications made under different legislation which 
covers: 

 Dangerous Wild Animals Act 1976 

 Zoo Licensing Act 1981 

 

 

 

Page 238



Page 3 of 5 Licensing Committee [3rd November 2020] 

 

3. Proposed Amendments 

3.1 Upon reviewing current practices against the policy Officers wish to request that 
Members approve the following amendments/additions to the policy to it covers 
all eventualities and scenarios in relation to dealing with an application.  

 That applications to renew Dangerous Wild Animals licences are submitted 
at least two months prior to expiry; 

 That any application submitted that upon review is without the appropriate 
supporting documentation be rejected; 

 That any fee submitted for an application that is rejected or withdrawn be 
refunded minus any costs incurred by the Council in reviewing the 
application. Such costs will be based on the published hourly Officer rate 
(currently £50) for business advice/assistance; 

 There will be no refunds or partial refunds in the case of applications rejected 
or withdrawn after an inspection has been carried out. 

    
 

4 Legal Services Comments 

4.1 Under Regulation 13 of the Animal Welfare (Licensing of Activities Involving 
Animals) (England) Regulations 2018, the Council may charge such fees as it 
considers necessary for the consideration of an application for a grant, renewal 
or variation of a licence.  The fee charged for consideration of the application 
must not exceed the reasonable costs of that consideration.  Under S15 of the 
Zoo Licensing Act 1981, the Council may charge such reasonable fees as it may 
determine in respect of applications for the grant, renewal or transfer of licences 
under the Act.  Under S1 of the Dangerous Wild Animals Act 1976, the Council 
may charge a fee for an application for a licence under the Act which is in the 
Council’s opinion sufficient to meet the direct and indirect fees which it may incur 
as a result of the application. (A Evans)     

5  Co-operative Agenda 

6.1 The licensing process is in place not only to protect the public but also to support 
 and where necessary regulate businesses within the Borough. 

6  Environmental and Health & Safety Implications 

6.1  None 

7  Equality, community cohesion and crime implications 

8.1  None 

8  Equality Impact Assessment Completed? 

8.1  No  

Page 239



Page 4 of 5 Licensing Committee [3rd November 2020] 

 

9  Key Decision 

9.1 No  

10  Key Decision Reference 

10.1 N/A 

 

11  Background Papers 

12.1    None 

13.0  Appendices  

13.1 Appendix 1 - Animal Welfare Licensing Policy 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 240



Page 5 of 5 Licensing Committee [3rd November 2020] 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 241



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

COMPOSITION OF PANELS – 2020/21 
 

(a) Licensing Driver Panel (Labour  6  / Lib Dem  1)                                              
 
7 Members to serve on this Panel, with all other Members of the Licensing 
Committee to serve as substitutes, as required: - 
 

No. Party Councillor (8) Dates of Future Meetings 

1. Lab   Briggs (C) Tuesday 9th June 2020 

2. Lab Cosgrove Tuesday 7th July 2020 

3. Lab Price Tuesday 8th September 2020 

4. Lab Shuttleworth Tuesday 6th October 2020 

5. Lab Garry Tuesday 10th November 2020 

6. Lab Davis Tuesday 8th December 2020 

7. Lib Dem Gloster                      2021 

   Tuesday 12th January 2021 

   Tuesday 2nd February 2021 

   Tuesday 9th March 2021 

   Tuesday 13th April 2021 

 
(b) Licensing Panels 

 
5 Panels consisting of 3 Members, with all other Members of the Licensing 
Committee to serve as substitutes, as required: - 
 
PANEL 1 
 

No. Councillor (3) Dates of Future meetings 

1. Briggs Tuesday 16th June 2020 

2. Malik Tuesday 15th December 2020 

3. Gloster  

 
PANEL 2 
 

No. Councillor (3)  Dates of Future Meetings 

1. DAvis Tuesday 14th July 2020 

2. Price Tuesday 19th January 2021 

3. Sheldon  

 
PANEL 3 
 

No. Councillor (3)  Dates of Future Meetings 

1. Garry Tuesday 15th September 2020 

2. Shuttleworth Tuesday 9th February 2021 

3. A. Hussain  

 
 

Page 243

Agenda Item 13



 

 

 
PANEL 4 
 

No. Councillor (3)  Dates of Future Meetings 

1. McLaren Tuesday 13th October 2020 

2.  M Bashforth Tuesday 16th March 2021 

3. Gloster  

 
PANEL 5 
 

No. Councillor (3)  Dates of Future Meetings 

1. Harrison Tuesday 17th November 2020 

2. Hewitt Tuesday 20th April 2021 

3. Sheldon  

 
 
 
 

Page 244


	Agenda
	5 Minutes of Previous Meeting
	7 GM Minimum Licensing Standards and Clean Air Consultations
	MLS Consultation 4 Pager.pdf
	MLS Consultation Document - Final.pdf
	1.	Foreword by Sara Todd 
	2.	Introduction 
	3.	Vision 
	4.	The Minimum Standards
	5.	Licensed Drivers
	6.	Licensed Vehicles
	7.	Licensed Operators
	8.	Local Authority Standards
	9.	Timetable
	10.	Impact and Overall Opinion
	11.	Equalities
	12.	How to Respond
	Consultation Questionnaire
	Appendices
	Appendix 1: Design Options
	Appendix 2: Findings from the Public Taxi and PHV Conversation
	Appendix 3: Proposed Private Hire Driver Conditions
	Appendix 4: Proposed Private Hire Vehicle Conditions
	Appendix 5: Proposed Hackney Carriage Vehicle Conditions
	Appendix 6: Proposed Private Hire Operator Conditions
	Appendix 7: Licensed Drivers’ Dress Code
	Appendix 8: Current Licensing Standards: Driver
	Appendix 8: Current Licensing Standards: Vehicles
	Appendix 8: Current Licensing Standards: Vehicles
	Appendix 8: Current Licensing Standards: Operators
	Appendix 9:


	GM Clean Air Plan proposals briefing note Oct 2020.pdf
	CAP Consultation Document.pdf

	8 Statutory Taxi and Private Hire Vehicle Standards
	statutory-taxi-and-private-hire-vehicle-standards-english-28-07-2020.pdf
	1.  Introduction
	1.1 There is evidence to support the view that taxis and private hire vehicles are a high-risk environment. In terms of risks to passengers, this can be seen in abuse and exploitation of children and vulnerable adults facilitated and in some cases per...
	1.2 The Policing and Crime Act 2017 enables the Secretary of State for Transport to issue statutory guidance on exercising taxi and private hire vehicle licensing functions to protect children and vulnerable individuals who are over 18 from harm when ...
	(a) has needs for care and support (whether or not the authority is meeting any of those needs),
	(b) is experiencing, or is at risk of, abuse or neglect, and
	(c) as a result of those needs is unable to protect himself or herself against the abuse or neglect or the risk of it.
	1.3 Whilst the focus of the Statutory Taxi and Private Hire Vehicle Standards is on protecting children and vulnerable adults, all passengers will benefit from the recommendations contained in it. There is consensus that common core minimum standards ...
	1.4 It should be noted that as policing and criminal justice is not a devolved matter, the Statutory Taxi and Private Hire Vehicle Standards issued under the Policing and Crime Act 2017 will continue to have effect in Wales although responsibility for...
	1.5 All local authorities and district councils that provide children’s and other types of services, including licensing authorities, have a statutory duty to make arrangements to ensure that their functions and any services that they contract out to ...
	1.6 The Statutory Taxi and Private Hire Vehicle Standards reflect the significant changes in the industry and lessons learned from experiences in local areas since the 2010 version of the Department’s Best Practice Guidance. This includes extensive ad...
	1.7 The standards in this document replace relevant sections of the Best Practice Guidance issued by the Department in 2010, where there is a conflict between the Statutory Taxi and Private Hire Vehicle Standards and the Best Practice Guidance the Dep...
	2. Consideration of the Statutory Taxi and Private Hire Vehicle Standards

	2.1 The past failings of licensing regimes must never be repeated. The Department has carefully considered the measures contained in the Statutory Taxi and Private Hire Vehicle Standards and recommend that these should be put in to practice and admini...
	2.2 The Government set out in the Modern Crime Prevention Strategy the evidence that where Government, law enforcement, businesses and the public work together on prevention, this can deliver significant and sustained cuts in certain crimes. That is g...
	2.3 The Strategy committed to protect children and young people from the risk of child sexual abuse and exploitation (CSAE), by working with local authorities to introduce rigorous taxi and private hire vehicle licensing regimes. Both the Jay and Case...
	2.4 The Casey Report made clear that weak and ineffective arrangements for taxi and private hire vehicle licensing had left the children and public at risk. The Department for Transport has worked with the Home Office, Local Government Association (LG...
	2.5 This document is published by the Secretary of State for Transport under section 177(1) of the Policing and Crime Act 2017 following consultation in accordance with section 177(5).
	2.6 The document sets out a framework of policies that, under section 177(4), licensing authorities “must have regard” to when exercising their functions. These functions include developing, implementing and reviewing their taxi and private hire vehic...
	2.7 “Having regard” to these standards requires public authorities, in formulating a policy, to give considerations the weight which is proportionate in the circumstances. Given that the standards have been set directly to address the safeguarding of ...
	2.8 Although it remains the case that licensing authorities must reach their own decisions, both on overall policies and on individual licensing matters in light of the relevant law, it may be that the Statutory Taxi and Private Hire Vehicle Standards...
	2.9 The Statutory Taxi and Private Hire Vehicle Standards does not purport to give a definitive statement of the law and any decisions made by a licensing authority remain a matter for that authority.
	3. Administering the Licensing Regime

	3.1 The Department recommends all licensing authorities make publicly available a cohesive policy document that brings together all their procedures on taxi and private hire vehicle licensing. This should include but not be limited to policies on conv...
	3.2 When formulating a taxi and private hire vehicle policy, the primary and overriding objective must be to protect the public. The importance of ensuring that the licensing regime protects the vulnerable cannot be overestimated. This was highlighted...
	3.3 The long-term devastation caused by CSAE was summarised in the same report:
	3.4 Rotherham Metropolitan Borough Council (‘Rotherham Council’) provides an example of how the systematic review of policies and procedures and the implementation of a plan to drive improvements in practice can result in a well-functioning taxi and p...
	3.5 One of the key lessons learned is that it is vital to review policies and reflect changes in the industry both locally and nationally. Licensing authorities should review their licensing policies every five years, but should also consider interim ...
	3.6 A previous argument against issuing licences for more than a year was that a criminal offence might be committed, and not notified, during this period; this can of course also be the case during the duration of a shorter licence. This risk can be ...
	3.7 The Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976 (as amended) sets a standard length at three years for taxi and private hire vehicle drivers and five years for private hire vehicle operators. Any shorter duration licence should only be is...
	3.8 It is in the application of licensing authority’s policies (and the training and raising of awareness among those applying them) that protection will be provided. Where there are concerns that policies are not being applied correctly, it is vital ...
	3.9 The external investigation in South Ribble concluded “that there had been a lack of awareness and priority given to safeguarding and the safety of taxi [and private hire vehicle] passengers in the manner in which licensing issues were addressed”. ...
	3.10 It is hoped that all licensing authorities will have learnt from these mistakes but to prevent a repeat, local authorities should ensure they have an effective ‘whistleblowing’ policy and that all staff are aware of it. If a worker is aware of, a...
	3.11 The Public Interest Disclosure Act 1998 (PIDA), commonly referred to as whistleblowing legislation, provides protection for those that have a reasonable belief of serious wrongdoing, including failure to comply with professional standards, counci...
	3.12 Licensing authorities should consult on proposed changes in licensing rules that may have significant impacts on passengers and/or the trade. Such consultation should include not only the taxi and private hire vehicle trades but also groups likel...
	3.13 Any decision taken to alter the licensing regime is likely to have an impact on the operation of the taxi and private hire vehicle sector in neighbouring areas; and licensing authorities should engage with these areas to identify any concerns and...
	3.14 Any changes in licensing requirements should be followed by a review of the licences already issued. If the need to change licensing requirements has been identified, this same need is applicable to those already in possession of a licence. That ...
	3.15 Where a more subjective change has been introduced, for example an amended policy on previous convictions, a licensing authority must consider each case on its own merits. Where there are exceptional, clear and compelling reasons to deviate from ...
	4. Gathering and Sharing Information

	4.1 Licensing authorities must consider as full a range of information available to them when making a decision whether to grant a licence and to meet their ongoing obligation to ensure a licensee remains suitable to hold a licence.
	4.2 The Disclosure and Barring Service (DBS) provides access to criminal record information through its disclosure service for England and Wales. The DBS also maintains the lists of individuals barred from working in regulated activity with children o...
	4.3 Enhanced certificates with a check of the barred lists include details of spent and unspent convictions recorded on the Police National Computer (PNC), any additional information which a chief officer of police believes to be relevant and ought to...
	4.4 It should be noted that licensing authorities must not circumvent the DBS process and seek to obtain details of previous criminal convictions and other information that may not otherwise be disclosed on a DBS certificate. Whilst data protection le...
	The Disclosure and Barring Service Update Service

	4.5 Subscription to the DBS Update Service allows those with standard and enhanced certificates to keep these up to date online and, with the individual’s consent, allows nominees to check the status of a certificate online at any time. Subscription t...
	4.6 The DBS will search regularly to see if any relevant new information has been received since the certificate was issued. The frequency varies depending on the type of information; for criminal conviction and barring information, the DBS will searc...
	4.7 Licensing authorities are able to request large numbers of status checks on a daily basis. The DBS has developed a Multiple Status Check Facility (MSCF) that can be accessed via a web service. The MSCF enables organisations to make an almost unlim...
	4.8 Should the MSCF advise that new information is available the DBS certificate should no longer be relied upon and a new DBS certificate requested.
	4.9 The DBS is not the only source of information that should be considered as part of a fit and proper assessment for the licensing of taxi and private hire vehicle drivers. Common Law Police Disclosure ensures that where there is a public protection...
	4.10 Common Law Police Disclosure replaced the Notifiable Occupations Scheme (NOS) in March 2015 and focuses on providing timely and relevant information which might indicate a public protection risk. Information is passed on at arrest or charge, rath...
	4.11 This procedure provides robust safeguarding arrangements while ensuring only relevant information is passed on to employers or regulatory bodies. Licensing authorities should maintain close links with the police to ensure effective and efficient ...
	4.12 Licence holders should be required to notify the issuing authority within 48 hours of an arrest and release, charge or conviction of any sexual offence, any offence involving dishonesty or violence and any motoring offence. An arrest for any of t...
	4.13 Importantly, a failure by a licence holder to disclose an arrest that the issuing authority is subsequently advised of might be seen as behaviour that questions honesty and therefore the suitability of the licence holder regardless of the outcome...
	4.14 In some circumstances it may be appropriate under the Safeguarding Vulnerable Groups Act 2006 for licensing authorities to make referrals to the DBS. A decision to refuse or revoke a licence as the individual is thought to present a risk of harm ...
	4.15 The Department recommends that licensing authorities should make a referral to the DBS when it is thought that:
	 an individual has harmed or poses a risk of harm to a child or vulnerable adult;
	 an individual has satisfied the ‘harm test’; or
	 received a caution or conviction for a relevant offence and;
	 the person they are referring is, has or might in future be working in regulated activity;
	if the above conditions are satisfied, the DBS may consider it appropriate for the person to be added to a barred list.
	4.16 These referrals may result in the person being added to a barred list and enable other licensing authorities to consider this should further applications to other authorities be made. Further information on referrals to DBS is available.
	4.17 The police are an invaluable source of intelligence when assessing whether a licensing applicant is a ‘fit and proper’ person. It is vital that licensing authorities have a partnership with the police service to ensure that appropriate informatio...
	4.18 This relationship can be mutually beneficial, assisting the police to prevent crime. The police can gain valuable intelligence from drivers and operators, for example, the identification of establishments that are selling alcohol to minors or dru...
	4.19 To aid further the quality of the information available to all parties that have a safeguarding duty, a revocation or refusal on public safety grounds should also be advised to the police.
	4.20 As has been stated elsewhere in this document, obtaining the fullest information minimises the doubt as to whether an applicant or licensee is ‘fit and proper’. An obvious source of relevant information is any previous licensing history. Applican...
	4.21 The LGA’s Councillors’ Handbook on taxi and private hire vehicle licensing advises that those responsible for licensing should “communicate regularly with licensing committees and officers in neighbouring councils to ensure critical information i...
	4.22 For these processes to be beneficial, all licensing authorities must keep a complete and accurate record as to the reasons for refusal, suspension or revocation of a licence in order that this might be shared if requested and appropriate to do so.
	4.23 Data protection legislation provides exemption from the rights of data subjects for the processing of personal data in connection with regulatory activities. This includes taxi and private hire vehicle licensing. The exemption applies only to inf...
	4.24 If notification under paragraph 4.20 or 4.21 of a refused or revoked licence is disclosed, the relevant licensing authority should be contacted to establish when the licence was refused, suspended or revoked and the reasons why. In those circumst...
	4.25 Should a licensing authority receive information that a licence holder did not disclose the information referred to in paragraph 4.20, for example by checking the NR3 register, the authority should consider whether the non-disclosure represents d...
	4.26 Multi-Agency Safeguarding Hubs are a way to improve the safeguarding response for children and vulnerable adults through better information sharing and high quality and timely safeguarding responses. MASHs (or similar models) should operate on th...
	4.27 The Home Office report on Multi Agency Working and Information Sharing recommended that effective multi-agency working still needs to become more widespread. The Children’s Commissioner’s 2013 Inquiry into Child Sexual Exploitation in Gangs and G...
	4.28 All licensing authorities should operate or establish a means to facilitate the objectives of a MASH (i.e. the sharing of necessary and relevant information between stakeholders). As has been emphasised throughout this document, one of the most e...
	4.29 Complaints about drivers and operators provide a source of intelligence when considering the renewal of a licence or to identify problems during the period of the licence. Patterns of behaviour such as complaints against drivers, even when they d...
	4.30 Licensees with a high number of complaints made against them should be contacted by the licensing authority and concerns raised with the driver and operator (if appropriate). Further action in terms of the licence holder must be determined by the...
	4.31 To ensure that passengers know who to complain to, licensing authorities should produce guidance for passengers on making complaints directly to the licensing authority that should be available on their website. Ways to make complaint to the auth...
	4.32 Importantly, this approach will assist in the directing of complaints and information regarding the behaviour of drivers who may be carrying a passenger outside of the area in which the driver is licensed to the authority that issued the licence....
	4.33 In terms of investigating complaints CCTV footage of an incident can provide an invaluable insight, providing an ‘independent witness’ to an event. This can assist in the decision whether to suspend or revoke a licence. The potential benefits of ...
	4.34 The DBS cannot access criminal records held overseas, only foreign convictions that are held on the Police National Computer may, subject to the disclosure rules, be disclosed. Therefore, a DBS check may not provide a complete picture of an indiv...
	4.35 Licensing authorities should seek or require applicants to provide where possible criminal records information or a ‘Certificate of Good Character’ from overseas in this circumstance to properly assess risk and support the decision-making process...
	4.36 Where an individual is aware that they have committed an offence overseas which may be equivalent to those listed in the annex to this document (Annex – Assessment of previous convictions), licensing authorities should advise the applicant to see...
	5. Decision Making

	5.1 A policy is only effective if it is administered properly. The taxi and private hire vehicle licensing functions of local councils are non-executive functions i.e. they are functions of the council rather than the executive (such as the Cabinet). ...
	5.2 Licensing authorities should ensure that all individuals that determine whether a licence is issued or refused are adequately resourced to allow them to discharge the function effectively and correctly.
	5.3 All individuals that determine whether a licence is issued should be required to undertake sufficient training. As a minimum, training for a member of a licensing committee should include: licensing procedures, natural justice, understanding the r...
	5.4 Public safety is the paramount consideration but the discharge of licensing functions must be undertaken in accordance with the following general principles:
	 policies should be used as internal guidance, and should be supported by a member/officer code of conduct.
	 any implications of the Human Rights Act should be considered.
	 the rules of natural justice should be observed.
	 decisions must be reasonable and proportionate.
	 where a hearing is required it should be fairly conducted and allow for appropriate consideration of all relevant factors.
	 decision makers must avoid bias (or even the appearance of bias) and predetermination.
	 data protection legislation.
	5.5 When a decision maker has a prejudicial interest in a case, whether it be financial or a personal relationship with those involved they should declare their interest at the earliest opportunity; this must be prior to any discussions or votes and, ...
	5.6 It is recommended that councils operate with a Regulatory Committee or Board that is convened at periodic intervals to determine licensing matters, with individual cases being considered by a panel of elected and suitably trained councillors drawn...
	5.7 It is considered that this approach also ensures the appropriate level of separation between decision makers and those that investigate complaints against licensees, and is the most effective method in allowing the discharge of the functions in ac...
	5.8 Avoidance of bias or even the appearance of bias is vital to ensuring good decisions are made and instilling and/or maintaining confidence in the licensing regime by passengers and licensees.
	5.9 Unlike officers, elected members are not usually involved in the day to day operation of the service and as such do not have relationships with licence holders that may give the impression that the discharge of a function is affected by the relati...
	5.10 Some licensing authorities may decide to operate a system whereby all matters are delegated to a panel of officers; however, this approach is not recommended and caution should be exercised. Decisions must be, and be seen to be, made objectively,...
	5.11 Whether the structure proposed is introduced or an alternative model is more appropriate in local circumstances, the objective should remain the same - to separate the investigation of licensing concerns and the management of the licence process....
	5.12 Licensing authorities have a duty to ensure that any person to whom they grant a taxi or private hire vehicle driver’s licence is a ‘fit and proper’ person to be a licensee. It may be helpful when considering whether an applicant or licensee is f...
	5.13 If, on the balance of probabilities, the answer to the question is ‘no’, the individual should not hold a licence.
	5.14 Licensing authorities have to make difficult decisions but (subject to the points made in paragraph 5.4) the safeguarding of the public is paramount. All decisions on the suitability of an applicant or licensee should be made on the balance of pr...
	5.15 In considering an individual’s criminal record, licensing authorities must consider each case on its merits, but they should take a particularly cautious view of any offences against individuals with special needs, children and other vulnerable g...
	5.16 Annexed to this document are the Department’s recommendations on the assessment of previous convictions (Annex – Assessment of previous convictions). This draws on the work of the Institute of Licensing, in partnership with the LGA, the National ...
	5.17 These periods should be taken as a starting point in considering whether a licence should be granted or renewed in all cases. The Department’s view is that this places passenger safety as the priority while enabling past offenders to sufficiently...
	6. Driver Licensing

	6.1 Licensing authorities are entitled to request an enhanced criminal record certificate with check of the barred lists from the DBS for all driver licence holders or applicants. The DfT’s 2019 survey of taxi and private hire vehicle licensing author...
	6.2 All individuals applying for or renewing a taxi or private hire vehicle drivers licence licensing authorities should carry out a check of the children and adult Barred Lists in addition to being subject to an enhanced DBS check (in section x61 of ...
	6.3 Driving a taxi or private hire vehicle is not, in itself, a regulated activity for the purposes of the barred list. This means that an individual subject to barring would not be legally prevented from being a taxi or private hire vehicle driver bu...
	6.4 Drivers working under an arrangement to transport children may be working in ‘regulated activity’ as defined by the Safeguarding Vulnerable Groups Act 2006. It is an offence to knowingly allow a barred individual to work in regulated activity. The...
	6.5 Licensing authorities should consider the role that those in the taxi and private hire vehicle industry can play in spotting and reporting the abuse, exploitation or neglect of children and vulnerable adults. As with any group of people, it is ove...
	6.6 All licensing authorities should provide safeguarding advice and guidance to the trade and should require taxi and private hire vehicle drivers to undertake safeguarding training. This is often produced in conjunction with the police and other age...
	 provide a safe and suitable service to vulnerable passengers of all ages;
	 recognise what makes a person vulnerable; and
	 understand how to respond, including how to report safeguarding concerns and where to get advice.
	6.7 Since 2015, the Department for Education (DfE) has run a nationwide campaign – ‘Together, we can tackle child abuse’ which aims to increase public understanding of how to recognise the signs to spot and encourage them to report child abuse and neg...
	6.8 County lines is a term used to describe gangs and organised criminal networks involved in exporting illegal drugs (primarily crack cocaine and heroin) into one or more importing areas [within the UK], using dedicated mobile phone lines or other fo...
	6.9 Exploitation is an integral part of the county lines offending model with children and vulnerable adults exploited to transport (and store) drugs and money between locations.  Children aged between 15-17 make up the majority of the vulnerable peop...
	6.10 The National Crime Agency’s 2018 county lines threat assessment set out that the national road network is key to the transportation of county lines victims, drugs and cash; with hire vehicles being one of the methods used for transportation betwe...
	6.11 Safeguarding awareness training should include the ways in which drivers can help to identify county lines exploitation. Firstly, they should be aware of the following warning signs:
	 Children and young people travelling in taxis or private hire vehicles alone;
	 travelling at unusual hours (during school time, early in the morning or late at night);
	 travelling long distances;
	 unfamiliar with the local area or do not have a local accent;
	 paying for journeys in cash or prepaid.
	6.12 The Home Office is working with partners to raise awareness of county lines and has provided material to help taxi and private vehicle hire staff to identify victims and report concerns to protect those exploited through this criminal activity.
	6.13 Drivers (or any person) should be aware of what to do if they believe a child or vulnerable person is at risk of harm. If the risk is immediate they should contact the police otherwise they should:
	 use the local safeguarding process, the first step of which is usually to contact the safeguarding lead within the local authority;
	 call Crime Stoppers on 0800 555 111.
	6.14 A lack of language proficiency could impact on a driver’s ability to understand written documents, such as policies and guidance, relating to the protection of children and vulnerable adults and applying this to identify and act on signs of explo...
	6.15 A licensing authority’s test of a driver’s proficiency should cover both oral and written English language skills to achieve the objectives stated above.
	7. Vehicle Licensing

	7.1 As with driver licensing, the objective of vehicle licensing is to protect the public, who trust that the vehicles dispatched are above all else safe. It is important therefore that licensing authorities are assured that those granted a vehicle li...
	7.2 Enhanced DBS and barred list checks are not available for vehicle licensing. Licensing authorities should require a basic disclosure from the DBS and that a check is undertaken annually. Any individual may apply for a basic check and the certifica...
	7.3 However, it is important that authorities acknowledge that in many cases individuals that license a vehicle may already be licensed as a driver. An authority which undertakes the biannual DBS checks recommended for its drivers should not require t...
	7.4 A refusal to license an individual as a driver or to suspend or revoke a driver licence does not automatically mean that that individual cannot be issued or continue to hold a vehicle or private hire vehicle operator licence; these decisions must ...
	7.5 Private hire vehicle operator and vehicle licences may be applied for by a company or partnership; licensing authorities should apply the ‘fit and proper’ test to each of the directors or partners in that company or partnership. For this to be eff...
	7.6 As explained earlier in the context of driver licensing, the DBS cannot access criminal records held overseas so other checks must be consider where and applicant has lived or worked overseas (see paragraph 4.34 - 4.36).
	7.7 Government has acknowledged the potential risk to public safety when passengers travel in taxis and private hire vehicles. It is unfortunately the case that no matter how complete the information available to licensing authorities is when assessin...
	7.8 The Department’s view is that CCTV can provide additional deterrence to prevent this and investigative value when it does. The use of CCTV can provide a safer environment for the benefit of taxi/private hire vehicle passengers and drivers by:
	 deterring and preventing the occurrence of crime;
	 reducing the fear of crime;
	 assisting the police in investigating incidents of crime;
	 assisting insurance companies in investigating motor vehicle accidents.
	7.9 All licensing authorities should consult to identify if there are local circumstances which indicate that the installation of CCTV in vehicles would have either a positive or an adverse net effect on the safety of taxi and private hire vehicle use...
	7.10 While only a small minority of licensing authorities have so far mandated all vehicles to be fitted with CCTV systems, the experience of those authorities that have has been positive for both passengers and drivers. In addition, the evidential be...
	7.11 The mandating of CCTV in vehicles may deter people from seeking a taxi or private hire vehicle licence with the intent of causing harm. Those that gain a licence and consider perpetrating an opportunistic attack against a vulnerable unaccompanied...
	7.12 CCTV systems that are able to record audio as well as visual data may also help the early identification of drivers that exhibit inappropriate behaviour toward passengers. Audio recording should be both overt (i.e. all parties should be aware whe...
	7.13 Imposition of a blanket requirement to attach CCTV as a condition to a licence is likely to give rise to concerns about the proportionality of such an approach and will therefore require an appropriately strong justification and must be kept unde...
	7.14 Licensing authorities are sometimes asked to license small (those constructed or adapted to carry fewer than nine passengers) limousines as private hire vehicles, these vehicles may be used for transport to ‘school proms’ as well as for adult boo...
	7.15 Stretched large limousines which clearly seat more than eight passengers should not be licensed as private hire vehicles because they are outside the licensing regime for private hire vehicles. However, in some circumstances a vehicle with space ...
	8. Private Hire Vehicle Operator Licensing

	8.1 As with driver licensing, the objective in licensing private hire vehicle operators is to protect the public, who may be using operators’ premises and trusting that the drivers and vehicles dispatched are above all else safe. It is important there...
	8.2 Enhanced DBS and barred list checks are not available for private hire vehicle operator licensing. Licensing authorities should request a basic disclosure from the DBS and that a check is undertaken annually. Any individual may apply for a basic c...
	8.3 However, it is important that authorities acknowledge that in many cases individuals that license as a private hire vehicle operator may already be licensed as a driver. An authority which undertakes the biannual DBS checks recommended for its dri...
	8.4 Refusal to license in individual as a driver or to suspend or revoke a driver licence does not automatically mean that that individual cannot be issued or continue to hold a private hire vehicle operator licence; this decision must be independent ...
	8.5 A private hire vehicle operator licence may be applied for by a company or partnership; licensing authorities should apply the ‘fit and proper’ test to each of the directors or partners in that company or partnership. For this to be effective priv...
	8.6 As explained earlier in the context of driver licensing, the DBS cannot access criminal records held overseas. Further information on assessing the suitability of those that have spent extended periods in overseas is provided in paragraphs 4.34 - ...
	8.7 Private hire vehicle drivers are not the only direct contact that private hire vehicle users have with private hire vehicle operators’ staff, for example a person taking bookings (be it by phone or in person). A vehicle dispatcher decides which dr...
	8.8 Licensing authorities should be satisfied that private hire vehicle operators can demonstrate that all staff that have contact with the public and/or oversee the dispatching of vehicles do not pose a risk to the public. Licensing authorities shoul...
	8.9 Operators should be required to evidence that they have had sight of a Basic DBS check on all individuals listed on their register of booking and dispatch staff and to ensure that Basic DBS checks are conducted on any individuals added to the regi...
	8.10 The register should be a ‘living document’ that maintains records of all those in these roles for the same duration as booking records are required to be kept, this will enable cross-referencing between the two records. A record that the operator...
	8.11 Operators may outsource booking and dispatch functions but they cannot pass on the obligation to protect children and vulnerable adults. Operators should be required to evidence that comparable protections are applied by the company to which they...
	8.12  Licensing authorities should also require operators or applicants for a licence to provide their policy on employing ex-offenders in roles that would be on the register as above. As with the threshold to obtaining a private hire vehicle operator...
	8.13 Section 56 of the Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976 requires private hire vehicle operators to keep records of the particulars of every booking invited or accepted, whether it is from the passenger or at the request of another ...
	 the name of the passenger;
	 the time of the request;
	 the pick-up point;
	 the destination;
	 the name of the driver;
	 the driver’s licence number;
	 the vehicle registration number of the vehicle;
	 the name of any individual that responded to the booking request;
	 the name of any individual that dispatched the vehicle.
	8.14 This information will enable the passenger to be traced if this becomes necessary and should improve driver security and facilitate enforcement. It is suggested that booking records should be retained for a minimum of six months.
	8.15 Private hire vehicle operators have a duty under data protection legislation to protect the information they record. The Information Commissioner’s Office provides comprehensive on-line guidance on registering as a data controller and how to meet...
	8.16 PCV licensed drivers are subject to different checks from taxi and private hire vehicle licensed drivers as the work normally undertaken, i.e. driving a bus, does not present the same risk to passengers. Members of the public are entitled to expe...
	8.17 Where a private hire vehicle is unsuitable, for example where a larger vehicle is needed because more than eight passenger seats required or to accommodate luggage, the booker should be informed that a PSV is necessary, and that a PCV licenced dr...
	9.  Enforcing the Licensing Regime

	9.1 Implementing an effective framework for licensing authorities to ensure that as full a range of information made available to suitably trained decision makers that are supported by well-resourced officials is essential to a well-functioning taxi a...
	9.2 Licensing authorities should, where the need arises, jointly authorises officers from other authorities so that compliance and enforcement action can be taken against licensees from outside their area. An agreement between licensing authorities to...
	9.3 Licensing authorities should ensure that drivers are aware of the policies that they must adhere and are properly informed of what is expected of them and the repercussions for failing to do so. Some licensing authorities operate a points-based sy...
	9.4 The provision of a clear, simple and well-publicised process for the public to make complaints about drivers and operators will enable authorities to target compliance and enforcement activity (see paragraphs 4.29 - 4.33). This will provide a furt...
	9.5 Section 61 of the Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976 provides a licensing authority with the ability to suspend or revoke a driver’s licence on the following grounds: -
	9.6 Licensing authorities have the option to suspend or revoke a licence should information be received that causes concern over whether a driver is a fit and proper person. Where the licence holder has been served an immigration penalty or convicted ...
	9.7 Before any decision is made, the licensing authority must give full consideration to the available evidence and the driver should be given the opportunity to state his or her case. If a period of suspension is imposed, it cannot be extended or cha...
	9.8 A decision to revoke a licence does not however prevent the reissuing of a licence should further information be received that alters the balance of probability of a decision previously made. The decision to suspend or revoke was based on the evid...
	9.9 New evidence may be produced at an appeal hearing that may result in the court reaching a different decision to that reached by the council or an appeal may be settled by agreement between the licensing authority and the driver on terms which, in ...
	9.10 A suspension may still be appropriate if it is believed that a minor issue can be addressed though additional training. In this instance the licence would be returned to the driver once the training has been completed without further consideratio...
	Annex – Assessment of Previous Convictions
	Annex – Disclosure and Barring Service information
	Annex – CCTV Guidance
	Annex - Staying Safe: Guidance for Passengers



	9 Disclosure & Baring Service Checks
	10 Licensed Driver Medicals
	11 Licensing Act 2003 Policy Review
	Licensing Act Policy 2021.doc

	12 Amendment to Animal Welfare Licensing Policy
	13 Composition of Panels 2020 2021



